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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

 

SEC FORM 17-A 

 

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 

 OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SECTION 141 

OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES 

 

1. For the calendar year ended: 31 December 2016 

 

2. SEC Identification Number: CS-200411593        3.  BIR Tax Identification No.: 232-639-838 

 

4. Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter: ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC.  

 

5.   Makati City, Philippines                                       6.         (SEC Use Only) 

    Province, Country or other jurisdiction of 

incorporation or organization 

    Industry Classification Code: 

 

 

7.   11/F L.V. Locsin Bldg., 6752 Ayala Ave. cor Makati Ave., Makati City  

       Address of principal office                     Postal Code 

 

8.   (632) 988- 7988 

 Issuer's telephone number, including area code 

 

9.   Not applicable 

      Former name, former address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report. 

 

10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the SRC, or Sec. 4 and 8 of the RSA 

 

  

       Title of Each Class 

Number of Shares of Common and Preferred Stock 

Outstanding and Amount of Debt Outstanding 

 

Common Stock: P1.00 par value 1,040,001,000 Shares 

Preferred Stock: P1.00 par value 346,667,000 Shares 

Loans Payable P11,101,453,731 

 

11. Are any or all of these securities listed on a Stock Exchange.   

 

 Yes [x]       No [  ] 

  

 If yes, state the name of such stock exchange and the classes of securities listed therein: 

  

 Philippine Stock Exchange    Common Stock 

 

12. Check whether the issuer: 

 

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17.1 thereunder or  

Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 and 141 of The 

Corporation Code of the Philippines during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such 

shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports); 

 

  Yes [x]  No [  ]  

  

(b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 

 

 Yes [x]        No [  ]  
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13. Aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of  

March 31, 2017: 

 

 Assumptions: 

 

(a) Total number of shares held by non-affiliates as of March 31, 2017 

 

149,077,062 

(b) Closing price of the Registrant’s share on the exchange as of March 31, 2017 

 

P6.49 

(c) Aggregate market price of (a) as of March 31, 2017 

 

P967,510,132 

 

 

APPLICABLE ONLY TO ISSUERS INVOLVED IN  

INSOLVENCY/SUSPENSION OF PAYMENTS PROCEEDINGS 

DURING THE PRECEDING FIVE YEARS: 

 

14. Check whether the issuer has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the 

Code subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court or the Commission. 

 

 Yes  [  ]        No  [x]   Not Applicable 

 

 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

 

15. If any of the following documents are incorporated by reference, briefly describe them and identify the 

part of SEC Form 17-A into which the document is incorporated:  

 

 None 
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2016 ALHI MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
 
 

As the Philippines’ sound economic fundamentals were further strengthened by the peaceful and 
democratic political transition in 2016, investor confidence and domestic consumer spending were 
likewise boosted and benefitted nearly all economic sectors of the country including the real estate 
industry. 
  
These developments bodes well for Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries as we 

weathered the challenges of market uncertainties during the previous year by focusing on our core 
market niches and expanding our rental income sources as well as our portfolio of prime properties 
for future development. 
  
As a result, we saw our net income jump to P559.76 million in 2016, an increase of  
P128.56 million or 30% from the previous year’s net profit of P431.19 million. 
  

Revenues on the other hand reached P4.81 billion, a robust 37% hike from P3.50 billion in 2015. 
Bulk of the revenues came from real estate sales of P4.25 billion, an equally impressive 44% uptick 
from the P2.95 billion sales in 2015. 
  
More significantly, Anchor Land’s rental income continues its upward contribution to the bottom 
line in 2016, registering a 20% increase to P290.48 million from P242.01 million the year before. 
  

Assets likewise rose nearly 10% to P22.39 billion from P20.38 billion in 2015. This is mainly 
attributed to the more than P1.61 billion increase in investment properties to P7.05 billion from 
P5.45 billion, a 29% acceleration, as we ramped up land banking activities for future developments. 
  
Consequently, Anchor Land’s earnings per share in 2016 also ticked up to P0.51 from P0.39 in 
2015 for a healthy 31% value appreciation for our shareholders. 

  
All of these numbers clearly show that Anchor Land’s strategic realignment to increase recurring 
income sources while enhancing competitive advantage in niche market segments has gained 
momentum in 2016 and should ensure sustainable long-term growth and profitability ahead. 
  
The Company also tapped into new segments with strong potentials such as the business process 
outsourcing or BPO market, bedspacing facilities, hospitality and tourism projects, as well as 

commercial and residential developments that address underserved markets. 
  
The steady sources of recurring income in 2016 were warehouse leasing and the commercial units 
in our various residential developments which the Company have retained. We are replicating the 
success of our warehouse leasing business with at least three more warehousing facilities in the 
pipeline, all in the Binondo area, geared towards the multitude of traders in and around the bustling 
Divisoria district. 

 
In our niche luxury development segment, we are full speed ahead with our Admiral hotel and 
residential development along Roxas Boulevard in Manila which consists of the redevelopment of 
the iconic Admiral Hotel alongside two ultra-exclusive residential developments, the Admiral 
Baysuites and the Admiral Grandsuites. The Admiral Baysuites has been completed and is now a 
premier address that offers exclusive club privileges and premium services for discriminating 
clients while construction of the 43-storey, ultra-luxurious Admiral Grandsuites has likewise 
commenced in 2016.  
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PART I - BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

Item 1. Business 

 
 

BUSINESS OVERVIEW 

 

Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. (“ALHI” or the “Company”) was registered with the Philippine Securities and 

Exchange Commission (“SEC” or the “Commission”) on July 29, 2004 with an authorized capital stock of 

P10,000,000.00 divided into 100,000 common shares with a par value of P100.00. 

 

The Company is the holding company of the ALHI Group (the “Group”) with principal business interest in 

real estate organized to acquire by purchase, lease, donation, or otherwise, and to own, use, improve, 

develop, subdivide, sell, mortgage, exchange, lease, and hold for investment, real estate of all kinds, whether 

to improve, manage or otherwise dispose of buildings, houses, apartments, and other structures of whatever 

kind, together with their appurtenances. 

 

The Company traces its roots to Anchor Properties Corporation. Anchor Properties Corporation was 

incorporated in July 15, 2003. It commenced commercial operations on April 30, 2004, simultaneously with 

the start of the construction of its Lee Tower project. 
 

The Company was founded by a group of entrepreneurs led by Mr. Stephen L. Keng and Mr. Steve Li. The 

Company was primarily organized to engage in real estate development and marketing focusing initially in 

high-end residential condominiums within the Manila area. It started business operations on  

November 25, 2005. 

 

On December 13, 2006, the board of directors and stockholders of the Company approved and authorized 

the plan of merger of APC, with the Company as the surviving entity. Simultaneously with the approval of 

the Company’s merger with APC, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders also approved 

amendments to Company’s Articles as follows: (a) reduction of the par value from P100.00 to P1.00 resulting 

in stock split and increase in authorized capital stock from P10,000,000.00 to P1,000,000,000.00. Both 

companies are substantially under common control and the merger of the two companies was done to 

consolidate their real estate projects under one group. 

 

On July 7, 2011, the  board of directors and stockholders of the Company approved the amendment of the 

Company’s Articles of Incorporation as follows: a) increase in authorized capital stock of the Company from 

1,000,000,000 shares of common stock with par value of P1.00 per share to 2,300,000,000 shares of common 

stock with par value of P1.00 per share; and b) increase in authorized capital stock of the Company by 

creating 1,300,000,000.00 units of 8%, voting, preferred shares with par value of P1.00 per share. 

 

On November 8, 2013, the Philippine SEC approved the increase of capital stock of ALHI from 

P3,600,000,000.00 divided into 2,300,000,000 common shares and 1,300,000,000 preferred shares, both 

with a par value of P1.00 each to P4,800,000,000.00 divided into 3,500,000,000 common shares and 

1,300,000,000 preferred shares, both with a par value of P 1.00 per share. 

 

 

BUSINESS PLAN 
   
The year 2016 saw Anchor Land Holdings Inc.’s strategic realignment in full swing. The main thrust is to 
increase the share of our recurring income sources in the Company’s overall revenues while enhancing our 
competitive advantage in niche market segments to ensure sustainable long-term growth and profitability. 
 
The Company started tapping new segments with strong potentials such as the business process outsourcing 
or BPO market, bed spacing facilities, hospitality and tourism projects, as well as commercial and residential 

developments that address underserved markets. 
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These new undertakings give Anchor Land more flexibility and a wider, nationwide footprint to serve more 
clients and markets. More importantly, they are dynamic enough to contribute to both our dual objectives 
of increased recurring incomes and strengthened positions in the luxury development and passive income 
markets.  
 
To enhance our competitive advantage, Anchor Land pursued the continued growth of our core business, 

high end, ultra-exclusive residential developments that cater mainly to affluent Filipino-Chinese clients and 
other high net worth individuals where the Company has firmly established a strong niche and loyal 
following. 
 
The strategic realignment means further expansion of our growing presence in the BPO and hospitality 
industries, two segments where the Philippines has consistently shown resilience and leadership, and which 
offer tremendous opportunities in the light of the ASEAN economic integration that officially commenced 
in December 2016. 

 
Recurring Income Projects 

 
Anchor Land derives its recurring revenues mainly from leasing activities. Given the cyclical unpredictability 
of the real estate industry, the Company decided to further increase the share of such incomes as a hedge 
against market swings.  
 
Adding to our source of recurring income in 2016 are One Logistics in Baclaran and One Soler in Binondo, 
two completed and fully leased out warehousing facilities that now serve traders in their respective areas. 
We are replicating the success of such facilities in the Binondo district where we are presently planning for 
three more warehousing projects primarily to serve traders and businessmen in the Divisoria area, one of 
the country’s oldest and biggest trading hubs. 

  
Aside from warehouse leasing, another steady source of recurring income are the commercial units in our 
many residential developments which the Company has retained.  
 
Among the residential projects that contributed to such recurring income, aside from boosting our real estate 
sales revenues in 2016, are Mandarin Square, Anchor Skysuites and Wharton Parksuites in Binondo and, 
SoleMare Parksuites and Admiral Baysuites in the Manila Bay area. 
  
Keeping Our Upper Market Leadership 

 
Anchor Land has successfully established a strong presence in the upper market segment of the local real 
estate industry through high quality developments that have become the epitome of luxury and prestige. 

  
We aim to maintain market leadership by continuously providing innovative and one-of-its kind amenities 
and features not found in other developments and which add tremendous value to our luxury properties. 
We keep abreast of the latest trends and technologies in the industry by engaging the best and brightest 
project consultants for each individual project. 
  
The Company’s current niche luxury flagship is the Admiral Residential and Hotel complex along Roxas 
Boulevard in Manila. The project consists of the redevelopment of the iconic Admiral Hotel alongside two 
ultra-exclusive residential towers: the Admiral Baysuites and the Admiral Grandsuites. The Admiral 
Baysuites has been completed and is now a premier address that offers exclusive club privileges and premium 

services for discriminating clients. We have likewise commenced construction of the 43-storey, ultra-
luxurious Admiral Grandsuites composed of only 51 units which, upon completion, shall offer a majestic 
and 360 degree panoramic view of Manila Bay and its famous sunset in the upper floors. 
  
Pursuant to Anchor Land’s vision to transform Binondo, Manila’s Chinatown, into a modern city, it is 
building Anchor Grandsuites, a 63-storey ultra-luxurious residential condominium which is envisioned to 
become the tallest building in Manila and in all Chinatowns in the world. Anchor Grandsuites is our latest 
landmark mixed-development follows other icons like Lee Tower, Mandarin Square, Anchor Skysuites, 
Wharton Parksuites, Princeview Parksuites and Oxford Parksuites in the Binondo district.  
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New Growth Industries 

 
Our entry in the BPO and hospitality industries is a perfect complement to our efforts at strengthening 
recurring income sources while at the same time providing Anchor Land fresh opportunities for sustained 
growth in new segments.  
 
Our anchor development in the tourism and hospitality industry is, of course, the historic Admiral Hotel 

along Roxas Boulevard which began construction in 2016 to give us a firm foothold in this booming spot in 
the Philippine economy. The Admiral Hotel will become part of the elite Sofitel Collection of international 
hotel operator Accor.  
 
Another hospitality-oriented project in the works is the BayLife Venue in ASEANA Complex which is 
projected to have the largest seating capacity for seafood restaurant in the Philippines. With its strategic 
location, the venue should easily become a favorite destination among foreign and local food enthusiasts. 
 
Looking forward, the Company plans to acquire prime lots for future hotel and tourism developments. 
Foremost among these are properties in tourist magnets like Coron in Palawan and Boracay in Aklan. 

 
For the BPO segment, we have begun construction of our first mixed-used office/commercial project to 
date, the Anchor Land Corporate Center at the ASEANA Complex in the Manila Bay area, in response to 
the strong and steady demand for BPO office spaces. Anchor Land Corporate Center has been pre-certified 
LEED Gold for Building Design and Construction. The project features two independent office buildings 
behind one façade and is designed to optimize efficiency and undisrupted business operations while 
providing optimum security for occupants.  
 
Passive Income Projects 

 
Anchor Land’s excellent track record in the timely completion and delivery of residential and commercial 

projects has earned the Company a loyal client base for passive income projects, or what the industry calls 
rental investors, who buy properties mainly for investment appreciation and rental income purposes. A 
perfect example of this are our SoleMare Parksuites and Monarch Parksuites projects in the Manila Bay area 
which attracted clients for their rental income potentials because of their location right next to the Pagcor 
Entertainment City.  
  
Outside the national capital, we have acquired a property in Davao City near the prestigious Ateneo de 
Davao, for a residential project that targets the student population in the area who need temporary but 
affordable and convenient places to stay. Because of its high rental income potential, the Company likewise 
expects a robust takeout of the units by our loyal and new rental investors. 
  

Anchor Land is expanding its leasing business with the development of groundbreaking projects such as 
bedspacing facilities that target mostly transients and expatriates who need temporary but secure, convenient 
yet accessible and affordable off-work places to stay. In 2016, we acquired a property in Pasay City where 
we will develop our first bedspace facility. The development will focus on providing safe and convenient 
living conditions while providing access to all basic modern amenities.  
 
To ensure steady growth in the passive market segment, we intensified customer service and client 
relationship efforts in 2016 under the auspices of our leasing and asset management group, Anchor 100. This 
ensures the best experience for our high-value clients befitting their high-value acquisition from point of sales 
to unit turnover and beyond. 

 
A Vision of Distinguished Leadership 

  
Early dividends of the strategic rebalancing became evident in late 2016 when sales and revenues started a 
robust surge from completed and ongoing projects. This gives management full confidence that, by the end 
of the pivot in 2020, Anchor Land Holdings Inc. shall be solidly on track to fully achieve its corporate vision 
of being a distinguished industry trailblazer, setting the bar higher at all times, for the ultimate benefit of our 
shareholders and customers. 
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KEY OPERATING SUBSIDIARIES 

 

Anchor Properties Corporation (APC), formerly Manila Towers Development Corporation, was registered 

with the Philippine SEC on May 11, 1981.  APC is a wholly owned subsidiary of ALHI and is engaged in 

residential development. APC’s completed projects are Mandarin Square and Wharton Parksuites.  It is 

currently constructing its latest project called Oxford Parksuites. 
 

Posh Properties Development Corporation (PPDC), a wholly-owned subsidiary of ALHI, was registered 

with the Philippine SEC on January 29, 2008 and started operations thereafter. PPDC is engaged in 

residential development such as Solemare Parksuites Phase 1, Solemare Parksuites Phase 2, Clairemont 

Hills Parksuites and Monarch Parksuites (currently under construction); as well as commercial 

developments like One Shopping Center (operating) and Two Shopping Center (operating). PPDC is also 

the developer of ALHI Corporate Office, a project which will be dedicated for office and commercial spaces.   

Gotamco Realty Investment Corp. (GRIC), registered with the Philippine SEC on August 27, 1969, was 

acquired by and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of ALHI in 2008. GRIC has completed its 56-storey 

residential condominium known as Anchor Skysuites in 2014.  Its latest project, Anchor Grandsuites, along 

Masangkay St., Binondo, is now under construction.  

 

Nusantara Holdings, Inc. (NHI) was registered with the Philippine SEC on December 11, 1995 and became 

a wholly owned subsidiary of APC in 2013 through the acquisition of its issued and outstanding shares. NHI 

is engaged in the construction of a luxurious 39-storey residential development called Princeview Parksuites. 

 

Admiral Realty Co., Inc. (ARCI) was incorporated on August 31, 1963 and became a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of APC in 2009.  ARCI has completed the construction of its luxury residential condominium 

called Admiral Baysuites and is already undergoing the redevelopment of the Admiral Hotel into a boutique 

hotel and the construction of another luxury residential condominium called Admiral Grandsuites. 

 

Momentum Properties Management Corporation (MPMC), incorporated on February 3, 2009, is 100% 

owned by ALHI. MPMC is involved in providing property management and consultancy services covering 

condominium and building administration, architectural plans review, and all other aspects ranging from 

leasing and facilities management.  

 

1080 Soler Corp. (1080 Soler) was incorporated on June 08, 2010. It is wholly owned by Anchor Land 

Global Corporation (ALGC), which was incorporated on April 08, 2010 and is, in turn, another fully owned 

subsidiary of ALHI. It has completed and is now operating One Soler, a 10-storey structure that offers 

warehousing facilities, offices and commercial spaces for lease in the Divisioria area. 

 

Basiclink Equity Investment Corp. (BEIC), incorporated on January 24, 2011, is 60% owned by PPDC and 

40% owned by ALGC. It has completed the construction of One Logistics Center, a 15-storey commercial 

building that offers office spaces and warehousing facilities in Baclaran. 

 

Globeway Property Ventures, Inc. (GPVI), incorporated on October 25, 2012, is 70% owned by ALHI. It is 

currently developing 5-storey structure named BayLife Venue over a 4,897 square meters, more or less, 

property located at Aseana City, Parañaque City for retail/restaurant purposes. It will include private and 

open dining areas, commercial units, function rooms, holding rooms and a roof deck as well as the East 

Ocean Restaurant which is touted to be the biggest seafood restaurant in the Philippines.  

 

Eisenglas Aluminum and Glass, Inc. (EAGI), incorporated on March 4, 2011, is 60% owned by MPMC.  

EAGI’s primary purpose is to install and sell aluminum, glass and hardware products. 

 

 

TRANSACTIONS WITH AND/OR DEPENDENCE ON RELATED PARTIES 

 

ALHI, in its regular conduct of business, has entered into transactions with its subsidiaries principally 

consisting of advances and reimbursement of expenses, development, management, marketing, leasing and 

administrative service agreements.   
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Enterprises and individuals that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, control or are 

controlled by or under common control, with the Group, including holding companies, subsidiaries and 

fellow subsidiaries, are related parties of the Group. Associates and individuals owning, directly or 

indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group that gives them significant influence over the 

enterprise, key management personnel, including directors and officers of the Company and close members 

of the family of these individuals, and companies associated with these individuals, also constitute related 

parties.  

 

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the 

relationship and not merely to the legal form. 
 

Transactions with related parties are at arm’s length and have terms similar to the transactions entered into 

with third parties.  Outstanding balances between companies within the Group are unsecured, interest-free 

and settlement occurs in cash.  Related party transactions and balances were eliminated in the consolidated 

financial statements. 
 
 

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

 

Under existing Philippine laws governing intellectual property rights, the registrant of a tradename and a 

trademark shall be granted the exclusive right to use the same in relation to a particular product or service. 

Thus, to protect its right to exclusively use the names and logos utilized in its business operations, the Group 

has registered the following tradenames and trademarks with the Intellectual Property Office (IPO) of the 

Philippines: 

 

 

 

Trademark 

 

 

Registrant 

 

Application Date / 

Application Number 

Registration Date 

/ Registration 

Number 

Classes of 

Goods/ 

Services 

Admiral Realty 

Company Inc. and 

Device 

ARCI April 5, 2013 / 
04-2013-003858 

August 8, 2013 / 
04-2013-003858 

Class 37 

Eisenglas Aluminum & 

Glass Inc. and Device 

EAGI April 5, 2013 / 
04-2013-003853 

August 8, 2013 / 
04-2013-003853 

Classes 6 / 19 

Posh Properties 

Development 

Corporation and P 

Logo 

PPDC July 11, 2008 / 
4-2008-008340 

April 6, 2009 / 
4-2008-008340 

Class 37  

Anchor Land Holdings, 

Inc. and ALHI Logo 

ALHI July 11, 2008 / 
4-2008-008333 

April 6, 2009 / 
4-2008-008333 

Class 37  

Momentum Properties 

Management 

Corporation and 

Device 

MPMC April 5, 2013 / 
04-2013-3854 

 

August 8, 2013 / 
04-2013-3854 

 

Class 36 

Gotamco Realty 

Investment 

Corporation and Logo  

GRIC July 2, 2010 /           
4-2010-007155 

July 7, 2011 /        
4-2010-007155         

Class 36 

Anchor Properties 

Corporation and 

Device 

APC February 15, 2012 /    
4-2012-001815 

May 17, 2012 /  
4-2012-001815 

Class 36 

Mayfair Tower 

(stylized) 

ALHI April 5, 2013 / 
4-2013-003852 

November 7, 2013/ 
4-2013-003852 

Class 36 

Anchor Skysuites and 

Device with Chinese 

characters 

ALHI April 5, 2013 / 
4-2013-003856 

August 8, 2013 / 
4-2013-003856 

Class 36 

Admiral Baysuites and 

Device 

ARCI April 5, 2013 / 
04-2013-003857 

August 8, 2013/ 
04-2013-003857 

Class 36 
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Trademark 

 

 

Registrant 

 

Application Date / 

Application Number 

Registration Date 

/ Registration 

Number 

Classes of 

Goods/ 

Services 

Admiral Hotel ARCI February 6, 2014 / 
04-2014-001521 

June 19, 2014 / 04-
2014-00001521 

Class 43 

Monarch Parksuites 

and Device 

PPDC June 19, 2012 / 
04-2012-007305 

October 18, 2012 / 
04-2012-007305 

Class 37 
 

Two Shopping Center 

(stylized) with Chinese 

Characters 

PPDC April 5, 2013 / 
04-2013-003863 

January 16, 2014 / 
04-2013-003863 

 

Class 35  

One Shopping Center 

(stylized) with Chinese 

Characters 

PPDC April 5, 2013 /  
04-2013-003862 

January 16, 2014 / 
04-2013-003862 

Class 35 
 

Wharton Parksuites 

and Device with 

Chinese characters 

APC April 5, 2013 /  
04-2013-003860 

February 13, 2014/ 
04-2013-003860 

Classes 36 /37 

Oxford Parksuites and 

Device with Chinese 

Characters 

APC April 5, 2013 /  
04-2013-003859 

February 13, 2014/ 
04-2013-003859 

Classes 36 / 37 
 

Solemare Parksuites 

and Device 

PPDC April 5, 2013 / 
04-2013-003864  

February 13, 2014/ 
04-2013-003864 

Classes 36 / 37 

Windsor Place and 

Device 

PPDC September 11, 2012 /  
4-2012-011100 

February 21, 2013/ 
4-2012-011100 

Class 36  

Balmoral Place and 

Device 

PPDC September 18, 2012 /  
4-2012-100006 

April 18, 2013 /  
4-2012-100006 

Class 36  
 

Balmoral Suites and 

Device 

PPDC September 3, 2013 / 
04-2013-010518  

May 15, 2014 / 04-
2013-00010518 

Classes 36 / 37 

Windsor Suites and 

Device 

PPDC September 3, 2013 / 
04-2013-010520  

May 15, 2014 / 04-
2013-00010520 

Class 36 

The Princeview 

Parksuites and Device 

with Chinese 

Characters 

NHI April 5, 2013 /  
04-2013-003855 

August 8, 2013 /  
04-2013-003855 

Class 36 

Clairemont Hills and 

Device  

PPDC February 15, 2012 /  
4-2012-001814 

March 20, 2014 / 
04-2012-001814 

Class 36 

Admiral Grandsuites 

and Device 

ARCI July 01, 2014 / 04-
2014-008273 

 April 23, 2015 / 
04-2014-008273 

Class 36 

One Logistics Center 

(stylized) 

BEIC May 17, 2013/ 
04-2013-005679 

October 3, 2013 / 
04-2013-005679 

Classes 35 / 39 

Anchor Grandsuites GRIC September 3, 2014 / 
04-2014010987 

December 22, 2016 
/ 04-20140109 

Class 36 

Eight 8 Alonzo 

Parksuites 

APC October 19, 2016/04-
2016-012774 

Pending 
Registration 

Class 36 / 38 
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As the IPO provides, the certificates of registration covering the foregoing tradenames and trademarks shall 
remain in force for ten (10) years, unless sooner terminated, and may be renewed for periods of ten (10) 
years thereafter. Since these names and logos have become distinctive with the luxury homes and quality 
service for which the Group is known, the renewal of these certificates shall be made upon their expiration 
and the Group shall continue to safeguard its rights over the same. For the same reasons, the Group also 
applied for the registration of the trade names and trademarks of its newest development projects and these 

applications are currently pending before the IPO. 
 
 

EFFECT OF EXISTING OR PROBABLE GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS ON THE BUSINESS 
 
For the purpose of regulating the subdivision and condominium businesses in the country, Congress has 
enacted Presidential Decree No. 957, as amended (PD 957), otherwise known as the “Subdivision and 
Condominium Buyer’s Protective Decree”. The power to enforce the provisions of PD 957 is vested on the 
Housing and Land Use Regulatory Board (HLURB) and, to a certain degree, on the concerned local 
government units (LGUs). PD 957 mandates the registration of all projects intended for the construction of 
residential, commercial, industrial or recreational subdivisions, as well as residential and commercial 
condominiums. It also prescribes the procedure by which real estate companies may acquire such 
registration, and the various licenses, permits and certificates necessary to prove that their development 
projects are carried out according to existing statutory requirements.  
 
For condominium projects, PD 957 and the existing rules promulgated by the HLURB require all owners 
or developers to apply for Development Permit, Certificate of Registration and License to Sell with the 
HLURB and pertinent LGUs prior to actual development and selling of units. These documentary 
requirements were duly accomplished by the Group for all its projects as it regularly applies for the required 
government approvals for any condominium project it undertakes to develop. 
 
Development Permits 
 
The Development Permits for each of the Group’s condominium projects were obtained from the Housing 
and Land Use Regulatory Board (HLURB) on the following dates: 

 

Project    Date Issued 

Lee Tower    March 5, 2004 
Mayfair Tower   December 13, 2005 
Mandarin Square  October 4, 2006 

   Solemare Parksuites Phase I June 4, 2008 
Wharton Parksuites  Dec. 11, 2009 

   Anchor Skysuites  August 25, 2010 
   Solemare Parksuites Phase 2 December 3, 2010 
   Admiral Baysuites  April 8, 2011 
   Clairemont Hills Parksuites June 20, 2012  
   Oxford Parksuites  January 21, 2013 

   Monarch Parksuites  September 6, 2013 
   Princeview Parksuites  December 6, 2013 
   Admiral Grandsuites  November 11, 2014 
   Anchor Grandsuites   August 6, 2015 
 
The Group also applied for the issuance of Development Permits for the new condominium projects it plans 
to complete and these applications are now pending before the HLURB. 
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Certificate of Registration 
 
After the Group registered its condominium projects with the HLURB and obtained the necessary approval 

of the condominium plans to be used therein, the following Certificates of Registration were issued in favor 
of the projects of the Group: 
 

Project    Date Issued 

Lee Tower   June 3, 2004 

Mayfair Tower   August 4, 2006 

Mandarin Square                           November 20, 2007 

   Solemare Parksuites Phase I January 8, 2009 

                                         Wharton Parksuites  April 16, 2010                          

   Anchor Skysuites  November 8, 2010  

   Solemare Parksuites Phase 2 November 15, 2011 

   Admiral Baysuites  December 26, 2011 
   Clairemont Hills Parksuites September 4, 2012 
   Oxford Parksuites  June 18, 2013 
   Monarch Parksuites  October 14, 2013 

Princeview Parksuites  February 17, 2014 
Admiral Grandsuites  June 5, 2015 
Anchor Grandsuites  February 5, 2016 

 
The Group is also in the process of applying for the Certificates of Registration of its latest projects from the 
HLURB. 
 
License to Sell 
 
The HLURB further authorized the Group to offer the condominium units in its projects for sale to the 
public by issuing the following Licenses to Sell in favor of the Group: 
 

Project    Date Issued 

Lee Tower   June 3, 2004 

Mayfair Tower   August 4, 2006 
Mandarin Square  November 20, 2007    

Solemare Parksuites Phase I January 8, 2009 

Wharton Parksuites  April 16, 2010 

   Anchor Skysuites  November 8, 2010 

   Solemare Parksuites Phase 2 November 15, 2011 

   Admiral Baysuites  December 26, 2011 

   Clairemont Hills Parksuites September 4, 2012 

Oxford Parksuites  June 18, 2013 

   Monarch Parksuites  October 14, 2013 

   Princeview Parksuites  February 17, 2014 

   Admiral Grandsuites  June 5, 2015 

   Anchor Grandsuites  February 5, 2016 
 
At the appropriate time, the Group also intends to procure the required Licenses to Sell for its future 
condominium projects. 
 
Further, in connection with this requirement, and pursuant to the mandatory provisions of PD 957, all active 
real estate dealers, brokers and salesmen directly connected with the Group and its projects have registered 
themselves with the HLURB. Moreover, in compliance with Republic Act No. 9646 (RA 9646), otherwise 
known as the “Real Estate Service Act of the Philippines”, all real estate service practitioners, except 
salespersons, engaged by the Group, have taken the required licensure examination and other continuing 

education programs in their field. 
 

The Company and its subsidiaries has likewise secured all the necessary business permits and licenses 

required from all government agencies which include registrations and licenses from the SEC, Social 

Security System (SSS) and the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR).   
 



 

Page 14 of 48 

To date, as far as the Group is concerned, there is no existing legislation or governmental regulation that is 

expected to materially affect its business. 

 

Costs and Effects of Compliance with Environmental Laws 
 
In the Philippines, the owner or developer of any project that poses a potential environmental threat or is 
likely to cause a significant impact on the environment in a particular area is required to secure an 
Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC) from the Department of Environment and Natural Resources 
(DENR). The ECC is issued by the Environmental Management Bureau (EMB) of the DENR, which serves 
as a certification that, after reviewing the proposed project, the EMB found that the project will not cause a 
significant negative impact on the environment. The issuance of the ECC also certifies that the project 
complied with all the requirements of the Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) and the applicant has 
committed to implement its approved Environmental Management Plan. In some instances, the ECC 
likewise contains specific measures that must be complied with before and during the operation of the 

project, and lists the conditions required to be performed at the abandonment phase of the project to reduce 
identified potential impacts on the environment. 
 
Among the projects classified by law to be environmentally critical and mandated to procure ECC prior to 
commencement of operation are those involving the construction and development of condominiums. 
Hence, the Group has consistently applied for the required ECCs for all its projects. After presenting the 
details of its projects before the members of the EMB, satisfying all requirements and proving that no serious 
environmental damage shall result from the construction of its condominiums, the Group was able to secure 
the necessary ECCs for its projects. The relevant details of the ECCs issued in favor of the Company and its 
subsidiaries are as follows: 
 

Environmental   

Compliance Certificate     

(ECC) No. Date Issued Project Name 

ECC NCR 2004-01-28-047-216 January 28, 2004 Lee Tower 

ECC-LLDA-2006-109-8420 July 31, 2006 Mayfair Tower 

ECC-LLDA-2007-115-8420 August 16, 2007 Mandarin Square 

ECC-NCR-0804-048-5011 July 14, 2008 Solemare Parksuites 1 

ECC-LDBW-1001-0005 January 29, 2010 Wharton Parksuites 

ECC-NCR-1104-0129 May 22, 2010 Admiral Baysuites 

ECC-NCR-1009-0350 October 12, 2010 Anchor Skysuites 

ECC-NCR-1010-0356 October 22, 2010 Clairemont Hills Parksuites 

ECC-NCR-1012-0454 January 28, 2011 Solemare Parksuites 2 

ECC-NCR-1303-0109 April 16, 2013 Oxford Parksuites 

ECC-NCR-1302-0060 February 18, 2013 Monarch Parksuites 

ECC-NCR-1401-0040 January 29, 2014 Princeview Parksuites 

ECC-NCR-1408-0316 September 29, 2014 Admiral Grandsuites 

ECC-NCR-1602-0017 March 21, 2016 Anchor Grandsuites 

ECC-OL-NCR-2016-0041 April 22, 2016 East Ocean Seafood Restaurant 

ECC-NCR-1609-0058 October 3, 2016 ALHI Corporate Office 

 

HUMAN RESOURCES 

 

The Group has 506 employees. Of these, 100 employees performed clerical functions, 271 employees were 

involved in operations and 135 performed administrative functions. The Group has no collective bargaining 

agreements with employees and there are no organized labor organizations in the Group. The Group 

complies with the minimum compensation benefits standards pursuant to Philippine law. The Group has 

not experienced any disruptive labor disputes, strikes or threats of strikes and the Group believes that its 

relationship with its employees in general is satisfactory. 
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 As of December 31, 2016 

Department Officer Rank & File Total 

Executive Office 4 1 5 

Finance and Accounting 18 66 84 

Human Resources & Admin 7 38 45 

Internal Audit 1 2 3 

Engineering 19 24 43 

Sales & Marketing 14 39 53 

Corporate Affairs 4 11 15 

Purchasing 2 7 9 

Turn Over 1 13 14 

Leasing 2 11 13 

Property Management 13 92 105 

Aluminum and Glass business 8 109 117 

Total 93 413 506 

 

RISKS 

 

The Group is subject to competition in each of its principal businesses.  This competition comes in terms of 

attracting buyers for its condominium units and tenants for its commercial spaces.  The Group manages this 

risk by identifying the underserved and/or hard to penetrate market, recognizing their needs and wants prior 

to project inception, prompt project delivery and maintaining highest turnover standards.  With this, the 

Group is confident that it will surpass the competition. 

 

 

Item 2. Properties 

 

The lands owned by the Company and its subsidiaries are as follows: 

 

Company Project No. of Titles 

ALHI Mayfair Tower 2 Titles 

APC Mandarin Square 5 Titles 

ALHI Solemare Parksuites Phase I 1 Title 

PPDC One Shopping Center 2 Titles 

PPDC Two Shopping Center 6 Titles 

GRIC Anchor Skysuites 5 Titles 

ARCI Admiral Baysuites 1 Titles 

APC Wharton Parksuites 1 Title 

ALHI Clairemont Hills Parksuites 3 Titles 

PPDC Solemare Parksuites Phase II 1 Title 

APC Oxford Parksuites 2 Titles 

PPDC Monarch Parksuites 2 Titles 

NHI Princeview Parksuites 1 Title 

1080 Soler One Soler 1 Title 

ARCI Admiral Hotel  3 Titles 

ARCI Admiral Grandsuites 3 Titles 

GRIC Anchor Grandsuites 3 Titles  

BEIC One Logistics Center 1 Title 

PPDC ALHI Corporate Office 4 Titles 

APC The Peak Parksuites 3 Titles 

 

Lee Tower 

 

The Lee Tower is the first brainchild of the Group, it stands tall within a 1,108.8 square meter of land located 

at Sabino Padilla Street, Binondo, Manila covered by Transfer Certificates of Title (TCT)  

Nos. 285036 and 285037.  The Lee Tower is 33-storey high, with 150 residential units and two commercial 

units, it offers its residents dynamic city living at its finest.  
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Mayfair Tower 

 

The Mayfair Tower having been completed, standing tall within the 958.9 square meter of land located at 

United Nations Avenue corner A. Mabini Street in Ermita, Manila covered by TCT Nos. 269918 and 

269919. This 33-storey residential condominium boasts of world-class amenities and facilities, exclusive to 

the privileged few. The sky terrace, one of its best features, allows as much as 200 people to enjoy the 

wonderful view of the city and the lush landscape that surrounds the area. 

 

Mandarin Square 

 
The Mandarin Square, completed in January 2011, is a 39-storey luxury condominium that has  
2,293.9 square meter property located along Ongpin Street in Binondo, Manila covered by TCT  
Nos. 280503, 280504, 280505, 212155 and 212156. The Mandarin Square is your gateway to experience the 
best of Chinatown, as it bridges you to various commercial and recreational establishments that surround 
the area.  
 

Solemare Parksuites (Phase I) 

 

Solemare Parksuites (Phase I), completed in February 2012, is a 18-storey twin tower residential 

condominium within a 6,281 square meter property located at ASEANA Business Park in Paranaque, (near 

SM Mall of Asia) is covered by TCT No.180308. The Solemare Parksuites is located just off busy Macapagal 

Boulevard. Inspired by the Venetian Architecture, Solemare Parksuites’ elegant interiors and proximity to 

almost all of the key establishments makes it appealing to its young target market in search of second home.  
 

One Shopping Center 

 

PPDC acquired a parcel of land situated in Pasay City containing an area of One Thousand Six Hundred 
Seven square meters and 20 square decimeters (1,607.20) covered by TCT Nos. 150541 and 150542. It is 
now developed as a commercial center which is called One Shopping Center. 
 
Two Shopping Center 

 

Two Shopping Center, having been completed, is a commercial center situated in Pasay City containing an 
area of Six Thousand Five Hundred Thirty Three square meters and 90 square decimeters (6,533.90) covered 

by TCT Nos. 145526, 145527, 145528, 151248, 151544 and 151545. 
 
Anchor Skysuites 

 
This 56-storey residential condominium is situated in Ongpin Street, Binondo, Manila containing an area 
of Three Thousand Sixty Five square meters and 70 square decimeters (3,065.70) covered by  
TCT Nos. 97893, 97894, 97895, 282204 and 282324. The Anchor Skysuites is set to become the tallest edifice 
in Chinatown. 
 

Admiral Baysuites 

 
Admiral Baysuites is a 53-storey luxury condominium located in Roxas Blvd.  The land area of this project 
is Three Thousand Four Hundred Forty Six square meters and 20 square decimeters (3,446.20) covered by 

TCT No. 002-2011001508.  
 
Wharton Parksuites 

 

Wharton Parksuites, completed in June 2013, is a 39-storey residential condominium located in Binondo 
Manila containing an area of  One Thousand One Hundred Fifty Two square meters and 60 square 
decimeters (1,152.60) covered by TCT No. 288154. Wharton Parksuites provides unique facilities conducive 
for learning and entertainment as it is situated near six major Chinese educational institutions. 
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Clairemont Hills Parksuites 

 

A parcel of land situated in San Juan City, Metro Manila containing an area of Five Thousand Six Hundred 
Twenty Seven square meters (5,627) covered by TCT Nos. 11251, 11252 and 11253 was developed into an 
integrated development that features medium-rise condominium and townhouses known as Clairemont 
Hills Parksuites. 

 

Solemare Parksuites (Phase II) 

 

Solemare Parksuites (Phase II) is completed as of December 31, 2014.  This 18-storey twin tower residential 

condominium is situated in Paranaque City containing an area of Six Thousand Eight Hundred Nine square 

meters and 50 square decimeters (6,809.50) covered by TCT No. 180889. 
 
Oxford Parksuites 

 

Situated in La Torre St. corner Masangkay and Benavidez St., Sta. Cruz, Manila, Oxford Parksuites is a 
39-storey luxurious residential condominium that is very ideal for investment. The property contains an area 

of Eight Hundred Ten square meters and 90 square decimeters (810.90) covered by TCT Nos. 002-
2012003087 and 002-2012003088. 
 

Monarch Parksuites 

 

Monarch Parksuites is presently under construction. This four-tower residential condominium is located at 
Aseana Business Park, Tambo, Parañaque City, containing an area of Eighteen Thousand One Hundred 
Nineteen square meters and 40 square decimeters (18,119.40) covered by TCT Nos. 158036 and 158037. 
 

Princeview Parksuites 

 

Princeview Parksuites is located in 434 Quintin Paredes St., Binondo, Manila, with an aggregate area of 
One Thousand (1,000.00) square meters covered by TCT No. 226613. Princeview Parksuites will offer 
practical unit sizes suited to young families as well as businessmen who want to live near their livelihood. 
 

One Soler 

 

One Soler is a 10-storey structure that will offer warehousing facilities in the Divisoria area. It is located in 

the corner of Soler Street and Reina Regente Streets, Binondo, Manila covered by Transfer Certificate of 

Title No. 127542. 
 

Admiral Hotel 

 

Directly adjacent to Admiral Baysuites project is Admiral Hotel, consisting of One Thousand Six Hundred 

Fifty Five square meters and 10 square decimeters (1,655.10) and covered by TCT No. 002-2011001507, 

002-2015002437 and 002-2015002436.  
 

Admiral Grandsuites 

 

Admiral Grandsuites is being constructed on three (3) parcels of land located at Ermita, Malate, Manila 

containing an area of One Thousand Six Hundred Thirty square meters and 70 square decimeters (1,630.70) 

covered by TCT Nos. 002-2011001323, 002-2011001324 and 002-201100132.  

 

Anchor Grandsuites 

 

Anchor Grandsuites is intended to be developed as luxurious condominium project located at Masangkay 

St., Binondo, Manila, consisting of Three Thousand Six Hundred Ninety One square meters and 70 square 

decimeters (3,691.70) and covered by TCT Nos. 002-2013003154, 002-2013003152 and 168097. 
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One Logistics Center 

 

One Logistics Center offers office spaces and warehousing facilities. It is a 15-storey commercial building 

located in Lot 2A, Taft Avenue Extension, Pasay City, covered by Transfer Certificate of Title No. 003-

2011000139. 

 

ALHI Corporate Office 

 

Situated in Parańaque City, ALHI Corporate Office is being developed by PPDC on a lot consisting of Nine 

Thousand Eight Hundred Fifty Three square meters (9,853) covered by TCT Nos. 010-2013004248, 010-

2013004251, 010-2016004448 and 010-2016004447. It will be dedicated mostly for leasable office and 

commercial spaces.  

 
The Peak Parksuites 

 

The Peak Parksuites is a residential condominium project being developed by APC along C.M. Recto St., 
Davao City. It will consist of two (2) towers that will have 36 and 39 floors, respectively, on three (3) lots 
consisting of Four Thousand Forty square meters (4,040) and covered by TCT Nos. 146-2017001274, 146-
2017001275 and 146-2017001275. 
 

Land held for future development 

 

GRIC purchased a parcel of land located along P. Celle Street, Pasay City containing an area of Four 

Thousand Forty Eight square meters and 24 square decimeters (4,048.24) covered by TCT No. 147606. This 

land was acquired for a future project of the Group.   

 

PPDC likewise bought Four (4) parcels of land covered by TCT Nos. 010-2011000638, 010-2016001689, 

010-2013000851, and 010-2013000851, with a total area of Seven Thousand Seven Hundred Nineteen 

square meters, located along Belle Avenue corner Macapagal Avenue, Parañaque City.  

 

A parcel of land in Juan Luna St., Tondo, Manila containing an area of One Thousand Six Hundred Seventy 

Three square meters (1,673) was purchased by GRIC and covered by TCT No. 255448. 

 

ARCI likewise purchased Four 4) lots in Barangay Poblacion, Coron, Palawan. The total area of the lots is 

Three Thousand Two Hundred Thirty Eight (3,238) square meters. The lots are covered by three (3) titles 

and one (1) tax declaration.  

 

Properties used as collateral 

 

The Group’s properties located in Roxas Boulevard, Pasay, Binondo, Manila, San Juan and Paranaque were 

used as collateral to secure the Group’s loans.  Under the loan agreements, there are no limitations on the 

ownership and usage of these properties. 

 

Rental properties 

 

The Group has lease agreements with third parties for the commercial buildings, commercial and warehouse 

units located at its shopping centers and condominium projects.  These leases generally provide for a fixed 

monthly rental.  Rent income amounted to P=289.20 million in 2016 and P=242.01 million in 2015. 
 

Leased Properties 

 

The Group leases its principal place of business at Unit 11B, 11th Floor L.V. Locsin Building, 6752 Ayala 

Avenue, corner Makati Avenue, Makati City, Philippines, 1228. The leased premise has an area of Four 

Hundred Forty square meters and 25 square decimeters (440.25), an additional four (4) free basement 

parking slots, with an area of about Fourteen square meters and 50 square decimeters (14.50) each.  

 

The Group is also currently leasing at 15th and 16th Floors L.V. Locsin Building, 6752 Ayala Avenue, corner 

Makati Avenue, Makati City, Philippines, 1228. Both leased premises have an area of Eight Hundred Eighty 

Eight square meters and 24 square decimeters (888.24), including seven (7) basement parking slots each. 



 

Page 19 of 48 

On October 01, 2015, the Group, under GPVI, entered into a lease with Bay Area Holdings, Inc. over a 

property consisting of Four Thousand Eight Hundred Ninety-Seven square meters (4,897), more or less, 

located at Aseana City, Parañaque City, wherein it is currently building a structure called BayLife Venue for 

retail/restaurant purposes. The lease is for a term of ten (10) years, commencing on June 1, 2016 and shall 

end on May 31, 2026. 

 

Properties for future acquisition 

 

As of December 31, 2016, the Group plans to acquire other properties through cash purchase, funded by the 

Group’s working capital. 
 
 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

 

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there has been no occurrence of any of the following events during 

the past five (5) years up to the present which are material to an evaluation of the ability and integrity of any 

director, any person nominated to become director, executive officer or control person of the Company: 

 

1. Any insolvency or bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person was a 

general partner or executive officer whether at the time of insolvency or within two (2) years prior 

to that time; 

2. Any conviction by final judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, in any pending 

criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses; 

3. Any final and executory order, judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, domestic 

or foreign, permanently or temporarily, enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting 

involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities or banking activities; and 

4. Any final and executory judgment by a domestic or foreign court or competent jurisdiction (in a 

civil action), the SEC, or comparable foreign body, or domestic or foreign exchange or electronic 

marketplace or self regulatory organization, for violation of a securities or commodities law. 
 

There are no legal proceedings to which the Company or its subsidiaries or any of their properties is involved 

in or subject to any legal proceedings which would have material effect adverse effect on the business or 

financial position of the Company or its subsidiaries.   

 

 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 

 
The stockholders’ meeting of the Company was held last July 5, 2016 at Makati Shangri-La, Makati City. 
At the said meeting, the following were presented and approved by the stockholders present representing 
82.5% of the outstanding shares entitled to vote: 
 

a. Presentation and approval of the Financial Statements as of December 31, 2015; 
b. Ratification of acts of the Board of Directors and Officers; 
c. Election of the members of the Board of Directors; and 

d. Appointment of external auditors; 

 
The following were elected as Directors of the Company for the year 2016-2017, namely: Stephen L. Keng, 

Steve Li, Digna Elizabeth L. Ventura, Christine P. Base, Peter Kho, Avelino M. Guzman, Jr., Violeta Josef, 

Victoria Villaluz, Edwin Lee, Charles Stewart Lee and Neil Y. Chua.  

Other than those matters mentioned above, there are no other matters submitted to a vote by the security 

holders. 

 

            ******************************************************************* 
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PART II - OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

Item 5. Market for Issuer's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters 

 

(1)  Market Information 

  

(a) The principal market of the Company’s shares of stock is the Philippine Stock Exchange. The 

closing prices of the Company’s share for each quarter for the last two fiscal years were as 

follows: 

 

 

 

Year 

 

Quarter 

High  

(in P) 

Low  

(in P) 

Closing Price  

(in P) 

     

2016 First 8.04 6.90 7.77 

 Second 7.90 6.32 6.80 

 Third 6.99 6.18 6.98 

 Fourth 12.10 10.02   10.02 

     

2015 First 10.28 10.00 10.02 

 Second 8.70 7.66 8.40 

 Third 8.40 7.56 7.56 

 Fourth 8.08 5.72 7.50 
 

(b) The closing price of the Company’s stocks as of the latest practicable trading dates were as 

follows:    

 

 

Year 

 

Month 

High  

(in P) 

Low  

(in P) 

Closing Price  

(in P) 

2017 January  6.57 6.11 6.11 

 February  6.10 6.10 6.10 

 March  6.49 6.49 6.49 

 

(2)  Holders 

 

The approximate number of shareholders as of December 31, 2016 is 96. The top twenty (20) stockholders 

of the Company as provided by the stock transfer agent’s report as of December 31, 2016 were as follows: 

 

             Stockholders Number of shares 

1.  PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino) 347,448,805 

2.  Sybase Equity Investments Corporation 202,609,200 

3.  Yi Chiang Li 156,000,000 

4.  Cindy Mei Ngar Sze 155,999,298 

5.  PCD Nominee Corporation (Non-Filipino) 116,093,799 

6.  Rena Obo Alvarez 30,000,000 

7.  Stephen Lee Keng 15,600,690 

8.  Philip O. Bernardo 6,840,000 

9.  Rena Obo Alvarez 5,550,000 

10.  Carlos Sotingco 2,114,400 

11.  Harley Tan Sy 1,650,000 

12.  Francisco A. Uy 60,000 

13.  Haidee Generoso and/or Sandy Edward Generoso 11,400 

14.  Robert Chua  6,000 

15.  Ma. Christmas R. Nolasco 3,700 
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             Stockholders Number of shares 

16.  Edwin Lee 3,000 

16.  M.J. Soriano Trading, Inc. 3,000 

17.  Avelino M. Guzman, Jr. 1,000 

17.  Elnora N. Turner 1,000 

17.  Philip Turner 1,000 

17.  Violeta Josef 1,000 

17.  Ma. Victoria Villaluz 1,000 

18.  Charles Stewart Tze Lee 900 

18.  Jose Armando Del Rosario Melo 900 

19.  Jesus San Luis Valencia 300 

19.  Digna Elizabeth L. Ventura 300 

20.  Owen Nathaniel S. Au ITF: Li Marcus Au 150 

TOTAL 1,040,000,842 

 

(3)  Dividends  
 
Cash Dividends 

On March 27, 2017, the Company’s BOD declared cash dividends as follows: 
  

1. For preferred shares - 8% dividends per issued and outstanding preferred share; and  
2. For common shares - P=0.06 per issued and outstanding common share. 

 
The record date is May 22, 2017 and dividends shall be payable on June 15, 2017. 
 
On April 5, 2016, the Company’s BOD declared cash dividends as follows: 
  

3. For preferred shares - 8% dividends per issued and outstanding preferred share; and  
4. For common shares - P=0.05 per issued and outstanding common share. 

 
The record date is May 30, 2016 and dividends amounting to P=79.73 million were paid on June 15, 2016. 
 

On March 26, 2015, the Company’s BOD declared cash dividends as follows: 
 

1. For preferred shares - 8% dividends per issued and outstanding preferred share; and 
2. For common shares - P=0.07 per issued and outstanding common share. 

 
The record date is May 15, 2015 and dividends amounting to P=100.53 million were paid on June 10, 2015. 
 
On June 3, 2014, the Company’s BOD declared cash dividends as follows: 
 

1. For preferred shares - 8% dividends per issued and outstanding preferred share; and 
2. For common shares - P=0.12 per issued and outstanding common share. 

 
Stock Dividends 

On May 29, 2013, the BOD approved to increase the Company’s authorized capital from 2,300.00 million 
common shares with par value of P=1.00 per share to 3,500.00 million common shares with par value of  
P=1.00 per share.  Furthermore, the BOD also authorized to issue one common share per two outstanding 
common share held by stockholders or 50% of the outstanding capital stock of the Company to be issued to 
the stockholders as of record date to be determined by the SEC, upon approval of the increase in authorized 
capital stock of the Company.  On November 8, 2013, the SEC approved the said increase in authorized 
capital stock. 
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Further, on November 8, 2013, the SEC also authorized the issuance of 346,667,000 shares at P=1.00 par 
value, to cover the stock dividend declared by the BOD to stockholders on record as of November 25, 2013.  
The said stock dividends were distributed on December 6, 2013. 

 

The Company has no restrictions that will limit the ability to pay dividends on common equity. But the 

Company, as a general rule, shall only declare from surplus profit as determined by the Board of Directors 

as long as such declaration will not impair the capital of the Company. 

 

(4)  Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

 

As at reporting date, no sales of unregistered securities or shares of the Company were sold except during 

the date of listing with the Philippine Stock Exchange. 

 

 
Item 6.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis 2016 

 

Basis of Presentation 2016 and 2015 

 

Financial Statements 

 

Basis of Preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. and its Subsidiaries (the Group) have 

been prepared using the historical cost basis and are presented in Philippine Peso (P=), the Group’s functional 

currency. 

 

Statement of Compliance  

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with the Philippine 

Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs). 
 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.  

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company using 

consistent accounting policies. 

 

The subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 

obtains control, and continues to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

 
The following management’s discussion and analysis of the Group’s financial condition and results of 
operations should be read in conjunction with the Group’s audited financial statements, including the related 
notes, contained in this report. This report contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and 
uncertainties. The Group cautions investors that its business and financial performance is subject to 
substantive risks and uncertainties.  
 

Results of Operations Jan-Dec 31, 2016 vs. Jan-Dec 31, 2015 
 

The consolidated net income of the Group increased by 30% to P=559.76 million for the year ended  
December 31, 2016.  
 
Real estate sales increased by 44% as a result of continuing construction and sale of Monarch Parksuites, 
Oxford Parksuites, Princeview Parksuites and Admiral Grandsuites during the year. The Group has also 
started the construction and pre-selling of Anchor Grandsuites in the current year but is yet to contribute 
significantly to revenue since construction accomplishment is generally lower during building foundation 
works. 
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The 20% increase in rental income resulted from the Group’s continuing efforts to invest and increase its 
recurring income projects.  The Group has started operations and occupancy of One Soler, a 10-storey 
warehousing facility in Divisoria, which was completed in the third quarter of the current year.  The 
increased occupancy of One Logistics Center and of the commercial units in Group’s completed 
condominium projects also resulted to growth in rental income in 2016. The Group continues to construct 
Admiral Hotel and BayLife Venue while construction of ALHI Corporate Office commenced in 2016. These 

developments, designated as recurring income projects or assets, are presented as Investment properties in 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and the related Rental income is recognized when 
construction of these assets are completed and leased out to third parties. 

 

Financial Condition 2016-2015 

 

The Group’s total assets increased to P=22,391.88 million as of December 31, 2016 from total assets of  
P=20,376.94 million as of December 31, 2015. The continued growth in construction activities of investment 
properties and real estate for development and sale, acquisitions of land and higher receivables from real 
estate sales in 2016 contributed to increased total assets of the Group.  
 
Reflecting the Group’s effort to strengthen recurring income sources, investment properties increased by 
P1,606.35 million driven by the acquisition of additional parcels of land for the Group’s ALHI Corporate 
Office, the construction and development of Admiral Hotel, Baylife Venue and, the recently completed 
warehousing facility, One Soler. 

 

Further, the ongoing construction and sale of the Group’s residential projects, namely Monarch Parksuites, 

Oxford Parksuites, Princeview Parksuites, Admiral Grandsuites and Anchor Grandsuites also contributed 

to the increase in the total assets.   

 

The Group also made deposits for the purchase of various properties in Binondo, Davao and Palawan. These 

properties will be developed into residential condominium, resort and hotel projects, warehouses, and urban 

dwellings development for sale and for lease. 

 

The Group availed loans during the period in order to fund its continuing construction activities and property 

acquisitions.  These loan availments increased the Group’s liabilities as of December 31, 2016. 
 

The movements in equity accounts follow: 

 Retained earnings - increase brought by the net income for the year ended December 31, 2016 less 

cash dividend declaration. 

 Other comprehensive income - increase resulted from remeasurements in pension liability. 

 Non-controlling interests - increase due to current year net income attributable to the  

non-controlling interests. 
 

Financial Condition 2015-2014 
 
The Group’s total assets amounted to P20,376.94 million, a 15% growth from total assets of  
P17,767.73 million in 2014.  The continued growth in construction activities of investment properties and 
real estate for development and sale contributed to the increase in the total assets of the Group. 

 
The increase in investment properties were driven by the acquisitions of parcels of land for the Group’s 
ALHI Corporate Office, an additional lot to significantly expand Admiral Hotel as well as a lot for the 
Group’s new real estate development in Binondo. The Group also started the construction of Admiral Hotel 
and the commercial building in Aseana Bay City. 
 
Construction and development activities continued for One Soler and One Logistics Center during the year. 
One Logistics Center was completed in third quarter of 2015 and is currently accepting lease from tenants. 
One Soler is expected to be completed in 2016.  Admiral Hotel started construction in the second quarter of 
2015. 
 

New project development (Anchor Grandsuites) and continuing construction of Monarch Parksuites, 
Oxford Parksuites, Admiral Baysuites and Clairemont Hills Parksuites increased real estate for development 
and sale. 
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The Group has also entered into a long term lease contract for parcels of land in the Aseana Bay City, where 
the Group will build a commercial development that will be completed in 2017. The construction for this 
commercial development started in the third quarter of 2015. 
 
The Group’s liability, mainly from loans payable, increased to fund the continuing construction activities 
and property acquisitions. 
 
The movements in equity accounts follow: 
 

 Retained earnings – increase brought by the net income in 2015 less cash dividend declaration. 

 Non-controlling interests – decrease due to current year net loss attributable to the non-controlling 
interests. 

 Other comprehensive income – increase brought by pension liability remeasurements due to 

experience adjustments. 
 

Financial Condition 2014-2013 

 
The Group’s total assets amounted to P17,767.73 million, an 8% growth from total assets of  

P16,481.22 million in 2013. The continued growth in construction activities of investment properties and 
real estate for development and sale contributed to the increase in the total assets of the Group. 
 
Additions to investment properties in 2014 represent construction and development costs of One Soler and 
One Logistics Center, which will be held for rental upon completion, and commercial units of completed 
condominium projects transferred to investment properties in 2014. 
 
Property acquisitions (Anchor Grandsuites), new project development (Princeview Parksuites) and 
continuing construction of Monarch Parksuites, Oxford Parksuites, Admiral Baysuites and Clairemont Hills 
Parksuites increased real estate for development and sale. 

 
The Group’s liability, mainly from loans payable, increased to fund the continuing construction activities 
and property acquisitions. 
 
The movements in equity accounts follow: 
 

 Retained earnings – increase brought by the net income in 2014 less cash dividend declaration. 
 Non-controlling interests – decrease due to current year net loss attributable to the non-controlling 

interests. 
 Other comprehensive income – increase brought by pension liability remeasurements due to 

experience adjustments. 
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Key performance indicators are listed below: 

 
2016 2015 2014 

Liquidity Ratio    

(1) Current Ratio  1.78:1 1.84:1 1.82:1 

(2) Debt to Equity Ratio  2.52:1 2.47:1 2.21:1 

(3) Asset-to-Equity Ratio 3.52:1 3.47:1 3.21:1 

(4) Earnings before Interest  
           and Taxes  

 
P846.79 million 

 
P672.76 million 

 
P957.73 million 

(5) Interest coverage ratio 1.45 1.30  2.03  

(6) Return on Revenue 11.63% 12.31% 17.02% 

(7) Return on Equity  9.14% 7.55% 12.34% 

(8) Basic Earnings per Share  P0.51 P0.39  P0.61  
 

 

(1) Current Assets / Current Liabilities 
(2) Total Liabilities /  Stockholders’ Equity 
(3) Total Assets / Stockholders’ Equity 
(4) Net Income plus Interest Expenses and Provision for Income Tax 
(5) Earnings before Interest and Taxes / Interest expense in Income Statement 
(6) Net Income / Revenue 
(7) Net Income /  Stockholders’ Equity 
(8) Net Income / Outstanding Shares 

 
These key indicators were chosen in order to provide management with a measure of the Group’s financial 
strength (Current Ratio and Debt to Equity) and ability to maximize the value of its stockholders’ investment 

in the Group (Earnings per Share, Earnings before Interest and Taxes and Return on Equity).  
 
The Group will continue to identify potential sites for development and pursue expansion activities by 
establishing landmark developments in the high rise residential luxury condominium and investment 
properties. The Group intends to implement this by putting up the required resources needed for the 
development of its existing and future projects.  
 
 

Review of December 31, 2016 as compared with December 31, 2015 

 

Material Changes to the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2016 

Compared to December 31, 2015 (Increase/Decrease of 5% or more)    
 
Cash and cash equivalents increased by 49% as the net result of proceeds from loan availments and 
settlements, and collections of customers’ deposits less disbursements for construction activities.  Cash 
balance as of yearend included funds for the Group’s future land acquisitions. 
 

The 9% increase in Receivables (including noncurrent portion) is mainly attributable to the increased sales 
of the Company’s condominium projects and the increase in the percentage of completion of projects with 
ongoing construction during the year. 
 
Real estate for development and sale decreased by 10% due to the construction costs charged to cost of sales 
related to the higher sales recognized in the current year. 
 
The 14% increase in Other current assets is due to the deposits made for future property acquisitions and 
increase in creditable withholding taxes. 
 
Property and equipment decreased by 26% as a result of depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2016. 
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The 29% increase in Investment properties is mainly due to the acquisition of additional parcels of land for 
the Group’s ALHI Corporate Office.  The construction and development of Admiral Hotel, One Soler and 
BayLife Venue also contributed to the increase in investment properties, net of depreciation of completed 
projects. 
 
The decrease of 25% in Deferred tax assets mainly resulted from the recognition of the difference between 

tax and book basis of accounting for real estate transactions and contracts revenue, and utilization of net 
operating loss carryover. 
 
Bill deposits to utility providers increased Other noncurrent assets by P=10.84 million or 15%. 
 
Accounts and other payables (including noncurrent portion) increased by 14% mainly due to the outstanding 
payable relating to the acquisition of parcels of land for the Group’s ALHI Corporate Office. 
 
The 8% increase in Loans payable is the net result of new loan availments and repayment of loans. These 
loans were obtained to finance the construction of ongoing projects of the Group and acquisitions of land. 

 
Customers’ advances and deposits increased by 27% due to the advances and deposits paid by buyers and 
lessees for the Group’s existing projects.  This account includes the new sales not yet recognized as revenue 
during the year. 
 
The 6% increase in Deferred tax liabilities is due to the recognition of the difference between tax and book 
basis of accounting for real estate transactions. 
 
Pension liabilities decreased by 8% while Other comprehensive income increased by P=9.63 million or 92% 
due to remeasurements in pension liability that were calculated by an independent actuary. 
 

The 12% increase in Retained earnings represents the Net Income net of cash dividend declaration in 2016. 
 
Non-controlling interests increased by P=1.54 million or 32% due to current year net income attributable to 
the non-controlling interests. 
 

Material Changes to the Statements of Income as of December 31, 2016  

Compared to December 31, 2015 (Increase/Decrease of 5% or more) 
 

As discussed, Real estate sales increased by 44% as a result of continuing construction and sale of Monarch 
Parksuites, Oxford Parksuites, Princeview Parksuites, Admiral Grandsuites and Anchor Grandsuites during 
the year.  
 
Rental income increased by 20% due to the start of operations of One Soler and, the increased occupancy of 
One Logistics Center and commercial units in the Group’s completed condominium projects. 

 

Interest and other income decreased by 11% due to lower amortization of discount on installment contracts 

receivable. 

 

The 52% increase in Cost of real estate is due to the higher revenue realized from real estate transactions and 

increase in costs to complete the Group’s condominium projects. 

 
The increase in Selling and administrative expenses of 11% is brought by the higher sales and marketing 
expenses resulting from higher Real estate sales during the year.  The increase in Selling and administrative 
expenses is also due higher depreciation expense on the Group’s completed recurring income projects. 
 

Finance cost increased by P=2.18 million or 11% on account of interest arising from increased loan availments 
during the year. 
 

Taxable income and provision for income tax increased by 26% and 20%, respectively, as a collective result 

of the above-mentioned transactions.  
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The increase in Other comprehensive income of P=1.84 million or 23% is due to remeasurements on Group’s 
pension liability. 
 
In general, the Group reported a total comprehensive income of P=569.52 million or a growth of 30% for the 
year ended December 2016 mainly from higher sales revenue and rental income. 
 

 

Review of December 31, 2015 as compared with December 31, 2014 
 

Material Changes to the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2015 

Compared to December 31, 2014 (Increase/Decrease of 5% or more)    
 

Cash and cash equivalents increased by 12% mainly due to proceeds from the Group’s loan availments net 
of cash outflows from arising from property acquisitions and payments for construction and development of 
the Group’s projects.  
 
The 13% increase in Real estate for development and sale is a result of new project development (Admiral 
Grandsuites) and the continuing construction and development of the Group’s projects, which consist of 
Monarch Parksuites, Oxford Parksuites, Admiral Baysuites and Clairemont Hills Parksuites. 
 
The 19% increase in Other current assets is mainly due to the increase in input value-added tax due to land 
acquisitions, continuing construction and development of the Group’s existing projects, and additional 
deposits for future acquisitions of real estate properties. 

 
Property and equipment decreased by 27% as a result of depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2015. 
 
The 45% increase in Investment properties is due to the acquisitions of parcels of land for the Group’s ALHI 
Corporate Office and additional lot to expand Admiral Hotel as well as a lot for the Group’s new real estate 
development in Binondo.  Additions to Investment properties is also due to the construction of One Soler 
and the recently completed One Logistics Center.  The Group also started the construction of Admiral Hotel 
and the commercial building in Aseana Bay City. 
 
Other noncurrent assets increased by 6% due to payments for initial set-up services rendered by public utility 

providers and other various long-term deposits necessary for the construction and development of real estate 
projects.  The Group also paid construction bond deposit relating to the construction of commercial building 
in Aseana Bay City. 
 
Accounts and other payables increased by 11% due to the Group’s construction activities in its existing 
projects which increased payable to contractors and suppliers.  The increase is also due to the outstanding 
payable relating to the acquisition of parcels of land for the Group’s ALHI Corporate Office. 
 
The 22% increase in Loans payable is the net result of new loan availments and repayment of loans. These 
loans were obtained to finance the construction of ongoing projects of the Group. 
 

Customers’ advances and deposits increased by 12% due to the advances and deposits paid by buyers for the 
Group’s existing projects. 
 
The 13% increase in Deferred tax liabilities is due to the recognition of the difference between tax and book 
basis of accounting for real estate transactions. 
 
Other comprehensive income increased by P=7.77 million or 294% arising from pension liability 
remeasurements due to experience adjustments that were calculated by independent actuary. 
 
The 9% increase in Retained earnings represents the Net Income net of cash dividend declaration in 2015. 

 
Non-controlling interests decreased by P=0.82 million or 21% due to current year net loss attributable to the 
non-controlling interests. 
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Material Changes to the Statements of Income as of December 31, 2015  

Compared to December 31, 2014 (Increase/Decrease of 5% or more) 
 

The decrease in Real estate sales by 9% is primarily on account of lower construction accomplishment of 
saleable condominium projects.  In 2014, construction of Anchor Skysuites and Solemare Parksuites were 
completed while Admiral Baysuites and Clairemont Hills Parksuites were already substantially completed 
by year end 2014.   Further, Admiral Baysuites and Clairemont Hills Parksuites were completed in the third 
quarter and second quarter of 2015, respectively.  The completion and/or substantial completion of the 
projects resulted to lower construction accomplishments in 2015. 
 
In June 2015, the Group commenced the construction of Admiral Grandsuites.  Existing residential Projects 
under continuing construction and development include Monarch Parksuites in Aseana Bay City, and 
Oxford Parksuites and Princeview Parksuites in Binondo. The construction of Anchor Grandsuites in 
Binondo will start in the third quarter of 2016. 

 
The decrease of construction accomplishment of saleable condominium projects is supplemented by the 
Group’s efforts to invest and increase its recurring income projects. This is in line with the Group’s strategy 
in re-balancing the mix of its revenue sources. The Group’s project developments for commercial leasing 
(such as One Logistics Center and One Soler) and commercial units in its condominium projects were not 
sold as they are designated as recurring income projects or assets. The recurring income project 
developments are presented as Investment properties in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.  
 
In addition, sales attainment during the period was also generally weaker than expected, due to increasing 
competition.  

 
Rental income increased by 7% due to increased occupancy of the Group’s investment properties including 
the newly completed One Logistics Center. 
 
Revenue from management fees increased by 25% as the Group provided higher number of property 
management services for completed projects during the current period. 
 
Interest and other income decreased by 20% due to lower amortization of discount on installment contracts 
receivable. 
 
Finance costs decreased by P=2.20 million or 10% due to lower interest on the Group’s employee benefit 

obligation. 
 
Taxable income decreased as a collective result of the above-mentioned transactions, causing the decrease 
in provision for income tax by 22% compared to prior year. 
 

 
Review of December 31, 2014 as compared with December 31, 2013 

 
Material Changes to the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2014 

Compared to December 31, 2013 (Increase/Decrease of 5% or more) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents decreased by 17% mainly due to property acquisitions and payments for 
construction and development costs of existing projects. 
 

The 10% increase in Real estate for development and sale is a result of the property acquisitions (Anchor 
Grandsuites, new project development (Princeview Parksuites) and the continuing construction and 
development of existing projects, which consist of Monarch Parksuites, Oxford Parksuites, Admiral 
Baysuites and Clairemont Hills Parksuites. 
 
The 11% decrease in Other current assets is mainly attributable to the decrease in deposits for future 
acquisition of real estate properties as they are now being developed and lower input value-added tax for the 
current year. 
 
Property and equipment decreased by 5% as a result of depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2014. 
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The 42% increase in Investment properties is due to the construction of One Soler and One Logistics Center, 
and transfers of commercial units of completed condominium projects to investment properties. 
 
The decrease of 9% in Deferred tax assets mainly resulted from the recognition of the difference between tax 
and book basis of accounting for real estate transactions, utilization of net operating loss carryover and 
amortization of discount on installment contracts receivable. 

 
Other noncurrent assets increased by 22% due to payments for initial set-up services rendered by public 
utility providers and other various long-term deposits necessary for the construction and development of real 
estate projects. 
 
The 11% increase in Loans payable is the net result of new loan availments and repayment of loans. These 
loans were obtained to finance the construction of ongoing projects of the Group. 
 
Liabilities for purchased land decreased by 100% since the Group has fully settled the liabilities in 2014. 
 

The 7% decrease in Customers’ advances and deposits is the result of application of these deposits to 
condominium contracts receivables and amortization of commercial lease rights.  
 
The 20% increase in Deferred tax liabilities is due to the recognition of the difference between tax and book 
basis of accounting for real estate transactions. 
 
Pension liabilities increased by 13% as a result of the pension expense and interest costs for the year ended 

December 31, 2014. 
 
Other comprehensive income increased by 336% arising from pension liability remeasurements due to 
experience adjustments that were calculated by independent actuary. 
 
The 17% increase in Retained earnings represents the Net Income net of cash dividend declaration in 2014. 
 
Non-controlling interests decreased by 168% due to current year net loss attributable to the non-controlling 
interests. 
 

Material Changes to the Statements of Income as of December 31, 2014 

Compared to December 31, 2013 (Increase/Decrease of 5% or more) 
 
The decrease in Real estate sales by 36% is due to decrease in construction accomplishments of Monarch 
Parksuites and Oxford Parksuites which has correspondingly affected the Group’s real estate revenues. Site 

conditions delayed the start of the construction of Monarch Parksuites and Oxford Parksuites to the fourth 
quarter of 2013, thereby affecting the construction accomplishments of these projects in 2014. 
 
Moreover, up until December 31, 2013, the Group has substantially completed the construction of Anchor 
Skysuites and Solemare Parksuites Phase 2 that contributed to lower level of revenue in comparison with 
the prior year. Sales attainment in the fourth quarter was also generally lower than expected in part due to 
delayed start of launching and development of Admiral Grandsuites and Anchor Grandsuites. Further, sales 
of projects outside Binondo area were also weak due to increasing competition. 
 
The direction of the Group to increase the contribution of recurring income projects and/or assets to its 

overall revenue has also contributed to lower net income of the Group in 2014. New project developments 
for commercial leasing (such as One Logistics Center and One Soler) and commercial units in its 
condominium projects were not sold as they are now designated as recurring income projects or assets. These 
recurring income projects and/or assets are presented as Investment Properties in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
 

Rental income increased by 14% due to increased occupancy of the Group’s investment properties. 
 
Revenue from management fees increased by 34% as the Group provided higher number of property 
management services for completed projects during the current year. 
 
The 40% decrease in cost of real estate is due to the lower revenue realized from real estate transactions in 
2014 as compared to the prior year.  
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The increase of 6% in Selling and administrative expenses is attributable to higher salaries and wages, 
utilities, contracted services and depreciation expenses as a result of increase in headcount, manpower cost 
and operating expenses of the Group’s properties which are held for rental. 

 
Finance cost increased by 28% or P=4.87 million on account of interest arising from increased loan availments 
during the year. 
 
Taxable income decreased as a collective result of the above-mentioned transactions, causing the decrease 
in provision for income tax by 32% compared to prior year. 
 
 

Review of December 31, 2013 as compared with December 31, 2012 

 

Material Changes to the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2013 

Compared to December 31, 2012 (Increase/Decrease of 5% or more) 
 
The decrease in Cash and cash equivalents of 7% was used in operating activities mainly construction. 
 

The 52% increase in Receivables was mainly attributable to the increased sales of ongoing as well as new 
projects namely Monarch Parksuites and Oxford Parksuites and the significant increase in the percentage of 
completion of ongoing projects during the year. 
 
Real estate for sale and development went up by 12% as a result of the continued development and 
construction of current projects, expansion in construction activities as well as the acquisitions of new 
properties for future projects. The Group’s ongoing projects are Anchor Skysuites, Solemare Parksuites 

Phase 2, Admiral Baysuites and Clairemont Hills. Wharton Parksuites was 100% completed in 2013 while 
the Group has started the construction of Monarch Parksuites and Oxford Parksuites in the 4th quarter of 
the same year. 
 
The increase of 25% in Other current assets is primarily due to the increase in deposits for real estate 
properties and in prepaid expenses. 
 
The 7% increase in Property and equipment is brought by the additional acquisitions of transportation 
equipment, leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures. 
 

Investment properties resulted to a 5% increase in 2013 attributable to the construction of a new commercial 
project. 
 
The decrease of 22% in Deferred tax assets mainly resulted from the recognition of the difference between 
tax and book basis of accounting for real estate transactions. 
 
The increase in Other noncurrent assets of 109% is caused principally by the increase in utility deposits for 
substantially completed projects. 
 
Accounts and other payables went up by 41% primarily as a result of the increase in payable to contractors 

due to the continued construction of existing and new projects, increase in taxes payable and retention 
payable. Also in 2013, accrued expenses increased significantly due to improved units sold. 
. 
The 64% increase in Customers’ advances and deposits is mostly due to the collections of customer deposits 
for new and ongoing residential condominium projects and increase in the lease rights collected in 2013 
from One and Two Shopping Center lessees. 
 

The increase of 19% in Loans payable is mainly attributable to the proceeds of additional loan availments 
net of the loan settlements made in 2013. These loans were availed for the financing of the construction of 
the current projects and land acquisition. 
 
The decrease in Liabilities for purchased land of 92% is a result of the payments made by the Group in 2013. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities increased by 55% due to the recognition of the difference between the tax and book 
basis of accounting for real estate transactions. 
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The 29% increase in Pension liability resulted from the recognition of the higher pension cost in 2013. The 
increase is due to the hiring of addition number of manpower by the Group during the year. 
 
The increase of 50% in Common stock is a result of the stock dividends declared and distributed by the 
Group in 2013. 
 

The decrease in Other comprehensive loss of 72% is due to the recognition of losses in the actuarial valuation 
of the Group’s retirement obligation. 
 
Retained earnings went up by 26% attributable to the net income in 2013 of the Group net of the cash 
dividend paid and stock dividends distributed during the year.  
 

 

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Group’s financial statements are consistent with 
those of the previous financial years except for the adoption of new PFRSs, amended PFRSs and 
improvements to PFRSs which were adopted beginning January 1, 2016.   
 
New and Amended Standards and Interpretations 
The Group applied for the first time certain standards, amendments and improvements to existing standards, 
which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.  The nature and impact of each 
new standard, amendment and improvement is described below: 

 
The nature and impact of each new standard and amendment are described below: 
 

 Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements -Disclosure Initiative 
(Amendments) 

The amendments are intended to assist entities in applying judgment when meeting the presentation 
and disclosure requirements in PFRSs.  They clarify the following: 

- That entities shall not reduce the understandability of their financial statements by either 

obscuring material information with immaterial information; or aggregating material items that 
have different natures or functions 

- That specific line items in the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of financial 

position may be disaggregated 

- That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements 

- That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must 

be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will 
not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
These amendments do not have any material impact on the Group. 

 

 PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, and PAS 28, 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception 
(Amendments) 

These amendments clarify that the exemption in PFRS 10 from presenting consolidated financial 
statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity that measures all of its 
subsidiaries at fair value and that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an investment 
entity itself and that provides support services to the investment entity parent is consolidated.  The 
amendments also allow an investor (that is not an investment entity and has an investment entity 

associate or joint venture), when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement 
applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.  These 
amendments are not applicable to the Group since none of the entities within the Group is an investment 
entity nor does the Group have investment entity associates or joint venture.  

 

 PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments) 

The amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates in their separate financial statements.  Entities already applying PFRSs and 
electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial statements will have to apply that change 
retrospectively.  These amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.  
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 PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (Amendments) 

The amendments to PFRS 11 require a joint operator that is accounting for the acquisition of an interest 
in a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes business (as defined by  
PFRS 3, Business Combinations), to apply the relevant PFRS 3 principles for business combinations 

accounting.  The amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not 

remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint control is 
retained.  In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to PFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do 
not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common 
control of the same ultimate controlling party. 

 
The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the 
acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation.  These amendments do not have any 
impact to the Group as there has been no interest acquired in a joint operation during the period. 

 

 PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

PFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rate-regulation, to 
continue applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral account balances upon 
its first-time adoption of PFRSs.  Entities that adopt PFRS 14 must present the regulatory deferral 
accounts as separate line items in the statement of financial position and present movements in these 
account balances as separate line items in the statement of comprehensive income.  The standard 
requires disclosures on the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s rate-regulation and the effects 
of that rate-regulation on its financial statements.  This standard does not apply to the Group since the 

Group is not a first-time adopter of PFRSs. 
 
 PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41, Agriculture - Bearer Plants (Amendments) 

The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the definition of 

bearer plants.  Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants will no 
longer be within the scope of PAS 41.  Instead, PAS 16 will apply.  After initial recognition, bearer 
plants will be measured under PAS 16 at accumulated cost (before maturity) and using either the cost 
model or revaluation model (after maturity).  The amendments also require that produce that grows on 
bearer plants will remain in the scope of PAS 41 measured at fair value less costs to sell.  For government 
grants related to bearer plants, PAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 

Assistance, will apply.  These amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Group as the 

Group does not have any bearer plants. 
 

 PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortization (Amendments) 

The amendments clarify the principle in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic 

benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic 
benefits that are consumed through use of the asset.  As a result, a revenue-based method cannot be used 
to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to 
amortize intangible assets.  These amendments do not have any impact to the Group given that the 
Group has not used a revenue-based method to depreciate its non-current assets.  

 
Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle) 
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle) are effective January 1, 2016 and did not have material 

impact on the consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise stated.  They include: 
 

 PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in Methods of Disposal 

(Amendment) 

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that changing from a disposal through sale to a 
disposal through distribution to owners and vice-versa should not be considered to be a new plan of 
disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan.  There is, therefore, no interruption of the 
application of the requirements in PFRS 5.  The amendment also clarifies that changing the disposal 
method does not change the date of classification.  

 

 PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts (Amendment) 

PFRS 7 requires an entity to provide disclosures for any continuing involvement in a transferred asset 
that is derecognized in its entirety.  The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee 
can constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset.  An entity must assess the nature of the fee  
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and arrangement against the guidance for continuing involvement in PFRS 7 in order to assess whether 
the disclosures are required.  The amendment is to be applied such that the assessment of which servicing 
contracts constitute continuing involvement will need to be done retrospectively.  However, 
comparative disclosures are not required to be provided for any period beginning before the annual 
period in which the entity first applies the amendments. 

 

 PFRS 7 - Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial Statements (Amendment) 

This amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the disclosures on offsetting of financial 

assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial report unless they 
provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent annual report. 

 

 PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Regional Market Issue Regarding Discount Rate (Amendment) 

This amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds 
is assessed based on the currency in which the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where 
the obligation is located.  When there is no deep market for high quality corporate bonds in that 
currency, government bond rates must be used.  

 

 PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - Disclosure of Information ‘Elsewhere in the Interim Financial Report’ 
(Amendment) 

The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the required interim disclosures must either 
be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial 
statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim financial report (e.g., in the 
management commentary or risk report). 
 

Standards and Interpretation Issued but Not yet Effective 
Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below.  Unless otherwise indicated, the Group does 
not expect the future adoption of these pronouncements to have a significant impact on its consolidated 
financial statements.  The Group intends to adopt the following pronouncements when they become 
effective. 
 
Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2017 

 

 Amendments to PFRS 12, Clarification of the Scope of the Standard (Part of Annual Improvements to PFRSs 
2014 - 2016 Cycle) 

The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in PFRS 12, other than those relating to 

summarized financial information, apply to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an 
associate (or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or an associate) that is classified (or included in a 
disposal group that is classified) as held for sale.  

 
The amendments will not have any impact on the Group’s financial position and results of operation 
but will have an impact on the disclosures in its 2017 consolidated financial statements. 

 

 Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, Disclosure Initiative 

The amendments to PAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes 
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign exchange gains or losses). On initial 
application of the amendments, entities are not required to provide comparative information for 
preceding periods.  Early application of the amendments is permitted. 
 
Application of amendments will result in additional disclosures in the 2017 consolidated financial 
statements of the Group. 

 

 Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses 

The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable 
profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference.  
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity should determine future taxable 
profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets 
for more than their carrying amount. 
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Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively.  However, on initial application of the 
amendments, the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may be recognized in 
opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, as appropriate), without allocating the 
change between opening retained earnings and other components of equity.  Entities applying this relief 
must disclose that fact.  Early application of the amendments is permitted. 

 
Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2018 

 

 Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment 
Transactions 

The amendments to PFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the 
measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based 
payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and the accounting 
where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its 
classification from cash settled to equity settled. 

 
On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but 

retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and if other criteria are met.  
Early application of the amendments is permitted. 

 

 Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with PFRS 4 

The amendments address concerns arising from implementing PFRS 9, the new financial instruments 
standard, before implementing the forthcoming insurance contracts standard. They allow entities to 
choose between the overlay approach and the deferral approach to deal with the transitional challenges.  
The overlay approach gives all entities that issue insurance contracts the option to recognize in other 
comprehensive income, rather than profit or loss, the volatility that could arise when PFRS 9 is applied 

before the new insurance contracts standard is issued.  On the other hand, the deferral approach gives 
entities whose activities are predominantly connected with insurance an optional temporary exemption 
from applying PFRS 9 until the earlier of application of the forthcoming insurance contracts standard 
or January 1, 2021. 

 
The overlay approach and the deferral approach will only be available to an entity if it has not previously 
applied PFRS 9. 

 

 PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

PFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with 
customers.  Under PFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.  The 
principles in PFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognizing revenue.  

 
The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition 
requirements under PFRSs.  Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  

 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of PFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard on the 
required effectivity date.  

 

 PFRS 9, Financial Instruments 
PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of PFRS 9.  The standard introduces new 

requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. PFRS 9 is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early application permitted.  
Retrospective application is required, but providing comparative information is not compulsory.  For 
hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions. 

 
The adoption of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s 
financial assets and impairment methodology for financial assets, but will have no impact on the 
classification and measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities.  The Group is currently assessing the 
impact of adopting this standard.   
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 Amendments to PAS 28, Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value (Part of Annual Improvements 
to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle) 

The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organization, or other qualifying entity, 
may elect, at initial recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its investments in 

associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).  They also clarify that if an 
entity that is not itself an investment entity has an interest in an associate or joint venture that is an 
investment entity, the entity may, when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair value 
measurement applied by that investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment entity 
associate’s or joint venture’s interests in subsidiaries.  This election is made separately for each 
investment entity associate or joint venture, at the later of the date on which (a) the investment entity 
associate or joint venture is initially recognized; (b) the associate or joint venture becomes an investment 
entity; and (c) the investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent.  The amendments 
should be applied retrospectively, with earlier application permitted. 

 

 Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Transfers of Investment Property 

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction 
or development into, or out of investment property.  The amendments state that a change in use occurs 
when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence 
of the change in use.  A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does not 
provide evidence of a change in use.  The amendments should be applied prospectively to changes in 
use that occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies 
the amendments.  Retrospective application is only permitted if this is possible without the use of 
hindsight. 

 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments. 

 

 Philippine Interpretation International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 22, Foreign 
Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 

The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the 
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an 
entity initially recognizes the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance 

consideration.  If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a 
date of the transaction for each payment or receipt of advance consideration.  The interpretation may 
be applied on a fully retrospective basis.  Entities may apply the interpretation prospectively to all assets, 
expenses and income in its scope that are initially recognized on or after the beginning of the reporting 
period in which the entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning of a prior reporting period 
presented as comparative information in the financial statements of the reporting period in which the 
entity first applies the interpretation. 

 
Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2019 
 

 PFRS 16, Leases 

Under the new standard, lessees will no longer classify their leases as either operating or finance leases 
in accordance with PAS 17, Leases. Rather, lessees will apply the single-asset model. Under this model, 

lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for most leases in the statement of financial 
position, and subsequently, will depreciate the lease assets and recognize interest on the lease liabilities 
in profit or loss.  Leases with a term of 12 months or less or for which the underlying asset is of low 
value are exempted from these requirements. 

 

The accounting by lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries forward the principles 
of lessor accounting under PAS 17. Lessors, however, will be required to disclose more information in 
their financial statements, particularly on the risk exposure to residual value. 

 
Entities may early adopt PFRS 16 but only if they have also adopted PFRS 15.  When adopting PFRS 
16, an entity is permitted to use either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach, with 

options to use certain transition reliefs. 
 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting PFRS 16. 
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Deferred Effectivity 
 

 Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture 

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control 
of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture.  The amendments clarify that 

a full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associate or joint venture involves a business as 
defined in PFRS 3.  Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that does not 
constitute a business, however, is recognized only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the 
associate or joint venture. 

 
On January 13, 2016, the Financial Reporting Standards Council postponed the original effective date 
of January 1, 2016 of the said amendments until the International Accounting Standards Board has 
completed its broader review of the research project on equity accounting that may result in the 
simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting for associates and 
joint ventures. 

 

 
Other Disclosures 

 
Other than those already disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, there were no material events 
or uncertainties known to management as of December 31, 2016, in respect of the following: 
 

 Any known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that are reasonably expected to 

have a material effect on liquidity. The Group does not anticipate having within the next 12 months 
any liquidity problems nor does it anticipate any default or breach of any of its existing notes, loans, 
leases or other indebtedness or financing agreement. 

 

 Events that will trigger material financial obligation to the Group. 

 

 Material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations and other relationships of the 
Group with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period. 

 

 Known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to have a 

material impact on net sales/revenue/income from continuing operations. 
 

 Significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Group’s continuing operations. 
 

 Seasonal aspects that had material effect on the financial condition or result of operations.  
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Item 7. Financial Statements 

  

The financial statements and schedules listed in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements and 

Supplementary Schedules are filed as part of this Form 17-A as Annex “A”. 

 

INFORMATION ON INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT  

 

(1) EXTERNAL AUDIT FEES AND SERVICES  

 
The aggregate fees for each of the last three (3) years for professional services rendered by the Company’s 
external auditors: 
 

 2016 2015 2014 

Audit Fees P=2,527,150 P=2,435,000 P=2,430,000 

Tax fees – – – 

Other Fees – – – 

Total P=2,527,150 P=2,435,000 P=2,430,000 

 
(a) Audit and audit related fees for the Group was for expressing an opinion on the financial statements and 

assistance in preparing the annual income tax return. 
(b) There are no other assurance and related services by the external auditor that are reasonably related to 

the performance of the audit or review of the registrant’s financial statements. 
(c) There were no tax fees paid for the years 2016, 2015 and 2014. 
(d) There were no other fees paid to the external auditors for the years 2016, 2015 and 2014. 
(e) Audit committee’s approval policies and procedures for the above services – the committee will evaluate 

the proposals from known external audit firms. The review will focus on quality of service, commitment 
to deadline and fees as a whole, and no one factor should necessarily be determinable. 

 

 

Item 8. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants  

on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

 

There were no changes in and disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosure. 
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PART III – CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION  
 

Item 9.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 
 

(1) Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control persons 

 
The incumbent directors and executive officers of the Company are as follows: 
 

 
 

Office 

 

 

Name 

 

 

Age 

Year of 

Assumption of  

Office 

 

No. of 

Years/Month 

Director and Chairman of 
the Board of Directors 
 

Stephen L. Keng 53 2007/2015 9 years/1 year 

Director, Vice-Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer 

 

Steve Li 47 2007/2013 9 years/3 years 

Director  
 

Avelino M. Guzman, Jr. 43 2015 1 year   

Director and President  Digna Elizabeth L. Ventura 44 2011 5 years  
 

Director and Treasurer Peter Kho 42 2007 9 years  
 
 

Director and Corporate 
Secretary 
 

Christine P. Base 46 2007 9 years  
 

Independent Director Violeta Josef 70 2015 1 year  
 

Independent Director Ma. Victoria Villaluz 62 2015 1 year  
 

Director Charles Stewart Lee 
 

27 2014 2 years  

Director and Chief Finance 
Officer 
 

Neil Y. Chua 46 2013/2009 3 years/7 years  

Director 
 

Edwin A. Lee 59 2013 3 years 

Corporate Affairs Head & 
Compliance Information 
Officer 
 

Sarah Joelle C. Lintag 44 2016 9 months 
 

Internal Audit Manager Ericson C. Gemzon, Jr. 33 2016 5 months 
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Directors 

 

STEPHEN L. KENG, Filipino, 53 years old, is the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chairman 
of the Nomination Committee of Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. He is concurrently the Chairman of S & A 
International Holdings LTD and of VS Group of Companies (Philippines). 

 

STEVE LI, Hong Kong SAR National, 47 years old, is the Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 
Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. since 2007 and 2013, respectively. He is concurrently the managing Director 
of MFT International Ltd. (Hong Kong). Mr. Li graduated from York University, Toronto, Canada with a 
Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration major in Finance and Accounting. 
 

AVELINO M. GUZMAN, JR., Filipino, 43 years old, was elected as Director of the Company. He is the 

Managing Partner of A.M. Guzman, Jr. and Associates Law Office, and of Golden Ace Credit Solutions 
Company, Ltd. He also serves as the President and Chairman of the Board of Whidbey Holdings 
Corporation and as the Corporate Secretary of Santino Metal Industries, Inc., Merckammed Concepts, Inc., 
IdeashipPhils. Holdings, Inc., LTC Group of Companies, VS Marketing Corporation, Anchor Land Global 
Corporation and Akuna (Philippines) Inc. He was previously a Senior Associate Lawyer at Saulog & De 
Leon Law Offices from January 1999-December 2009. Mr. Guzman, Jr. obtained his Bachelor of Arts major 
in Economics and his Bachelor of Laws from San Beda College. He became a Member of the Integrated Bar 
of the Philippines in 1999. 
 
DIGNA ELIZABETH L. VENTURA, Filipino, 44 years old, is the President of Anchor Land Holdings, 
Inc. since August 15, 2011. From July 2005, she served as the Asst. Vice President for Sales & Marketing 
and in 2009, she was promoted as the Vice President for Sales & Marketing of the Company. Prior to joining 
the Company, she was the Sales Director of Filinvest, Inc., Sales and Marketing Manager of the Waterfront 

Hotel and Megaworld Properties and Holdings, Inc. Ms. Ventura earned her Bachelor of Science Degree in 
Hotel and Restaurant Management from the University of Santo Tomas. 
 
PETER KHO, Filipino, 42 years old, is the Company Treasurer since April 10, 2007. He is concurrently 

serving as the Managing Partner of Guico & Kho Law Offices, President and Chief Executive Officer of 
Discovery Mall Corporation and of Best Buy Office Equipment Corporation, and Vice-President of Justic 
Corporation. He is also a member of Federation of Filipino Chamber of Commerce & Industry Inc. (FFCCI) 
and Philippine Chamber of Commerce and Industry (PCCI).  Mr. Kho obtained his Bachelor of Laws and 
Bachelor of Economics and Development Studies from the Ateneo de Manila University and admitted to 
the Integrated Bar of the Philippines on April 30, 2002. 
 

CHRISTINE P. BASE, Filipino, 46 years old is the Corporate Secretary and a member of the Audit 

committee of the Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. since April 10, 2007. She is currently a Corporate and Tax 
Lawyer at Pacis and Reyes, Attorneys and the Managing Director of Legisforum, Inc. She is the Corporate 
Secretary of Araneta Properties, Inc., Active Alliance Incorporated, Asiasec Equities, Inc. and Ever-Gotesco 
Resources and Holdings, Inc. She is the Compliance Officer of Bloomberry Resorts Corporation. She is a 
director and/or corporate secretary of several private corporations. She was an Auditor and then Tax 
Lawyer of Sycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co. She is a graduate of Ateneo De Manila University School of Law 
with a degree of Juris Doctor. She passed the Bar Examination in 1997. Ms. Base is also a Certified Public 
Accountant. She graduated from De La Salle University with a degree of Bachelor of Science in Commerce 
major in Accounting. 

 

VIOLETA J. JOSEF, Filipino, 70 years old, was elected as Independent Director of the Company. She 
completed her Bachelor in Business Administration from the University of East.  She is a Certified Public 
Accountant and received her Masters Degree in Business Administration-Top Executive Program from the 
Pamantasan ng Lungsod ng Maynila where she is now a part-time Lecturer in PLM’s Graduate School of 
Business. She also completed her General Management Executive Program at the National University of 
Singapore, Faculty of Business Administration in 1992. She held various executive positions such as Senior 
Vice-President, Treasurer, Controller and Director at the Multinational Group of Companies from 1972-
2014.  She started her career in public practice in SGV and Co. immediately after completing her Bachelor’s 

Degree. Ms. Josef was also a former board member of the Professional Regulatory Board of Accountancy, 
for years 1995 to 1998. She has held several positions in various professional and civic organizations, such 
as Past National President of the Philippine Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2013-2014, Deputy 
Vice-President of the Philippine Federation of Professional Associations in 2014-2016,  life-time member of 
the Philippine Association of Professional Regulatory Board Members since 1995, Past President of the 
Association of CPAs in Commerce and Industry in 1986 and a former member of the Auditing Standards 
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and Practices Council.  As PICPA President, she was a board and council member of various international 
accountancy organizations, such as the Asean Federation of Accountants (AFA), the Confederation of 
Asian and Pacific Accountants (CAPA) and the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). 

 

MA. VICTORIA A. VILLALUZ, Filipino, 62 years old, was elected as Independent Director of the 
Company. She is a Member of the Integrated Bar of the Philippines, the UP Women Lawyers’ Circle and 
the Tax Management Association of the Philippines where she also served as President in 2010. She 
previously worked with Sycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co. from 1980 until her retirement in 2014 as a Partner in 
the Tax Services Group where she provided, among others, tax advisory and tax planning, as well as quality 
and risk management, services to clients from various industries such as utilities (power, water, oil and gas), 
telecommunications, entertainment, engineering and construction, real estate, hotel, transportation, trading 
and manufacturing. Ms. Villaluz is an accredited lecturer in the Mandatory Continuing Legal Education 
(MCLE) prescribed by the Supreme Court for lawyers; she was also the tax training director for the Arthur 

Anderson New Tax Seniors’ Training Seminar in Penang Malaysia until 2001 and was a lecturer in the 
Arthur Andersen New Manager’s training seminars in St. Charles, Illinois. Ms. Villaluz obtained her 
Bachelor of Arts in Philosophy and her Bachelor of Laws from the University of the Philippines. 
 

CHARLES STEWART LEE, British, 27 years old, is currently the Director of Pacific Apex Food Ventures, 
Inc. Mr. Lee studied at the University of Southern California, Los Angeles, California USA where he 
obtained his degree in Business of Arts Degree in Social Science with emphasis in Economics. 
 
NEIL Y. CHUA, Filipino, 46 years old, is the Director and Chief Finance Officer of Anchor Land Holdings, 
Inc. since 2013 and 2009, respectively. Neil Y. Chua has worked with various accounting firms before 

joining Anchor Land Holdings, Inc.  He was a senior manager at KPMG, Auckland, New Zealand from 
March  2008 to May  2009; Purwantono, Sarwoko & Sandjaja / Ernst & Young, Indonesia from October 
2002 to February 2008. He was also an Andersen Worldwide Manager of Prasetio, Utomo & Co/Andersen, 
Indonesia and a supervisor at SGV & Co./Arthur Andersen, Philippines from November 1991 to  
September 1996. Mr. Chua obtained his Bachelor of Accountancy from the University of San Carlos Cebu 
City. He is also a Certified Public Accountant and a member Philippine Institute of Certified Public 
Accountant since 1992. 
             
EDWIN LEE, Filipino, 59 years old, was elected as a Director of Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. on  
June 28, 2012 but only assumed office on April 2, 2013 i.e., when the SEC approved the amendment of the 
Company’s Articles of Incorporation which effectively increased the number of Directors from  
seven (7) to nine (9). He is currently serving as the Senior Assistant Vice President at the Office of the 
President of SM Investments Corporation. He graduated from De La Salle University with a Bachelor of 

Science Degree in Commerce major in Business Management. 
             
Key Officer 

  

The members of the management team aside from those mentioned above are as follows: 
 
SARAH JOELLE C. LINTAG, Filipino, 44 years old, is the Head of the Corporate Affairs Department. 
She was formerly the Vice President for Billings, Credit Operations and Legal Services from June 2015 to 
December 2015 for ACM Landholdings, Inc. (Philippines), where she also served as its Assistant Vice 

President for Legal and Human Resources and Administration from July 2013 to May 2015. She was also 
the Chief Political Affairs Officer in the Office of the Honorable Edgardo “Sonny” Angara in the House of 
Representatives from October 2010 to June 2013. She graduated from California State University, 
Northridge, California (USA) with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science. She earned her Bachelor 
of Laws degree from the University of the Philippines, Diliman, Quezon City. She has been in the legal 
practice for fifteen (15) years. 
 

ERICSON C. GEMZON, JR., Filipino, 33 years old, is the Internal Audit Manager at Anchor Land 

Holdings, Inc.  He is a member of Philippine Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  Ericson was 
previously an Internal Audit Manager at Travellers International Hotel Group, Inc. and was with SyCip 
Gorres Velayo & Co.’s Assurance Division from November 2004 to February 2013, last holding the position 
of an Associate Director.  He obtained his BS Accountancy degree and Masters in Business Administration 
at San Beda College- Mendiola. 
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(2) Significant Employees 
 
No single person is expected to make a significant contribution to the business since the Company considers 
the collective efforts of all its employees as instrumental to the success of the Company. 

 
 

(3) Family Relationships 

 
Aside from Mr. Charles Stewart Lee and Mr. Stephen Lee, there are no family relationship, either by affinity 
or consanguinity up to the fourth civil degree among the directors, executive officers and persons nominated 
and chosen by the Company to become directors and executive officers. 
 

(4) Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 
 
The Company is not aware of any bankruptcy petition of any civil or criminal legal proceedings filed against 
any one of its directors or executive officer during the past five (5) years. Also, there are no material legal 
proceedings to which the Company or its subsidiary or any of their properties are involved in or subject to 
any legal proceedings which would have material effect adverse on the business or financial position of the 
Company or its subsidiaries. 
 
As of December 31, 2016, the Group is not involved in any litigation it considers material.  However, the 
Group’s directors and officers were not spared from having their names dragged in legal disputes instituted 

by disgruntled persons with whom they transacted with. For the past five (5) years, the Group’s directors 
and officers were wrongfully impleaded in several labor cases which were accordingly dismissed by the 
concerned tribunals where they were filed. 
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Item 10.  Executive Compensation 
 

(1) Compensation Table 

 
Information as to the aggregate compensation during the last three (3) fiscal years paid to the Company’s 
officers and other most highly compensated executive officers as a group is as follows: 
 

Name and Principal Position Fiscal Year 

Total Group 

Salary 

Total Group 

Bonus 

Other Annual 

Compensation 

1. Steve Li - CEO Actual 2014 

 

Actual 2015 

 

Actual 2016 

 

Projected 2017 

 

P=35.7 M 

 

P=41.3 M 

 

P=30.7 M 

 

P=32.2 M 

 

P=0.9 M 

 

P=0.6 M 

 

P=0.5 M 

 

P=0.5 M 

 

 

2. Digna Elizabeth L. Ventura 

- President 

3. Neil Y. Chua - CFO 

4. Reynaldo F. Villanueva - 

AVP Engineering 

5. Jose Ma. Sebastian G. 

Nunez - -Operations 

Director of MPMC 

All other officers and 

directors as a group - 

unnamed 

Actual 2014 

 

Actual 2015 

 

Actual 2016 

 

Projected 2017 

P=9.4 M 

 

P=15.0 M 

 

P=22.8 M 

 

P=23.9 M 

 

(2) Compensation of Directors 
 
Under the By-Laws of the Company, by resolution of the Board, each director shall receive a reasonable per 
diem allowance for his attendance at each meeting of the Board. As compensation, the Board shall receive 
and allocate an amount of not more than ten percent (10%) of the net income before income tax of the 
corporation during the preceding year. Such compensation shall be determined and apportioned among 
directors in such manner as the Board may deem proper, subject to the approval of stockholders representing 
at least majority of the outstanding capital stock at a regular or special meeting of the stockholders.  
 
The total annual compensation of the Board of Directors is P=5.7 million. 

 
Other than those mentioned above, there are no other arrangements for compensation either by way of 
payments for committee participation or special assignments. There are also no outstanding warrants or 
options held by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and other officers and/or directors. 
 

(3) Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control Arrangements 

 
There are no special contracts of employment between the Company and the named directors and executive 

officers, as well as special compensatory plans or arrangements, including payments to be received from the 
Company with respect to any named directors or executive officers. Employment contracts of all Supervisors 
and Rank and file are all hired as long-term employment period until regularization or termination of any 
cause. 
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Item 11.  Security Ownership of Certain Record & Beneficial Owners and Management 
 

(1) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners 

 
There were no delinquent stocks, and the direct and indirect record and beneficial owners of more than five 
percent (5%) of the Company’s voting securities as of December 31, 2016 are as follows: 
 

 

 

 

Title of 

Class 

 

 

Name and Address of 

Record Owner and 

Relationship with Issuer 

Name of 

Beneficial 

ownership and 

relationship with 

record owner 

 

 

 

 

Citizenship 

 

 

 

No. of  

Shares 

 

 

Percentage 

Held Per 

Class 

Percentage 

Held Out of 

the Total 

Outstanding 

Shares 

Common 
 

Preferred 

LTC Prime Holdings, 

Inc. 
Lots 2-7, Kaingin Road, 
Multinational Village, 
Paranaque City 

 

  Filipino 248,108,100 
 

120,134,048 

23.86% 
 

34.65% 

26.56% 

Common 
 

Preferred 

Sybase Equity 

Investments 

Corporation* 

 Filipino 202,609,200 
 

67,609,400 

19.48% 
 

19.50% 
 
 

19.49% 

Common 
 

Preferred 

Steve Li  
Rm. 16-A Ocean Tower 
Roxas Boulevard, Manila 

 

Steve Li 
 

Hong Kong 
National 

156,000,000 
 

52,000,000 

15.00% 
 

15.00% 
 

15.00% 
 

Common 
 

Preferred 

Cindy Sze Mei Ngar 
Room 21B Ocean Tower 
Roxas Boulevard, Manila 

 

Cindy Sze Mei 
Ngar 
 

British  155,999,298 
 

51,999,766 

15.00% 
 

15.00% 
 

15.00% 

Common PCD Nominee 

Corporation (Non-

Filipino) 

Various clients and 
PDTC participants 
who hold the 
shares on behalf of 
their clients. 
 

Non-
Filipino 

116,093,799 11.16% 8.37% 

       

*The Corporation exhausted all efforts to inquire who shall exercise the voting power over the shares of Sybase Equity 
Investments Corporation but despite such efforts, no representative was named.  
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As of December 31, 2016, the following are known to the Company as participants of the PCD holding 5% 
or more of the Company’s common shares: 
 

 

Title  

Member Name /  

Address 

 

No. of Shares 

Percentage 

Held 

    

Common Lucky Securities Corporation  
Unit 1402 b, Philippine Stock 
Exchange Center, Exchange Road, 
Pasig City 

207,667,200 44.80% 

    

 BDO Securities Corporation 
27th Floor, Tower One, Ayala 
Avenue, Makati City 

66,815,054 14.41% 

    

 The Hongkong and Shanghai 

Banking Corp. Ltd. - Clients’ 

Acct. 
HSBC Securities Services 12th 
Floor, The Enterprise Center, 
Tower I 6766 Ayala Avenue cor 
Paseo de Roxas, Makati City 

62,307,000 13.44% 

    

 COL Financial Group, Inc. 

2701-A East Tower, Philippine 
Stock Exchange Center, Exchange 
Road, Pasig City 

60,864,652 13.13% 

    

 Eastern Securities Development 

Corporation 

1701 Tytana Ctr, Bldg., Binondo, 
Manila, Metropolitan Manila  
 

60,304,950 13.01% 

 

 TOTAL 457,958,856 98.79% 

 
 

(2) Security Ownership of Management 

 
The following is a summary of the aggregate shareholdings of the Company’s directors and executive officers 
in the Company and the percentage of their shareholdings as of December 31, 2016: 
 

 

 

 

Title of 

Class 

 

 

 

Name of Beneficial Owner /  

Address 

 

Amount and 

Nature of 

Beneficial 

Ownership 

 

 

 

 

Citizenship 

 

 

Percentage 

Per Class 

of Share 

Percentage 

Held Out of 

the Total 

Outstanding 

Shares 

      

Common 
 
 
Preferred 

Stephen L. Keng 
Chairman /Director  
Rm. 21B Ocean Tower, 
Roxas Boulevard, Manila 

15,600,690 

Direct 
 
5,242,230 
Direct 
 

Filipino 1.50% 
 
 

1.51% 

1.50% 

 

 
 

Common 

 
 
Preferred 

Steve Li 

Vice-Chairman/Director 
Rm. 16-A Ocean Tower, Roxas 
Boulevard, Manila 

156,000,000 

Direct 
 
52,000,000 
Direct 

Hong Kong           

National 

15.00% 

 
 

15.00% 

15.00% 
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Title of 

Class 

 

 

 

Name of Beneficial Owner /  

Address 

 

Amount and 

Nature of 

Beneficial 

Ownership 

 

 

 

 

Citizenship 

 

 

Percentage 

Per Class 

of Share 

Percentage 

Held Out of 

the Total 

Outstanding 

Shares 
Common 

 
 
 

Avelino M. Guzman, Jr. 
Director 

Unit 403 Alfaro Place 
Condominium, 146 L.P. Leviste 
St., Salcedo Village, Makati City, 
Philippines 
 

1,000 

Direct 
 

 

Filipino 0.00% 

 
 

0.00% 

 

 

 

Common 
 
 
Preferred 

Christine P. Base 
Corporate Secretary/Director   
8/F Chatham House, 116 Valero 
St., Salcedo Village, Makati City  

300,003 
Direct 
 
100,000 
Direct 
 

Filipino 0.03% 
 
 

0.03% 

0.03% 
 
 
 

Common Peter Kho 
Treasurer/Director 
2/F Don Paquito Bldg.,  
99 Dasmariñas St., Binondo, 
Manila. 
 

3 
Direct 

Filipino 0.00% 0.00% 

Common 
 
 
Preferred 

Digna Elizabeth Ventura 
President/Director 

11/F LV Locsin Bldg., Ayala 
Avenue Makati City 

300 
Direct 
 
100 

Direct 
 

Filipino 0.00% 
 
 

0.00% 

0.00% 
 
 
 

Common Charles Stewart Lee 
Director 
11/F LV Locsin Bldg., Ayala 
Avenue Makati City 

 

900 
Direct 

British 
National 

 

0.00% 0.00% 

Common Violeta Josef 

Independent Director 
217 Santiago St., Ayala Alabang 
Village, Muntinlupa City  
 
 

1,000 
Direct 

Filipino 0.00% 0.00% 

Common Ma. Victoria Villaluz 
Independent Director 
116 J. P. Rizal St., Project 4, 
Quezon City  

 

1,000 
Direct 

Filipino 0.00% 0.00% 

Common 
 
 
Preferred 

Neil Y. Chua 
Chief Financial Officer/Director 
11/F LV Locsin Bldg., Ayala 
Avenue Makati City 

5,400 
Direct 
 
1,800 
Direct 
 

Filipino 0.00% 
 
 

0.00% 

0.00% 
 
 
 

Common 
 
 

Preferred 

Edwin Lee 
Director 

54 Angeles St. Alabang Hills, 
Muntinlupa City 

3,000 
Direct 
 

1,000 
Direct 
 

Filipino 0.00% 
 
 

0.00% 

0.00% 
 
 

 

 

 
TOTAL FOR THE GROUP 

 
 

 
16.53% 
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(3) Voting Trust Holders of 5% or More 
 
There is no voting trust or similar arrangement executed among holders of five percent (5%) or more of the 
issued and outstanding shares of common stock of the Company. 

 
 

(4) Changes in Control 
 
The Company’s Articles and By-Laws do not contain any provision that will delay, deter, or prevent a 
change in control of the Company. However, because the Company owns land, Philippine laws limit foreign 
shareholdings in the Company to a maximum of 40% of its issued and outstanding capital stock. Any transfer 
of the Company’s shares by Filipinos to Non-Filipinos will be subject to the limitation that any such transfer 
will not cause foreign shareholdings in the Company to exceed 40% of the Company’s issued and 
outstanding capital stock. In the event that foreign ownership of the Company’s issued and outstanding 

capital stock will exceed 40%, the Company has the right to reject a transfer request to persons other than 
Philippine National or corporations organized under Philippine laws and whose capital stock is at least 60% 
owned by Filipinos and has the right not to record such purchases in the books of the Company. 
 
 

Item 12.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

 
(1) As of December 31, 2016, the following is a summary of the Group’s director who owned ten percent 

(10%) or more of the outstanding shares of the Company: 

 

 

Name of Company and  

Director 

 

Position Held 

Percentage of 

Voting Securities 

Steve Li  
Vice-Chairman and Chief 

Executive Officer 

 

15.00% 

 

 
 

(2) Related Party Transactions 
 

The Group, in the normal course of business, enters into transaction with related parties consisting primarily 
of non-interest bearing advances for working capital requirements.  
 
Outstanding balances with related parties included in the appropriate accounts in the consolidated balance 
sheets are as follows: 
 
Advances to related parties  
 

 2016 2015 2014 

Advances to related parties  – – – 

Advances from related  
     parties 

 
– 

 
– 

 
– 

 
Compensation of key management personnel pertaining to directors’ fees and allowances amounted to  

P=1.6 million in 2016, P=1.7 million in 2015 and P=2.0 million in 2014. 
 
No transaction was entered by the Group with parties who are not considered related parties but with whom 
the Group or its related parties have a relationship that enables the parties to negotiate terms of material 
transactions. 
 
There were no transactions with promoters in the past five years.  
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PART IV.   EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 

 

Item 13. Corporate Governance 

 
Please refer to the attached ACGR of the Company. 

 
 

Item 14.  Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C 

 

(a) Exhibits 
 

The Audited Financial Statements ending December 31, 2016 are hereto attached and incorporated 
by reference as Annex “A”. 
 

(b) Reports on SEC Form 17-C 
 

Date of Report Nature of Item Reported 

July 5, 2016 Results of the Annual Stockholders Meeting and Organizational Meeting 

April 5 2016 Declaration of Dividends to Common Shareholders 

April 5, 2016 Declaration of Dividends to Preferred Shareholders 

March 31, 2016 Appointment of Officer 

February 23, 2016 Resignation of Officer 
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1. Report is filed for the year      2016    
 
 

2. Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter    ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC.   
 
 
3. 11TH FLR., L.V. LOCSIN BLDG., 6752 AYALA AVE. COR. MAKATI AVE., MAKATI CITY             1200   
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                                              Industry Classification Code 
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A. BOARD MATTERS 
 

1) Board of Directors 
 

Number Of Directors Per Articles Of Incorporation ELEVEN (11) 
  

Actual Number Of Directors For The Year ELEVEN (11) 
 

(a) Composition of the Board 
 

Complete the table with information on the Board of Directors: 
 

 
Director’s Name 

 

Type 
[Executive 
(ED), Non-
Executive 
(NED) Or 

Independent 
Directors (ID)] 

 
If 

Nominee, 
Identify 

The 
Principal 

 
Nominator In 

The Last 
Election (If ID, 

State The 
Relationship 

With The 
Nominator) 

 

Date First 
Elected 

Date Last Elected 
(If ID, State The 

Number Of Years 
Served As ID) 

Elected 
When 

(Annual 
/Special 
Meeting) 

 
No. Of 
Years 

Served As 
Directors 

STEPHEN L. KENG NED   April 2007 July 5, 2016 Annual 9 

STEVE LI  ED   April 2007 July 5, 2016 Annual 9 

DIGNA ELIZABETH L. 
VENTURA 

ED   August 2011 July 5, 2016 Annual 5 

PETER KHO NED   April 2007 July 5, 2016 Annual 9 

CHRISTINE P. BASE NED   April 2007 July 5, 2016 Annual 9 

NEIL Y. CHUA ED   June 2013 July 5, 2016 Annual 3 

EDWIN LEE NED   June 2013 July 5, 2016 Annual 3 

CHARLES STEWART LEE NED   June 2014 July 5, 2016 Annual 2 

VIOLETA J. JOSEF  ID   June  2015 July 5, 2016 Annual 1 

MA. VICTORIA A. VILLALUZ ID   June  2015 July 5, 2016 Annual 1 

AVELINO M. GUZMAN, JR. NED   June 2015 July 5, 2016 Annual 1 

 
(b) Provide a brief summary of the corporate governance policy that the Board of Directors has adopted. Please 

emphasize the policy/ies relative to the treatment of all shareholders, respect for the rights of minority 
shareholders and of other stakeholders, disclosure duties, and Board responsibilities. 
 
THE BUSINESS AFFAIRS OF THE COMPANY ARE MANAGED UNDER THE DIRECTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, 
WHICH IS ACCOUNTABLE TO ITS STOCKHOLDERS. THE BOARD PRACTICES HANDS-ON MANAGEMENT STYLE. AS 
SUCH, IT IS THE BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY TO REGULARLY EVALUATE THE STRATEGIC DIRECTION OF THE 
COMPANY, MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND THE EFFECTIVENESS THEREOF. IT IS THE BOARD’S COMMITMENT TO 
ACT IN GOOD FAITH AND WITH DUE CARE IN EXERCISING THEIR BUSINESS JUDGMENT SO AS TO MAXIMIZE 
BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES WITH MINIMAL BUT CALCULATED RISKS, FOR THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE COMPANY 
AND ITS STOCKHOLDERS.  

 
(c) How often does the Board review and approve the vision and mission? 

 
THE BOARD REVIEWS AND EVALUATES ITS VISION AND MISSION ANNUALLY AND AS IT DEEMS NECESSARY, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE COMPANY’S COMMITMENT TO GROWTH AND STABILITY.  
 

(d) Directorship In Other Companies 
 

(i) Directorship In the Company’s Group1 
 

Identify, as and if applicable, the members of the Company’s Board of Directors who hold the office of  
Directors in other Companies within its Group: 

 

                                                
1The Group is composed of the parent, subsidiaries,  associates and joint ventures of the Company.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
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Director’s Name  
Corporate Name of the  

Group Company 

Type of Directorship 
(Executive, Non-Executive, 
Independent).  Indicate if 

Director is also the Chairman. 

STEVE LI 1. ANCHOR PROPERTIES CORPORATION  
2. ADMIRAL REALTY COMPANY, INC.  
3. REALTY & DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION OF SAN 

BUENAVENTURA 
4. POSH PROPERTIES DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION  
5. MOMENTUM PROPERTIES MANAGEMENT 

CORPORATION  
6. GOTAMCO REALTY INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
7. 1080 SOLER CORP. 
8. ANCHOR LAND GLOBAL CORPORATION  
9. NUSANTARA HOLDINGS, INC.  
10. IRENEALMEDA REALTY, INC.  
11. PASAY METRO CENTER, INC.  
12. BASICLINK EQUITY INVESTMENT CORP. 
13. FRONTIER HARBOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT, INC. 

1. CHAIRMAN 
2. CHAIRMAN 
3. CHAIRMAN 
 
4. CHAIRMAN 
5. CHAIRMAN 
 
6. CHAIRMAN 
7. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
8. CHAIRMAN 
9. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
10. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
11. CHAIRMAN 
12. CHAIRMAN 
13. CHAIRMAN   

DIGNA ELIZABETH L. 
VENTURA 

1. ANCHOR PROPERTIES CORPORATION  
2. ADMIRAL REALTY COMPANY, INC.  
3. REALTY & DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION OF SAN 

BUENAVENTURA 
4. POSH PROPERTIES DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION   
5. MOMENTUM PROPERTIES MANAGEMENT 

CORPORATION  
6. GOTAMCO REALTY INVESTMENT CORPORATION  
7. GLOBEWAY PROPERTY VENTURES, INC.  
8. 1080 SOLER CORP. 
9. ANCHOR LAND GLOBAL CORPORATION  
10. NUSANTARA HOLDINGS, INC.  
11. IRENEALMEDA REALTY, INC.  
12. BASICLINK EQUITY INVESTMENT CORP. 
13. FRONTIER HARBOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT, INC. 

1. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
2. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
3. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
 
4. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
5. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
 
6. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
7. CHAIRPERSON 
8. CHAIRPERSON 
9. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
10. CHAIRPERSON 
11. CHAIRPERSON 
12. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
13. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

CHRISTINE P. BASE 1. ANCHOR PROPERTIES CORPORATION  
2. ADMIRAL REALTY COMPANY, INC. 
3. REALTY & DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION OF SAN 

BUENAVENTURA 
4. GOTAMCO REALTY INVESTMENT CORPORATION  
5. POSH PROPERTIES DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION  
6. MOMENTUM PROPERTIES MANAGEMENT 

CORPORATION 
7. GLOBEWAY PROPERTY VENTURES, INC. 
8. 1080 SOLER CORP. 
9. ANCHOR LAND GLOBAL CORPORATION  
10. PASAY METRO CENTER, INC.   
11. EISENGLAS ALUMINUM & GLASS, INC. 

1. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
2. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
3. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 
4. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
5. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
6. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 
7. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
8. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
9. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
10. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
11. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

NEIL Y. CHUA  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. ANCHOR PROPERTIES CORPORATION  
2. ADMIRAL REALTY COMPANY, INC.  
3. REALTY & DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION OF SAN 

BUENAVENTURA 
4. GOTAMCO REALTY INVESTMENT CORPORATION 
5. POSH PROPERTIES DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION  
6. EISENGLAS ALUMINUM & GLASS, INC. 
7. GLOBEWAY PROPERTY VENTURES, INC. 
8. ANCHOR LAND GLOBAL CORPORATION  
9. MOMENTUM PROPERTIES MANAGEMENT 

CORPORATION 

1. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
2. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
3. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 
4. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
5. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
6. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
7. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
8. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
9. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
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10. NUSANTARA HOLDINGS, INC.  
11. IRENEALMEDA REALTY, INC. 
12. PASAY METRO CENTER, INC.  
13. BASICLINK EQUITY INVESTMENT CORP. 
14. FRONTIER HARBOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT, INC. 

10.EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
11. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
12. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  
13. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
14. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

PETER KHO 1. IRENEALMEDA REALTY, INC.  1. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

AVELINO M. 
GUZMAN, JR. 

1. NUSANTARA HOLDINGS, INC. 
2. BASICLINK EQUITY INVESTMENT CORP. 
3. 1080 SOLER CORP. 
4. EISENGLAS ALUMINUM & GLASS, INC. 
5. IRENEALMEDA REALTY, INC. 
6. FRONTIER HARBOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT, INC. 

1. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
2. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
3. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
4. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
5. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
6. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 

(ii) Directorship in Other Listed Companies 
 

Identify, as and if applicable, the members of the Company’s Board of Directors who are also Directors of 
Publicly-Listed Companies outside of its Group: 
 

Director’s Name  Name of Listed Company 

Type of Directorship 
(Executive, Non-Executive, 
Independent).  Indicate if 

Directors is also the Chairman. 

CHRISTINE P. BASE ITALPINAS DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
 

(iii) Relationship within the Company and its Group 
 

Provide details, as and if applicable, of any relation among the members of the Board of Directors, which 
links them to significant shareholders in the Company and/or in its group: 

 

Director’s Name 
Name of the 

Significant Shareholder 
Description of the Relationship 

STEPHEN L. KENG  CINDY MEI NGAR SZE SPOUSE 

CHARLES STEWART LEE CINDY MEI NGAR SZE MOTHER 

 
(iv) Has the Company set a limit on the number of Board seats in other Companies (publicly listed, ordinary and 

Companies with secondary license) that an individual Directors or CEO may hold simultaneously? In 
particular, is the limit of five Board seats in other publicly listed Companies imposed and observed? if yes, 
briefly describe other guidelines: 
 
NO.  

 

 
Guidelines 

Maximum Number of 
Directorships in Other 

Companies 

Executive Directors 
 

THE COMPANY DID NOT SET ANY LIMIT ON THE SEATS THAT A 
DIRECTOR MAY HOLD IN OTHER COMPANIES ON THE ASSUMPTION 
THAT THE DIRECTORS HAVE THE CAPACITY TO SIMULTANEOUSLY 
PERFORM THEIR DUTIES DILIGENTLY. HOWEVER, THE DIRECTORS ARE 
PROHIBITED FROM HOLDING SEATS IN COMPETITOR-COMPANIES. 

Non-Executive Directors 
 

CEO 
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(e) Shareholding in the Company 
 

Complete the following table on the members of the Company’s Board of Directors who directly and indirectly 
own shares in the Company: 

 

Name of Directors  
Number of Direct Shares 

(C=Common) 
(P=Preferred) 

Number of  
Indirect Shares / Through 
(Name of Record Owner) 

% of Capital Stock 

STEVE LI  C          156,000,000  
15% 

P          52,000,000  
STEPHEN L. KENG C          15,600,690  

1.5% 
P          5,242,230  

DIGNA ELIZABETH L. VENTURA C          300  
0% 

P          100  
PETER KHO C          3  

0% 
P          0  

CHRISTINE P. BASE C          300,003  
0% 

P          100,000  
NEIL Y. CHUA C          5,400  

0% 
P          1,800  

EDWIN LEE C          3,000  
0% 

P          1,000  
CHARLES STEWART LEE C          900  

0% 
P          0  

VIOLETA J. JOSEF C          1,000   
0% 

P          0  
MA. VICTORIA A. VILLALUZ C          1,000  

0% 
P          0  

AVELINO M. GUZMAN, JR. C          1,000  
0% 

P          0  
TOTAL C          171,913,296 

 16.5% 
P          57,345,130 

 
2) Chairman And CEO 

 
(a) Do different persons assume the role of Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO?  If no, describe the checks 

and balances laid down to ensure that the Board gets the benefit of independent views. 
 

Yes X No (f)  
 
   Identify The Chair And CEO: 
 

Chairman of the Board STEPHEN L. KENG 

CEO/President STEVE LI / DIGNA ELIZABETH L. VENTURA  

  
(b) Roles, Accountabilities and Deliverables 
 

Define and clarify the roles, accountabilities and deliverables of the Chairman and CEO. 
 

 Chairman Chief Executive Officer 

ROLE 

RESPONSIBLE FOR THE LEADERSHIP OF THE 
BOARD; TO PRESIDE AT THE MEETINGS OF 
THE DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS; TO 
EXERCISE SUCH POWERS AND PERFORM 
SUCH DUTIES AS THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS MAY ASSIGN. 

RESPONSIBLE FOR THE LEADERSHIP OF THE 
BUSINESS AND THE MANAGEMENT THEREOF 
WITHIN THE AUTHORITIES DELEGATED BY THE 
BOARD.  
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ACCOUNTABILITIES 

ENSURE EFFECTIVE OPERATION OF THE 
BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES IN 
CONFORMITY WITH THE HIGHEST 
STANDARDS OF GOVERNANCE 

RESPONSIBLE TO THE BOARD FOR THE 
OPERATION OF THE BUSINESS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH DIRECTIONS ESTABLISHED IN THE AGREED 
PLANS, STRATEGIES AND POLICIES. 

DELIVERABLES NOTHING SPECIFIC. NOTHING SPECIFIC. 

 
3) Explain how the Board of Directors plans for the succession of the CEO/managing Directors/president and the top 

key management positions? 
 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IDENTIFIES POTENTIAL SUCCESSOR/S VIS-À-VIS VACANCIES IN THE MANAGEMENT THAT 
CAN BE EXPECTED TO OCCUR, WHO ARE THEN SUBJECTED TO TRAINING IN ORDER TO PROVIDE THEM WITH THE 
NECESSARY KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS AND KNOW-HOW OF THE BUSINESS OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY.  
 

4) Other executive, non-executive and independent Directors 
 

Does the Company have a policy of ensuring diversity of experience and background of Directors in the Board?  Please 
explain. 
 
NO. THERE IS NO DEFINED POLICY OTHER THAN THAT DEFINED IN THE MANUAL OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE. THE 
STOCKHOLDERS MAY SELECT A MIX OF EXECUTIVE AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS TO BE ABLE TO ALLOW A 
HEALTHY BALANCE OF IDEAS, OPINIONS, WISDOM AND EXPERIENCE ON THE MANAGEMENT AND THE BUSINESS OF 
THE CORPORATION. 
 
Does it ensure that at least one non-executive Director has an experience in the sector or industry the Company 
belongs to? Please explain. 
 
NOT APPLICABLE AS THERE IS NO DEFINED POLICY OTHER THAN THAT DEFINED IN THE MANUAL OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE. THE STOCKHOLDERS MAY SELECT A MIX OF EXECUTIVE AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS TO BE ABLE 
TO ALLOW A HEALTHY BALANCE OF IDEAS, OPINIONS, WISDOM AND EXPERIENCE ON THE MANAGEMENT AND THE 
BUSINESS OF THE CORPORATION. 
 
Define and clarify the roles, accountabilities and deliverables of the executive, non-executive and independent 
Directors: 
 

 Executive Non-Executive Independent Directors 

ROLE 
 
 
 

DIRECTOR WHO IS ALSO THE HEAD 
OF A DEPARTMENT OR UNIT OF 
THE CORPORATION OR PERFORMS 
ANY WORK RELATED TO ITS 
OPERATION 

DIRECTOR WHO IS NOT 
THE HEAD OF A 
DEPARTMENT OR UNIT OF 
THE CORPORATION NOR 
PERFORMS ANY WORK 
RELATED TO ITS 
OPERATION  

ADOPTS AN OVERSIGHT 
ROLE 
 
 
 

ACCOUNTABILITIES PROVIDES LEADERSHIP ON A DAILY 
BASIS, SETS STRATEGIC PLANS AND 
ENSURES THAT ALL RESOURCES 
ARE AVAILABLE, TO ENABLE THE 
COMPANY TO MEET ITS GOALS.  

CONTRIBUTES TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF 
BUSINESS STRATEGY OF 
THE COMPANY 

PROVIDE AN 
INDEPENDENT POINT OF 
VIEW TO THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS. 

DELIVERABLES NOTHING SPECIFIC NOTHING SPECIFIC NOTHING SPECIFIC 

 
Provide the Company’s definition of "independence" and describe the Company’s compliance to the definition.  
 

INDEPENDENCE VIS-A-VIS DIRECTORS MEANS A PERSON WHO, APART FROM HIS FEES AND SHAREHOLDINGS, IS 
INDEPENDENT OF MANAGEMENT AND FREE FROM ANY BUSINESS OR OTHER RELATIONSHIP WHICH COULD, OR 
COULD REASONABLY BE PERCEIVED TO, MATERIALLY INTERFERE WITH HIS EXERCISE OF INDEPENDENT JUDGMENT 
IN CARRYING OUT HIS RESPONSIBILITIES AS A DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY AND MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS OF 
SECTION 17.2 OF THE SECURITIES AND REGULATION CODE.  
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Does the Company have a term limit of five consecutive years for independent Directors? If after two years, the 
Company wishes to bring back an Independent Director who had served for five years, does it limit the term for no 
more than four additional years? Please explain. 

 
THE COMPANY ADHERES TO THE SEC’S MEMORANDUM CIRCULAR NO. 9, SERIES OF 2011 WHICH LIMITS THE TERM 
OF ITS INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS TO FIVE YEARS. HOWEVER, THE PREVIOUS YEARS I.E. PRIOR TO JANUARY 2012, 
SERVED BY THE CURRENT INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS SHALL NOT BE INCLUDED IN THE APPLICATION OF THE FIVE-
YEAR TERM LIMIT. THE COMPANY SHALL OBSERVE THE SAID SEC MEMORANDUM CIRCULAR WITH RESPECT TO THE 
TERM LIMITS OF ITS INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS.  
 

5) Changes in the Board of Directors (Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors) 
 

(a)  Resignation/Death/Removal 
 

Indicate any changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that happened during the period: 
 

Name Position Date Of Cessation Reason 

n/a    

    

    

 
(b) Selection/Appointment, Re-Election, Disqualification, Removal, Reinstatement And Suspension 

 
Describe the procedures for the selection/appointment, re-election, disqualification, removal, reinstatement 
and suspension of the members of the Board of Directors.  Provide details of the processes adopted (including 
the frequency of election) and the criteria employed in each procedure: 
 

Procedure Process Adopted Criteria 

a.  Selection/Appointment 

(i) Executive Directors 
 
 
 
  

At all elections of directors, 
there must be present, either 
in person or by representative 
authorized to act by written 
proxy, the owners of a 
majority of the outstanding 
capital stock 

In addition to the qualifications for 
membership in the Board provided for in 
the Corporation Code, Securities 
Regulation Code and other relevant laws, 
the Board requires the following 
additional qualifications: 
1. At least a college graduate or have 

sufficient experience in managing the 
business to substitute for such formal 
education; 

2. Practical understanding of the business 
of the Company; 

3. Membership in good standing in 
relevant industry, business or 
professional organizations; and   

4. Previous business experience. 

(ii) Non-Executive Directors 
 
 
 
 

(iii) Independent Directors 
 
 
 
 
 

b.  Re-Appointment 

(i) Executive Directors 
 
 

At all elections of directors, 
there must be present, either 
in person or by representative 
authorized to act by written 
proxy, the owners of a 
majority of the outstanding 
capital stock 

Satisfactory performance of assigned 
duties and responsibilities. 

(ii) Non-Executive Directors 
 
 

(iii) Independent Directors 
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c. Permanent Disqualification 

(i) Executive Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The following shall be grounds for the permanent disqualification of a 
Director: 

 
(i) Any person convicted by final judgment or order by a competent judicial 
or administrative body of any crime that: 
  
(a) Involves the purchase or sale of securities, as defined in the Securities 
Regulation Code;  
(b) Arises out of the person’s conduct as an underwriter, broker, dealer, 
investment adviser, principal, distributor, mutual fund dealer, futures 
commission merchant, commodity trading advisor, or floor broker; or  
(c) Arises out of his fiduciary relationship with a bank, quasi-bank, trust 
Company, investment house or as an affiliated person of any of them; 
 
(ii) Any person who, by reason of misconduct, after hearing, is permanently 
enjoined by a final judgment or order of the commission or any court or 
administrative body of competent jurisdiction from:  
 
(a) Acting as underwriter, broker, dealer, investment adviser, principal 
distributor, mutual fund dealer, futures commission merchant, commodity 
trading advisor, or floor broker;  
(b) Acting as Directors or officer of a bank, quasi-bank, trust Company, 
investment house, or investment Company;  
(c) Engaging in or continuing any conduct or practice in any of the capacities 
mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above, or willfully violating the laws 
that govern securities and banking activities. 
 
The disqualification shall also apply if such person is currently the subject of 
an order of the commission or any court or administrative body denying, 
revoking or suspending any registration, license or permit issued to him 
under the Corporation Code, Securities Regulation Code or any other law 
administered by the commission or Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP), or 
under any rule or regulation issued by the commission or BSP, or has 
otherwise been restrained to engage in any activity involving securities and 
banking; or such person is currently the subject of an effective order of a 
self-regulatory organization suspending or expelling him from membership, 
participation or association with a member or participant of the 
organization; 
 
(iii) Any person convicted by final judgment or order by a court or competent 
administrative body of an offense involving moral turpitude, fraud, 
embezzlement, theft, estafa, counterfeiting, misappropriation, forgery, 
bribery, false affirmation, perjury or other fraudulent acts; 
 
(iv) Any person who has been adjudged by final judgment or order of the 
commission, court, or competent administrative body to have willfully 
violated, or willfully aided, abetted, counseled, induced or procured the 
violation of any provision of the Corporation Code, Securities Regulation 
Code or any other law administered by the commission or BSP, or any of its 
rule, regulation or order; 
 
(v) Any person earlier elected as independent Directors who becomes an 
officer, employee or consultant of the same corporation;  
(vi) Any person judicially declared as insolvent; 
 
(vii) Any person found guilty by final judgment or order of a foreign court or 
equivalent financial regulatory authority of acts, violations or misconduct 
similar to any of the acts, violations or misconduct enumerated in sub-
paragraphs (i) to (v) above; 

(ii) Non-Executive Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(iii) Independent Directors 
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(viii) Conviction by final judgment of an offense punishable by imprisonment 
for more than six (6) years, or a violation of the Corporation Code committed 
within five (5) years prior to the date of his election or appointment. 

d.  Temporary Disqualification 

(i) Executive Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Board may provide for the temporary disqualification of a Directors for 
any of the following reasons: 
 
(i) Refusal to comply with the disclosure requirements of the Securities 
Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations. The 
disqualification shall be in effect as long as the refusal persists. 
 
(ii) Absence in more than fifty (50) percent of all regular and special 
meetings of the Board during his incumbency, or any twelve (12) month 
period during the said incumbency, unless the absence is due to illness, 
death in the immediate family or serious accident. The disqualification shall 
apply for purposes of the succeeding election. 
 
(iii) Dismissal or termination for cause as Directors of any corporation 
covered by this code. The disqualification shall be in effect until he has 
cleared himself from any involvement in the cause that gave rise to his 
dismissal or termination. 
 
(iv) If the beneficial equity ownership of an independent Directors in the 
Company or its subsidiaries and affiliates exceeds two percent of its 
subscribed capital stock. The disqualification shall be lifted if the limit is 
later complied with. 
 
(v) If any of the judgments or orders cited in the grounds for permanent 
disqualification has not yet become final. 
 
(vi) If the Directors is actively engaged in the management or has control 
over any competing business with that of the Company.  

(ii) Non-Executive Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Iii) Independent Directors 

e.  Removal 

(i) Executive Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In accordance with Section 28 of the Corporation Code, any Directors may 
be removed from office by a vote of the stockholders holding or 
representing at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock 
entitled to vote: provided, that such removal shall take place either at a 
regular meeting of the corporation or at a special meeting called for the 
purpose, and in either case, after previous notice to stockholders of the 
intention to propose such removal at the meeting. A special meeting of the 
stockholders for the purpose of removal of Directors or trustees, or any of 
them, must be called by the secretary on order of the president or on the 
written demand of the stockholders representing or holding at least a 
majority of the outstanding capital stock entitled to vote. Should the 
secretary fail or refuse to call the special meeting upon such demand or fail 
or refuse to give the notice, the call for the meeting may be addressed 
directly to the stockholders by any stockholder signing the demand. Notice 
of the time and place of such meeting, as well as of the intention to propose 
such removal, must be given by publication or by written notice prescribed 
in the Corporation Code. Removal may be with or without cause: Provided, 
that removal without cause may not be used to deprive minority 
stockholders or members of the right of representation to which they may 
be entitled under Section 24 of the Corporation Code. 

(ii) Non-Executive Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(iii) Independent Directors 
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f.  Re-Instatement 

(i) Executive Directors None N/A 

(ii) Non-Executive Directors None N/A 

(iii) Independent Directors None N/A 

g.  Suspension 

(i)  Executive Directors 

Violation of the provisions of the Securities Regulation Code. (ii) Non-Executive Directors 

(iii) Independent Directors 

 
Voting Result of the Last Annual General Meeting 
 

Name of Directors Votes Received 

Stephen L. Keng 1,144,114,144 common and preferred shares 

Steve Li Same as above 

Digna Elizabeth L. Ventura Same as above 

Peter Kho Same as above 

Christine P. Base Same as above 

Neil Y. Chua  Same as above 

Edwin Lee Same as above 

Charles Stewart Lee Same as above 

Violeta J. Josef Same as above 

Ma. Victoria A. Villaluz Same as above 

Avelino M. Guzman, Jr. Same as above 

 
6) Orientation and Education Program 
 

(a) Disclose details of the Company’s orientation program for new Directors, if any. 
 

THE CHAIRMAN AND VICE-CHAIRMAN ORIENT THE NEW DIRECTORS TO PROVIDE THEM WITH AN UPDATE ON 
ITS BUSINESS OPERATIONS AND PLANS. 
 

(b) State any in-house training and external courses attended by Directors and senior management2 for the past 
three (3) years: 
 
STEPHEN LEE KENG  - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
     SGV & CO. 
     NOVEMBER 21, 2014 
 

-  UPDATES ON PHILIPPINE PRACTICES ON CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE AND ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SGV & CO. 

     DECEMBER 09, 2015 
 
STEVE LI    - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
     SGV & CO. 
     NOVEMBER 21, 2014 

  

                                                
2 Senior Management refers to the CEO and other persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Company. 
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-  UPDATES ON PHILIPPINE PRACTICES ON CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE AND ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SGV & CO. 

     DECEMBER 09, 2015 
 
DIGNA ELIZABETH VENTURA -  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
     SGV & CO. 
     NOVEMBER 21, 2014 
 

-  UPDATES ON PHILIPPINE PRACTICES ON CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE AND ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SGV & CO. 

     DECEMBER 09, 2015 
 
PETER KHO   - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
     RISKS, OPPORTUNITIES, ASSESSMENT AND MANAGEMENT, INC. 
     DECEMBER 05, 2014 
 

-  UPDATES ON PHILIPPINE PRACTICES ON CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE AND ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SGV & CO. 

     DECEMBER 09, 2015 
 
CHRISTINE BASE   -  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
     SGV & CO. 
     NOVEMBER 21, 2014 
 

-  UPDATES ON PHILIPPINE PRACTICES ON CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE AND ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SGV & CO. 

     DECEMBER 09, 2015 
 
EDWIN LEE    -  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
     SGV & CO. 
     NOVEMBER 21, 2014 
 

-  UPDATES ON PHILIPPINE PRACTICES ON CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE AND ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SGV & CO. 

     DECEMBER 09, 2015 
 
NEIL CHUA    - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
     SGV & CO. 
     NOVEMBER 21, 2014 
 

-  UPDATES ON PHILIPPINE PRACTICES ON CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE AND ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SGV & CO. 

     DECEMBER 09, 2015 
 
CHARLES STEWART LEE  -  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
     SGV & CO. 
     NOVEMBER 21, 2014 
 

-  UPDATES ON PHILIPPINE PRACTICES ON CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE AND ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SGV & CO. 

     DECEMBER 09, 2015 
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VIOLETA J. JOSEF   -  UPDATES ON PHILIPPINE PRACTICES ON CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE AND ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SGV & CO. 

     DECEMBER 09, 2015 
 
MA. VICTORIA A. VILLALUZ -  UPDATES ON PHILIPPINE PRACTICES ON CORPORATE  

GOVERNANCE AND ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SGV & CO. 

     DECEMBER 09, 2015 
 
AVELINO M. GUZMAN, JR.  -  UPDATES ON PHILIPPINE PRACTICES ON CORPORATE  

GOVERNANCE AND ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
SGV & CO. 

     DECEMBER 09, 2015 
 

(c) Continuing education programs for Directors: programs and seminars and roundtables attended during the 
year. 

 
 
DIGNA ELIZABETH VENTURA -  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
     AUGUST 2, 2016 
 
AVELINO M. GUZMAN, JR.  -  MANDATORY CONTINUING LEGAL EDUCATION 
     APRIL 2016 
 

B. CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT & ETHICS  
 
1) Discuss briefly the company’s policies on the following business conduct or ethics affecting directors, senior 

management and employees:  
 

Business Conduct & 
Ethics 

Directors 
Senior 

Management 
Employees 

(a)  CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST 

THE BASIC PRINCIPLE TO BE OBSERVED IS 
THAT A DIRECTOR SHOULD NOT USE HIS 
POSITION TO PROFIT OR GAIN SOME 
BENEFIT OR ADVANTAGE FOR HIMSELF 
AND/OR HIS RELATED INTERESTS. HE 
SHOULD AVOID SITUATIONS THAT MAY 
COMPROMISE HIS IMPARTIALITY. IF AN 
ACTUAL OR POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST MAY ARISE ON THE PART OF A 
DIRECTOR, HE SHOULD FULLY AND 
IMMEDIATELY DISCLOSE IT AND SHOULD 
NOT PARTICIPATE IN THE DECISION-
MAKING PROCESS. A DIRECTOR WHO HAS 
A CONTINUING MATERIAL CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST SHOULD SERIOUSLY CONSIDER 
RESIGNING FROM HIS POSITION. 
 
A CONFLICT OF INTEREST SHALL BE 
CONSIDERED MATERIAL IF THE 
DIRECTOR’S PERSONAL OR BUSINESS 
INTEREST IS ANTAGONISTIC TO THAT OF 
THE COMPANY, OR STANDS TO ACQUIRE 
OR GAIN FINANCIAL ADVANTAGE AT THE 
EXPENSE OF THE COMPANY. 

NOT ALLOWED TO PARTICIPATE IN 
THE DECISION MAKING PROCESS IF 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST IS PRESENT. 
 

(b)  CONDUCT OF 
BUSINESS AND FAIR 
DEALINGS 

SAME AS ABOVE. ENCOURAGED.  ENCOURAGED. 
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(c) RECEIPT OF GIFTS 
FROM THIRD 
PARTIES 

DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES ARE PROHIBITED FROM 
RECEIVING ANY GIFT, PRESENT OR ANY OTHER BENEFIT, FOR HIMSELF OR FOR 
ANY OTHER PERSON, IN CONNECTION / CONSIDERATION OF HIS WORK/POSITION.   

(d) COMPLIANCE WITH 
LAWS & 
REGULATIONS 

FOR STRICT COMPLIANCE. 

(e) RESPECT FOR TRADE 
SECRETS/USE OF 
NON-PUBLIC 
INFORMATION 

FOR STRICT COMPLIANCE. 

(f) USE OF COMPANY 
FUNDS, ASSETS AND 
INFORMATION 

PRUDENT USE. 

(g) EMPLOYMENT & 
LABOR LAWS & 
POLICIES 

FOR STRICT COMPLIANCE. 

(h) DISCIPLINARY 
ACTION 

APPLIED FAIRLY. 

(i) WHISTLE BLOWER NONE. 

(j) CONFLICT 
RESOLUTION 

ENCOURAGED. 

 
2) Has the Code of Ethics or Conduct been disseminated to all Directors, senior management and employees? 

 
YES.  
 

3) Discuss how the Company implements and monitors compliance with the code of ethics or conduct. 
 
THE COMPANY IMPLEMENTS AND MONITORS COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF ETHICS THROUGH EACH OF THE 
DEPARTMENTS OR THE COMPANY’S KEY MANAGEMENT, WHICH IMPLEMENTATION AND COMPLIANCE WILL BE 
DULY REPORTED TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS.   
 

4) Related Party Transactions 
 
(a) Policies and Procedures  

 
Describe the Company’s policies and procedures for the review, approval or ratification, monitoring and 
recording of related party transactions between and among the Company and its parent, joint ventures, 
subsidiaries, associates, affiliates, substantial stockholders, officers and Directors, including their spouses, 
children and dependent siblings and parents and of interlocking Directors relationships of members of the Board. 

 

Related Party Transactions Policies And Procedures 

(1) PARENT COMPANY 
 PARTIES ARE CONSIDERED TO BE RELATED IF ONE PARTY HAS THE 

ABILITY, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, TO CONTROL THE OTHER 
PARTY OR EXERCISE SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE OVER THE OTHER 
PARTY IN MAKING FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DECISIONS. 
PARTIES ARE ALSO CONSIDERED RELATED IF THEY ARE SUBJECT 
TO COMMON CONTROL OR SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE. RELATED 
PARTIES MAY BE INDIVIDUALS OR CORPORATE ENTITIES. 
TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN RELATED PARTIES ARE ON ARM’S 
LENGTH BASIS IN A MANNER SIMILAR TO TRANSACTIONS WITH 
NON-RELATED PARTIES.  

(2) JOINT VENTURES 
 

(3) SUBSIDIARIES 
 

(4) ENTITIES UNDER COMMON 
CONTROL 
 

(5) SUBSTANTIAL STOCKHOLDERS 
 

(6) OFFICERS INCLUDING SPOUSE/ 
CHILDREN/SIBLINGS/PARENTS 
 
 

IN ADDITION TO THE POLICY OF THE COMPANY TO CONSIDER ALL 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS ON ARM’S LENGTH AND IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 32 OF THE CORPORATION CODE, A 
CONTRACT OF THE COMPANY WITH ONE OR MORE OF ITS 



17 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DIRECTORS OR OFFICERS IS VOIDABLE, AT THE OPTION OF THE 
COMPANY, UNLESS ALL THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS ARE 
PRESENT:  
1. THAT THE PRESENCE OF SUCH DIRECTORS IN THE BOARD 
MEETING IN WHICH THE CONTRACT WAS APPROVED WAS NOT 
NECESSARY TO CONSTITUTE A QUORUM FOR SUCH MEETING;  
2. THAT THE VOTE OF SUCH DIRECTORS WAS NOT NECESSARY 
FOR THE APPROVAL OF THE CONTRACT;  
3. THAT THE CONTRACT IS FAIR AND REASONABLE UNDER THE 
CIRCUMSTANCES; AND  
4. THAT IN CASE OF AN OFFICER, THE CONTRACT HAS BEEN 
PREVIOUSLY AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. 
 
WHERE ANY OF THE FIRST TWO CONDITIONS SET FORTH IN THE 
PRECEDING PARAGRAPH IS ABSENT, IN THE CASE OF A 
CONTRACT WITH A DIRECTORS, SUCH CONTRACT MAY BE 
RATIFIED BY THE VOTE OF THE STOCKHOLDERS REPRESENTING 
AT LEAST TWO-THIRDS (2/3) OF THE OUTSTANDING CAPITAL 
STOCK IN A MEETING CALLED FOR THE PURPOSE: PROVIDED, 
THAT FULL DISCLOSURE OF THE ADVERSE INTEREST OF THE 
DIRECTORS INVOLVED IS MADE AT SUCH MEETING: PROVIDED, 
HOWEVER, THAT THE CONTRACT IS FAIR AND REASONABLE 
UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES.  

(7) DIRECTORS INCLUDING SPOUSE/ 
CHILDREN/SIBLINGS/PARENTS 

(8) INTERLOCKING DIRECTORS /  
RELATIONSHIP OF BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS 

IN ADDITION TO THE POLICY OF THE COMPANY TO CONSIDER ALL 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS ON ARM’S LENGTH AND IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 33 OF THE CORPORATION CODE 
ON CONTRACTS BETWEEN CORPORATIONS WITH INTERLOCKING 
DIRECTORS, EXCEPT IN CASES OF FRAUD, AND PROVIDED THE 
CONTRACT IS FAIR AND REASONABLE UNDER THE 
CIRCUMSTANCES, A CONTRACT BETWEEN TWO OR MORE 
CORPORATIONS HAVING INTERLOCKING DIRECTORS SHALL NOT 
BE INVALIDATED ON THAT GROUND ALONE: PROVIDED, THAT IF 
THE INTEREST OF THE INTERLOCKING DIRECTORS IN ONE 
CORPORATION IS SUBSTANTIAL AND HIS INTEREST IN THE OTHER 
CORPORATION OR CORPORATIONS IS MERELY NOMINAL, HE 
SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 32 OF THE 
CORPORATION CODE INSOFAR AS THE LATTER CORPORATION OR 
CORPORATIONS ARE CONCERNED. 
 
SHAREHOLDINGS EXCEEDING TWENTY (20%) PERCENT OF THE 
OUTSTANDING CAPITAL STOCK SHALL BE CONSIDERED 
SUBSTANTIAL FOR PURPOSES OF INTERLOCKING DIRECTORS.  

 
(b) Conflict of Interest  

 
(i) Directors/Officers and 5% or more Shareholders 

 
Identify any actual or probable conflict of interest to which Directors/officers/5% or more shareholders may 
be involved. 
 

 
Details of Conflict 

of Interest (Actual or Probable) 

Name of Director/s 
NONE 

 
Name of Officer/s 

Name Of Significant Shareholders 
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(ii) Mechanism 
 

Describe the mechanism laid down to detect, determine and resolve any possible conflict of interest 
between the Company and/or its group and their Directors, officers and significant shareholders. 

 
 

 Directors/Officers/Significant Shareholders 

 
Company 
 
 

PURSUANT TO SEC MEMORANDUM CIRCULAR NO. 6, SERIES OF 2009, IF 
AN ACTUAL OR POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST MAY ARISE ON THE 
PART OF A DIRECTOR, STOCKHOLDER, OR OFFICER, IT IS MANDATED THAT 
SAID CONFLICTED DIRECTOR, STOCKHOLDER, OR OFFICER FULLY DISCLOSE 
SAID CONFLICT AND SHOULD NOT PARTICIPATE IN THE DECISION MAKING 
PROCESS, A DIRECTOR OR OFFICER WHO HAS A CONTINUING MATERIAL 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST SHOULD SERIOUSLY CONSIDER RESIGNING FROM 
HIS POSITION.  

 
Group 

 

5) Family, Commercial and Contractual Relations 
 

(a) Indicate, if applicable, any relation of a family,3 commercial, contractual or business nature that exists between 
the holders of significant equity (5% or more), to the extent that they are known to the Company: 

 

Names  Of Related 
 Significant Shareholders 

Type Of 
Relationship 

Brief Description Of The 
Relationship 

STEPHEN L. KENG - CINDY MEI NGAR SZE FAMILY SPOUSE 

CHARLES STEWART LEE - CINDY MEI NGAR SZE FAMILY MOTHER 

 
(b) Indicate, if applicable, any relation of a commercial, contractual or business nature that exists between the 

holders of significant equity (5% or more) and the Company: 
 

Names of Related  
Significant Shareholders  

Type of Relationship Brief Description 

NONE NONE NONE 

 
(c) Indicate any shareholder agreements that may impact on the control, ownership and strategic direction of the 

Company: 
 
THERE IS NO EXISTING SHAREHOLDER AGREEMENT THAT HAS IMPACT ON THE CONTROL, OWNERSHIP AND 
STRATEGIC DIRECTION OF THE COMPANY.  

 

Name of Shareholders 
% of Capital Stock Affected 

(Parties) 
Brief Description of the 

Transaction 

NOT APPLICABLE - - 

 
6) Alternative Dispute Resolution 
 

Describe the alternative dispute resolution system adopted by the Company for the last three (3) years in amicably 
settling conflicts or differences between the corporation and its stockholders, and the corporation and third parties, 
including regulatory authorities. 
 

  Alternative Dispute Resolution System 

Corporation & Stockholders NONE. THE COMPANY HAS NOT BEEN IN A SITUATION 
WHICH WOULD REQUIRE ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE 
RESOLUTION. 

Corporation & Third Parties 

Corporation & Regulatory Authorities 

 
  

                                                
3 Family relationship up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity. 
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C. BOARD MEETINGS & ATTENDANCE 
 

1) Are Board of Directors’ meetings scheduled before or at the beginning of the year? 
 
BOARD MEETINGS ARE SCHEDULED AFTER EVERY MEETING AND WHEN THE NEED ARISES. 

 

2) Attendance of Directors 
 

Board Name  
Date Of 
Election 

No. of Meetings 
Held During The 

Year 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Chairman STEPHEN L. KENG April 2007 3 2 66.66% 

Member STEVE LI April 2007 3 3 100 

Member DIGNAELIZABETH VENTURA August 2011 3 3 100 

Member PETER KHO April 2007 3 3 100 

Member CHRISTINE P. BASE April 2007 3 3 100 

Member NEIL Y. CHUA June 2013 3 3 100 

Member EDWIN LEE June 2013 3 3 100 

Member CHARLES STEWART LEE June 2014 3 3 100 

Independent VIOLETA J. JOSEF June 2015 2 2 100 

Independent MA. VICTORIA A. VILLALUZ June 2015 2 2 100 

Member AVELINO M. GUZMAN, JR. June 2015 2 2 100 
 

3) Does non-executive Directors have a separate meeting during the year without the presence of any executive?  If 
yes, how many times? 

 
NO.  

 
4) Is the minimum quorum requirement for Board decisions set at two-thirds of Board members? Please explain. 
 

NO. THE MINIMUM QUORUM REQUIREMENT FOR BOARD DECISIONS IS SET AT MAJORITY OF THE DIRECTORS 
PRESENT AT THE MEETING EXCEPT FOR THE ELECTION OF OFFICERS WHICH SHALL REQUIRE THE VOTE OF A 
MAJORITY OF ALL THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD. 
 

5) Access to Information 
 

(a) How many days in advance are Board papers4 for Board of Directors meetings provided to the Board? 
 
DIRECTORS ARE PROVIDED WITH THE NOTICE AND AGENDA FOR THE MEETING/S AT LEAST FIVE (5) DAYS BEFORE 
SAID MEETING.  
 

(b) Do Board members have independent access to management and the Corporate Secretary? 
 
YES. THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD ARE GIVEN INDEPENDENT ACCESS TO MANAGEMENT AND THE CORPORATE 
SECRETARY. THE INFORMATION MAY INCLUDE THE BACKGROUND OR EXPLANATION ON MATTERS BROUGHT 
BEFORE THE BOARD, DISCLOSURES, BUDGETS, FORECASTS AND INTERNAL FINANCIAL DOCUMENTS. 
 

(c) State the policy of the role of the Company Secretary. Does such role include assisting the Chairman in preparing 
the Board agenda, facilitating training of Directors, keeping Directors updated regarding any relevant statutory 
and regulatory changes, etc.? 
 
THE CORPORATE SECRETARY SHALL MAINTAIN THE CORPORATE BOOKS AND RECORDS OF THE COMPANY AND 
SHALL BE THE RECORDER OF THE COMPANY’S FORMAL ACTIONS AND TRANSACTIONS. THE ROLE OF THE 
CORPORATE SECRETARY SHALL INCLUDE CERTIFYING CORPORATE ACTS, COUNTERSIGNING CORPORATE 
DOCUMENTS OR CERTIFICATES, AND MAKING REPORTS OR STATEMENTS AS MAY BE REQUIRED BY LAW OR 
GOVERNMENT RULES AND REGULATIONS.   

                                                
4Board papers consist of complete and adequate information about the matters to be taken in the Board meeting.  
Information includes the background or explanation on matters brought before the Board, disclosures, budgets, forecasts 
and internal financial documents. 
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(d) Is the Company secretary trained in legal, accountancy or Company secretarial practices? Please explain should 
the answer be in the negative. 

 
YES.  

 
(e) Committee Procedures 

 

Disclose whether there is a procedure that Directors can avail of to enable them to get information necessary to 
be able to prepare in advance for the meetings of different committees: 

 

Yes X No  
 

Committee Details of the Procedures 

Executive The Directors are given notice/s and agenda for the meetings of difference 
committees. Should the Directors require additional information, the 
Company shall immediately provide said requested information. Requests for 
information are coursed, in advance, through the Corporate Secretary. 

Audit 

Nomination 

Remuneration 

 
6) External Advice 

 

Indicate whether or not a procedure exists whereby Directors can receive external advice and, if so, provide 
details: 
 
YES 

 

Procedures  Details 

ACCESS TO INDEPENDENT ADVICE AT 
THE COMPANY’S EXPENSE. 

THE MEMBERS, EITHER INDIVIDUALLY OR AS A BOARD, AND IN 
FURTHERANCE OF THEIR OFFICIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES, 
MAY HAVE ACCESS TO INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE AT 
THE COMPANY’S EXPENSE. 

 
7) Change/s in Existing Policies  

 

Indicate, if applicable, any change/s introduced by the Board of Directors (during its most recent term) on 
existing policies that may have an effect on the business of the Company and the reason/s for the change: 

  

Existing Policies Changes Reason  

NONE. - - 
 

D. REMUNERATION MATTERS 
 

1) Remuneration Process 
 

Disclose the process used for determining the remuneration of the CEO and the four (4) most highly compensated 
management officers: 
 
THE BY-LAWS PROVIDE THATOFFICERS SHALL RECEIVE SUCH REMUNERATION AS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MAY 
DETERMINE. ALL OTHER OFFICERS SHALL RECEIVE SUCH REMUNERATION AS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MAY 
DETERMINE UPON RECOMMENDATION OF THE PRESIDENT. A DIRECTOR SHALL NOT BE PRECLUDED FROM SERVING 
THE CORPORATION IN ANY OTHER CAPACITY AS AN OFFICER, AGENT OR OTHERWISE AND RECEIVING 
COMPENSATION.  
  

Process CEO 
Top 4 Highest Paid Management 

Officers 

(1) FIXED 
REMUNERATION 

HE SHALL RECEIVE REMUNERATION 
AS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MAY 
DETERMINE UPON 
RECOMMENDATION OF THE 
PRESIDENT.  

ALL CORPORATE OFFICERS SHALL 
RECEIVE REMUNERATION AS THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MAY DETERMINE 
UPON RECOMMENDATION OF THE 
PRESIDENT.  
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(2) VARIABLE 
REMUNERATION 

NOT APPLICABLE NOT APPLICABLE 

(3) PER DIEM 
ALLOWANCE 

NOT APPLICABLE NOT APPLICABLE 

(4) BONUS 
BASED ON COMPANY’S PROFITABILITY 
AND OFFICERS’ PERFORMANCE 

BASED ON COMPANY’S PROFITABILITY 
AND OFFICERS’ PERFORMANCE 

(5) STOCK OPTIONS AND  
      OTHER FINANCIAL  
      INSTRUMENTS 

NOT APPLICABLE NOT APPLICABLE 

(6) OTHERS (SPECIFY) NOT APPLICABLE NOT APPLICABLE 

 

2) Remuneration Policy and Structure for Executive and Non-Executive Directors 
 

Disclose the Company’s policy on remuneration and the structure of its compensation package.  Explain how the 
compensation of executive and non-executive Directors is calculated. 

 

 
 Remuneration Policy 

 Structure of Compensation 
Packages 

How Compensation is 
Calculated 

EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS 

REMUNERATION IS 
BENCHMARKED AGAINST THE 
INDUSTRY STANDARDS WHICH 
REMUNERATION IS THEN 
NEGOTIATED WITH THE 
DIRECTOR INVOLVED. 

EACH EXECUTIVE OR NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SHALL 
RECEIVE A FIXED 
REMUNERATION. 

BENCHMARKED AGAINST 
COMPARABLE POSITIONS 
IN THE INDUSTRY 

NON-
EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS 

BENCHMARKED AGAINST 
COMPARABLE POSITIONS 
IN THE INDUSTRY 

 

Do stockholders have the opportunity to approve the decision on total remuneration (fees, allowances, benefits-in-
kind and other emoluments) of Board of Directors?  Provide details for the last three (3) years. 
 
YES.  
 

Remuneration Scheme  
Date of  

Stockholders’ Approval 

  

 
3) Aggregate Remuneration 
 

Complete the following table on the aggregate remuneration accrued during the most recent year: 
 

Remuneration Item Executive Directors 
Non-Executive Directors 

(Other Than 
Independent Directors) 

Independent 
Directors 

(a) Fixed Remuneration Php1.607 million Php3.233 million Php0.876 million 

(b) Variable Remuneration None None None 

(c) Per Diem Allowance None None None 

(d) Bonuses None None None 

(e) Stock Options And/Or Other 
Financial Instruments 

None None None 

(f) Others (Specify) None None None 

Total Php1.607 million Php3.233 million Php0.876 million 
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Other Benefits 

 

Executive 
Directors 

Non-Executive 
Directors (Other Than 

Independent 
Directors) 

Independent 
Directors 

1) Advances None 

2) Credit Granted None 

3) Pension Plan/s  Contributions None 

(d) Pension Plans, Obligations Incurred None 

(e) Life Insurance Premium None 

(f) Hospitalization Plan None 

(g) Car Plan None 

(h) Others (Specify) None 

Total  

 

4) Stock Rights, Options and Warrants 
 

(a) Board of Directors  
 

Complete the following table, on the members of the Company’s Board of Directors who own or are entitled to 
stock rights, options or warrants over the Company’s shares: 

 

Director’s Name  
Number of Direct 

Option/Rights/ 
Warrants 

Number of 
Indirect 

Option/Rights/ 
Warrants 

Number of 
Equivalent 

Shares 

Total % From 
Capital Stock 

NOT APPLICABLE     

 
(b) Amendments of Incentive Programs 

 

Indicate any amendments and discontinuation of any incentive programs introduced, including the criteria used 
in the creation of the program. Disclose whether these are subject to approval during the annual stockholders’ 
meeting:  

 

Incentive Program  Amendments  
Date of  

Stockholders’ Approval 

NOT APPLICABLE   
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5) Remuneration Of Management 
 

Identify the five (5) members of management who are not at the same time executive Directors and indicate the 
total remuneration received during the financial year:  
 

Name of Officer/Position 
Total Remuneration Received  

During the Financial Year 

SARAH JOELLE C. LINTAG 
HEAD OF THE CORPORATE AFFAIRS DEPARTMENT 

PHP7.5 million 

REYNALDO F. VILLANUEVA, JR. 5 
ASSISTANT VICE PRESIDENT FOR ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 

ERICSON C. GEMZON 
INTERNAL AUDIT MANAGER 

PERLA PATINGO 
ADMINISTRATION MANAGER 

JOSE MA. SEBASTIAN G. NUÑEZ  
OPERATIONS DIRECTOR OF PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SUBSIDIARY 

 
D. BOARD COMMITTEES 

 
1) Number of Members, Functions and Responsibilities 

 

Provide details on the number of members of each committee, its functions, key responsibilities and the 
power/authority delegated to it by the Board: 

 

Committee 

No. of Members 

Committee 
Charter 

Functions 
Key 

Responsibilities 
Power 

Executive 
Director 

(ED) 

Non-
Executive 
Director 

(NED) 

Independent 
Director 

(ID) 

EXECUTIVE 2 1 0 BY-LAWS ACT ON SPECIFIC MATTERS WITHIN THE 
COMPETENCE OF THE BOARD AND AS MAY BE 
DELEGATED BY THE BOARD.  

AUDIT 1 1 1 BY-LAWS a. PROVIDE OVERSIGHT OVER THE SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT’S ACTIVITIES IN MANAGING 
CREDIT, MARKET, LIQUIDITY, OPERATIONAL, 
LEGAL AND OTHER RISKS OF THE 
CORPORATION. THIS FUNCTION SHALL 
INCLUDE RECEIVING FROM SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT PERIODIC INFORMATION ON 
RISK EXPOSURES AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
ACTIVITIES. 
 
b. PROVIDE OVERSIGHT OF THE 
CORPORATION’S INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL 
AUDITORS; 

 
c. REVIEW AND APPROVE AUDIT SCOPE AND 
FREQUENCY, AND THE ANNUAL INTERNAL 
AUDIT PLAN; 

 
d. DISCUSS WITH THE EXTERNAL AUDIT 
BEFORE THE AUDIT COMMENCES THE NATURE 
AND SCOPE OF THE AUDIT, AND ENSURE 
COORDINATION WHERE MORE THAN ONE 
AUDIT FIRM IS INVOLVED; 

 
 

                                                
5 Resigned 3rd quarter of 2016 
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e. ESTABLISHED AN INTERNAL AUDIT 
DEPARTMENT AND CONSIDER THE 
APPOINTMENT OF AN INTERNAL AUDITOR AS 
WELL AS AN INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL 
AUDITOR, THE AUDIT FEE AND ANY QUESTION 
OF RESIGNATION OR DISMISSAL; 
 
f. MONITOR AND EVALUATE THE ADEQUACY 
AND EFFECTIVENESS OF THE CORPORATION’S 
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM; 
 
g. RECEIVE AND REVIEW REPORTS OF 
INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND 
REGULATORY AGENCIES, WHERE APPLICABLE, 
AND ENSURE THAT MANAGEMENT IS TAKING 
APPROPRIATE CORRECTIVE ACTIONS, IN A 
TIMELY MANNER IN ADDRESSING CONTROL 
AND COMPLIANCE FUNCTIONS WITH 
REGULATORY AGENCIES; 
 
h. REVIEW THE QUARTERLY, HALF-YEAR AND 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BEFORE 
SUBMISSION TO THE BOARD 
 
i. RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATING, 
MONITORING AND FACILITATING COMPLIANCE 
WITH EXISTING LAWS, RULES AND 
REGULATIONS. IT MAY CONSTITUTE A 
COMPLIANCE UNIT FOR THIS PURPOSE. 
 
j. EVALUATE AND DETERMINE NON-AUDIT 
WORK BY EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND KEEP 
UNDER REVIEW THE NON-AUDIT FEES PAID TO 
THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR BOTH IN RELATION TO 
THEIR SIGNIFICANCE TO THE AUDITOR AND IN 
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S TOTAL 
EXPENDITURE ON CONSULTANCY. THE NON-
AUDIT WORK SHOULD BE DISCLOSED IN THE 
ANNUAL REPORT. 
 
ESTABLISH AND IDENTIFY THE REPORTING LINE 
OF THE CHIEF AUDIT EXECUTIVE SO THAT THE 
REPORTING LEVEL ALLOWS THE INTERNAL 
AUDIT ACTIVITY TO FULFILL ITS 
RESPONSIBILITIES. THE CHIEF AUDIT EXECUTIVE 
SHALL REPORT DIRECTLY TO THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE FUNCTIONALLY. THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE SHALL ENSURE THAT THE 
INTERNAL AUDITORS SHALL HAVE FREE AND 
FULL ACCESS TO ALL COMPANY’S RECORDS, 
PROPERTIES AND PERSONNEL RELEVANT TO 
THE INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY AND THAT THE 
INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY SHOULD BE FREE 
FROM INTERFERENCE IN DETERMINING THE 
SCOPE OF INTERNAL AUDITING 
EXAMINATIONS, PERFORMING WORK, AND 
COMMUNICATING RESULTS, AND SHALL 
PROVIDE A VENUE FOR THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
TO REVIEW AND APPROVE THE ANNUAL 
INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN. 
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NOMINATION 1 1 1 BY-LAWS -TO ENSURE THAT THERE IS A FORMAL AND 
TRANSPARENT PROCEDURE FOR THE 
APPOINTMENT OF NEW DIRECTORS OF THE 
BOARD 
-PROMULGATE GUIDELINES OR CRITERIA TO 
GOVERN THE CONDUCT OF NOMINATION  
-REVIEW AND ASSESS QUALIFICATIONS OF ALL 
PERSONS NOMINATED TO THE BOARD AND ALL 
APPOINTMENTS THAT REQUIRE BOARD 
APPROVAL 

REMUNERATION 1 1 1 BY-LAWS DEVELOP A POLICY ON EXECUTIVE 
REMUNERATION AND REMUNERATION 
PACKAGES OF CORPORATE OFFICERS AND 
DIRECTORS, AND PROVIDE OVERSIGHT OVER 
REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
AND OTHER KEY PERSONNEL 
 
ESTABLISH A FORMAL AND TRANSPARENT 
PROCEDURE ON REMUNERATION OF 
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS. 

   

2) Committee Members 
 

(a) Executive Committee  
 

Office Name  
Date of 

Appointment 

Date of 
Meetings 

Held 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Length of 
Service in 

the 
Committee 

Chairman STEPHEN L. KENG July 05, 2016     

Member (ED) STEVE LI July 05, 2016     

Member (ED) 
DIGNA ELIZABETH 
VENTURA 

July 05, 2016    
 

 

(b) Audit Committee  
 

Office Name  
Date of 

Appointment 
Date of 

Meetings Held 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended  

% 

Length of 
Service in 

the 
Committee 

Chairman VIOLETA J. JOSEF July 05, 2016 1 April 2016 1 100  

Member (ED) STEVE LI July 05, 2016 1 April 2016 1 100  

Member (NED) CHRISTINE P. BASE July 05, 2016 1 April 2016 1 100  

 
Disclose the profile or qualifications of the Audit Committee members. 
 
VIOLETA J. JOSEF WAS ELECTED AS AN INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY.  SHE COMPLETED HER 
BACHELOR IN BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION FROM THE UNIVERSITY OF EAST.  SHE IS A CERTIFIED PUBLIC 
ACCOUNTANT AND RECEIVED HER MASTER’S DEGREE IN BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION-TOP EXECUTIVE 
PROGRAM FROM THE PAMANTASAN NG LUNGSOD NG MAYNILA WHERE SHE IS NOW A PART-TIME LECTURER 
IN PLM’S GRADUATE SCHOOL OF BUSINESS. SHE ALSO COMPLETED HER GENERAL MANAGEMENT EXECUTIVE 
PROGRAM AT THE NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE, FACULTY OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION IN 1992. 
SHE HELD VARIOUS EXECUTIVE POSITIONS SUCH AS SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT, TREASURER, CONTROLLER AND 
DIRECTOR AT THE MULTINATIONAL GROUP OF COMPANIES FROM 1972-2014.  SHE STARTED HER CAREER IN 
PUBLIC PRACTICE IN SGV AND CO. IMMEDIATELY AFTER COMPLETING HER BACHELOR’S DEGREE. MS. JOSEF WAS 
ALSO A FORMER BOARD MEMBER OF THE PROFESSIONAL REGULATORY BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY, FOR YEARS 
1995 TO 1998. SHE HAS HELD SEVERAL POSITIONS IN VARIOUS PROFESSIONAL AND CIVIC ORGANIZATIONS, 
SUCH AS PAST NATIONAL PRESIDENT OF THE PHILIPPINE INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS IN 
2013-2014, DEPUTY VICE-PRESIDENT OF THE PHILIPPINE FEDERATION OF PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATIONS IN 
2014-2016,  LIFE-TIME MEMBER OF THE PHILIPPINE ASSOCIATION OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATORY BOARD 
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MEMBERS SINCE 1995, PAST PRESIDENT OF THE ASSOCIATION OF CPAS IN COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY IN 1986 
AND A FORMER MEMBER OF THE AUDITING STANDARDS AND PRACTICES COUNCIL.  AS PICPA PRESIDENT, SHE 
WAS A BOARD AND COUNCIL MEMBER OF VARIOUS INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTANCY ORGANIZATIONS, SUCH 
AS THE ASEAN FEDERATION OF ACCOUNTANTS (AFA), THE CONFEDERATION OF ASIAN AND PACIFIC 
ACCOUNTANTS (CAPA) AND THE INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF ACCOUNTANTS (IFAC). 
 
STEVE LI IS THE VICE-CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER SINCE 2007 AND 2013, RESPECTIVELY. HE IS 
CONCURRENTLY MANAGING DIRECTOR OF MFT INTERNATIONAL LTD. (HONG KONG) AND MANAGING 
DIRECTOR OF MFT INDUSTRIAL LTD. (XIAMEN, CHINA). MR. LI GRADUATED FROM YORK UNIVERSITY, TORONTO, 
CANADA WITH A BACHELOR’S DEGREE IN BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION MAJOR IN FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING. 

 
CHRISTINE P. BASE IS THE CORPORATE SECRETARY SINCE APRIL 10, 2007. SHE IS CURRENTLY A CORPORATE AND 
TAX LAWYER AT PACIS AND REYES, ATTORNEYS AND THE MANAGING DIRECTOR OF LEGISFORUM, INC. SHE IS 
THE CORPORATE SECRETARY OF ARANETA PROPERTIES, INC., ACTIVE ALLIANCE INCORPORATED AND ASIASEC 
EQUITIES, INC. SHE IS A DIRECTORS AND/OR CORPORATE SECRETARY OF SEVERAL PRIVATE CORPORATIONS. SHE 
WAS AN AUDITOR AND THEN TAX LAWYER OF SYCIP, GORRES, VELAYO & CO. SHE IS A GRADUATE OF ATENEO 
DE MANILA UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF LAW WITH A DEGREE OF JURIS DOCTOR. SHE PASSED THE BAR 
EXAMINATION IN 1997. MS. BASE IS ALSO A CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT. SHE GRADUATED FROM DE LA 
SALLE UNIVERSITY WITH A BACHELOR OF SCIENCE DEGREE OF COMMERCE MAJOR IN ACCOUNTING. 
 
Describe the Audit Committee’s responsibility relative to the External Auditor. 
 
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE SHALL DISCUSS WITH THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR, THE NATURE AND SCOPE OF THE AUDIT, 
PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT THEREOF. THE COMMITTEE SHALL ALSO REVIEW REPORTS OF THE INTERNAL AND 
EXTERNAL AUDITORS. FURTHER, THE COMMITTEE SHALL EVALUATE AND DETERMINE NON-AUDIT WORK BY 
EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND KEEP UNDER REVIEW THE NON-AUDIT FEES PAID TO THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR BOTH IN 
RELATION TO THEIR SIGNIFICANCE TO THE AUDITOR AND IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S TOTAL EXPENDITURE 
ON CONSULTANCY.  

 

(c) Nomination Committee 
 

Office Name  
Date of 

Appointment 
Date of 

Meetings Held 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Length of 
Service in 

the 
Committee 

Chairman STEPHEN L. KENG  July 05, 2016 5 April 2016 1 100  

Member (ED) STEVE LI  July 05, 2016 5 April 2016 1 100  

Member (ID) MA. VICTORIA A. 
VILLALUZ  

July 05, 2016 
5 April 2016 1 100 

 

 

(d) Remuneration Committee 
 

Office Name  
Date of 

Appointment 
Date of 

Meetings Held 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Length of 
Service in 

the 
Committee 

Chairman STEVE LI  July 05, 2016 5 April 2016 1 100  

Member (NED) STEPHEN L. KENG  July 05, 2016 5 April 2016 1 100  

Member (ID) MA. VICTORIA A. 
VILLALUZ 

July 05, 2016 
5 April 2016 1 100 

 

 

(e) Others (Specify) 
 

Provide the same information on all other committees constituted by the Board of Directors: 
 
 THERE ARE NO OTHER COMMITTEES CONSTITUTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS.  
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3) Changes in Committee Members 
 

Indicate any changes in committee membership that occurred during the year and the reason for the changes: 
 
n/a 

 

4) Work Done and Issues Addressed 
 

Describe the work done by each Committee and the significant issues addressed during the year. 
 

Name  Of Committee Work Done Issues Addressed 

EXECUTIVE 
OVERSIGHT AND SUPERVISION ON MANAGEMENT AND 
OPERATION. 

VARIOUS 

AUDIT 
OVERSIGHT AUDIT / APPROVAL OF AUDITED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT 

VARIOUS 

NOMINATION GOVERNED THE CONDUCT OF NOMINATION  VARIOUS 

REMUNERATION REVIEW COMPENSATION NONE YET. 

OTHERS (SPECIFY) NONE N/A 
 

5) Committee Program 
 

Provide a list of programs that each Committee plans to undertake to address relevant issues in the improvement or 
enforcement of effective governance for the coming year.   

 

Name of Committee Planned Programs Issues to be Addressed 

EXECUTIVE 

NONE N/A 

AUDIT 

NOMINATION 

REMUNERATION 

OTHERS (SPECIFY) 
 

E. RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS 
 

1. Disclose the following: 
 
(a) Overall Risk Management philosophy of the Company; 
 

*EXCEPT FOR FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES, THE FORMAL POLICIES OF THE 
COMPANY ON OVER-ALL RISK MANAGEMENT ARE STILL BEING DEVELOPED.  

 
THE COMPANY HAS LIMITED ACTIVITY, THUS, LIMITED RISKS. HOWEVER, IN MAKING BUSINESS DECISIONS, THE 
COMPANY’S OBJECTIVE IS TO MAXIMIZE BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES WITH MINIMAL BUT CALCULATED RISKS. 

 
(b) A statement that the Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management system and commenting 

on the adequacy thereof; 
 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY, AS A BODY, ASSESSES THE COMPANY’S LIMITED RISKS. WHILE 
THERE IS YET NO FORMAL POLICIES ON OVER-ALL RISK MANAGEMENT, THE BOARD HAS REVIEWED ITS INTERIM 
POLICIES ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONCLUDED THE ADEQUACY OF ITS MANAGEMENT SYSTEM. 
 

(c) Period covered by the review: 2016 
 

(d) How often the risk management system is reviewed and the Directors’ criteria for assessing its effectiveness; 
and 
 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS REVIEWS THE INTERIM RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM AS THE NEED ARISES ON THE 
BASIS OF OR IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE OBJECTIVE OF THE COMPANY IN MAINTAINING STRONG CREDIT RATING 
AND CAPITAL RATIOS TO SUPPORT ITS BUSINESS AND MAXIMIZE BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES WITH MINIMAL BUT 
CALCULATED RISKS.   
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(e) Where no review was conducted during the year, an explanation why not. 
 
NOT APPLICABLE 

 

2. Risk Policy 
 

(a) Company 
 
Give a general description of the Company’s risk management policy, setting out and assessing the risk/s covered 
by the system (ranked according to priority), along with the objective behind the policy for each kind of risk: 
 
EXCEPT FOR FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES, THE FORMAL POLICIES OF THE 
COMPANY ON RISK MANAGEMENT ARE STILL BEING DEVELOPED.  
 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORSS (BOD) IS PRIMARILY RESPONSIBLE IN IDENTIFYING, ANALYSING AND MANAGING 
THE GROUP’S RISKS TO AN ACCEPTABLE LEVEL, SO AS TO ENHANCE OPPORTUNITIES, REDUCE THREATS AND 
THUS SUSTAIN A COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE. IT WORKS IN COORDINATION WITH THE AUDIT COMMITTEE TO BE 
ABLE TO ATTAIN THE RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES OF THE GROUP.  
 
THE MAIN OBJECTIVES OF THE GROUP’S FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ARE AS FOLLOWS: 

 
• TO IDENTIFY AND MONITOR SUCH RISKS ON AN ONGOING BASIS; 
• TO MINIMIZE AND MITIGATE SUCH RISKS; AND 
• TO PROVIDE A DEGREE OF CERTAINTY ABOUT COSTS. 

 
THE BOARD REVIEWS THE RISKS AND AGREES ON RISKS MANAGEMENT POLICIES. THE BOD REVIEWS THESE 
POLICIES AS THE NEED ARISES. HOWEVER, ALL SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS ARE BEING SUPERVISED BY THE 
BOD, THUS, MINIMIZING EXPOSURE TO VARIOUS RISKS.  RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES OF THE GROUP ARE 
SUMMARIZED BELOW: 

 

Risk Exposure Risk Management Policy Objective 

FINANCIAL RISK 
1. LIQUIDITY RISK 

 
 

 

IN ORDER TO MANAGE LIQUIDITY, THE GROUP: 
 
a. MONITORS ITS CASH FLOW POSITION, DEBT 

MATURITY PROFILE AND OVERALL LIQUIDITY 
POSITION IN ASSESSING ITS EXPOSURE TO 
LIQUIDITY RISK. IT ALSO MONITORS CAPITAL 
EXPENDITURES, OPERATING EXPENSES AND 
WORKING CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS. 
 

b. MAINTAINS A LEVEL OF CASH DEEMED SUFFICIENT 
TO FINANCE ITS OPERATIONS AND TO MITIGATE 
THE EFFECTS OF FLUCTUATION IN CASH FLOWS. 
 

c. REGULARLY REVIEWS ITS FINANCIAL LIABILITIES, 
OBLIGATIONS AND BANK LOANS MATURITY 
PROFILE TO ENSURE AVAILABILITY OF FUNDING 
THROUGH AN ADEQUATE AMOUNT OF CREDIT 
FACILITIES WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS. 

THE GROUP’S 
OBJECTIVE IS TO 
MAINTAIN BALANCE 
BETWEEN CONTINUITY 
OF FUNDING AND 
FLEXIBILITY THROUGH 
THE USE OF BANK 
LOANS. 

2. MARKET RISKS 
a. INTEREST RATE RISK  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INTEREST RATE RISK 
 
THE GROUP’S INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE 
MANAGEMENT POLICY CENTERS ON REDUCING THE 
GROUP’S OVERALL INTEREST EXPENSE AND EXPOSURE 
TO CHANGES IN INTEREST RATES.  THE APPROVAL OF 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IS NECESSARY TO ENTER 
INTO NEW LOAN AGREEMENTS AND LONG-TERM 
INVESTMENT PLACEMENTS. THE GROUP’S POLICY IS 
TO MANAGE ITS INTEREST COST BY: 

THE GROUP’S 
OBJECTIVE IN TERMS 
OF MARKET RISK IS TO 
BE ABLE TO RETAIN AT 
A LEVEL THAT THE 
LEVEL OF EXPOSURE IS 
VERY MINIMAL.  
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 ENTERING INTO A MIX OF FIXED SHORT-TERM AND 
LONG-TERM BORROWINGS DEPENDING ON THE 
PROJECTED FUNDING REQUIREMENTS OF THE 
GROUP. 

 REGULARLY ENTER INTO SHORT-TERM LOANS AS IT 
RELATES TO ITS SOLD INSTALLMENT CONTRACTS 
RECEIVABLE IN ORDER TO CUSHION THE IMPACT OF 
POTENTIAL INCREASE IN LOAN INTEREST RATES. 

2. MARKET RISKS 
B. FOREIGN CURRENCY 
RISK 
 

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK 
 
THE GROUP HAS MINIMAL EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN 
CURRENCY RISKS. ALL NECESSARY FOREIGN 
CURRENCY DENOMINATED TRANSACTIONS ARE TO BE 
APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS.  

3. CREDIT RISK CREDIT RISKS. CREDIT RISK IS THE RISK THAT 
COUNTERPARTY WILL NOT MEET ITS OBLIGATIONS 
UNDER A FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT OR CUSTOMER 
CONTRACT, LEADING TO A FINANCIAL LOSS.  TO 
MANAGE CREDIT RISKS, THE GROUP: 
 

 TRADES ONLY WITH RECOGNIZED, CREDITWORTHY 
THIRD PARTIES 

 RECEIVABLES ARE MONITORED ON AN ONGOING 
BASIS RESULTING TO A MANAGEABLE EXPOSURE TO 
BAD DEBTS 

 REAL ESTATE BUYERS ARE SUBJECT TO STANDARD 
CREDIT CHECK PROCEDURES, WHICH ARE 
CALIBRATED BASED ON THE PAYMENT SCHEME 
OFFERED. THE GROUP’S RESPECTIVE CREDIT 
MANAGEMENT UNIT CONDUCTS A 
COMPREHENSIVE CREDIT INVESTIGATION AND 
EVALUATION OF EACH BUYER TO ESTABLISH 
CREDITWORTHINESS. 

 RECEIVABLE BALANCES ARE BEING MONITORED ON 
A REGULAR BASIS TO ENSURE TIMELY EXECUTION 
OF NECESSARY INTERVENTION EFFORTS. 
 

MITIGATE CREDIT RISK ON REAL ESTATE RECEIVABLES 
BY ESTABLISHING A CONSERVATIVE CLAUSE IN THE 
CONTRACT THAT THE GROUP HAS THE RIGHT TO 
CANCEL THE SALES CONTRACT WITHOUT NEED FOR 
ANY COURT ACTION AND TAKE POSSESSION OF THE 
SUBJECT HOUSE IN CASE OF REFUSAL BY THE BUYER TO 
PAY ON TIME THE DUE INSTALLMENT CONTRACTS 
RECEIVABLE 

THE PRIMARY 
OBJECTIVE OF THE 
GROUP IS TO MANAGE 
ITS RECEIVABLES TO 
MINIMIZE EXPOSURE 
ON FINANCIAL LOSSES 
RELATED TO BAD 
DEBTS. 

 

(b) Group 
 
Give a general description of the group’s risk management policy, setting out and assessing the risk/s covered 
by the system (ranked according to priority), along with the objective behind the policy for each kind of risk: 

 
 

Risk Exposure Risk Management Policy Objective 

SAME AS ABOVE SAME AS ABOVE SAME AS ABOVE 
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(c) Minority Shareholders 
 

Indicate the principal risk of the exercise of controlling shareholders’ voting power. 
 

Risk to Minority Shareholders 

THERE ARE NO RISKS. 
 

4. Control System Set Up 
 

(a) Company 
 

Briefly describe the control systems set up to assess, manage and control the main issue/s faced by the Company:  
 

Risk Exposure  Risk Assessment 
(Monitoring and Measurement Process) 

Risk Management and Control 
(Structures, Procedures, Actions 

Taken) 

FINANCIAL RISK THE CHAIRMAN AND THE CEO ARE 
PARTICULARLY WORKING TOGETHER 
WITH THE CFO TO MONITOR AND 
MANAGE FINANCIAL RISK. THE 
COMPANY MONITORS THE RISK 
THROUGH EXPECTED USAGE AND 
EXPOSURE. 

FORECASTED EXPOSURES OF 
THESE RISKS ARE BEING 
MAINTAINED BY THE CFO. SUCH 
PLAN IS ALSO BEING DISCUSSED 
TO THE CEO AS WELL AS TO THE 
BOARD. 

 

(b) Group 
 

Briefly describe the control systems set up to assess, manage and control the main issue/s faced by the Company:  
 

Risk Exposure  Risk Assessment 
(Monitoring and Measurement Process) 

Risk Management and Control 
(Structures, Procedures, Actions Taken) 

SAME AS ABOVE SAME AS ABOVE SAME AS ABOVE 

 
(c) Committee 

 

Identify the committee or any other body of corporate governance in charge of laying down and supervising 
these control mechanisms, and give details of its functions: 
 
THERE IS YET NO COMMITTEE ON RISK MANAGEMENT. 

 

Committee/Unit Control Mechanism Details Of Its Functions 

   

 
F. INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONTROL 
 
1) Internal Control System 

 
Disclose the following information pertaining to the internal control system of the Company: 
 
(a) Explain how the internal control system is defined for the Company; 

 
DEFINITION:  
 
INTERNAL CONTROL IS A COMPANY’S SYSTEM, DEFINED AND IMPLEMENTED UNDER ITS RESPONSIBILITY, WHICH 
AIMS TO ENSURE THAT:  
 
• GOVERNMENT LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND COMPANY POLICIES ARE COMPLIED WITH;  
• THE COMPANY’S INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESSES ARE FUNCTIONING AS DESIGNED PARTICULARLY OF 

THOSE ASSETS WITH MATERIAL FINANCIAL RISK 
• FINANCIAL INFORMATION IS ACCURATE, RELIABLE AND SECURED. 
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THE INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESS OF THE COMPANY PROVIDES REASONABLE ASSURANCE THAT MATERIAL 
FINANCIAL AND NON-FINANCIAL RISKS ARE MANAGED AND CONTROLLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
COMPANY’S OBJECTIVES.  
 

(b) A statement that the Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system and whether they 
consider them effective and adequate; 
 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY, AS A BODY, HAS REVIEWED THE COMPANY’S INTERNAL CONTROL 
SYSTEM AND HAS CONCLUDED THE EFFECTIVENESS AND ADEQUACY OF THE SAME. 
 

(c) Period covered by the review: 2016 
 

(d) How often internal controls are reviewed and the Directors’ criteria for assessing the effectiveness of the internal 
control system; and 
 
INTERNAL CONTROLS ARE PERIODICALLY REVIEWED. THE CRITERIA FOR ASSESSING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE 
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM RELY ON THE RESULTS OF TESTING DONE ON CONTROLS FOR MATERIAL FINANCIAL 
AND NON-FINANCIAL RISKS AND ALSO THE RESULT OF REVIEW FOR COMPLIANCE OF GOVERNMENT MANDATED 
REPORTS AND COMPANY POLICIES. 
 

(e) Where no review was conducted during the year, an explanation why not. 
 

NOT APPLICABLE.  
 

2) Internal Audit 
 

(a) Role, Scope and Internal Audit Function 
 

Give a general description of the role, scope of internal audit work and other details of the internal audit 
function. 

 

Role Scope 

Indicate Whether 
In-House or 

Outsource Internal 
Audit Function 

Name of Chief 
Internal 

Auditor/Auditi
ng Firm 

Reporting 
Process 

INTERNAL 
AUDIT 
MANAGER 

DEVELOP PROCEDURES ON THE 
PERFORMANCE OF REVIEW AND 
ASSESSMENT ON THE 
EFFECTIVENESS AND ADEQUACY 
OF THE COMPANY’S CONTROLS. 
ALSO MANAGES THE INTERNAL 
AUDIT TEAM AND PREPARES THE 
ANNUAL AUDIT PROGRAM AS 
AMONG THE KEY SCOPE OF 
INTERNAL AUDIT MANAGER ROLE 

IN-HOUSE ERICSON C. 
GEMZON 

REPORTS 
DIRECTLY TO 
THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 

 

(b) Do the appointment and/or removal of the internal auditor or the accounting /auditing firm or corporation to 
which the internal audit function is outsourced require the approval of the audit committee? 
 
YES.  
 

(c) Discuss the internal auditor’s reporting relationship with the audit committee.  Does the internal auditor have 
direct and unfettered access to the Board of Directors and the audit committee and to all records, properties 
and personnel? 
 
THE INTERNAL AUDITOR IS DIRECTLY REPORTING TO THE AUDIT COMMITTEE. THE AUDITOR FURNISHES A 
QUARTERLY REPORT TO THE AUDIT COMMITTEE ON THE ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND PROGRESS OF REVIEWS 
DONE AS AGAINST THE PLAN. THE INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT HAS COMPLETE ACCESS TO COMPANY 
RECORDS, PROPERTIES AND PERSONNEL. 
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(d) Resignation, Re-Assignment and Reasons 
 

Disclose any resignation/s or re-assignment of the internal audit staff (including those employed by the third-
party auditing firm) and the reason/s for them. 

 

Name of Audit Staff Reason 

NOT APPLICABLE  

 
(e) Progress Against Plans, Issues, Findings and Examination Trends 

 

State the internal audit’s progress against plans, significant issues, significant findings and examination trends. 
 
 

Progress Against Plans 
Plans for Review of Controls for Year End 2016 were 

Fully Accomplished 

Issues6 NO SIGNIFICANT ISSUES FOR 2016 

Findings7 NO SIGNIFICANT FINDINGS FOR 2016 

Examination Trends OPERATIONAL AUDIT AND TESTING OF CONTROLS 

 
[The relationship among progress, plans, issues and findings should be viewed as an internal control review cycle 
which involves the following step-by-step activities: 
 

1) Preparation of an audit plan inclusive of a timeline and milestones; 
2) Conduct of examination based on the plan; 
3) Evaluation of the progress in the implementation of the plan; 
4) Documentation of issues and findings as a result of the examination; 
5) Determination of the pervasive issues and findings (“examination trends”) based on single year result 

and/or year-to-year results; 
6) Conduct of the foregoing procedures on a regular basis.] 

 

(f) Audit Control Policies and Procedures 
 

Disclose all internal audit controls, policies and procedures that have been established by the Company and the 
result of an assessment as to whether the established controls, policies and procedures have been implemented 
under the column “implementation.” 

 

Policies & Procedures Implementation 

BIDDING PROCESS IMPLEMENTED 

PROCUREMENT PROCESS AND CONTROL IMPLEMENTED 

BILLING PROCESSING AND PAYMENT IMPLEMENTED 

OWNER-SUPPLIED MATERIALS MONITORING AND 
TURNOVER 

IMPLEMENTED 

SCRAP AND ASSET DISPOSAL IMPLEMENTED 

TURNOVER AND ACCEPTANCE OF UNIT IMPLEMENTED 

SALES AND MARKETING GUIDELINES IMPLEMENTED 

IT SECURITY CONTROLS IMPLEMENTED 
 
  

                                                
6“Issues” are compliance matters that arise from adopting different interpretations. 
7“Findings” are those with concrete basis under the Company’s policies and rules. 
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(g) Mechanisms and Safeguards  
 

State the mechanism established by the Company to safeguard the independence of the auditors, financial 
analysts, investment banks and rating agencies (example, restrictions on trading in the Company’s shares and 
imposition of internal approval procedures for these transactions, limitation on the non-audit services that an 
external auditor may provide to the Company): 

 

Auditors  
(Internal and External) 

Financial 
Analysts 

Investment 
Banks 

Rating Agencies 

INTERNAL AUDITORS ARE DIRECTLY 
REPORTING TO THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
AND ARE BOUND BY AN AUDIT CHARTER 
 
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEWS AND 
EVALUATES THE PROFESSIONAL 
QUALIFICATIONS, PERFORMANCE AND 
INDEPENDENCE OF THE EXTERNAL 
AUDITOR AND LEAD PARTNER, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE 
RELEVANT REGULATIONS.  

NOT APPLICABLE NOT APPLICABLE NOT APPLICABLE 

 
(h)  State the officers (preferably the chairman and the CEO) who will have to attest to the Company’s full compliance 

with the SEC Code of Corporate Governance. Such confirmation must state that all Directors, officers and 
employees of the Company have been given proper instruction on their respective duties as mandated by the 
Code and that internal mechanisms are in place to ensure that compliance. 

 
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND COMPLIANCE OFFICER 

 
G. ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS 

 
1) Disclose the Company’s policy and activities relative to the following: 

 
 

 Policy Activities 

CUSTOMERS' WELFARE 100% COMMITMENT TO BUYERS, 
BEGINNING FROM POINT OF SALE 
UNTIL DELIVERY OF TITLES. 

THE COMPANY’S CUSTOMER SERVICE 
PROGRAM (CSP) WAS LAUNCHED on 2012, 
WHERE OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES 
REGARDLESS OF RANK OR LEVEL WERE GIVEN 
TRAINING GUIDELINES ON HOW CLIENTS’ 
RIGHTS AND INTERESTS ARE PROTECTED AND 
BEST SERVED.   

SUPPLIER/CONTRACTOR 
SELECTION PRACTICE 

ONLY HIGHLY-EXPERIENCED 
SUPPLIERS OR CONTRACTORS 
WITH GOOD TRACK RECORDS ARE 
ACCEPTED TO RENDER CONTRACT 
SERVICE OR SUPPLY GOODS TO 
THE COMPANY.  

A WELL-DEFINED BIDDING AND AWARDS 
PROCESS OBSERVING TRANSPARENCY AND 
PROFESSIONALISM HAS BEEN ADOPTED BY 
THE COMPANY FOR THE PAST YEARS.  

ENVIRONMENTALLY 
FRIENDLY VALUE-CHAIN  

TO INCULCATE THE PRINCIPLES OF 
ENERGY PRESERVATION AND 
MINIMAL WASTAGE OF NATURAL 
RESOURCES HAVE BEEN 
IMPLEMENTED IN THE COMPANY’S 
VARIOUS PROJECTS. 

THE INCLUSION OF ENVIRONMENTAL 
COMPLIANCE STANDARDS AS A 
REQUIREMENT FOR CERTAIN SPECIALTY 
CONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS WAS 
IMPOSED.  

COMMUNITY 
INTERACTION 

SENSITIVITY TO NEEDS AND 
CONCERNS OF LOCAL BARANGAYS 
OR COMMUNITIES AFFECTED BY 
PROJECT CONSTRUCTIONS.  

CONSULTATIONS WITH OFFICIALS OF LOCAL 
BARANGAYS OR COMMUNITIES IN PROJECT 
AREAS ARE CONDUCTED AS PART OF THE 
COMPANY’S REGULAR PRE-CONSTRUCTION 
PROCESSES.  
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ANTI-CORRUPTION 
PROGRAMS AND 
PROCEDURES?  

NONE  NONE  

SAFEGUARDING 
CREDITORS' RIGHTS  

RED TAPE AND NEEDLESS 
ROUTINARY COLLECTION 
PROCESSES FOR COMPANY 
SUPPLIERS, CONTRACTORS AND 
OTHER CREDITORS ARE 
PROSCRIBED.  

STREAMLINED PAYMENT RELEASING 
PROCEDURES HAVE BEEN IMPLEMENTED 
AND IMPROVED THROUGHOUT THE YEARS.   

 
2) Does the Company have a separate corporate responsibility (CR) report/section or sustainability report/section? 

 
YES.  
 

3) Performance-Enhancing Mechanisms for Employee Participation. 
 

(a) What are the Company’s policy for its employees’ safety, health, and welfare?  
 
THE KEY NOTE OF THE PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PRACTICES OF THE COMPANY IS THE CONSTANT ENDEAVOR 
TO UPGRADE THE INDIVIDUAL EFFECTIVENESS OF EACH EMPLOYEE BY INCREASING THE SENSE OF PERSONAL 
SATISFACTION FROM HIS WORK AND WORKING CONDITIONS SUCH THAT THE SERVICE OF THE EMPLOYEE 
WOULD PROVE TO BE A GRATIFYING SOCIAL EXPERIENCE ASIDE FROM BEING A MEANS OF MAKING MODEST 
LIVING.  
 
IT IS THE POLICY OF THE COMPANY TO LOOK AFTER THE HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF ITS EMPLOYEES, THUS, 
THE COMPANY PROVIDES HEALTH INSURANCE THROUGH HEALTH CARE PROGRAM OF A REPUTABLE INSURANCE 
FIRM. THIS BENEFIT WILL ASSIST EMPLOYEES IN MAINTAINING A SOUND BODY AND MIND BY ALLOWING THEM 
TO AVAIL OF PROPER MEDICAL ATTENTION. THIS WILL FURTHER PROMOTE MANAGEMENT’S CONCERN FOR 
EMPLOYEE’S SAFETY AND TO PREVENT THE HAZARDS OF ILLNESS, WHICH DECREASES PRODUCTIVITY.  

 
(b) Show data relating to health, safety and welfare of its employees. 

 
ALL REGULAR EMPLOYEES ARE PROVIDED WITH HEALTH INSURANCE THROUGH HEALTH CARE PROGRAM OF A 
REPUTABLE INSURANCE FIRM. IN THIS CONNECTION, ANNUAL PHYSICIAL EXAMINATION IS LIKEWISE 
CONDUCTED TO ENSURE THE EMPLOYEES’ HEALTH.  
 

(c) State the Company’s training and development programs for its employees. Show the data. 
 
ENABLING ITS HUMAN RESOURCES TO DEVELOP AND ENHANCE THEIR POTENTIALS, ALHI ALSO IMPLEMENTS A 
CAPABILITY DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM TO INCREASE EMPLOYEES’ ABILITIES AND COMPETENCE IN PERFORMING 
TASKS AND ACHIEVING WORK OBJECTIVES. 
 
THE LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM, ON THE OTHER HAND, IS A CONTINUING EFFORT TO ENABLE 
CURRENT AND POTENTIAL LEADERS BECOME EFFECTIVE AND VITAL CONTRIBUTORS IN ACHIEVING BUSINESS 
SUCCESS 
 

(d) State the Company’s reward/compensation policy that accounts for the performance of the Company beyond 
short-term financial measures 
 
THE COMPANY GRANTS PERFORMANCE BONUS TO EMPLOYEES DESERVING BASED ON PERFORMANCE 
RATING. 
 

4) What are the Company’s procedures for handling complaints by employees concerning illegal (including corruption) 
and unethical behavior?  Explain how employees are protected from retaliation. 
 
ALL EMPLOYEES HAVE THE RIGHT TO PRESENT THEIR COMPLAINTS AND/OR GRIEVANCES AND HAVE THEM 
ADJUDICATED AS EXPEDITIOUSLY AS POSSIBLE. NO COMPLAINT SHALL BE GIVEN DUE COURSE UNLESS THE SAME IS 
IN WRITING.  
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H. DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY 
 
1) Ownership Structure  

 
(a) Holding 5% Shareholding or More 

 

Shareholder 
Number of Shares 

C = Common Shares 
P = Preferred Shares 

Percentage Held  
Per Class 

Beneficial Owner 

LTC PRIME HOLDINGS, 
INC.  

C = 248,108,100 
P = 120,134,048 

C = 23.86% 
P = 34.65% 

Various 

SYBASE EQUITY 
INVESTMENTS 
CORPORATION  

C = 202,609,200 
P = 67,609,400  

C = 19.48% 
P = 19.50% 

Various 

CINDY MEI NGAR SZE C = 155,999,298 
P = 51,999,766 

C = 15% 
P = 15% 

-NA- 

  

Name of Senior 
Management  

Number of Direct Shares 
C= Common Shares 
P= Preferred Shares 

Number of 
Indirect Shares / Through 
(Name Of Record Owner) 

% of 
Capital 
Stock 

STEVE LI C = 156,000,000 -NA- 
15% 

P = 52,000,000 

TOTAL C = 156,000,000  15% 

 P = 52,000,000   

 
2) Does the Annual Report disclose the following: 

 

Key Risks YES 

Corporate Objectives YES 

Financial Performance Indicators YES 

Non-Financial Performance Indicators YES 

Dividend Policy  YES 

Details of Whistle-Blowing Policy 

NO. SEC 
FORM 17-A 
DOES NOT 
REQUIRE. 

Biographical Details (at least age, qualifications, date of first appointment, relevant 
experience, and any other Directorship of listed companies) of Directors/Commissioners 

YES 

Training and/or continuing education program attended by each 
Directors/Commissioner 

NO. SEC 
FORM 17-A 
DOES NOT 
REQUIRE. 

Number of Board of Directors/Commissioners meetings held during the year YES 

Attendance details of each Directors/Commissioner in respect of meetings held YES 

Details of remuneration of the CEO and each member of the Board of 
Directors/Commissioners 

YES 

 
Should the annual report not disclose any of the above, please indicate the reason for the non-disclosure. 
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3) External Auditor’s Fee 
 

Name of Auditor Audit Fee Non-Audit Fee 

SYCIP GORRES & VELAYO PHP2.53 million - 

 
4) Medium of Communication 

 
List down the mode/s of communication that the Company is using for disseminating information. 
 
THE COMPANY USES THE FOLLOWING MODES OF COMMUNICATION FOR DISSEMINATING INFORMATION:  
 
1. PRINT  
2. BROCHURE 
3. PUBLICATION  
4. INTERNET  
5. PSE WEBSITE 
 

5) Date of Release of Audited Financial Report: April 12, 2017 
 
6) Company Website 

 
WWW.ANCHORLAND.COM.PH 
 
Does the Company have a website disclosing up-to-date information about the following? 
 

Business Operations YES  

Financial Statements/Reports (Current and Prior Years) YES  

Materials provided in Briefings to Analysts and Media YES 

Shareholding Structure YES 

Group Corporate Structure YES 

Downloadable Annual Report YES 

Notice of AGM and/or EGM YES 

Company's Constitution (Company's By-Laws, Memorandum and Articles of 
Association)   

YES 

 
Should any of the foregoing information be not disclosed, please indicate the reason thereto. 
 

7) Disclosure of RPT 
 

RPT Relationship Nature Value 

NONE - - - 

 
When RPTS are involved, what processes are in place to address them in the manner that will safeguard the interest 
of the Company and in particular of its minority shareholders and other stakeholders? 

 
TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN RELATED PARTIES ARE ON ARM’S LENGTH BASIS IN A MANNER SIMILAR TO TRANSACTIONS 
WITH NON-RELATED PARTIES. TRANSACTIONS ENTERED BY THE GROUP WITH RELATED PARTIES ARE LIMITED TO 
CASH ADVANCES TO OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES FOR OPERATIONAL PURPOSES. OUTSTANDING BALANCES AT YEAR-
END ARE UNSECURED, INTEREST-FREE AND SETTLEMENT OCCURS BY WAY OF LIQUIDATION OF CASH ADVANCES. 
ASSESSMENTS ON RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS ARE UNDERTAKEN EACH FINANCIAL YEAR BY EXAMINING THE 
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE RELATED PARTY AND THE MARKET IN WHICH THE RELATED PARTY OPERATES.  
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I. RIGHTS OF STOCKHOLDERS 
 
1) Right to participate effectively in and vote in annual/special stockholders’ meetings 

 

(a) Quorum 
 

Give details on the quorum required to convene the annual/special stockholders’ meeting as set forth in its by-
laws.   

 

Quorum Required 
MAJORITY OF THE OUTSTANDING CAPITAL STOCK UNLESS 
OTHERWISE PROVIDED BY LAW.  

 

(b) System used to approve corporate acts 
 

Explain the system used to approve corporate acts.   
 

System Used VOTING IN PERSON OR BY PROXY  

Description 

IF BY PROXY, SAID VOTING BY PROXY MUST BE IN WRITING BY THE 
STOCKHOLDER OR HIS DULY AUTHORIZED ATTORNEY-IN-FACT. A FORUM 
FOR THE VALIDATION OF PROXIES CHAIRED BY THE CORPORATE SECRETARY 
OR ASSISTANT CORPORATE SECRETARY AND ATTENDED BY THE STOCK AND 
TRANSFER AGENT SHALL BE CONVENED SEVEN (7) DAYS BEFORE ANY 
MEETING. 

 

(c) Stockholders’ Rights 
 

List any stockholders’ rights concerning annual/special stockholders’ meeting that differ from those laid down 
in the Corporation Code. 
 
THE COMPANY IS COMMITTED TO RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF THE STOCKHOLDERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
CORPORATION CODE. HOWEVER, STOCKHOLDERS OF THE CORPORATION SHALL HAVE NO PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT 
TO SUBSCRIBE TO ANY ISSUES OR DISPOSITION OF SHARES OF ANY CLASS.  

 

Stockholders’ Rights under  
the Corporation Code 

Stockholders’ Rights not in 
the Corporation Code 

RIGHT TO VOTE ON ALL MATTERS THAT REQUIRE 
THEIR CONSENT OR APPROVAL 

 

RIGHT TO INSPECT CORPORATE BOOKS AND 
RECORDS 

 

RIGHT TO INFORMATION  

RIGHT TO DIVIDENDS  

APPRAISAL RIGHT  

 
Dividends 
 

Dividends Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date 

Stock 29 May 2013 25 November 2013 06 December 2013 

Cash 25 June 2013 28 June 2013 16 July 2013 

Cash 03 June 2014 18 June 2014 14 July 2014 

Cash 26 March 2015 15 May 2015 10 June 2015 

Cash 5 April 2016 30 May 2016 15 June 2016 

 
(d) Stockholders’ Participation 

 



38 
 

1. State, if any, the measures adopted to promote stockholder participation in the annual/special stockholders’ 
meeting, including the procedure on how stockholders and other parties interested may communicate 
directly with the chairman of the Board, individual Directors or Board committees.  Include in the discussion 
the steps the Board has taken to solicit and understand the views of the stockholders as well as procedures 
for putting forward proposals at stockholders’ meetings. 
 

Measures Adopted Communication Procedure 

OPEN FORUM/ Q &A 

TO PROMOTE STOCKHOLDER PARTICIPATION, OPEN FORUM 
IS TO BE CONDUCTED WHEREIN QUESTIONS WILL BE 
ENTERTAINED AND ANSWERED BY THE BOARD AND ITS 
CHAIRMAN. 

 

2. State the Company policy of asking shareholders to actively participate in corporate decisions regarding: 
 

a. Amendments to the Company's constitution 
b. Authorization of additional shares 
c. Transfer of all or substantially all assets, which in effect results in the sale of the Company 

 
THE COMPANY IS COMMITTED TO RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF ITS SHAREHOLDERS TO VOTE ON THE FOREGOING 
MATTERS IN A STOCKHOLDERS’ SPECIAL MEETING, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CORPORATION CODE.  

 
3. Does the Company observe a minimum of 21 business days for giving out of notices to the AGM where items 

to be resolved by shareholders are taken up? 
 

YES 
 

a. Date of sending out notices: JUNE 13, 2016 
 
b. Date of the annual/special stockholders’ meeting: JULY 05, 2016 
 

4. State, if any, questions and answers during the Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting. 
 

NONE. 
 

5. Result of Annual/Special Stockholders’ Meeting’s Resolutions 

 
 

Resolution Approving Dissenting Abstaining 

Approval of the minutes of the 
previous Annual stockholders’ 
meeting 

Approval of 1,144,114,144 
 common and preferred 
shares 

None None 

Approval of Management 
Report 

Same as above Same as above 
Same as 
above 

Approval of Financial 
Statements 

Same as above Same as above 
Same as 
above 

Confirmation and ratification of 
all resolutions, contracts, and 
acts of the Board of Directors 
and Officers. 

Same as above Same as above 
Same as 
above 

Election of directors Same as above Same as above 
Same as 
above 

Confirmation of appointment 
of external auditor. 

Same as above Same as above 
Same as 
above 

 

6. Date of publishing of the result of the votes taken during the most recent AGM for all resolutions: 
 

THE RESULTS WERE DISCLOSED WITH THE PSE 10 MINUTES AFTER. 
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(e) Modifications 
 

State, if any, the modifications made in the Annual/Special Stockholders’ meeting regulations during the most 
recent year and the reason for such modification: 
 

Modifications Reason For Modification 

NONE  

 

(f) Stockholders’ Attendance 
 

(i) Details of attendance in the Annual/Special Stockholders’ meeting held: 
 

Type of 
Meeting 

Names of Board Members / 
Officers Present 

Date of 
Meeting 

Voting 
Procedure 
(By Poll, 
Show of 
Hands, 

Etc.) 

% of SH 
attending  
in person 

% of 
SH in 
proxy 

Total % of 
SH 

attendance 

Annual  

1. Stephen L. Keng 
2. Steve Li 
3. Digna Elizabeth L. Ventura 
4. Peter Kho 
5. Christine P. Base 
6. Neil Y. Chua 
7. Edwin Lee 
8. Charles Stewart Lee 
9. Violeta J. Josef 
10. Ma. Victoria A. Villaluz 
11. Avelino M. Guzman, Jr. 

July 5, 
2016 

show of 
hands 

38% 62% 82.5% both 
in person 

and in 
proxy 

Special None None None None None None 

 

(ii) Does the Company appoint an independent party (inspectors) to count and/or validate the votes at the 
ASM/SSMS? 
 
NO. 
 

(iii) Do the Company’s common shares carry one vote for one share?  If not, disclose and give reasons for any 
divergence to this standard. Where the Company has more than one class of shares, describe the voting 
rights attached to each class of shares. 

 
COMMON SHARES CARRY ONE VOTE FOR ONE SHARE. THE HOLDERS OF PREFERRED SHARES SHALL HAVE 
THE SAME RIGHT TO VOTE AS HOLDERS OF COMMON SHARES AND SHALL NOT PARTICIPATE IN DIVIDENDS 
DECLARED BY THE CORPORATION BUT WILL RECEIVE A FIXED CUMULATIVE DIVIDEND RATE OF EIGHT 
PERCENT (8%) PER ANNUM.  

 
(g) Proxy Voting Policies 

 

State the policies followed by the Company regarding proxy voting in the Annual/Special Stockholders’ meeting. 
 

 
 

Company’s Policies 

 
EXECUTION AND ACCEPTANCE OF 
PROXIES 

ALL PROXIES MUST BE EXECUTED AND IN THE HANDS OF THE 
SECRETARY AT LEAST TEN (10) DAYS BEFORE THE TIME SET FOR 
THE MEETING FOR THE PURPOSE OF VALIDATION.  

NOTARY PROXIES NEED NOT BE NOTARIZED. 

SUBMISSION OF PROXY ALL PROXIES MUST BE SUBMITTED AND IN THE HANDS OF THE 
SECRETARY 10 DAYS BEFORE THE TIME SET FOR THE MEETING. 
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SEVERAL PROXIES AS PROVIDED FOR IN SEC MEMORANDUM CIRCULAR NO. 4 SERIES 
OF 2004, IF THE STOCKHOLDER INTENDS TO DESIGNATE SEVERAL 
PROXIES, THE NUMBER OF SHARES OF STOCK TO BE REPRESENTED 
BY EACH PROXY SHALL BE SPECIFICALLY INDICATED IN THE PROXY 
FORM. IF SOME OF THE PROXY FORMS DO NOT INDICATE THE 
NUMBER OF SHARES, THE TOTAL SHAREHOLDING OF THE 
STOCKHOLDER SHALL BE TALLIED AND THE BALANCE THEREOF, IF 
ANY, SHALL BE ALLOTTED TO THE HOLDER OF THE PROXY FORM 
WITHOUT THE NUMBER OF SHARES. IF ALL ARE IN BLANK, THE 
STOCKS SHALL BE DISTRIBUTED EQUALLY AMONG THE PROXIES. 
THE NUMBER OF PERSONS TO BE DESIGNATED AS PROXIES MAY 
BE LIMITED BY THE BY-LAWS.  

VALIDITY OF PROXY UNLESS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THE PROXY, IT SHALL BE VALID 
ONLY FOR THE MEETING AT WHICH IT HAS BEEN PRESENTED TO 

THE SECRETARY.   
PROXIES EXECUTED ABROAD IN ACCORDANCE WITH SEC MEMORANDUM CIRCULAR NO. 5, 

SERIES OF 1996, PROXIES EXECUTED ABROAD SHALL BE DULY 
AUTHENTICATED BY THE PHILIPPINE EMBASSY OR CONSULAR 
OFFICE.  

INVALIDATED PROXY THE DECISION OF THE CORPORATE SECRETARY ON THE 
INVALIDITY OF PROXIES SHALL BE FINAL AND BINDING.  

VALIDATION OF PROXY A FORUM FOR THE VALIDATION OF PROXIES CHAIRED BY THE 
CORPORATE SECRETARY OR ASSISTANT CORPORATE SECRETARY 
AND ATTENDED BY THE STOCK TRANSFER AGENT SHALL BE 
CONVENED SEVEN (7) DAYS BEFORE ANY MEETING. ANY 
QUESTIONS AND ISSUES RELATING TO THE VALIDITY AND 
SUFFICIENCY, BOTH AS TO FORM AND SUBSTANCE, OF PROXIES 
SHALL ONLY BE RAISED DURING SAID FORUM AND RESOLVED BY 
THE CORPORATE SECRETARY. THE CORPORATE SECRETARY’S 
DECISION SHALL BE FINAL AND BINDING UPON THE 
SHAREHOLDERS. ANY SUCH QUESTION OR ISSUE DECIDED UPON 
BY THE CORPORATE SECRETARY SHALL BE DEEMED SETTLED AND 
THOSE NOT BROUGHT BEFORE SAID FORUM SHALL BE DEEMED 
WAIVED ANY MAY NO LONGER BE RAISED DURING THE 
STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING. 

VIOLATION OF PROXY IN ACCORDANCE WITH SEC MEMORANDUM CIRCULAR NO. 5, 
SERIES OF 1996, ANY VIOLATION OF THESE GUIDELINES SHALL BE 
SUBJECT TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE SANCTIONS PROVIDED FOR 
UNDER SECTION 144 OF THE CORPORATION CODE; SECTION 56 
OF THE REVISED SECURITIES ACT AND PD 902-A, AS AMENDED. 

 

(h) Sending of Notices 
 

State the Company’s policies and procedure on the sending of notices of Annual/Special Stockholders’ meeting. 
 

Policies Procedure 

EITHER BY PERSONAL DELIVERY, REGISTERED 
MAIL, FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION OR ELECTRONIC 
MAIL TO EACH STOCKHOLDER 

PER BY-LAWS, SAID NOTICES MUST BE SENT NO 
LESS THAN FIFTEEN (15) DAYS PRIOR TO THE 
DATE SET FOR EACH MEETING 

BY PUBLICATION IN NEWSPAPERS OF GENERAL 
CIRCULATION PUBLISHED IN METRO MANILA  

PUBLICATION SHOULD BE MADE NOT LESS THAN 
FIFTEEN (15) DAYS PRIOR TO THE DATE OF THE 
MEETING 
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(i) Definitive Information Statements and Management Report 
 

Number of Stockholders entitled to receive 
Definitive Information Statements and 
Management Report and other materials 

79 

Date of actual distribution of Definitive 
Information Statement and Management Report 
and other materials held by market 
participants/certain beneficial owners 

June 13, 2016 

Date of actual distribution of Definitive 
Information Statement and Management Report 
and other materials held by Stockholders 

June 13, 2016 

State whether CD format or hard copies were 
distributed 

Hard copies  

If yes, indicate whether requesting Stockholders 
were provided hard copies 

Hard copies were provided to the Stockholders 

 

(j) Does the notice of Annual/Special Stockholders’ meeting include the following: 
 

Each resolution to be taken up deals with only one item. YES 

Profiles of Directors (at least age, qualification, date of first appointment, experience, 
and Directorship in other listed companies) nominated for election/re-election. 

YES 

The auditors to be appointed or re-appointed. YES 

An explanation of the dividend policy, if any dividend is to be declared. YES 

The amount payable for final dividends. YES 

Documents required for proxy vote. YES 

 
Should any of the foregoing information be not disclosed, please indicate the reason thereto. 
 

2) Treatment of Minority Stockholders 
 

(a) State the Company’s policies with respect to the treatment of Minority Stockholders. 
 

Policies Implementation 

ALL STOCKHOLDERS ARE TREATED EQUALLY OR WITHOUT 
DISCRIMINATION. THE BOARD GIVES MINORITY 
STOCKHOLDERS THE RIGHT TO PROPOSE THE HOLDING OF 
MEETINGS AND THE ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION IN THE 
AGENDA THAT RELATE DIRECTLY TO THE BUSINESS OF THE 
COMPANY. 

 

 

(b) Do minority stockholders have a right to nominate candidates for Board of Directors? 

 
YES 
 

J. INVESTORS RELATIONS PROGRAM 
 

1) Discuss the Company’s external and internal communications policies and how frequently they are reviewed.  
Disclose who reviews and approves major Company announcements.  Identify the committee with this responsibility, 
if it has been assigned to a committee. 
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THE COMPANY COMPLIES WITH SEC AND PSE DISCLOSURE RULES WHEREIN IT FILES CURRENT REPORTS, QUARTERLY 
REPORTS, AND ANNUAL REPORTS. THE MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, FINANCE DEPARTMENT, THE 
PUBLIC RELATIONS OFFICER, AND CORPORATE SECRETARY REVIEW SUCH. 

 
2) Describe the Company’s investor relations program including its communications strategy to promote effective 

communication with its stockholders, other stakeholders and the public in general. Disclose the contact details (e.g. 
telephone, fax and email) of the officer responsible for investor relations. 

 

 Details 

(1) OBJECTIVES TO BE ABLE TO COMMUNICATE ALL ALLOWABLE INFORMATION 
REGARDING THE COMPANY’S STRATEGIES AND OPERATIONS TO THE 
INVESTING PUBLIC, FOR INVESTORS TO BE ABLE TO MAKE INFORMED 
INVESTMENT DECISIONS IN RELATION TO OUR COMPANY. 

(2) PRINCIPLES TO ENSURE THAT ALL RELEVANT INFORMATION SHALL TIMELY REACH 
THE PUBLIC  

(3) MODES OF COMMUNICATIONS REGULAR DISCLOSURES THROUGH THE COMPANY’S WEBSITE AS WELL 
AS THE PHILIPPINE STOCK EXCHANGE’S WEBSITE. 

(4) INVESTORS RELATIONS OFFICER  
 

3) What are the Company’s rules and procedures governing the acquisition of corporate control in the capital markets, 
and extraordinary transactions such as mergers, and sales of substantial portions of corporate assets? 
 
THE COMPANY ACQUIRES SUBSIDIARIES THAT OWN REAL ESTATE. AT THE TIME OF ACQUISITION, THE GROUP 
CONSIDERS WHETHER THE ACQUISITION REPRESENTS THE ACQUISITION OF A BUSINESS. THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS 
FOR AN ACQUISITION AS A BUSINESS COMBINATION WHERE AN INTEGRATED SET OF ACTIVITIES IS REQUIRED IN 
ADDITION TO THE PROPERTY. WHEN THE ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES DOES NOT REPRESENT A BUSINESS, IT IS 
ACCOUNTED FOR AS AN ACQUISITION OF A GROUP OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES. THE COST OF THE ACQUISITION IS 
ALLOCATED TO THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BASED UPON THEIR RELATIVE FAIR VALUES AND NO GOODWILL OR 
DEFERRED TAX IS RECOGNIZED.  
 
Name of the independent party the Board of Directors of the Company appointed to evaluate the fairness of the 
transaction price. 
 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS HAS NOT APPOINTED ANY INDEPENDENT PARTY TO CONFIRM THE FAIRNESS OF THE 
TRANSACTION PRICE.  
 

K. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY INITIATIVES 
 

Discuss any initiative undertaken or proposed to be undertaken by the Company.  
 

Initiative Beneficiary 

THE COMPANY MADE A MAJOR EFFORT TO HELP PROVIDE LOW-COST HOUSING 
TO A COMMUNITY OF INFORMAL SETTLERS WITH A PHP 10 MILLION DONATION 
FOR A RELOCATION SITE.  

INFORMAL SETTLERS FROM 
BAGONG SILANG, 
CALOOCAN CITY 

THE COMPANY ALSO PARTNERED WITH THE FEDERATION OF FILIPINO-CHINESE 
CHAMBERS OF COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY, INC. TO HELP BUILD SCHOOL 
BUILDINGS IN SAN CLEMENTE, TARLAC. 

 

THE COMPANY DONATED TO THE PANGARAP FOUNDATION SCHOLARSHIP 
PROGRAM IN ORDER ASSIST 10 YOUNG STREET CHILDREN IN THEIR 
EDUCATIONAL NEEDS. 

STREET CHILDREN UNDER 
THE CARE AND CUSTODY OF 
THE LOCAL SHELTER OF THE 
FOUNDATION 

THE COMPANY ALSO DONATED SEEDLINGS TO THE HARIBON FOUNDATION FOR 
PLANTING IN MOUNT BANAHAW AND SAN CRISTOBAL PROTECTED LANDSCAPE 
IN ITS AIM TO CONTRIBUTE IN PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT. 
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L. BOARD, DIRECTORS, COMMITTEE AND CEO APPRAISAL 
 

Disclose the process followed and criteria used in assessing the annual performance of the Board and its committees, 
individual Directors, and the CEO/president. 
 

 Process Criteria 

Board of Directors NONE N/A 

Board Committees NONE N/A 

Individual Directors NONE N/A 

CEO/President NONE N/A 
 

M. INTERNAL BREACHES AND SANCTIONS 
 

Discuss the internal policies on sanctions imposed for any violation or breach of the corporate governance manual 
involving Directors, officers, management and employees 
 
THE COMPANY HAS ALREADY FORMULATED ITS INTERNAL POLICIES ON SANCTIONS, HOWEVER, THESE ARE YET 
SUBJECT TO DIRECTORS’ APPROVAL. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Anchor Land Holdings, Inc.
11th Floor, L.V. Locsin Building
6752 Ayala Avenue corner Makati Avenue
Makati City

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016
and 2015, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes
in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2016, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2016 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs).  Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
1226 Makati City
Philippines

Tel: (632) 891 0307
Fax: (632) 819 0872
ey.com/ph

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,
   December 14, 2015, valid until December 31, 2018
SEC Accreditation No. 0012-FR-4 (Group A),
   November 10, 2015, valid until November 9, 2018

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.  The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Recognition of real estate revenue and costs

The Group applies the percentage of completion (POC) method in determining real estate revenue and
costs.  The POC is based on the physical proportion of work while the cost of sales is determined based
on the estimated project development costs applied with the respective project’s POC.  The assessment
process for the POC and the estimated project development costs requires technical determination by
management’s specialists (project engineers) and involves significant management judgment as disclosed
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Response

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s process for determining the POC, including the cost
accumulation process, and for determining and updating the total estimated project development costs,
and performed tests of the relevant controls.  We obtained the certified POC reports prepared by the
project engineers and assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the project engineers by
considering their qualifications, experience and reporting responsibilities.

For selected projects, we compared the certified POC and traced cost accumulated against supporting
documents such as the accomplishment reports from the contractors.  We conducted ocular inspections on
all ongoing projects, made relevant inquiries and obtained the supporting details of POC reports showing
the completion of the major activities of the project construction.  We obtained the budgetary cost
estimate indicating work breakdown structure and total project development costs as estimated by the
project engineers.  For changes in estimated cost components, we compared these against the change
order memo to the budgetary cost estimate and supporting contractor’s change order form.  We likewise
performed inquiries with the project development engineers for the revisions.  We performed a test
computation of the percentage of completion calculation of management.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information
included in the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report
for the year ended December 31, 2016, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.  The SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2016 are expected to be made available to us after the
date of this auditor’s report.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:

∂ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

∂ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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∂ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

∂ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

∂ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

∂ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit.  We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters.  We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



*SGVFS022443*

- 5 -

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jessie D. Cabaluna.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Jessie D. Cabaluna
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 36317
SEC Accreditation No. 0069-AR-4 (Group A),
 May 1, 2016, valid until May 1, 2019
Tax Identification No. 102-082-365
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-10-2015,
 March 24, 2015, valid until March 23, 2018
PTR No. 5908676, January 3, 2017, Makati City

March 27, 2017

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31
2016 2015

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=740,548,398 P=497,659,500
Receivables (Note 5) 2,279,939,917 2,190,111,613
Real estate for development and sale (Notes 6 and 12) 5,833,415,546 6,446,557,390
Other current assets (Note 7) 2,089,644,201 1,832,491,125

10,943,548,062 10,966,819,628
Noncurrent Assets
Receivables - net of current portion (Note 5) 4,259,081,448 3,819,053,440
Property and equipment (Notes 8 and 12) 22,694,215 30,743,045
Investment properties (Notes 9 and 12) 7,052,225,996 5,445,878,382
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 18) 33,376,666 44,322,590
Other noncurrent assets (Note 10) 80,957,204 70,118,922

11,448,335,529 9,410,116,379
P=22,391,883,591 P=20,376,936,007

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts and other payables (Note 11) P=2,430,789,072 P=2,170,108,149
Loans payable (Note 12) 1,991,619,482 2,409,642,087
Customers’ advances and deposits (Note 13) 1,738,759,421 1,368,751,044

6,161,167,975 5,948,501,280
Noncurrent Liabilities
Accounts and other payables - net of current portion (Note 11) 316,199,308 233,251,433
Loans payable - net of current portion (Note 12) 9,109,834,249 7,898,412,431
Deferred tax liabilities - net (Note 18) 400,448,125 379,413,009
Pension liabilities (Note 17) 34,365,989 37,274,663

9,860,847,671 8,548,351,536
16,022,015,646 14,496,852,816

Equity (Note 19)
Equity attributable to equity holders of Anchor Land Holdings, Inc.

Capital stock
Common stock 1,040,001,000 1,040,001,000
Preferred stock 346,667,000 346,667,000

Additional paid-in capital 632,687,284 632,687,284
Other comprehensive income 20,039,752 10,412,129
Retained earnings

Appropriated 2,649,500,000 2,206,000,000
Unappropriated 1,684,254,109 1,649,137,761

6,373,149,145 5,884,905,174
Non-controlling interests (3,281,200) (4,821,983)

6,369,867,945 5,880,083,191
P=22,391,883,591 P=20,376,936,007

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31
2016 2015 2014

REVENUE
Real estate sales (Note 21) P=4,246,215,367 P=2,954,046,810 P=3,244,238,933
Rental income (Notes 9, 21 and 22) 290,482,710 242,005,428 225,745,044
Management fee (Note 21) 37,827,839 39,090,815 31,346,527
Interest and other income

(Notes 4, 5, 15 and 21) 238,408,715 268,136,095 333,590,218
4,812,934,631 3,503,279,148 3,834,920,722

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Real estate (Notes 6, 16 and 21) 3,034,390,148 1,990,237,867 2,028,455,445
Selling and administrative (Notes 16 and 21) 931,753,475 840,284,061 848,735,425
Finance costs (Notes 12, 17 and 21) 22,214,765 20,037,307 22,240,119

3,988,358,388 2,850,559,235 2,899,430,989

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 824,576,243 652,719,913 935,489,733

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 18) 264,820,518 221,526,472 282,672,338
NET INCOME 559,755,725 431,193,441 652,817,395

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or

loss in subsequent years:
Actuarial gain on pension liabilities

  (Note 17) 13,946,342 11,314,317 5,003,671
Income tax effect (Note 18) (4,183,903) (3,394,295) (1,590,827)

9,762,439 7,920,022 3,412,844

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P=569,518,164 P=439,113,463 P=656,230,239
Net income (loss) attributable to:

Equity holders of Anchor Land Holdings,
Inc. P=558,349,758 P=432,164,567 P=662,375,722
Non-controlling interests 1,405,967 (971,126) (9,558,327)

P=559,755,725 P=431,193,441 P=652,817,395
Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable

to:
Equity holders of Anchor Land Holdings,
Inc. P=567,977,381 P=439,935,338 P=666,134,044
Non-controlling interests 1,540,783 (821,875) (9,903,805)

P=569,518,164 P=439,113,463 P=656,230,239

BASIC/DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
(Note 23) P=0.51 P=0.39 P=0.61

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Years Ended December 31
2016 2015 2014

COMMON STOCK (Note 19) P=1,040,001,000 P=1,040,001,000 P=1,040,001,000

PREFERRED STOCK (Note 19) 346,667,000 346,667,000 346,667,000

ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL 632,687,284 632,687,284 632,687,284

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Balance at beginning of year 10,412,129 2,641,358 (1,116,964)
Other comprehensive income 9,627,623 7,770,771 3,758,322
Balance at end of year 20,039,752 10,412,129 2,641,358

RETAINED EARNINGS (Note 19)
Appropriated:

Balance at beginning of year 2,206,000,000 1,917,250,000 1,362,250,000
Appropriations 1,000,000,000 501,000,000 655,000,000
Release from appropriation (556,500,000) (212,250,000) (100,000,000)
Balance at end of year 2,649,500,000 2,206,000,000 1,917,250,000

Unappropriated:
Balance at beginning of year 1,649,137,761 1,606,256,624 1,651,414,382
Appropriations (1,000,000,000) (501,000,000) (655,000,000)
Net income 558,349,758 432,164,567 662,375,722
Release from appropriation 556,500,000 212,250,000 100,000,000
Cash dividends (79,733,410) (100,533,430) (152,533,480)
Balance at end of year 1,684,254,109 1,649,137,761 1,606,256,624

Balance at end of year 4,333,754,109 3,855,137,761 3,523,506,624

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Balance at beginning of year (4,821,983) (4,000,108) 5,903,697
Total comprehensive income (loss):

Net income (loss) 1,405,967 (971,126) (9,558,327)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 134,816 149,251 (345,478)

Balance at end of year (3,281,200) (4,821,983) (4,000,108)
P=6,369,867,945 P=5,880,083,191 P=5,541,503,158

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



*SGVFS022443*

ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31
2016 2015 2014

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Income before income tax P=824,576,243 P=652,719,913 P=935,489,733
Adjustments for:

Interest income (Note 15) (131,994,124) (201,922,732) (285,075,558)
Depreciation and amortization
 (Notes 8, 9, 10 and 16) 118,438,965 107,710,285 81,849,718
Finance costs (Note 12) 20,291,869 18,390,450 20,188,426
Pension costs (Note 17) 11,037,668 12,125,656 9,308,809
Gain on sale of property and equipment (Note 8) – – (138,333)

Operating income before working capital changes 842,350,621 589,023,572 761,622,795
Decrease (increase) in:

Receivables (529,856,312) 178,186,293 58,603,734
Real estate for development and sale 610,132,335 (772,013,502) (1,254,024,427)
Other current assets (281,869,750) (294,081,860) 223,502,631
Other deposits (10,803,873) (4,721,914) (10,551,176)

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts and other payables 19,595,965 125,246,221 (443,192,747)
Customers’ advances and deposits 370,008,377 148,663,168 212,824,192
Liabilities for purchased land – – (21,743,280)

Net cash generated from (used in) operations 1,019,557,363 (29,698,022) (472,958,278)
Income tax paid (273,709,056) (238,278,507) (134,335,825)
Interest received 131,994,124 201,922,732 285,075,558
Interest paid (19,529,517) (17,842,052) (19,879,374)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 858,312,914 (83,895,849) (342,097,919)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of:

Property and equipment (Note 8) (9,947,485) (8,543,481) (20,620,999)
Investment properties (Note 9) (1,318,772,013) (1,583,940,079) (396,997,478)
Software costs (Note 10) (370,321) – (2,481,717)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
(Note 8) – – 175,000

Net cash used in investing activities (1,329,089,819) (1,592,483,560) (419,925,194)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from loan availments (Note 12) 5,570,628,209 7,437,352,605 6,305,720,393
Payments of:

Loans payable (Note 12) (4,777,228,996) (5,606,572,919) (5,480,942,822)
Dividends (Note 19) (79,733,410) (100,533,430) (152,533,480)

Net cash provided by financing activities 713,665,803 1,730,246,256 672,244,091
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 242,888,898 53,866,847 (89,779,022)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 497,659,500 443,792,653 533,571,675
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT END OF YEAR (Note 4) P=740,548,398 P=497,659,500 P=443,792,653

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information

Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. (the Parent Company) is a property developer engaged mainly in the
development and construction of condominium units and leasing activities.  The Parent Company
was incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) on July 29, 2004.  The Parent Company started its operations on
November 25, 2005 and eventually traded its shares to the public in August 2007.  The registered
office address of the Parent Company is at 11th Floor, L.V. Locsin Building, 6752 Ayala Avenue
corner Makati Avenue, Makati City.

Below are the Parent Company’s subsidiaries with its respective percentage ownership as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015:

Property Development
Gotamco Realty Investment Corporation (GRIC) 100%
Anchor Properties Corporation or APC (formerly Manila Towers

Development Corporation) 100%
Posh Properties Development Corporation (PPDC) 100%
Admiral Realty Company, Inc. (ARCI) 100%
Anchor Land Global Corporation 100%
Realty & Development Corporation of San Buenaventura 100%
Pasay Metro Center, Inc. 100%
1080 Soler Corp. 100%
Nusantara Holdings, Inc. 100%
Globeway Property Ventures, Inc. 70%
Basiclink Equity Investment Corp. 100%
Irenealmeda Realty, Inc. 100%
Frontier Harbor Property Development, Inc. 100%
Property Management
Momentum Properties Management Corporation (MPMC) 100%
Aluminum and Glass Doors and Windows Fabrication and

Installation
Eisenglas Aluminum and Glass, Inc. (EAGI) 60%

All of the Parent Company’s subsidiaries were incorporated in the Philippines.

The Parent Company and its subsidiaries (collectively called “the Group”) have principal business
interest in the development and sale of high-end residential condominium units.  The Group is also
engaged in the development and leasing of commercial, warehouse and office spaces.  MPMC
provides property management services to the Group’s completed projects, commercial centers
and buyers while EAGI is engaged in the fabrication and installation of aluminum and glass doors
and windows.

The consolidated financial statements of Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries were
authorized for issue by the Board of Directors (BOD) on March 27, 2017.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared using the historical cost
basis.  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (P=), the Parent
Company’s functional currency.  All amounts are rounded to the nearest peso, except when
otherwise indicated.

Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in compliance with Philippine
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company
and its subsidiaries, entities over which the Parent Company has control.

Specifically, the Parent Company controls an investee if and only if the Parent Company has all
the following:

∂ Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee);

∂ Exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and,
∂ The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Parent Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, the Parent
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over the
investee, including:

∂ Any contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
∂ Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and,
∂ The Parent Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Parent Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Parent
Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the period are
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date the Parent
Company gains control or until the date when the Parent Company ceases to control the
subsidiary.

The financial statements of the subsidiary are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent
Company, using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions and gains
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full. Profit or
loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders
of the Parent Company and to the non-controlling interests (NCI), even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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A change in the ownership interest in a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. When the Parent Company loses control over a subsidiary, it:

∂ Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
∂ Derecognizes the carrying amount of any NCI
∂ Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity
∂ Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received
∂ Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained
∂ Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
∂ Recognizes the Parent Company’s share of components previously recognized in OCI to profit

or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Parent Company has
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Non-controlling Interests
NCI represent the portion of income and expense and net assets in subsidiaries that are not held by
the Parent Company and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separate from the
equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Group’s financial statements are
consistent with those of the previous financial years except for the adoption of new PFRSs,
amended PFRSs and improvements to PFRSs which were adopted beginning January 1, 2016.

The nature and impact of each new standard and amendment are described below:

∂ Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements -Disclosure
Initiative (Amendments)
The amendments are intended to assist entities in applying judgment when meeting the
presentation and disclosure requirements in PFRSs.  They clarify the following:
- That entities shall not reduce the understandability of their financial statements by either

obscuring material information with immaterial information; or aggregating material items
that have different natures or functions

- That specific line items in the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of
financial position may be disaggregated

- That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial
statements

- That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those
items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

These amendments do not have any material impact on the Group.

∂ PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Investment Entities:
Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments)
These amendments clarify that the exemption in PFRS 10 from presenting consolidated
financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity that
measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value and that only a subsidiary of an investment entity
that is not an investment entity itself and that provides support services to the investment
entity parent is consolidated.  The amendments also allow an investor (that is not an
investment entity and has an investment entity associate or joint venture), when applying the
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equity method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity associate
or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.  These amendments are not applicable to the
Group since none of the entities within the Group is an investment entity nor does the Group
have investment entity associates or joint venture.

∂ PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
(Amendments)
The amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements.  Entities
already applying PFRSs and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial
statements will have to apply that change retrospectively.  These amendments do not have any
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

∂ PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
(Amendments)
The amendments to PFRS 11 require a joint operator that is accounting for the acquisition of
an interest in a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes business
(as defined by PFRS 3, Business Combinations), to apply the relevant PFRS 3 principles for
business combinations accounting.  The amendments also clarify that a previously held
interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the
same joint operation while joint control is retained.  In addition, a scope exclusion has been
added to PFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties sharing joint
control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the same ultimate
controlling party.

The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the
acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation.  These amendments do not
have any impact to the Group as there has been no interest acquired in a joint operation during
the period.

∂ PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts
PFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rate-
regulation, to continue applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral
account balances upon its first-time adoption of PFRSs.  Entities that adopt PFRS 14 must
present the regulatory deferral accounts as separate line items in the statement of financial
position and present movements in these account balances as separate line items in the
statement of comprehensive income.  The standard requires disclosures on the nature of, and
risks associated with, the entity’s rate-regulation and the effects of that rate-regulation on its
financial statements.  This standard does not apply to the Group since the Group is not a first-
time adopter of PFRSs.

∂ PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41, Agriculture - Bearer Plants
(Amendments)
The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the
definition of bearer plants.  Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition
of bearer plants will no longer be within the scope of PAS 41.  Instead, PAS 16 will apply.
After initial recognition, bearer plants will be measured under PAS 16 at accumulated cost
(before maturity) and using either the cost model or revaluation model (after maturity).  The
amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain in the scope of
PAS 41 measured at fair value less costs to sell.  For government grants related to bearer
plants, PAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance,
will apply.  These amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Group as the Group
does not have any bearer plants.
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∂ PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization (Amendments)
The amendments clarify the principle in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of
economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part)
rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset.  As a result, a
revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may
only be used in very limited circumstances to amortize intangible assets.  These amendments
do not have any impact to the Group given that the Group has not used a revenue-based
method to depreciate its non-current assets.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle) are effective January 1, 2016 and did not
have material impact on the consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise stated.  They
include:

∂ PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in Methods
of Disposal (Amendment)
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that changing from a disposal through
sale to a disposal through distribution to owners and vice-versa should not be considered to be
a new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan.  There is, therefore, no
interruption of the application of the requirements in PFRS 5.  The amendment also clarifies
that changing the disposal method does not change the date of classification.

∂ PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts (Amendment)
PFRS 7 requires an entity to provide disclosures for any continuing involvement in a
transferred asset that is derecognized in its entirety.  The amendment clarifies that a servicing
contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset.  An
entity must assess the nature of the fee and arrangement against the guidance for continuing
involvement in PFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required.  The
amendment is to be applied such that the assessment of which servicing contracts constitute
continuing involvement will need to be done retrospectively.  However, comparative
disclosures are not required to be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in
which the entity first applies the amendments.

∂ PFRS 7 - Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial
Statements (Amendment)
This amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the disclosures on offsetting of
financial assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial
report unless they provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent
annual report.

∂ PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Regional Market Issue Regarding Discount Rate (Amendment)
This amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that market depth of high quality
corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which the obligation is denominated,
rather than the country where the obligation is located.  When there is no deep market for high
quality corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used.

∂ PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - Disclosure of Information ‘Elsewhere in the Interim
Financial Report’ (Amendment)
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the required interim disclosures
must either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference between
the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim
financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report).
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Standards and Interpretation Issued but Not yet Effective
Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below.  Unless otherwise indicated, the
Group does not expect the future adoption of these pronouncements to have a significant impact
on its consolidated financial statements.  The Group intends to adopt the following
pronouncements when they become effective.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2017

∂ Amendments to PFRS 12, Clarification of the Scope of the Standard (Part of Annual
Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle)
The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in PFRS 12, other than those relating
to summarized financial information, apply to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint
venture or an associate (or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or an associate) that is
classified (or included in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale.

The amendments will not have any impact on the Group’s financial position and results of
operation but will have an impact on the disclosures in its 2017 consolidated financial
statements.

∂ Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, Disclosure Initiative
The amendments to PAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign
exchange gains or losses). On initial application of the amendments, entities are not required
to provide comparative information for preceding periods.  Early application of the
amendments is permitted.

Application of amendments will result in additional disclosures in the 2017 consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

∂ Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized
Losses
The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources
of taxable profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible
temporary difference.  Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity
should determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit
may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount.

Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively.  However, on initial application
of the amendments, the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may
be recognized in opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, as
appropriate), without allocating the change between opening retained earnings and other
components of equity.  Entities applying this relief must disclose that fact.  Early application
of the amendments is permitted.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2018

∂ Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions
The amendments to PFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the
measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-
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based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and
the accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment
transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity settled.

On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but
retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and if other criteria
are met.  Early application of the amendments is permitted.

∂ Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with
PFRS 4
The amendments address concerns arising from implementing PFRS 9, the new financial
instruments standard, before implementing the forthcoming insurance contracts standard.
They allow entities to choose between the overlay approach and the deferral approach to deal
with the transitional challenges.  The overlay approach gives all entities that issue insurance
contracts the option to recognize in other comprehensive income, rather than profit or loss, the
volatility that could arise when PFRS 9 is applied before the new insurance contracts standard
is issued.  On the other hand, the deferral approach gives entities whose activities are
predominantly connected with insurance an optional temporary exemption from applying
PFRS 9 until the earlier of application of the forthcoming insurance contracts standard or
January 1, 2021.

The overlay approach and the deferral approach will only be available to an entity if it has not
previously applied PFRS 9.

∂ PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
PFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts
with customers.  Under PFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer.  The principles in PFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to
measuring and recognizing revenue.

The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under PFRSs.  Either a full or modified retrospective application is
required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of PFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard
on the required effectivity date.

∂ PFRS 9, Financial Instruments
PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of PFRS 9.  The
standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and
hedge accounting. PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, with early application permitted.  Retrospective application is required, but
providing comparative information is not compulsory.  For hedge accounting, the
requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions.

The adoption of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the
Group’s financial assets and impairment methodology for financial assets, but will have no
impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities.  The Group
is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard.
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∂ Amendments to PAS 28, Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value (Part of
Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle)
The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organization, or other
qualifying entity, may elect, at initial recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to
measure its investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss
(FVPL).  They also clarify that if an entity that is not itself an investment entity has an interest
in an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity, the entity may, when applying the
equity method, elect to retain the fair value measurement applied by that investment entity
associate or joint venture to the investment entity associate’s or joint venture’s interests in
subsidiaries.  This election is made separately for each investment entity associate or joint
venture, at the later of the date on which (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is
initially recognized; (b) the associate or joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c)
the investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent.  The amendments
should be applied retrospectively, with earlier application permitted.

∂ Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Transfers of Investment Property
The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under
construction or development into, or out of investment property.  The amendments state that a
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment
property and there is evidence of the change in use.  A mere change in management’s
intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use.  The
amendments should be applied prospectively to changes in use that occur on or after the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments.
Retrospective application is only permitted if this is possible without the use of hindsight.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments.

∂ Philippine Interpretation International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 22,
Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the
transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognizes the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.  If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a date of the transaction for each payment
or receipt of advance consideration.  The interpretation may be applied on a fully retrospective
basis.  Entities may apply the interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in
its scope that are initially recognized on or after the beginning of the reporting period in which
the entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning of a prior reporting period presented
as comparative information in the financial statements of the reporting period in which the
entity first applies the interpretation.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2019

∂ PFRS 16, Leases
Under the new standard, lessees will no longer classify their leases as either operating or
finance leases in accordance with PAS 17, Leases. Rather, lessees will apply the single-asset
model. Under this model, lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for most
leases in the statement of financial position, and subsequently, will depreciate the lease assets
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and recognize interest on the lease liabilities in profit or loss.  Leases with a term of 12 months
or less or for which the underlying asset is of low value are exempted from these
requirements.

The accounting by lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries forward the
principles of lessor accounting under PAS 17. Lessors, however, will be required to disclose
more information in their financial statements, particularly on the risk exposure to residual
value.

Entities may early adopt PFRS 16 but only if they have also adopted PFRS 15.  When
adopting PFRS 16, an entity is permitted to use either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach, with options to use certain transition reliefs.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting PFRS 16.

Deferred Effectivity

∂ Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture.  The
amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associate or
joint venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3.  Any gain or loss resulting from the
sale or contribution of assets that does not constitute a business, however, is recognized only
to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture.

On January 13, 2016, the Financial Reporting Standards Council postponed the original
effective date of January 1, 2016 of the said amendments until the International Accounting
Standards Board has completed its broader review of the research project on equity accounting
that may result in the simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of
accounting for associates and joint ventures.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The following accounting policies were applied in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements:

Property Acquisitions
Where property is acquired through the acquisition of corporate interests, management considers
the substance of the assets and activities of the acquired entity in determining whether the
acquisition represents an acquisition of a business.

Where such acquisitions are not judged to be an acquisition of a business, they are not treated as
business combinations.  Rather, the cost to acquire the corporate entity is allocated between the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the entity based on their relative fair values at the acquisition
date.  Otherwise, corporate acquisitions are accounted for as business combinations.

The acquisitions of the Group were accounted for as property acquisitions.

Current and Noncurrent Classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based
on current or noncurrent classification.
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An asset is classified as current when it is:
∂ expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;
∂ held primarily for the purpose of trading;
∂ expected to be realized within 12 months from the reporting date; or,
∂ cash and cash equivalents, unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability

for at least within 12 months from the reporting date.

A liability is classified as current when:
∂ it is expected to be settled within the normal operating cycle;
∂ it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
∂ it is due to be settled within 12 months from the reporting date; or,
∂ there is no unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months from

the reporting date.

The Company classifies all other assets and liabilities as noncurrent.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent assets and liabilities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three
months or less and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial Instruments
Date of recognition
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated statement of
financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on the settlement date.

Initial recognition of financial instruments
All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value.  Except for financial
instruments at FVPL, the initial measurement of financial assets and liabilities includes transaction
costs.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at FVPL,
held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets and, loans and receivables.
The Group classifies its financial liabilities into financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial
liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or
liabilities were incurred and whether they are quoted in an active market.  Management determines
the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate,
re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date.

Financial instruments are classified as liability or equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement.  Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument or
a component that is a financial liability, are reported as expense or income.  Distributions to
holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged to equity, net of any related
income tax benefits.

The Group’s financial assets are of the nature of loans and receivables while its financial liabilities
are of the nature of other financial liabilities.
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‘Day 1’ difference
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value from other
observable current market transactions of the same instrument or based on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from an observable market, the Group recognizes the difference
between the transaction price and fair value (‘day 1’ difference) in profit or loss unless it qualifies
for recognition as some other type of asset and liability.  In cases where inputs to the valuation
technique are not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only
recognized in profit or loss when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is
derecognized.  For each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing
the ‘day 1’ difference amount.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active market.  These are not entered into with the
intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not designated as AFS or financial assets at
FVPL.

The Group’s loans and receivables pertain to the consolidated statement of financial position
captions “Cash and cash equivalents”, “Receivables” and “Deposits”.

After initial measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, less allowance for impairment losses.  Amortized
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are
an integral part of the EIR.  The amortization, if any, is included in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities pertain to issued financial instruments that are not classified or
designated as financial liabilities at FVPL and contain contractual obligations to deliver cash or
other financial assets to the holder or to settle the obligation other than the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.  After initial
measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR
method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue
and fees that are an integral part of the EIR.

This accounting policy applies primarily to the Group’s “Accounts and other payables” (except
“Income tax payable” and “Other taxes payable”), “Loans payable” and other liabilities that meet
the above definition (other than liabilities covered by other accounting standards).

Classification of Financial Instruments between Debt and Equity
A financial instrument is classified as debt, if it provides for a contractual obligation to:

∂ deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity;
∂ exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are

potentially unfavorable to the Group; or,
∂ satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.

If the Group does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial
asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability.
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The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are
accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount, after
deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the
liability component on the date of issue.

The Group has no financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements.

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that
loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include
indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

Loans and receivables
For loans and receivables carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses whether objective
evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).  The
present value of the estimated future cash flows are discounted at the financial asset’s original
EIR.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the
amount of loss is charged to profit or loss.  Interest income continues to be recognized based on
the original EIR of the asset.  Receivables, together with the associated allowance accounts, are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been
realized.  If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because
of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment
loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, to
the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal
date.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis
of credit risk characteristics such as customer type, customer location, credit history and past due
status.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are
estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar
to those in the group.  Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data
to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss
experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist
currently.  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed
regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.
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Derecognition of Financial Instruments
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial
assets) is derecognized when:

∂ the right to receive cash flows from the assets has expired;
∂ the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third-party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or,

∂ the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either: (i) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or (ii) has neither transferred
nor retained the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
“pass-through” arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amount of the
financial liability or part of the financial liability extinguished and the consideration paid including
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed is recognized in profit or loss.

Offsetting of Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  The right of offset must be available at the end of
the reporting period, that is, it is not contingent on future event.  It must also be enforceable in the
normal course of business, in the event of default, and in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy;
and must be legally enforceable for both entity and all counterparties to the financial instruments.

Real Estate for Development and Sale
Real estate for development and sale is constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business,
rather than to be held for rental or capital appreciation, are held as inventory and are measured at
the lower of cost or net realizable value (NRV).  NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated costs to complete and estimated costs to sell.

Cost includes the purchase price of land and those costs incurred for the development and
improvement of the properties such as amounts paid to contractors, capitalized borrowing costs,
planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal services, property
transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related costs.

Amounts paid to contractors and suppliers in advance are not part of real estate for development
and sale but presented as “Advances to contractors and suppliers” under “Other current assets” in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Value-added Tax (VAT)
Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except where
the VAT incurred on the purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the VAT is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item whichever is applicable.

The net amount of VAT recoverable or payable from the taxation authority is included as part of
“Other current assets” or “Accounts and other payables” in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Creditable Withholding Tax
Creditable withholding tax pertains to the amounts withheld from income derived from real estate
sales and leasing activities which can be applied against income tax payable.

Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid expenses are carried at cost less the amortized portion.  These typically comprise
prepayments of rent, insurance premiums and real property taxes.  These also include the deferred
portion of commissions paid to sales or marketing agents that are yet to be charged to the period
the related revenue is recognized.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, and
any impairment in value.

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties,
taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.  When significant parts of property and equipment are required to be replaced
in intervals, the Group recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciations.  Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the
carrying amount of the equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All
other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment commences once the property and
equipment are put into operational use and is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives (EUL) of the property and equipment as follows:

Years
Office equipment 2 - 5
Furniture and fixtures 2 - 5
Transportation equipment 3 - 5

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over term of the lease or the EUL
of the asset of 2 years, whichever is shorter.

The useful life and, depreciation and amortization methods are reviewed periodically to ensure
that the period and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment.

When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost of the related
accumulated depreciation and amortization, and accumulated provision for impairment losses, if
any, are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited to or charged against
current operations.
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Fully depreciated property and equipment are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in
use and no further depreciation is charged against current operations.

Investment Properties
Investment properties comprise of properties which are held to earn rentals and properties under
construction or redevelopment which will be held for rental upon completion.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.  The carrying
amount includes the cost of the replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that
cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of
an investment property.  Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are carried at
historical cost less provisions for depreciation and impairment.  Accordingly, land is carried at
cost less any impairment in value and building is carried at cost less depreciation and any
impairment in value.

Construction-in-progress (CIP) is stated at cost.  This includes cost of construction and other direct
costs.  CIP is not depreciated until such time as the relevant assets are completed and put into
operational use.  CIP are carried at cost and transferred to the related investment property account
when the construction and related activities to prepare the property for its intended use are
complete, and the property is ready for occupation.

Depreciation of investment properties are computed using the straight-line method over the EUL
of the assets of 30 years.  The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to
ensure that the period and method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of
economic benefits from items of investment properties.

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from its disposal.  The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss in the period of derecognition.

A transfer is made to investment property when there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of
owner-occupation or commencement of an operating lease to another party.  A transfer is made
from investment property when and only when there is change in use, evidenced by
commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of development with a view to sale.  A
transfer between investment property, owner-occupied property and inventory does not change the
carrying amount of the property transferred nor the cost of that property for measurement or
disclosure purposes.

Software Costs
Costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software controlled by the Group
and will generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognized as intangible
assets to be measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment, if any.
Otherwise, such costs are recognized as expense as incurred.

Software costs, recognized as assets, are amortized using the straight-line method over their useful
lives of five years.  Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of software
costs is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount.
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Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that its nonfinancial
assets (i.e., property and equipment, investment properties and software costs) may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets.

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses are recognized in the expense categories of profit or loss consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount
since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, had no impairment loss
been recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss.  After
such reversal, the depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining
useful life.

Customers’ Advances and Deposits
Deposits from real estate buyers
Deposits from real estate buyers represent mainly reservation fees and advance payments.  These
deposits will be recognized as revenue in profit or loss as the related obligations are fulfilled to the
real estate buyers.

Deposits from lessees
Deposits from lessees consist of payments from tenants for leasehold rights.  Leasehold rights
pertain to the right to lease the commercial space over a certain number of years.  These payments
are subsequently recognized as income under “Rental income” on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.  Deposits from lessees also include advance collection pertaining to the lease of
commercial units of the Group.

Equity
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued.  When the Group issues more than one
class of share, a separate account is maintained for each class of share and the number of shares
issued.  When the shares are sold at premium, the difference between the proceeds and the par
value is credited to additional paid-in capital.  When the shares are issued for a consideration other
than cash, the proceeds are measured by the fair value of the consideration received.  In case the
shares are issued to extinguish or settle the liability of the Group, the shares are measured either at
the fair value of the shares issued or fair value of the liability settled, whichever is more reliably
determinable.



- 17 -

*SGVFS022443*

An entity typically incurs various costs in issuing or acquiring its own equity instruments.  Those
costs might include registration and other regulatory fees, amounts paid to legal, accounting and
other professional advisers, printing costs and stamp duties.  The transaction costs of an equity
transaction are accounted for as deductions from equity (net of related income tax benefit) to the
extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise
would have been avoided.  The costs of an equity transaction that is abandoned are recognized as
an expense.

Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of net income or loss, net of any dividend
declaration.

Other Comprehensive Income
OCI are items of income and expense that are not recognized in profit or loss for the period in
accordance with PFRSs.  The Group’s OCI pertains to remeasurement gains and losses arising
from defined benefit pension plan which cannot be recycled to profit or loss.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.

Real estate sales
For real estate sales, the Group assesses whether it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group when the sales prices are collectible.  Collectibility of the sales price is demonstrated
by the buyer’s commitment to pay, which in turn is supported by substantial initial and continuing
investments that give the buyer a stake in the property sufficient that the risk of loss through
default motivates the buyer to honor its obligation to the seller.  Collectibility is also assessed by
considering factors such as the credit standing of the buyer, age and location of the property.

Revenue from sales of completed real estate projects is accounted for using the full accrual
method.  Revenue from sales of uncompleted real estate project is accounted for using percentage-
of-completion (POC) method.  In accordance with Philippine Interpretations Committee Q&A
No. 2006-01, the POC method is used to recognize income from sales of projects where the Group
has material obligations under the sales contract to complete the project after the property is sold,
the equitable interest has been transferred to the buyer, construction is beyond preliminary stage,
and the costs incurred or to be incurred can be measured reliably.  Under this method, revenue is
recognized as the related obligations are fulfilled, measured principally on the basis of the actual
costs incurred to date over the estimated total costs of the project.  Any excess of collections over
the recognized receivables are included in the “Customers’ advances and deposits” account in the
liabilities section of the consolidated statement of financial position.

If any of the criteria under the full accrual or POC method is not met, the deposit method is
applied until all the conditions for recording a sale are met. Pending recognition of sale, cash
received from buyers are presented under the “Customers’ advances and deposits” account in the
liabilities section of the consolidated statement of financial position.

Rental income
Rental income under cancellable leases on investment properties is recognized in profit or loss
based on the terms of the lease or a certain percentage of the gross revenue of the tenants, as
provided under the lease contract.  Rental income under a noncancellable lease agreement is
recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Management fee
Management fees consist of revenue arising from contracts of administering a property.  The
tenants pay either a fixed amount or depending on the agreement and such payment is recognized
when the related services are rendered.

Interest and other income
Interest is recognized as it accrues (using the EIR method, i.e., based on the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset).  Other income includes service revenue and customer
related fees such as penalties and surcharges and income from forfeited reservations and
collections, which are recognized as they accrue, taking into account the provisions of the related
contract.

Service revenue from the fabrication and installation of aluminum and glass works is recognized
when the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably
and by reference to the actual or physical completion of works as determined by in-house
technical staff at the end of the reporting period.

Income from forfeited reservation and collections is recognized when the deposits from potential
buyers are deemed nonrefundable, subject to provision of Republic Act (RA) No. 6552, Realty
Installment Buyer Protection Act, upon prescription of the period for the payment of required
amortizations from defaulting buyers.

Costs and Expenses
Costs and expenses are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when
decrease in future economic benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has
arisen that can be measured reliably.

Costs and expenses are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

∂ On the basis of a direct association between the costs incurred and the earning of specific
items of income;

∂ On the basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are
expected to arise over several accounting periods and the association can only be broadly or
indirectly determined; or

∂ Immediately when expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when, and to the
extent that, future economic benefits do not qualify or cease to qualify, for recognition in the
statement of financial position as an asset.

 Cost of condominium units
Cost of condominium units is recognized consistent with the revenue recognition method applied.
Cost of condominium units sold before the completion of the development is determined on the
basis of the acquisition cost of the land plus its full development costs, which include estimated
costs for future development works, as determined by the Group’s in-house technical staff.

The cost of inventory recognized in profit or loss on disposal is determined with reference to the
specific costs incurred on the property allocated to saleable area based on relative size and takes
into account the POC for revenue recognition purposes.
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Selling and administrative expenses
Selling expenses are costs incurred to sell real estate inventories, which includes advertising and
promotions, among others.  Administrative expenses constitute costs of administering the
business.  Except for commission, selling and administrative expenses are expensed as incurred.

Commissions paid to sales or marketing agents on the sale of pre-completed real estate units are
deferred when recovery is reasonably expected and are charged to expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognized as earned.  Accordingly, when the POC method is used,
commissions are likewise charged to expense in the period the related revenue is recognized.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs incurred during the construction period on borrowings used to finance property
development are capitalized as part of development costs (included in “Real estate for
development and sale” and “Investment properties” accounts in the consolidated statement of
financial position).  Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.  Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the
activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being
incurred.  Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary
to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are complete.

Capitalized borrowing cost is based on applicable weighted average borrowing rate for those
coming from general borrowings and the actual borrowing costs eligible for capitalization for
funds borrowed specifically.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Debt Issuance Costs
Transaction costs incurred in connection with the availments of long-term debt are deferred and
amortized using the EIR method over the term of the related loans.  These are included in the
measurement basis of the related loans.

Pension Liabilities
The Group has an unfunded, noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering all of its
qualified employees.  The Group’s pension liability is the aggregate of the present value of the
defined benefit obligation as of the reporting date.

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method.

Pension costs comprise the following:
∂ Service cost
∂ Interest on the pension liability
∂ Remeasurements of pension liability

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-
routine settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss.  Past service costs are recognized
when plan amendment or curtailment occurs.  These amounts are calculated annually by
independent qualified actuaries.
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Interest on the pension liability is the change during the period in the pension liability that arises
from the passage of time which is determined by applying the discount rate based on government
bonds to the pension liability.  Interest on the pension liability is recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as “Finance costs”.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in OCI in the
period in which they arise.  Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods.

Employee Leave Entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized as a liability when they are accrued to the
employees. The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the reporting period is recognized for services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of
the arrangement at inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use
of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is
not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Group as a lessee
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of the ownership of the asset
are classified as operating leases. Lease payments on cancellable lease agreements are recognized
as expense based on the terms of the contract.  Lease payments on noncancellable lease
agreements are recognized as expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor
The Group has entered into property lease agreements on its investment property portfolio.  The
Group has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties as the Group considered, among others, the length of the lease term compared with the
estimated life of the assets.

The Group requires its tenants to pay leasehold rights pertaining to the right to use the leased unit
which is reported under “Customers’ advances and deposits” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.  Upon commencement of the lease, these payments are recognized in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income under “Rental income” on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Income Tax
Current taxes
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used
to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted as at the reporting date.

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences, with certain
exceptions, at the reporting date between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset
revaluations.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry
forward benefit of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT)
over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO),
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and carryforward of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused
NOLCO can be utilized.  Deferred tax, however, is not recognized on temporary differences that
arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor taxable
income.

Deferred tax liabilities are not provided on non-taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in domestic subsidiaries and associates.

The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable income will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed
at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable income will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rate at the date of the
transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are restated using
the closing exchange rates prevailing at reporting dates.  Exchange gains or losses arising from
foreign exchange transactions are credited to or charged against current operations.  Non-monetary
items measured at historical value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the historical value was determined.

Earnings Per Share (EPS)
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income for the period attributable to common stockholders
by the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the period
adjusted for any stock dividends issued.  Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income for the
period attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares
issued and outstanding during the period after giving effect to assumed conversion of potential
common shares.  Basic and diluted EPS are adjusted to give retroactive effect to any stock
dividends declared during the period.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group has no dilutive potential common shares.

Segment Reporting
The Group’s operating business is composed of condominium sales, leasing and property
management.  Financial information on the Group’s business segments are presented in Note 21.
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Fair Value Measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either:

∂ In the principal market for the asset or liability, or,
∂ In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

∂ Level 1 - quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
∂ Level 2 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
∂ Level 3 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by
re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at each reporting date.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair
value hierarchy as explained above.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate.
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Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements.  These are
disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is
remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but
disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Events After the Reporting Date
Post year-end events up to the date of auditor’s report that provide additional information about
the Group’s position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements when material.

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in compliance with PFRSs requires
management to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated
financial statements.  The judgments and estimates used in the consolidated financial statements
are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the
consolidated financial statements.  Future events may occur which will cause the judgments and
assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in judgments
and estimates are reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably
determinable.

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

Distinction between business combination and property acquisition
The Group acquires subsidiaries that own real estate.  At the time of acquisition, the Group
considers whether the acquisition represents acquisition of a business.  The Group accounts for an
acquisition as a business combination where an integrated set of activities is acquired in addition
to the property.

When the acquisition of subsidiaries does not represent a business, it is accounted for as an
acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities.  The cost of the acquisition is allocated to the assets
and liabilities acquired based upon their relative fair values, and no goodwill is recognized.

Revenue recognition
Selecting an appropriate revenue recognition method for a particular real estate sale transaction
requires certain judgments based on, among others:
- Buyer’s commitment on the sale which may be ascertained through the significance of the

buyer’s initial investment; and
- Stage of completion of the project.
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Transfers of financial assets with continuing involvement
The Group enters into various agreements with local banks for the sale of its installment contracts
receivable in the form of sale without recourse transactions.  In the substance of the agreements,
the Group has continuing involvement over the receivables sold.  Accordingly, the receivables
were not derecognized and the related cash considerations were recognized as loans
payable.  Contract receivables sold under these agreements amounted to P=767.16 million and
P=735.35 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively (see Notes 5 and 12).

Distinction between real estate for development and sale, property and equipment and investment
properties
The Group determines whether a property qualifies as real estate for development and sale,
property and equipment or investment properties, considering whether the property is occupied
substantially for use by or in operations of the Group; for sale in the ordinary course of the
business; or, held primarily to earn rental income and capital appreciation.

Real estate for development and sale comprise both condominium units for sale and land held for
future development, which are properties that are held for sale in the ordinary course of the
business.  Principally, these are properties that the Group develops and intends to sell before or
upon completion of construction.

Properties intended to earn rental and for capital appreciation are classified as investment
properties while properties occupied by the Group are considered as property and equipment.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and
another portion that is held for services or for administrative purposes.  If these portions cannot be
sold separately at the reporting date, the property is accounted for as investment property only if
an insignificant portion is held for use for administrative purposes.  Judgment is applied in
determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as
investment property.  The Group considers each property separately in making its judgment.

Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessee
The Group has entered into various contracts of lease with terms of one to three months for its
exhibit booths and one to five years for its administrative location and showroom.  The Group has
determined that all significant risks and benefits of ownership on these properties will be retained
by the lessor.  In determining significant risks and benefits of ownership, the Group considers,
among others, the significance of the lease term as compared with the EUL of the related asset.
Accordingly, the Group’s leases are accounted for as operating leases.

Rent expense amounted to P=49.10 million, P=47.81 million and P=55.18 million for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Notes 16 and 22).

Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases of its investment properties.  The Group
has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
particularly the duration of the lease terms and minimum lease payments, that it retains all
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased out on operating
leases.

Rental income amounted to P=290.48 million, P=242.01 million and P=225.75 million for the years
ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Notes 9 and 22).
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Management’s Use of Estimates
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Revenue and cost recognition
The Group’s revenue from and cost of real estate sales are recognized based on the POC method.
POC is determined based on the physical proportion of work.  The cost of real estate sales is
calculated based on the estimated project development costs applied with the respective project’s
POC.  The rate of completion is validated by the responsible department to determine whether it
approximates the actual completion rate.  Changes in estimate may affect the reported amounts of
revenue, cost of real estate sales, receivables and inventories.

Real estate sales amounted to P=4,246.22 million, P=2,954.05 million and P=3,244.24 million for the
years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 21).  Cost of
condominium units amounted to P=3,034.39 million, P=1,990.24 million and P=2,028.46 million for
the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Notes 16 and 21).

Estimating allowance for impairment losses on receivables
The Group maintains allowance for impairment losses based on the result of the individual and
collective assessment under PAS 39.  Under the individual assessment, the Group is required to
obtain the present value of estimated cash flows using the receivable’s original EIR.  Impairment
loss is determined as the difference between the receivables’ carrying balance and the computed
present value.  Factors considered in the individual assessment are payment history, past-due
status and term.  The collective assessment would require the Group to classify its receivables
based on the credit risk characteristics (customer type, customer location, credit history and past
due status) of the customers.  Impairment loss is then determined based on historical loss
experience of the receivables grouped per credit risk profile.  Historical loss experience is adjusted
on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect
the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions
in the historical period that do not exist currently.  The methodology and assumptions used for the
individual and collective assessments are based on management’s judgment and estimate.
Therefore, the amount and timing of recorded expense for any period would differ depending on
the judgments and estimates made for the period.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group has not provided any allowance for impairment
losses on its receivables after consideration of credit enhancement (see Note 20).  Receivables
amounted to P=6,539.02 million and P=6,009.17 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively (see Note 5).

Estimating NRV of real estate inventories
The Group reviews the NRV of real estate inventories, which are recorded under “Real estate for
development and sale” in the consolidated statements of financial position, and compares it with
the cost, since assets should not be carried in excess of amounts expected to be realized from sale.
Real estate for development and sale are written down below cost when the estimated NRV is
found to be lower than the cost.
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NRV for completed real estate inventories is assessed with reference to market conditions and
prices existing at the reporting date and is determined by the Group in light of recent market
transactions and having taken suitable external advice.  NRV in respect of inventory under
construction is assessed with reference to market prices at the reporting date for similar completed
property, less estimated costs to complete construction and less an estimate of the time value of
money to the date of completion.

The estimates used took into consideration fluctuations of price or cost directly relating to events
occurring after the reporting date to the extent that such events confirm conditions existing at the
reporting date.  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group’s real estate for development and
sale which are carried at cost amounted to P=5,833.42 million and P=6,446.56 million, respectively
(see Note 6).

Impairment of nonfinancial assets
The Group assesses impairment on its nonfinancial assets (i.e., property and equipment,
investment properties and software costs) and considers the following important indicators:

∂ Significant changes in asset usage;
∂ Significant decline in assets’ market value;
∂ Obsolescence or physical damage of an asset;
∂ Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating

results; and,
∂ Significant negative industry or economic trends.

If such indications are present and where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

The fair value less costs of disposal is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s
length transaction while value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected
to arise from the nonfinancial assets.  Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or,
if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In determining the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be generated from the
continued use of the assets, the Group is required to make estimates and assumptions that may
affect the carrying amount of the assets.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, carrying values follow:

2016 2015
Property and equipment (Note 8) P=22,694,215 P=30,743,045
Investment properties (Note 9) 7,052,225,996 5,445,878,382
Software costs (Note 10) 1,778,634 1,744,225

No impairment was recognized for the Group’s nonfinancial assets.

Estimating useful life of property and equipment, investment properties and software costs
The Group estimates the useful lives of its property and equipment, investment properties and
software costs based on the period over which these assets are expected to be available for use.
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The EUL of property and equipment, investment properties and software costs are reviewed at
least annually and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear
and tear and technical or commercial obsolescence on the use of these assets.  It is possible that
future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought
about by changes in these factors.  A reduction in the EUL of property and equipment, investment
properties and software costs would increase depreciation and amortization expense and decrease
noncurrent assets.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, carrying values follow:

2016 2015
Property and equipment (Note 8) P=22,694,215 P=30,743,045
Investment properties (Note 9) 7,052,225,996 5,445,878,382
Software costs (Note 10) 1,778,634 1,744,225

Recognition of deferred tax assets
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets at each reporting date and reduces
the amounts to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.  Significant judgment is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable income together with future planning strategies.  The
Group assessed its projected performance in determining the sufficiency of future taxable profit.

The Group’s unrecognized deferred tax assets amounted to P=2.64 million and P=3.09 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively (see Note 18).

Estimating pension cost and obligation
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and the present value of the pension obligations are
determined using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation involves making various
assumptions which include the determination of the discount rates, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases.  Due to the complexity of the valuation, the
underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, defined benefit obligations are highly sensitive
to changes in these assumptions.  All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of
government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, with
extrapolated maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the defined benefit obligation.

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific country and is
modified accordingly with estimates of mortality improvements.  Future salary increases and
pension increases are based on expected future inflation rates for the specific country.

While the Group believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant
differences between actual experiences and assumptions may materially affect the cost of
employee benefits and related obligations.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the present value of benefit obligation amounted to
P=34.37 million and P=37.27 million, respectively.  Net pension costs amounted to P=11.04 million,
P=12.13 million and P=9.31 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively (see Note 17).
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Fair value of financial instruments
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated
statements of financial position or disclosed in the notes cannot be derived from active markets,
they are determined using internal valuation techniques using generally accepted market valuation
models.  The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where
this is not feasible, estimates are used in establishing fair values.  These estimates may include
considerations of liquidity, volatility and correlation.  Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the related fair value of financial instruments.  See Note 20 for the related fair value
disclosures.

Fair value of investment properties
The fair value of the investment properties disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements is based on the valuation performed by independent firm of appraisers.  The valuation
was made on the basis of the fair value determined by referring to the character and utility of the
properties, comparable property which have been sold recently and the assets’ highest and best use
(see Note 9).

Contingencies
The Group is currently involved in various legal proceedings.  The estimate of the probable costs
for the resolution of these claims has been developed in consultation with outside counsel
handling the defense in these matters and is based upon an analysis of potential results.

The Group currently does not believe that these proceedings will have a material effect on the
Group’s consolidated statements of financial position.  It is possible, however, that future results
of operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the effectiveness of the
strategies relating to these proceedings (see Note 24).

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2016 2015
Cash on hand P=380,000 P=361,000
Cash in banks 732,774,245 490,070,797
Cash equivalents 7,394,153 7,227,703

P=740,548,398 P=497,659,500

Cash in banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates.  Cash equivalents are acquired for
varying periods of up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group
and earn interest at the prevailing short-term investment rates.  Investment rate for Peso
denominated securities in 2016 and 2015 is 0.75% while investment rates for United States Dollar
denominated securities are 0.88% to 1.19% in 2016 and 1.25% in 2015.  The carrying values of
cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair values as of reporting date.

Interest income derived from cash in banks and cash equivalents amounted to P=1.42 million,
P=0.90 million and P=1.20 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively (see Note 15).
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5. Receivables

2016 2015
Installment contracts receivable - net of

unamortized discount P=6,313,750,928 P=5,848,466,866
Due from condominium association 25,384,621 26,919,109
Advances to employees 3,028,386 3,764,714
Others 196,857,430 130,014,364

6,539,021,365 6,009,165,053
Less noncurrent portion of installment

contracts receivable 4,259,081,448 3,819,053,440
P=2,279,939,917 P=2,190,111,613

Installment contracts receivable consist of receivables from the sale of real estate properties.
These are collectible in equal monthly principal installments over a period ranging from four to
seven years depending on the agreement.  Installment contracts receivable are generally
noninterest-bearing.  The corresponding titles to the condominium units sold under this
arrangement are transferred to the buyer upon full payment of the contract price.

Due from condominium association pertains to utilities, janitorial, security and maintenance
expenses paid by the Group on behalf of the condominium association.  These are
noninterest-bearing and are expected to be collected within one year.

Advances to employees represent advances for operational purposes which are
noninterest-bearing and are expected to be collected or liquidated within one year.

Other receivables include rental receivable, receivable from management fees and receivable from
unit owners.  Receivable from unit owners pertains to transfer taxes and other charges initially
paid by the Group on behalf of the unit owners.  These advances are noninterest-bearing and are
normally settled within one year.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, no impairment losses resulted from individual and collective
impairment tests (see Note 20).

Unamortized discount on installment contracts receivable
In 2016 and 2015, noninterest-bearing installment contracts receivable with a nominal amount of
P=2,646.51 million and P=1,110.63 million, respectively, were initially recorded at fair value
amounting to P=2,451.00 million and P=1,011.11 million, respectively.  The fair value of the
receivables was obtained by discounting future cash flows using the applicable rates of similar
types of instruments ranging from 1.31% to 5.14% in 2016 and 1.68% to 5.52% in 2015.

Movements in the unamortized discount on installment contracts receivable as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015 follow:

2016 2015
Balance at beginning of year P=208,517,102 P=310,018,981
Additions 195,507,583 99,519,992
Accretion (Note 15) (130,570,111) (201,021,871)
Balance at end of year P=273,454,574 P=208,517,102
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Receivable financing
The Group enters into various agreements with banks whereby the Group sold its installment
contracts receivable.  The Group still retains the sold receivables in the receivables account and
records the proceeds from these sales as loans payable (see Note 12).  The carrying value of
installment contracts receivable sold and the related loans payable accounts amounted to
P=1,667.23 million and P=1,930.53 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  These
receivables are used as collateral to secure the corresponding loans payables obtained.

6. Real Estate for Development and Sale

2016 2015
Condominium units for sale P=5,650,866,336 P=5,576,556,967
Land held for future development 182,549,210 870,000,423

P=5,833,415,546 P=6,446,557,390

The rollforward of this account follows:

2016 2015
Balance at beginning of year P=6,446,557,390 P=5,695,310,035
Additions during the year 2,421,248,304 2,741,485,222
Disposals - recognized as cost of real estate

sales (Note 16) (3,034,390,148) (1,990,237,867)
Balance at end of year P=5,833,415,546 P=6,446,557,390

Borrowings were used to finance the Group’s ongoing projects.  The related borrowing costs were
capitalized as part of real estate for development and sale.  The capitalization rate used to
determine the borrowings eligible for capitalization ranges from 3.00% to 8.07% in 2016 and
2015.  Borrowing costs on loans payable capitalized as part of “Real estate for development and
sale” amounted to P=99.50 million in 2016 and P=170.98 million in 2015 (see Note 12).

Sold real estate inventories recognized as “Real estate” under Costs and expenses in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income amounted to P=3,034.39 million in 2016 and
P=1,990.24 million in 2015.  Such cost of sales represents land and development costs of
condominium units that were recognized as sales in the respective periods.

The Group recorded no provision for impairment and no reversal was recognized in 2016 and
2015.

The Group has no restrictions on the realizability of its inventories.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, various condominium units for sale were used as collateral to
secure the Group’s bank loans (see Note 12).
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7. Other Current Assets

2016 2015
Advances to contractors and suppliers P=579,875,716 P=580,390,077
Deposits on real estate properties (Note 9) 509,024,557 244,259,852
Input VAT 497,970,763 637,502,819
Creditable withholding tax 352,696,613 235,933,287
Prepaid expenses 72,060,078 86,093,435
Deposits 23,874,564 19,584,461
Others 54,141,910 28,727,194

P=2,089,644,201 P=1,832,491,125

Advances to contractors and suppliers represent advances and downpayments that are recouped
every progress billing payment depending on the percentage of accomplishment.

Deposits on real estate properties represent the Group’s advance payments to real estate property
owners for the future acquisition of real estate properties.

Input VAT represents taxes imposed on the Group for the acquisition of lots, purchase of goods
from its suppliers and availment of services from its contractors, as required by Philippine taxation
laws and regulations.  This will be used against future output VAT liabilities or will be claimed as
tax credits.  Management has estimated that all input VAT is recoverable at its full amount.

Creditable withholding tax pertains mainly to the amounts withheld from income derived from
real estate sales and leasing activities.  Creditable withholding tax will be applied against income
tax due.

Prepaid expenses are attributable to prepayments of rent, commission, insurance premiums and
real property taxes.

Deposits consist principally of rental and guarantee deposits, and amounts paid to the utility
providers for service application which will be recovered within 12 months from the reporting
date.

Others consist of inventories for EAGI’s aluminum and glass doors and windows fabrication and
installation.

8. Property and Equipment

2016
Leasehold

Improvements
Office

Equipment
Furniture

and Fixtures
Transportation

Equipment Total
Cost
At January 1 P=38,242,241 P=27,965,714 P=35,739,234 P=53,927,042 P=155,874,231
Additions 293,869 4,230,383 5,324,126 99,107 9,947,485
Disposal – – – (1,310,981) (1,310,981)
At December 31 38,536,110 32,196,097 41,063,360 52,715,168 164,510,735
Accumulated Depreciation and

Amortization
At January 1 29,266,514 23,730,501 27,065,630 45,068,541 125,131,186
Depreciation and amortization

(Note 16) 3,072,652 3,005,975 6,401,800 5,515,888 17,996,315
Disposal – – – (1,310,981) (1,310,981)
At December 31 32,339,166 26,736,476 33,467,430 49,273,448 141,816,520
Net Book Value P=6,196,944 P=5,459,621 P=7,595,930 P=3,441,720 P=22,694,215
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2015
Leasehold

Improvements
Office

Equipment
Furniture

and Fixtures
Transportation

Equipment Total
Cost
At January 1 P=37,521,135 P=25,148,890 P=32,248,683 P=52,412,042 P=147,330,750
Additions 721,106 2,816,824 3,490,551 1,515,000 8,543,481
At December 31 38,242,241 27,965,714 35,739,234 53,927,042 155,874,231
Accumulated Depreciation and

Amortization
At January 1 25,656,285 19,287,285 21,874,113 38,536,679 105,354,362
Depreciation and amortization

(Note 16) 3,610,229 4,443,216 5,191,517 6,531,862 19,776,824
At December 31 29,266,514 23,730,501 27,065,630 45,068,541 125,131,186
Net Book Value P=8,975,727 P=4,235,213 P=8,673,604 P=8,858,501 P=30,743,045

The Group’s transportation equipment with a carrying value of P=1.33 million and P=7.66 million as
of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, were constituted as collateral under chattel
mortgage to secure the Group’s vehicle financing arrangement with various financial institutions
(see Note 12).

The cost of fully depreciated property and equipment which are still in use by the Group amounted
to P=98.38 million and P=76.34 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

9. Investment Properties

2016
Commercial Projects Construction in Progress

Land Building Land Building Total
Cost
At January 1 P=846,500,763 P=2,798,267,754 P=1,612,295,672 P=430,313,116 P=5,687,377,305
Additions – – 1,106,500,671 599,953,681 1,706,454,352
Reclassification 83,785,534 273,207,706 (83,785,534) (273,207,706) –
At December 31 930,286,297 3,071,475,460 2,635,010,809 757,059,091 7,393,831,657
Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1 – 241,498,923 – – 241,498,923
Depreciation (Note 16) – 100,106,738 – – 100,106,738
At December 31 – 341,605,661 – – 341,605,661
Net Book Value P=930,286,297 P=2,729,869,799 P=2,635,010,809 P=757,059,091 P=7,052,225,996

2015
Commercial Projects Construction in Progress

Land Building Land Building Total
Cost
At January 1 P=747,227,798 P=2,452,659,566 P=377,938,408 P=320,509,216 P=3,898,334,988
Additions – – 1,333,630,229 455,412,088 1,789,042,317
Reclassification 99,272,965 345,608,188 (99,272,965) (345,608,188) –
At December 31 846,500,763 2,798,267,754 1,612,295,672 430,313,116 5,687,377,305
Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1 – 154,154,523 – – 154,154,523
Depreciation (Note 16) – 87,344,400 – – 87,344,400
At December 31 – 241,498,923 – – 241,498,923
Net Book Value P=846,500,763 P=2,556,768,831 P=1,612,295,672 P=430,313,116 P=5,445,878,382

Commercial projects pertain to the Group’s completed commercial projects, namely One
Shopping Center, Two Shopping Center, One Logistics Center and One Soler, and the commercial
units of the Group’s completed condominium projects.  Construction in progress comprises
ongoing construction of Admiral Hotel and commercial developments in Binondo and Aseana Bay
City.
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Reclassifications pertain to land and construction costs of One Soler and One Logistics Center
which were fully completed as December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Additions to
investment properties include advance payments for land acquisitions amounting to
P=141.48 million in 2016 and P=57.63 million in 2015 which were previously recorded under
“Deposits on real estate properties” and were subsequently applied to the related purchase price of
land (see Note 7).

Borrowings were used to finance the Group’s ongoing construction of investment properties.  The
related borrowing costs were capitalized as part of investment properties.  The capitalization rate
used to determine the borrowings eligible for capitalization ranges from 3.00% to 8.07% in 2016
and 2015.  Total borrowing cost capitalized as part of investment properties amounted to
P=461.39 million in 2016 and P=325.17 million in 2015 (see Note 12).

For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, rental income from these investment
properties amounted to P=290.48 million, P=242.01 million and P=225.75 million, respectively (see
Note 22).  Depreciation charged to operations for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and
2014 amounted to P=100.11 million, P=87.34 million and P=57.77 million, respectively (see Note 16).
Selling and administrative expenses, exclusive of depreciation, related to these investment
properties amounted to P=99.17 million, P=99.93 million and P=95.00 million for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The aggregate fair value of investment properties amounted to P=7,782.50 million and
P=6,017.49 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, which were determined based
on valuations performed by an independent qualified appraiser.  The appraiser is an industry
specialist in valuing these types of properties.  The value was estimated by using the Sales
Comparison Approach, a comparative approach to value that considers the sale of similar or
substitute properties and related market data.  Under the Sales Comparison Approach, a higher
estimated price per square meter of the subject property would yield higher fair value.  The fair
value measurement for the Group’s investment properties has been categorized as Level 3 based
on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

The Group has no restrictions on the realizability of the investment properties.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, capital commitments for investment properties amounted to
P=3,375.98 million and P=2,877.89 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, certain investment properties are used to secure the Group’s
bank loans (see Note 12).

10. Other Noncurrent Assets

2016 2015
Utility and security deposits P=70,650,570 P=59,846,697
Construction bond deposits 8,528,000 8,528,000
Software costs 1,778,634 1,744,225

P=80,957,204 P=70,118,922

Utility and security deposits pertain to the initial set-up of services rendered by public utility
companies and other various long-term deposits necessary for the construction and development
of real estate projects.
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Construction bond deposits pertain to the bond for the Group’s ongoing project developments.

The rollforward analysis of software costs follow:

2016 2015
Cost
At beginning of year P=6,719,563 P=6,719,563
Additions 370,321 –
At end of year 7,089,884 6,719,563
Accumulated Amortization
At beginning of year 4,975,338 4,386,277
Amortization (Note 16) 335,912 589,061
At end of year 5,311,250 4,975,338
Net Book Value P=1,778,634 P=1,744,225

11. Accounts and Other Payables

2016 2015
Payable to contractors and suppliers P=1,291,687,416 P=1,274,503,518
Retention payable 574,811,714 518,336,518
Liabilities for purchased land 247,590,000 136,276,000
Accrued expenses 187,396,156 158,172,411
Income tax payable 161,812,960 81,735,309
Other taxes payable 104,874,207 98,920,801
Rental security deposit 65,218,781 44,320,926
Others 113,597,146 91,094,099

2,746,988,380 2,403,359,582
Less noncurrent portion of retention payable 316,199,308 233,251,433

P=2,430,789,072 P=2,170,108,149

Payable to contractors and suppliers are attributable to construction costs incurred but not yet paid
as of reporting date.  These are noninterest-bearing and are normally settled within 30 to 120 days.

Retention payable pertains to the portion of contractors’ progress billings which are withheld and
will be released after the satisfactory completion of the contractors’ work.  The retention payable
serves as a security from the contractor should there be defects in the project.  These are
noninterest-bearing and are normally settled upon completion of the relevant contract
arrangements.

Liabilities for purchased land pertains to outstanding payables for the acquisition of land recorded
under “Investment properties”, which are payable within one year from the reporting date.  This
constitutes a significant noncash transaction in the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Accrued expenses pertain to incurred but unpaid commission and interest which are normally
settled within one year.

Income tax payable will be settled within one year.
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Other taxes payable consist of output VAT and taxes withheld by the Group from employees,
contractors and suppliers, which are payable within one year.

Others consist of non-trade payables and premium payable to SSS, Philhealth and Pag-ibig.  These
are normally settled within one year.

12. Loans Payable

Terms 2016 2015
Short-term bank loans Within 1 year P=851,000,000 P=904,000,000
Long-term loans:

Bank loans 3 to 10 years 8,581,126,003 7,467,337,105
Receivable financing 1 to 4 years 1,667,229,568 1,930,528,928
Notes payable 3 to 5 years 2,098,160 6,188,485

11,101,453,731 10,308,054,518
Less current portion 1,991,619,482 2,409,642,087

P=9,109,834,249 P=7,898,412,431

Short-term Bank Loans
Short-term bank loans represent various secured promissory notes from local banks with annual
interest rates ranging from 3.00% to 4.00% in 2016 and from 3.00% to 3.75% in 2015. These
loans are payable within one month to six months from date of issuance.

These loans were secured with various investment properties owned by the Group which are
located in Pasay City and Binondo, Manila.  The aggregate carrying amount of these properties
used as collateral amounted to P=604.93 million and P=255.87 million as of December 31, 2016 and
2015, respectively.

Interest expense on short-term loans amounted to P=56.60 million, P=57.65 million and
P=38.36 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Long-term Loans
Long-term bank loans
In December 2015, PPDC secured a 10-year loan facility from a local bank amounting to
P=4.10 billion.  The facility is available in multiple drawdowns with interest rates of 5.50% per
annum for the first five years and 5.75% per annum thereafter.  The outstanding balance of loan
under this facility amounted to P=1,427.30 million and P=647.30 million as of December 31, 2016
and 2015.

In September 2015, ARCI secured several term loan facilities from a local bank with aggregate
amount of P=1.84 billion.  The facilities are available in multiple drawdowns with floating interest
rates. The portion of facilities amounting to P=180.00 million shall be due in three years and the
P=1.66 billion shall be due in six years.  The outstanding balance of loans under these facilities
amounted to P=480.00 million and P=230.00 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, with interest rates ranging from 4.50% to 6.49% per annum.

In September 2015, GRIC secured a six-year loan facility from a local bank amounting to
P=4.10 billion.  The facility is available in multiple drawdowns with interest rates from 5.25% to
5.50% per annum. The outstanding balance of loan under this facility amounted to
P=420.00 million and P=250.00 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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In December 2014, PPDC secured a seven-year loan facility from a local bank amounting to
P=500.00 million.  The facility is available in multiple drawdowns with 6.00% interest rate per
annum.  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the outstanding balance of loans under this facility
amounted to P=495.00 million and 500.00 million, respectively.

In December 2014, ARCI secured a three and a half-year loan facility from a local bank
amounting to P=500.00 million.  The facility is available in multiple drawdowns with 4.60%
interest rate per annum. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the outstanding balance of loan under
this facility amounted to P=500.00 million.

In March 2014, PPDC secured a seven-year loan facility from a local bank amounting to
P=4.10 billion.  The facility is available in multiple drawdowns with interest rates ranging from
4.50% to 7.07% per annum. Partial principal payments are scheduled annually which commenced
in 2015 up to 2018 with the remaining balance to be paid upon maturity. As of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, the outstanding balance of loans under this facility amounted to
P=3,700.00 million and P=3,440.00 million, respectively.

In December 2013, PPDC secured a seven-year loan facility from a local bank amounting to
P=500.00 million.  The facility is available in multiple drawdowns with 6.00% interest rate per
annum. Principal repayment at the end of the second year from initial drawdown date and every
year thereafter shall be 1.00% of the drawdown amount, with the remaining balance to be paid
upon maturity.  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the outstanding balance of loans under this
facility amounted to P=490.00 million and 495.00 million, respectively.

In January 2013, PPDC secured a 10-year loan facility from a local bank amounting to
P=1.20 billion.  The facility is available in multiple drawdowns with interest rates of 7.07% per
annum for the first five years and 7.89% per annum thereafter. Quarterly principal repayments up
to three years shall be 0.75% of the drawdown amount with the remaining balance to be paid upon
maturity.  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the outstanding balance of loans under this facility
amounted to P=1,081.13 million and P=1,117.13 million, respectively.

In June 2012, ARCI secured a four-year loan facility from a local bank amounting to
P=1.70 billion.  The facility is available in multiple drawdowns with interest rate of 6.31% per
annum.  The outstanding balance of loans under this facility amounting to P=1.70 billion was fully
paid as of December 31, 2015.

In February 2011, the Parent Company secured a five-year loan facility from a local bank
amounting to P=500.00 million.  The facility is available in multiple drawdowns with interest rates
of 8.07% per annum for the P=150.00 million and 7.30% per annum for the P=350.00 million.
Annual principal repayments were 10% of the drawdown amount with the remaining balance paid
on maturity.  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the outstanding balance of loans under this
facility amounted to nil and P=300.00 million, respectively.

Unamortized debt discount and issuance costs deducted from the above-mentioned long-term bank
loans as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 amounted to P=12.30 million and P=12.09 million,
respectively.  The rollforward analyses of unamortized debt discount and issuance costs on long-
term bank loans as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 follow:

2016 2015
Balance at beginning of year P=12,087,895 P=15,973,888
Additions 4,100,000 2,921,878
Amortization (3,888,899) (6,807,871)
Balance at end of year P=12,298,996 P=12,087,895
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These term loans were secured with various land and buildings owned by the Group which are
located in Roxas Boulevard, Pasay City, Binondo, Manila, Parañaque City and San Juan City,
recorded under condominium units held for sale and investment properties.  As of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, these properties have an aggregate carrying value amounting to
P=7,525.87 million and P=7,597.79 million, respectively.

Receivable financing
The loans payable on receivable financing as discussed in Note 5 arises from installment contracts
receivable sold by the Group to various local banks with a total carrying amount of
P=1,667.23 million and P=1,930.53 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  These
loans bear fixed interest rates ranging from 3.50% to 4.88% in 2016 and 2015, payable on equal
monthly installments for a period of 1 to 4 years depending on the terms of the installment
contracts receivable.

Notes payable
Notes payable represents the car loans availed by the Group for its employees and for the purchase
of EAGI’s delivery vehicles.  These loans are subject to monthly repricing.  In 2016 and 2015,
annual interest rates ranged from 3.83% to 8.96%.  The Group’s transportation equipment with a
carrying value of P=1.33 million and P=7.66 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, are held as collateral to secure the Group’s notes payable (see Note 8).

Borrowing costs
Total borrowing costs arising from loans payable amounted to P=581.18 million, P=514.54 million
and P=469.63 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  Total
borrowing costs capitalized under real estate for development and sale and investment properties
amounted to P=560.89 million, P=496.15 million and P=449.44 million for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  Borrowing costs recognized in profit or loss
under “Finance costs” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income amounted to
P=20.29 million, P=18.39 million and 20.19 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015
and 2014, respectively.

13. Customers’ Advances and Deposits

2016 2015
Deposits from real estate buyers P=1,089,020,652 P=752,189,291
Deposits from lessees 649,738,769 616,561,753

P=1,738,759,421 P=1,368,751,044

Deposits from real estate buyers
Collections from buyers are initially recognized as customers’ deposits until all the relevant
conditions for a sale to be recognized are met.  The Group’s customers’ deposits will be applied to
the related receivables once the related revenue is recognized.

Deposits from lessees
The Group requires its tenants to pay leasehold rights pertaining to the right to use the lease unit.
Upon commencement of the lease, these payments are recognized in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income as rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  The rental
income on amortization of unearned rental income amounted to P=69.96 million, P=70.47 million
and P=68.01 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Deposits from lessees also include advance collection pertaining to the lease of commercial units
of the Group.
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14. Related Party Transactions

The Parent Company, in its regular conduct of business, has entered into transactions with its
subsidiaries principally consisting of advances and reimbursement of expenses, development,
management, marketing, leasing and administrative service agreements.  Transactions with related
parties are at arm’s length and have terms similar to the transactions entered into with third parties.
Outstanding balances between companies within the Group are unsecured, interest-free and
settlement occurs in cash.  Related party transactions and balances were eliminated in the
consolidated financial statements.

Enterprises and individuals that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, control
or are controlled by or under common control, with the Group, including holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, are related parties of the Group. Associates and individuals
owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group that gives them
significant influence over the enterprise, key management personnel, including directors and
officers of the Parent Company and close members of the family of these individuals, and
companies associated with these individuals, also constitute related parties.

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship and not merely to the legal form.

Key management compensation
The key management personnel of the Group include all directors, executives and senior
management.  Compensation and benefits of key management personnel for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 follow:

2016 2015 2014
Short-term employee benefits P=49,302,993 P=51,471,415 P=43,562,424
Post-employment benefits 2,944,781 3,443,262 2,403,205

P=52,247,774 P=54,914,677 P=45,965,629

15. Interest and Other Income

2016 2015 2014
Interest income from:

Accretion of unamortized
 discount on installment
 contracts receivable (Note 5) P=130,570,111 P=201,021,871 P=283,879,070
Cash and cash equivalents
 (Note 4) 1,424,013 900,861 1,196,488

Other income 106,414,591 66,213,363 48,514,660
P=238,408,715 P=268,136,095 P=333,590,218

Other income include income from nonrefundable amounts forfeited on cancelled sales as well as
penalties and other surcharges billed against defaulted installment contracts receivable, among
others.  Income from nonrefundable amounts forfeited on cancelled sales includes both reservation
fees that have prescribed from the allowable period of completing the requirements for such
reservations and the forfeited collections from defaulted contracts receivables that have been
assessed by the Group’s management as no longer refundable.
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16. Cost and Expenses

Cost of real estate sales
Cost includes acquisition cost of land, construction costs and capitalized borrowing costs.  Cost of
real estate sales recognized for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 amounted to
P=3,034.39 million, P=1,990.24 million and P=2,028.46 million, respectively.

Selling and administrative expenses

2016 2015 2014
Sales and marketing P=301,749,927 P=227,260,853 P=273,502,425
Salaries, wages and employee

benefits (Notes 14 and 17) 188,116,251 193,223,581 199,162,406
Depreciation and amortization

(Notes 8, 9 and 10) 117,702,042 106,487,453 79,874,344
Utilities 88,236,134 81,642,034 88,120,765
Taxes and licenses 87,730,850 101,873,614 82,428,154
Rental (Note 22) 49,103,614 47,810,034 55,177,240
Membership dues 27,538,185 22,347,947 16,119,827
Professional fees 14,288,912 11,827,216 12,930,326
Insurance 13,173,270 10,373,725 7,977,208
Donations and contributions 10,135,222 8,724,456 5,135,500
Representation and entertainment 7,736,435 8,061,743 8,366,055
Transportation and travel 3,723,616 4,034,874 4,492,278
Others 22,519,017 16,616,531 15,448,897

P=931,753,475 P=840,284,061 P=848,735,425

Others mainly pertain to referral fees, office and pantry supplies and liquidation of expenses
incurred for the daily operations of the Group.

Details of depreciation and amortization expense follow:

2016 2015 2014
Cost of real estate P=736,923 P=1,222,832 P=1,975,374
Selling and administrative 117,702,042 106,487,453 79,874,344

P=118,438,965 P=107,710,285 P=81,849,718

17. Pension Plan

The Group has an unfunded, noncontributory defined benefit plan covering all of its regular
employees.  The benefits are based on the projected retirement benefit of 22.5 days pay per year of
service in accordance with RA No. 7641, Retirement Pay Law.  An independent actuary, using the
projected unit credit method, conducts an actuarial valuation of the retirement benefit obligation.
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The components of the Group’s pension costs (included in “Salaries, wages and employees
benefits” under “Selling and administrative expenses” and in “Finance costs”) follow:

2016 2015 2014
Current service cost P=9,114,772 P=10,478,799 P=10,985,811
Interest cost on benefit obligation 1,922,896 1,646,857 2,051,693
Past service cost – – (3,728,695)

P=11,037,668 P=12,125,656 P=9,308,809

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations as of December 31, 2016 and 2015
follow:

2016 2015
Balance at beginning of year P=37,274,663 P=36,463,324
Net benefit cost in profit or loss

Current service cost 9,114,772 10,478,799
Interest cost 1,922,896 1,646,857

11,037,668 12,125,656
Remeasurements in OCI

Actuarial changes arising from changes in
 financial assumptions (4,597,554) (4,997,149)
Actuarial changes arising from experience
 adjustments (9,348,788) (6,317,168)

(13,946,342) (11,314,317)
Balance at end of year P=34,365,989 P=37,274,663

The principal assumptions used to determine pension benefits of the Group follow:

2016 2015
Discount rate 4.92% to 5.86% 5.09% to 6.13%
Salary increase rate 10.00% 10.00%

There were no changes from the previous year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing
sensitivity analysis.

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation as of the reporting date is 9.70 to
19.30 years.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as of the reporting date, assuming all
other assumptions are held constant:

Increase
(decrease) 2016 2015

Discount rates +150 basis points (P=7,897,184) (P=9,761,530)
-150 basis points 11,004,178 14,083,728

Future salary increases +150 basis points 9,751,849 12,376,794
-150 basis points (7,367,097) (9,090,723)
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The maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments follows:

2016 2015
Less than 1 year P=436,718 P=259,057
More than 1 year to 2 years 215,985 552,538
More than 2 years to 4 years 453,123 471,561
More than 4 years 8,695,613 10,266,042

18. Income Tax

2016 2015 2014
Current:

RCIT P=235,018,306 P=177,017,916 P=222,631,162
MCIT 1,749,915 656,156 1,374,711
Final 255,160 5,562,563 210,076

237,023,381 183,236,635 224,215,949
Deferred 27,797,137 38,289,837 58,456,389

P=264,820,518 P=221,526,472 P=282,672,338

Details of NOLCO that can be claimed as deduction from future taxable profit and MCIT that can
be claimed as tax credits against income tax liabilities follow:

NOLCO

Year Incurred Amount Used/Expired Balance Expiry Year
2013 P=11,977,915 P=11,977,915 P=– 2016
2014 42,774,055 34,570,140 8,203,915 2017
2015 11,328,618 10,191,482 1,137,136 2018
2016 34,705,875 – 34,705,875 2019

P=100,786,463 P=56,739,537 P=44,046,926

MCIT

Year Incurred Amount Used/Expired Balance Expiry Year
2013 P=2,740,496 P=2,740,496 P=– 2016
2014 1,374,711 721,847 652,864 2017
2015 656,156 435,803 220,353 2018
2016 1,749,915 – 1,749,915 2019

P=6,521,278 P=3,898,146 P=2,623,132
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Net deferred tax assets of the Group as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 follow:

2016 2015
Deferred tax assets on:

Difference between tax and book basis of
 accounting for real estate transactions P=13,517,820 P=15,154,832
Pension liabilities recognized in:

Profit or loss 18,912,764 15,601,465
OCI 65,798 210,243

Difference between tax and book basis of
 accounting for contracts revenue 4,925,099 8,363,311
Unamortized discount on installment contracts
 receivable 2,410,620 3,718,944
NOLCO 1,965,829 3,745,833
Commissions expense per books in excess of
 actual commissions paid 544,137 1,374,848
MCIT 173,700 3,131,637

42,515,767 51,301,113
Deferred tax liabilities on:

Pension liabilities recognized in OCI 8,668,766 4,629,309
Actual commissions paid in excess of
 commissions expense per books 470,335 2,349,214

9,139,101 6,978,523
P=33,376,666 P=44,322,590

Net deferred tax liabilities of the Group as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 follow:

2016 2015
Deferred tax asset on:

Difference between tax and book basis of
 accounting for real estate transactions P=81,096,047 P=24,738
Unamortized discount on installment contracts
 receivable 62,193,363 55,071,380
Commissions expense per books in excess of
 actual commissions paid 40,600,593 27,562,722
NOLCO 8,608,572 −
MCIT 2,449,432 873,217
Nondeductible expenses 1,313,938 1,762,008

196,261,945 85,294,065
Deferred tax liabilities on:

Difference between tax and book basis of
 accounting for real estate transactions 588,032,037 457,055,168
Actual commissions paid in excess of
 commissions expense per books 7,984,615 6,630,430
Unamortized discount on loans payable 693,418 1,021,476

596,710,070 464,707,074
P=400,448,125 P=379,413,009
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The Group has deductible temporary differences for which deferred tax assets have not been
recognized since management assessed that no sufficient taxable income is available in the future
to allow all or part of deferred tax assets on certain temporary differences to be realized and/or
utilized.

NOLCO for which no deferred tax assets were recognized amounted to P=8.80 million and
P=10.31 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The Group’s unrecognized
deferred tax assets on NOLCO amounted to P=2.64 million and P=3.09 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Statutory reconciliation
The reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate follows:

2016 2015 2014
Statutory income tax rate 30.00% 30.00% 30.00%
Tax effect of:

Changes in unrecognized
 deferred tax assets (0.04) 0.67 0.06
Nondeductible expenses 0.15 0.28 0.21
Interest income subject to final tax (0.02) (0.02) (0.02)
Others 2.03 3.01 (0.03)

Effective income tax rate 32.12% 33.94% 30.22%

Board of Investments (BOI) incentives
The BOI issued Certificates of Registration as a New Developer of Low-Cost Mass Housing
Project to PPDC for Solemare Parksuites Phase 1 and ARCI for Admiral Baysuites East Wing and
as an Expanding Developer of Low-Cost Mass Housing Project to PPDC for Solemare Parksuites
Phase 2 in accordance with the Omnibus Investment Code of 1987.  Pursuant thereto, the projects
have been granted an Income Tax Holiday for a period of three to four years.  As of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, the income tax holiday for these three projects already expired.

19. Equity

Capital Stock
The details of the Parent Company’s capital stock which consists of common and preferred shares
follow:

Common shares
Details of the Parent Company’s common shares as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 follow:

Authorized shares 3,500,000,000
Par value per share P=1.00
Issued and outstanding shares 1,040,001,000

On August 8, 2007, the Parent Company launched its Initial Public Offering where a total of
86,667,000 common shares were offered at an offering price of P=8.93 per share.  The registration
statement was approved on July 30, 2007.  The Parent Company has 96 existing shareholders as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015.
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On November 8, 2013, the Philippine SEC approved the increase in the Parent Company’s capital
stock by increasing common stock from P=2.30 billion divided into 2.30 billion shares with par
value of P=1.00 each to P=3.50 billion divided into 3.50 billion shares with par value of P=1.00 each.

Preferred shares
The preferred shares are voting, nonparticipating, nonredeemable and are entitled to 8%
cumulative dividends.  Details of the Parent Company’s preferred shares as of December 31, 2016
and 2015 follow:

Authorized shares 1,300,000,000
Par value per share P=1.00
Issued and outstanding shares 346,667,000

Cash Dividends
On March 27, 2017, the Parent Company’s BOD declared cash dividends as follows:

1. For preferred shares - 8% dividends per issued and outstanding preferred share; and
2. For common shares - P=0.06 per issued and outstanding common share.

The record date is May 22, 2017 and dividends shall be payable on June 15, 2017.

On April 5, 2016, the Parent Company’s BOD declared cash dividends as follows:

1. For preferred shares - 8% dividends per issued and outstanding preferred share; and
2. For common shares - P=0.05 per issued and outstanding common share.

The record date is May 30, 2016 and dividends amounting to P=79.73 million were paid on
June 15, 2016.

On March 26, 2015, the Parent Company’s BOD declared cash dividends as follows:

1. For preferred shares - 8% dividends per issued and outstanding preferred share; and
2. For common shares - P=0.07 per issued and outstanding common share.

The record date is May 15, 2015 and dividends amounting to P=100.53 million were paid on
June 10, 2015.

On June 3, 2014, the Parent Company’s BOD declared cash dividends as follows:

1. For preferred shares - 8% dividends per issued and outstanding preferred share; and
2. For common shares - P=0.12 per issued and outstanding common share.

The record date is June 18, 2014 and dividends amounting to P=152.53 million were paid on
July 14, 2014.

Retained Earnings
The retained earnings available for dividend distribution amounted to P=1,218.00 million and
P=991.33 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The undistributed earnings from
subsidiaries amounting to P=838.30 million and P=507.32 million as of December 31, 2016 and
2015, respectively, is not available for dividend distribution until actually declared by the
subsidiaries.

Under the Tax Code, publicly-held Corporations are allowed to accumulate retained earnings in
excess of capital stock and are exempt from improperly accumulated earnings tax.
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In 2016, the BOD approved the appropriation of earnings amounting to P=750.00 million and
P=250.00 million for the project development of ALHI Corporate Office and The Peak Parksuites,
respectively.  These appropriations are expected to be released gradually until 2020 and 2021,
respectively.  The BOD also approved the release of the appropriations for the project
development of Monarch Parksuites and Oxford Parksuites amounting to P=300.00 million and
P=250.00 million, respectively, and for MPMC’s future capital investments amounting to
P=6.50 million.

In 2015, the BOD approved the appropriation of earnings amounting to P=450.00 million for the
project development of ALHI Corporate Office, P=50.00 million and P=1.00 million for future
capital investments of APC and MPMC, respectively. These appropriations are expected to be
released gradually until 2020.  The BOD also approved the release of the appropriations for the
project development of GRIC and Monarch Parksuites amounting to P=100.00 million each, and for
working capital of EAGI’s future projects amounting to P=12.25 million.

In 2014, the BOD approved the appropriation of earnings amounting to P=250.00 million for the
project development of Monarch Parksuites, P=200.00 million for the project development of
Oxford Parksuites, P=200.00 million for the project development of Admiral Hotel and
P=5.00 million for MPMC’s future capital investments.  These appropriations are expected to be
released gradually until 2017.  Also, the BOD approved the release of the 2012 appropriation for
the project development of Anchor Skysuites amounting to P=100.00 million.

On November 25, 2013, the BOD approved the appropriation of earnings amounting to
P=500.00 million for the project development of GRIC’s new condominium projects,
P=470.00 million for the project development of Monarch Parksuites, P=30.00 million for the project
development of Oxford Parksuites and P=12.25 million for working capital of EAGI’s future
projects.  These appropriations are expected to be released gradually up to 2017.

On December 12, 2012, the BOD approved the appropriation of earnings for the project
development of Anchor Skysuites amounting to P=100.00 million, Oxford Parksuites amounting
P=150.00 million and Monarch Parksuites amounting to P=100.00 million which are expected to be
released gradually up to 2015, 2016 and 2017, respectively.

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in
economic conditions.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The following table shows the components of what the Group considers its capital as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015:

2016 2015
Capital stock:

Common stock P=1,040,001,000 P=1,040,001,000
Preferred stock 346,667,000 346,667,000

Additional paid-in capital 632,687,284 632,687,284
Retained earnings 4,333,754,109 3,855,137,761

P=6,353,109,393 P=5,874,493,045
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The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus
net debt.  Net debt includes accounts and other payables, interest-bearing loans and borrowings,
and customers’ advances and deposits, less cash and cash equivalents.  Capital pertains to equity
attributable to the equity holders of the parent, excluding OCI.

2016 2015
Accounts and other payables P=2,746,988,380 P=2,403,359,582
Loans payable 11,101,453,731 10,308,054,518
Customers’ advances and deposits 1,738,759,421 1,368,751,044

15,587,201,532 14,080,165,144
Less cash and cash equivalents (740,548,398) (497,659,500)
Net debt 14,846,653,134 13,582,505,644
Capital (excluding OCI) 6,353,109,393 5,874,493,045
Total capital and net debt P=21,199,762,527 P=19,456,998,689
Gearing ratio 70% 70%

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015.

20. Financial Instruments

Fair Value Information
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair
values due to their short-term maturities except for the following financial asset and financial
liability as of December 31, 2016 and 2015:

2016 2015
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Financial Asset
Loans and receivables - installment
 contracts receivable P=6,313,750,928 P=7,096,967,367 P=5,848,466,866 P=6,066,530,315

Financial Liability
Other financial liabilities - loans payable P=11,101,453,731 P=9,551,290,234 P=10,308,054,518 P=10,231,533,281

The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the fair values of the financial
instruments are as follows:

Financial asset
The fair value of installment contracts receivable is based on the discounted value of future cash
flows using the prevailing interest rates for similar types of receivables as of the reporting date
based on the remaining terms to maturity plus a certain spread.  The spread is an unobservable
input that increases the discount rates and lowers the calculated fair value.  The discount rates used
ranged from 1.89% to 4.89% in 2016 and 1.68% to 5.45% in 2015.

Financial liability
The fair values of variable rate loans payable that reprice every three months approximates their
carrying values due to recent and regular repricing based current market rates.  The fair values of
fixed rate loans are estimated using the discounted cash flow methodology using the Group’s
current incremental borrowing rates for similar borrowings with maturities consistent with those
remaining for the liability being valued.  The discount rates used ranged from 1.70% to 3.45% in
2016 and 2.07% to 3.48% in 2015.
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Fair Value Hierarchy
The Group has no financial instruments carried at fair value as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.

The following table shows the Group’s financial asset and liability for which fair values are
disclosed based on Level 3 valuation technique:

2016 2015
Asset for which fair value is disclosed:
Installment contracts receivable P=7,096,967,367 P=6,066,530,315

Liability for which fair value is disclosed:
Loans payable P=9,551,290,234 P=10,231,533,281

There were no assets or liabilities whose fair value is disclosed using Level 1 and Level 2
valuation techniques.

There was no change in the valuation techniques used by the Group in determining the fair market
value of the assets and liabilities.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers
into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, receivables,
deposits, accounts and other payables, and loans payable, which arise directly from operations.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations.

The significant risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, credit risk
and interest rate risk.  The exposures to these risks and how they arise, as well as the Group’s
objectives, policies and processes for managing the risks and the methods used to measure the
risks did not change from prior years.

The main objectives of the Group’s financial risk management are as follows:
∂ to identify and monitor such risks on an ongoing basis;
∂ to minimize and mitigate such risks; and,
∂ to provide a degree of certainty about costs.

The BOD reviews and agrees on policies for managing each of these risks.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet
commitments associated with financial instruments.  Liquidity risk may result from either: the
inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair values; the counterparty failing on repayment
of a contractual obligation; or the inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated.

The Group’s objective is to maintain balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the use of bank loans.  The Group monitors its cash flow position, debt maturity profile and
overall liquidity position in assessing its exposure to liquidity risk.  The Group maintains a level of
cash and cash equivalents deemed sufficient to finance its operations and to mitigate the effects of
fluctuation in cash flows.  Capital expenditures, operating expenses and working capital
requirements are sufficiently funded through cash collections and bank loans.  Accordingly, its
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financial liabilities, obligations and bank loans maturity profile are regularly reviewed to ensure
availability of funding through an adequate amount of credit facilities with financial institutions.
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group has undrawn facilities amounting P=14.04 billion
and P=12.14 billion, respectively.

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on
contractual undiscounted payments and the financial assets to manage liquidity as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015:

2016

On Demand Within 1 year
More than

1 year Total
Financial Assets
Loans and receivables:
 Cash and cash equivalents P=733,154,245 P=7,394,153 P=– P=740,548,398
 Receivables:
  Installment contracts receivable – 3,165,867,558 4,521,512,025 7,687,379,583
  Due from condominium association – 25,384,621 – 25,384,621
  Others – 196,857,430 – 196,857,430
 Deposits – 23,874,564 70,650,570 94,525,134
Total Financial Assets P=733,154,245 P=3,419,378,326 P=4,592,162,595 P=8,744,695,166

Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities:
 Accounts and other payables:
  Payable to contractors and suppliers P=– P=1,291,687,416 P=– P=1,291,687,416
  Retention payable – 258,612,406 316,199,308 574,811,714
  Liabilities for purchased land – 247,590,000 – 247,590,000
  Accrued expenses – 187,396,156 – 187,396,156
  Others – 112,440,769 – 112,440,769
 Loans payable – 2,657,908,403 12,213,960,351 14,871,868,754
Total Financial Liabilities P=– P=4,755,635,150 P=12,530,159,659 P=17,285,794,809

2015

On Demand Within 1 year
More than

1 year Total
Financial Assets
Loans and receivables:
 Cash and cash equivalents P=490,431,797 P=7,227,703 P=– P=497,659,500
 Receivables:
  Installment contracts receivable – 2,730,020,644 5,332,796,181 8,062,816,825
  Due from condominium association – 26,919,109 – 26,919,109
  Others – 130,014,364 – 130,014,364
 Deposits – 19,584,461 59,846,697 79,431,158
Total Financial Assets P=490,431,797 P=2,913,766,281 P=5,392,642,878 P=8,796,840,956

Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities:
 Accounts and other payables:
  Payable to contractors and suppliers P=– P=1,274,503,518 P=– P=1,274,503,518
  Retention payable – 285,085,085 233,251,433 518,336,518
  Accrued expenses – 158,172,411 – 158,172,411
  Liabilities for purchased land – 136,276,000 – 136,276,000
  Others – 89,689,283 – 89,689,283
 Loans payable – 2,881,553,097 11,134,912,728 14,016,465,825
Total Financial Liabilities P=– P=4,825,279,394 P=11,368,164,161 P=16,193,443,555
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 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss.  The Group trades only with recognized,
creditworthy third parties.  The Group’s receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis resulting to
a manageable exposure to bad debts.  Real estate buyers are subject to standard credit check
procedures, which are calibrated based on the payment scheme offered.  The Group’s respective
credit management unit conducts a comprehensive credit investigation and evaluation of each
buyer to establish creditworthiness.

Receivable balances are being monitored on a regular basis to ensure timely execution of
necessary intervention efforts.  In addition, the credit risk for real estate receivables is mitigated as
the Group has the right to cancel the sales contract without need for any court action and take
possession of the subject condominium units in case of refusal by the buyer to pay the due
installment contracts receivable on time.  This risk is further mitigated because the corresponding
title to the condominium units sold under this arrangement is transferred to the buyers only upon
full payment of the contract price.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without
considering the effects of collaterals and other credit enhancements follows:

2016 2015
Cash in banks and cash equivalents P=740,168,398 P=497,298,500
Receivables:

Installment contracts receivable 6,313,750,928 5,848,466,866
Due from condominium association 25,384,621 26,919,109
Others 196,857,430 130,014,364

Deposits 94,525,134 79,431,158
P=7,370,686,511 P=6,582,129,997

The subjected condominium units for sale are held as collateral for all installment contracts
receivable.  The maximum exposure to credit risk, before considering credit exposure, from the
Group’s installment contracts receivable amounted to P=6,313.75 million and P=5,848.47 million as
of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The fair value of the related collaterals amounted
to P=37,436.40 million and P=29,000.30 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The financial effect of the collateral amounted to P=6,313.75 million and P=5,848.47 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, resulting to zero net exposure amounts as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015.  The basis for the fair value of the collaterals is the current selling
price of the condominium units.

Given the Group’s diverse base of counterparties, it is not exposed to large concentrations of
credit risk.
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As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the credit quality per class of financial assets is as follows:

2016
Neither Past Due nor Impaired Substandard Past Due But

Grade A Grade B Grade Not Impaired Total
Cash in banks and cash equivalents P=740,168,398 P=– P=– P=– P=740,168,398
Receivables:

Installment contracts receivable 6,310,358,990 – – 3,391,938 6,313,750,928
Due from condominium association 25,384,621 – – – 25,384,621
Others 196,857,430 – – – 196,857,430

Deposits 94,525,134 94,525,134
P=7,367,294,573 P=– P=– P=3,391,938 P=7,370,686,511

2015
Neither Past Due nor Impaired Substandard Past Due But

Grade A Grade B Grade Not Impaired Total
Cash in banks and cash equivalents P=497,298,500 P=– P=– P=– P=497,298,500
Receivables:

Installment contracts receivable 5,842,071,327 – – 6,395,539 5,848,466,866
Due from condominium association 26,919,109 – – – 26,919,109
Others 130,014,364 – – – 130,014,364

Deposits 79,431,158 79,431,158
P=6,575,734,458 P=– P=– P=6,395,539 P=6,582,129,997

The credit quality of the financial assets was determined as follows:

Cash in banks and cash equivalents are considered Grade A based on the nature of the
counterparty and the Group’s internal rating system.  These financial assets are classified as
Grade A due to the counterparties’ low probability of insolvency.  The Group transacts only with
institutions or banks which have demonstrated financial soundness for the past five years.

Grade A installment contracts receivable are considered to be of high value where the
counterparties have a very remote likelihood of default and have consistently exhibited good
paying habits.

Grade B accounts are active accounts with minimal to regular instances of payment default, due to
collection issues.  These accounts are typically not impaired as the counterparties generally
respond to the Group’s collection efforts and update their payments accordingly.

Substandard grade accounts are accounts which have probability of impairment based on historical
trend.  These accounts show propensity to default in payment despite regular follow-up actions
and extended payment terms.  The Group assessed that there are no financial assets that will fall
under this category as the Group transacts with recognized third parties.

Due from condominium association, other receivables and deposits are considered as Grade A.
The credit quality rating of Grade A pertains to receivables with no defaults in payment.

The Group determines financial assets as impaired when the probability of recoverability is remote
and in consideration of the lapse in the period which the asset is expected to be recovered.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the aging analysis of the Group’s past due but not impaired
installment contracts receivable follows:

<30 days 30-60 days 61-90 days >90 days Total
2016 P=1,655,500 P=1,237,725 P=400,390 P=98,323 P=3,391,938
2015 2,674,585 1,447,401 1,190,146 1,083,407 6,395,539
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 Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate exposure management policy centers on reducing the Group’s overall
interest expense and exposure to changes in interest rates.  Changes in market interest rates relate
primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing debt obligations with floating interest rate as it can cause
a change in the amount of interest payments.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost by entering into a mix of fixed short-term and
long-term borrowings depending on the projected funding requirements of the Group.  The Group
has no significant exposure to cash flows and fair value interest rate risks.

21. Segment Information

Business segment information is reported on the basis that is used internally for evaluating
segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources among operating segments.
Accordingly, the segment information is reported based on the nature of service the Group is
providing.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group considers the following as its reportable segments:

∂ Condominium sales - development of high-end condominium units for sale to third parties
∂ Leasing - development of commercial units and shopping centers for lease to third parties
∂ Property management - facilities management and consultancy services covering

condominium and building administration

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) has been identified as the chief operating decision-maker
(CODM).  The CODM reviews the Group’s internal reports in order to assess performance and
allocate resources.  Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports.
The Group does not report results based on geographical segments because the Group operates
only in the Philippines.

The financial information about the operations of the reportable segments for the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015 follow:

2016

Condominium
Sales Leasing

Property
Management

Intersegment
Eliminating

Adjustments Total
REVENUE
Real estate sales P=4,246,215,367 P=– P=– P=– P=4,246,215,367
Rental income – 290,482,710 – – 290,482,710
Management fee – – 51,553,836 (13,725,997) 37,827,839
Interest and other income 233,849,911 1,409,504 3,149,300 – 238,408,715

4,480,065,278 291,892,214 54,703,136 (13,725,997) 4,812,934,631
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of condominium units 3,034,390,148 – – – 3,034,390,148
Selling and administrative 696,630,912 199,272,336 49,576,224 (13,725,997) 931,753,475

3,731,021,060 199,272,336 49,576,224 (13,725,997) 3,966,143,623
Earnings before interest and taxes 749,044,218 92,619,878 5,126,912 – 846,791,008
Finance costs 22,132,926 – 81,839 – 22,214,765
Income before tax P=726,911,292 P=92,619,878 P=5,045,073 P=– P=824,576,243

(Forward)
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2016

Condominium
Sales Leasing

Property
Management

Intersegment
Eliminating

Adjustments Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents P=686,591,544 P=45,368,758 P=8,588,096 P=– P=740,548,398
Receivables 6,354,557,342 156,730,183 27,733,840 – 6,539,021,365
Real estate for development
        and sale 5,833,415,546 – – – 5,833,415,546
Other current assets 1,673,841,162 415,189,891 613,148 – 2,089,644,201
Investment properties – 7,052,225,996 – – 7,052,225,996
Other noncurrent assets 65,039,929 15,917,275 – – 80,957,204

P=14,613,445,523 P=7,685,432,103 P=36,935,084 P=– P=22,335,812,710

LIABILITIES
Accounts and other payables P=2,123,491,955 P=342,133,886 P=14,675,372 P=– P=2,480,301,213
Customers’ advances and deposits 1,089,020,652 649,738,769 – – 1,738,759,421
Loans payable 2,419,943,440 8,681,510,291 – – 11,101,453,731

P=5,632,456,047 P=9,673,382,946 P=14,675,372 P=– P=15,320,514,365

2015

Condominium
Sales Leasing

Property
Management

Intersegment
Eliminating

Adjustments Total
REVENUE
Real estate sales P=2,954,046,810 P=– P=– P=– P=2,954,046,810
Rental income – 242,005,428 – – 242,005,428
Management fee – – 44,903,121 (5,812,306) 39,090,815
Interest and other income 264,582,945 1,823,805 1,729,345 – 268,136,095

3,218,629,755 243,829,233 46,632,466 (5,812,306) 3,503,279,148
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of condominium units 1,990,237,867 – – – 1,990,237,867
Selling and administrative 619,573,969 187,277,474 39,244,924 (5,812,306) 840,284,061

2,609,811,836 187,277,474 39,244,924 (5,812,306) 2,830,521,928
Earnings before interest and taxes 608,817,919 56,551,759 7,387,542 – 672,757,220
Finance costs 19,967,191 – 70,116 – 20,037,307
Income before tax P=588,850,728 P=56,551,759 P=7,317,426 P=– P=652,719,913

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents P=479,177,396 P=11,897,487 P=6,584,617 P=– P=497,659,500
Receivables 5,837,109,667 156,155,963 15,899,423 – 6,009,165,053
Real estate for development

and sale 6,446,557,390 – – – 6,446,557,390
Other current assets 1,511,255,308 319,703,855 1,531,962 – 1,832,491,125
Investment properties – 5,445,878,382 – – 5,445,878,382
Other noncurrent assets 55,724,696 14,394,226 – – 70,118,922

P=14,329,824,457 P=5,948,029,913 P=24,016,002 P=– P=20,301,870,372

LIABILITIES
Accounts and other payables P=1,902,998,347 P=316,648,107 P=3,057,018 P=– P=2,222,703,472
Customers’ advances and deposits 750,393,333 616,561,753 1,795,958 – 1,368,751,044
Loans payable 2,823,743,036 7,484,311,482 – – 10,308,054,518

P=5,477,134,716 P=8,417,521,342 P=4,852,976 P=– P=13,899,509,034
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2014

Condominium
Sales Leasing

Property
Management

Intersegment
Eliminating

Adjustments Total
REVENUE
Real estate sales P=3,244,238,933 P=– P=– P=– P=3,244,238,933
Rental income – 225,745,044 – – 225,745,044
Management fee – – 37,976,182 (6,629,655) 31,346,527
Interest and other income 327,299,254 4,751,235 1,539,729 – 333,590,218

3,571,538,187 230,496,279 39,515,911 (6,629,655) 3,834,920,722
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of condominium units 2,028,455,445 – – – 2,028,455,445
Selling and administrative 668,998,364 152,767,996 33,598,720 (6,629,655) 848,735,425

2,697,453,809 152,767,996 33,598,720 (6,629,655) 2,877,190,870
Earnings before interest and taxes 874,084,378 77,728,283 5,917,191 – 957,729,852
Finance costs 22,022,476 – 217,643 – 22,240,119
Income before tax P=852,061,902 P=77,728,283 P=5,699,548 P=– P=935,489,733

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents P=414,876,309 P=21,749,778 P=7,166,566 P=– P=443,792,653
Receivables 6,031,179,618 143,131,859 13,039,869 – 6,187,351,346
Real estate for development

and sale 5,695,310,035 – – – 5,695,310,035
Other current assets 1,331,574,581 213,680,954 648,603 – 1,545,904,138
Investment properties – 3,744,180,465 – – 3,744,180,465
Other noncurrent assets 64,388,620 1,597,449 – – 65,986,069

P=13,537,329,163 P=4,124,340,505 P=20,855,038 P=– P=17,682,524,706

LIABILITIES
Accounts and other payables P=1,758,146,030 P=167,427,812 P=1,383,214 P=– P=1,926,957,056
Customers’ advances and deposits 626,616,387 593,431,714 39,775 – 1,220,087,876
Loans payable 2,990,123,720 5,487,151,112 – – 8,477,274,832

P=5,374,886,137 P=6,248,010,638 P=1,422,989 P=– P=11,624,319,764
1. Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets and property and equipment.
2. Segment liabilities exclude income tax payable, other taxes payable, pension liabilities and deferred tax liabilities.

The CEO separately monitors the operating results of the Group’s business units for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.  Segment performance is
evaluated based on the operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with operating profit
or loss in the consolidated financial statements.  Intercompany revenue and costs amounted to
P=13.73 million, P=5.81 million and P=6.63 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and
2014, respectively.

Capital expenditure with an aggregate amount of P=4.87 billion, P=4.52 billion and P=3.50 billion for
the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, consists of condominium
project costs, construction and acquisition cost of investment properties, and land acquisitions
costs.  The Group has no revenue from transactions with a single external customer amounting to
5.00% or more of the Group’s revenue.

22. Operating Lease Commitments

Operating Leases - Group as Lessor
The Group entered into cancellable lease agreements with third parties covering its investment
property portfolio.  These leases generally provide for a fixed monthly rental on the Group’s
warehouse and commercial units.  Rental income amounted to P=290.48 million, P=242.01 million
and P=225.75 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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In September 2016, the Group entered into a noncancellable lease agreement with a third party
covering the lease of its commercial space for a period of 10 years.  Monthly rent shall be fixed
for the first two years and will increase annually by 5% commencing on the third year.

Future minimum rental receivable under the noncancellable operating lease as of
December 31, 2016 is as follows:

One year P=5,860,769
After one year but not beyond five years 23,443,077
Beyond five years 27,350,256

P=56,654,102

Operating Leases - Group as Lessee
The Group has entered into cancellable lease agreements for the rental of its offices and showroom
for a period of one to five years and exhibit booths for a period of one to three months.  The lease
is renewable upon mutual consent of the contracting parties.  Rental expense charged to operations
amounted to P=49.10 million, P=47.81 million and P=55.18 million for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

23. Earnings Per Share

Basic/diluted EPS amounts attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company for the years
ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 follow:

2016 2015 2014
Net income attributable to equity holders

of Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. P=558,349,758 P=432,164,567 P=662,375,722
Less dividends on preferred shares

(Note 19) 27,733,360 27,733,360 27,733,360
Net income attributable to equity

holders of Anchor Land Holdings,
Inc. for basic and diluted EPS 530,616,398 404,431,207 634,642,362

Weighted average number of common
shares for basic and diluted EPS 1,040,001,000 1,040,001,000 1,040,001,000

Basic/diluted EPS P=0.51 P=0.39 P=0.61

24. Contingencies

The Parent Company has been involved in an arbitral dispute instituted by SKI Construction
Group, Inc. (“Claimant”) with the Construction Industry Arbitration Commission (CIAC) for its
allegedly unpaid monetary claims as the general contractor of a condominium building (“the
Project”) owned by the Parent Company. The total claims amounted to P=73.95 million.

The Parent Company has responded to the claims and also made counterclaims amounting to
P=73.27 million for liquidated damages, costs of rectification works, costs to complete the Project
and other damages incident to the Parent Company’s take over and completion of the Project after
the Claimant incurred prolonged and unreasonable delay, and eventually failed to complete the
Project within the agreed timetable despite numerous extensions to complete the Project.
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In its decision dated December 14, 2009, the Arbitral Tribunal awarded the Claimant the
aggregate amount of P=28.37 million and the Parent Company the aggregate amount of
P=40.44 million.  Both the Claimant and the Parent Company filed their respective appeals with the
Court of Appeals (CA) on February 12, 2010.  Both appeals were subsequently consolidated.

In the CA’s ruling dated August 2, 2013, the Court affirmed the Arbitral Tribunal’s ruling dated
December 14, 2009 and dismissed both appeals.

In a resolution dated November 18, 2013, the CA also denied the Claimant’s and the Parent
Company’s respective Motions for Reconsideration.  The Parent Company ceased to appeal from
the CA’s decision and resolution denying the Motion for Reconsideration.

In January 2014, the Claimant filed its petition for review on certiorari to the Supreme Court to
question the CA’s ruling in favor of the Parent Company.  In a resolution dated February 10, 2014,
the Supreme Court resolved to deny the Claimant’s petition, finding no reversible error in the
challenged decision and resolution.

On May 20, 2014, the Supreme Court’s resolution dated February 10, 2014 became final and
executory and was entered into the Book of Judgments.

By virtue of the finality of the Supreme Court decision, the Parent Company filed a Motion for
Execution of the Arbitral Tribunal’s Decision on December 11, 2014 and a Writ of Execution was
issued by the Arbitral Tribunal in relation therewith on February 12, 2015. The Sheriff of the
Arbitral Tribunal is in the process of implementing the Writ of Execution.

No provisions were made for the years 2016 and 2015.
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES 

SCHEDULE A – FINANCIAL ASSETS 

As of December 31, 2016 

 

 

Financial assets 

Name of issuing 

entity and association 

of each issue 

Number of shares or 

principal amount of 

bonds and notes 

Amount shown 

in the balance 

sheet 

Valued based on 

market quotation at 

end of reporting period 

 

Income received 

and accrued 

Not Applicable 
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES 

SCHEDULE B – AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, RELATED PARTIES AND PRINCIPAL 

STOCKHOLDERS (OTHER THAN RELATED PARTIES) 

As of December 31, 2016 

    

 

 

Name 

Balance at 

beginning of 

period 

 

 

Additions 

 

Amounts 

collected 

 

 

Current 

 

 

Non-current 

 

Balance at end 

of period 

Not Applicable 
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES 

SCHEDULE C – AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM/PAYABLE TO RELATED PARTIES WHICH ARE ELIMINATED DURING  

THE CONSOLIDATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

As of December 31, 2016 

 

  Amounts payable by Subsidiaries to Parent Company 

Name of subsidiary 

Receivable balance per Parent Company 

Payable 

balance per 

subsidiary Current 

Non- 

current 

Balance at 

beginning 

period Additions 

Amounts 

collected 

Amounts 

written 

off 

Balance at end 

period 

Posh Properties Development Corporation P=1,327,672,200 P=– (P=376,128,707) P=– P=951,543,493 P=951,543,493 P=951,543,493 P=– 

1080 Soler Corp.  143,518,041  95,052,929 – –  238,570,970  238,570,970  238,570,970 – 

Gotamco Realty Investment Corporation –  177,915,237  – –  177,915,237   177,915,237   177,915,237  – 

Globeway Property Ventures, Inc.  69,191,109   80,360,519  – –  149,551,628   149,551,628   149,551,628  – 

Anchor Land Global Corporation  77,941,024   985,722 – – 78,926,746 78,926,746 78,926,746 – 

Nusantara Holdings, Inc.  51,092,215   16,453,588  – –  67,545,803   67,545,803   67,545,803  – 

Momentum Properties Management Corporation  20,786,861   34,638,517  – –  55,425,378   55,425,378   55,425,378  – 

Admiral Realty Company, Inc.  446,171,098  –  (391,722,251) –  54,448,847   54,448,847   54,448,847  – 

Basiclink Equity Investment Corp.  23,296,036   691,041  – –  23,987,077   23,987,077   23,987,077  – 

Anchor Properties Corporation  84,526,572  –  (65,794,680) –  18,731,892   18,731,892   18,731,892  – 

Eisenglas Aluminum and Glass, Inc.  8,250  – – –  8,250   8,250   8,250  – 

Realty & Development Corporation of  

San Buenaventura  1,000  – – –  1,000   1,000   1,000  – 

  P=2,244,204,406 P=406,097,553 (P=833,645,638) P=– P=1,816,656,321 P=1,816,656,321 P=1,816,656,321 P=– 

         

   Amounts payable by Parent Company to Subsidiary  

Name of subsidiary 

 Receivable balance per Subsidiary   Payable 

balance per 

Parent 

Company   Current  

 Non-

current  

 Balance at 

beginning 

period   Additions   Amounts paid  

 Amounts 

written 

off  

 Balance at end 

period  

Gotamco Realty Investment Corporation P=26,536,835 P=– (P=26,536,835) P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– 

 
(Forward)         
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   Amounts payable by Subsidiaries to Posh Properties Development Corporation (PPDC)  

Name of subsidiary 

 Receivable balance per PPDC  

 Payable 

balance per 

subsidiary   Current  

 Non-

current  

 Balance at 

beginning 

period   Additions  

 Amounts 

collected  

 Amounts 

written 

off  

 Balance at end 

period  

Gotamco Realty Investment Corporation P=1,153,804,591 P=– (P=48,905,500) P=– P=1,104,899,091 P=1,104,899,091 P=1,104,899,091 P=– 

Anchor Properties Corporation  184,990,332  452,886,278 – – 637,876,610 637,876,610 637,876,610 – 

Basiclink Equity Investment Corp.  437,844,290  18,004,150 – – 455,848,440  455,848,440  455,848,440  – 

Nusantara Holdings, Inc.  171,669,111  17,593,543 – –  189,262,654   189,262,654   189,262,654  – 

Admiral Realty Company, Inc. – 123,378,980 – – 123,378,980  123,378,980  123,378,980  – 

Globeway Property Ventures, Inc.  19,755,977  69,726,225 – – 89,482,202 89,482,202 89,482,202 – 

1080 Soler Corp.  1,333,035  2,100 – – 1,335,135 1,335,135 1,335,135 – 

Anchor Land Global Corporation  999,800  150 – –  999,950   999,950   999,950  – 

Realty & Development Corporation of  

San Buenaventura  500  1,000 – –  1,500   1,500   1,500  – 

  P=1,970,397,636 P=681,592,426 (P=48,905,500) P=– P=2,603,084,562 P=2,603,084,562 P=2,603,084,562 P=– 

         

   Amounts payable by Subsidiaries to Anchor Properties Corporation (APC)  

Name of subsidiary 

 Receivable balance per APC  

 Payable 

balance per 

subsidiary   Current  

 Non-

current  

 Balance at 

beginning 

period   Additions  

 Amounts 

collected  

 Amounts 

written 

off  

 Balance at end 

period  

Nusantara Holdings, Inc. P=61,631,697 P=96,954,094 P=– P=– P=158,585,791 P=158,585,791 P=158,585,791 P=– 

1080 Soler Corp.  24,979,520   2,400  – –  24,981,920   24,981,920   24,981,920  – 

Globeway Property Ventures, Inc.  1,561,111   5,221,934  – –  6,783,045   6,783,045   6,783,045  – 

Basiclink Equity Investment Corp.  5,025,365  – – –  5,025,365   5,025,365   5,025,365  – 

Momentum Properties Management Corporation  160   202,290  – –  202,450   202,450   202,450  – 

Anchor Land Global Corporation –  20  – –  20   20   20  – 

  P=93,197,853 P=102,380,738 P=– P=– P=195,578,591 P=195,578,591 P=195,578,591 P=– 

 
(Forward)         
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   Amounts payable by Subsidiaries to Gotamco Realty Investment Corporation (GRIC)  

Name of subsidiary 

 Receivable balance per GRIC  

 Payable 

balance per 

subsidiary   Current  

 Non-

current  

 Balance at 

beginning 

period   Additions  

 Amounts 

collected  

 Amounts 

written 

off  

 Balance at end 

period  

Anchor Properties Corporation P=679,120,741 P=– (P=124,456,033) P=– P=554,664,708 P=554,664,708 P=554,664,708 P=– 

Admiral Realty Company, Inc. –     218,290,338  – –  218,290,338   218,290,338   218,290,338  – 

Basiclink Equity Investment Corp.  3,610,106  –    – –  3,610,106   3,610,106   3,610,106  – 

1080 Soler Corp.  1,251,069   1,510  – –  1,252,579   1,252,579   1,252,579  – 

Momentum Properties Management Corporation  294,180  – – –  294,180   294,180   294,180  – 

Globeway Property Ventures, Inc.  39,702  – – –  39,702   39,702   39,702  – 

  P=684,315,798 P=218,291,848 (P=124,456,033) P=– P=778,151,613 P=778,151,613 P=778,151,613 P=– 

         

         

   Amounts payable by Subsidiaries to Admiral Realty Company, Inc. (ARCI)  

Name of subsidiary 

 Receivable balance per ARCI  

 Payable 

balance per 

subsidiary   Current  

 Non-

current  

 Balance at 

beginning 

period   Additions  

 Amounts 

collected  

 Amounts 

written 

off  

 Balance at end 

period  

Anchor Properties Corporation P=119,041,100 P=– (P=96,655,784) P=– P=22,385,316 P=22,385,316 P=22,385,316 P=– 

Nusantara Holdings, Inc.  8,950,929   2,467,595  – –  11,418,524   11,418,524   11,418,524  – 

Basiclink Equity Investment Corp.  15,031,329  –  (6,000,000) –  9,031,329   9,031,329   9,031,329  – 

1080 Soler Corp.  1,065,574  – – –  1,065,574   1,065,574   1,065,574  – 

Frontier Harbor Property Development, Inc. –  22,510  – –  22,510   22,510   22,510   

Gotamco Realty Investment Corporation  45,896,227  –  (45,896,227) – – – – – 

Posh Properties Development Corporation  33,509,393  –  (33,509,393) – – – – – 

  P=223,494,552 P=2,490,105  (P=182,061,404) P=– P=43,923,253 P=43,923,253 P=43,923,253 P=– 

 
(Forward)         
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   Amounts payable by Subsidiaries to Momentum Properties Management Corporation (MPMC)  

Name of subsidiary 

 Receivable balance per MPMC  

 Payable 

balance per 

subsidiary   Current  

 Non-

current  

 Balance at 

beginning 

period   Additions  

 Amounts 

collected  

 Amounts 

written 

off  

 Balance at end 

period  

Eisenglas Aluminum and Glass, Inc. P=9,750,000  P=– P=– P=– P=9,750,000  P=9,750,000  P=9,750,000  P=– 

Posh Properties Development Corporation 2,852,559 – (1,229) – 2,851,330 2,851,330 2,851,330 – 

  P=12,602,559  P=– (P=1,229) P=– P=12,601,330 P=12,601,330 P=12,601,330 P=– 

         

   Amounts payable by Subsidiaries to Globeway Property Ventures, Inc. (GPVI)  

Name of subsidiary 

 Receivable balance per GPVI  

 Payable 

balance per 

subsidiary   Current  

 Non-

current  

 Balance at 

beginning 

period   Additions  

 Amounts 

collected  

 Amounts 

written 

off  

 Balance at end 

period  

Anchor Land Global Corporation P=4,309,697  P=– P=– P=– P=4,309,697  P=4,309,697  P=4,309,697  P=– 

Admiral Realty Company, Inc. 75 – – – 75  75  75  – 

  P=4,309,772 P=– P=– P=– P=4,309,772 P=4,309,772 P=4,309,772 P=– 

         

   Amounts payable by Subsidiary to Basiclink Equity Investment Corp. (BEIC)  

Name of subsidiary 

 Receivable balance per BEIC  

 Payable 

balance per 

subsidiary   Current  

 Non-

current  

 Balance at 

beginning 

period   Additions  

 Amounts 

collected  

 Amounts 

written 

off  

 Balance at end 

period  

1080 Soler Corp. P=3,932,411 P=– P=– P=– P=3,932,411  P=3,932,411  P=3,932,411  P=– 

 

   Amounts payable by Subsidiaries to Nusantara Holdings, Inc. (NHI)  

Name of subsidiary 

 Receivable balance per NHI  

 Payable 

balance per 

subsidiary   Current  

 Non-

current  

 Balance at 

beginning 

period   Additions  

 Amounts 

collected  

 Amounts 

written 

off  

 Balance at end 

period  

Gotamco Realty Investment Corporation P=11,263,449 P=5,825,955 P=– P=– P=17,089,404 P=17,089,404 P=17,089,404 P=– 

1080 Soler Corp. 5,879,520 – – – 5,879,520 5,879,520 5,879,520 – 

  P=17,142,969 P=5,825,955 P=– P=– P=22,968,924 P=22,968,924 P=22,968,924 P=– 

  

 (Forward) 
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   Amounts payable by Subsidiaries to Irenealemeda Realty, Inc. (IRI)  

Name of subsidiary 

 Receivable balance per IRI  

 Payable 

balance per 

subsidiary   Current  

 Non-

current  

 Balance at 

beginning 

period   Additions  

 Amounts 

collected  

 Amounts 

written 

off  

 Balance at end 

period  

Gotamco Realty Investment Corporation P=83,800,951 P=– P=– P=– P=83,800,951 P=83,800,951 P=83,800,951 P=– 
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES 

SCHEDULE D – INTANGIBLE ASSETS – OTHER ASSETS 

As of December 31, 2016 

 

 

 

 

Description 

 

 

Beginning 

Balance 

 

 

 

Additions at 

cost 

 

 

Charged to cost 

and expenses 

 

Charged to 

other 

accounts 

 

Other changes 

additions 

(deductions) 

 

 

 

Ending 

Balance 

Software cost P=1,744,225 P=370,321 P=335,912 P=– P=– P=1,778,634 
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES 

SCHEDULE E – LONG TERM DEBT 

As of December 31, 2016 

 

Title of issue 

and type of 

obligation 

Amount 

authorized by 

indenture 

Amount shown 

under 

caption "Current 

portion of 

long-term debt" in 

related 

balance sheet 

Amount shown 

under caption 

"Long-Term Debt" 

in related balance 

sheet Interest rates 

Amounts or number of periodic 

installments Maturity date 

Short-term 
loans 

P=851,000,000 P=851,000,000 P=– 3.00% to 
4.00% 

Full payment upon maturity Jan-17 to  
Mar-17 

Long-term 
loan 

500,000,000 – 500,000,000 4.60% Full payment upon maturity 29-Jun-18 

Long-term 
loan 

250,000,000 – 250,000,000 5.96% to 

6.49% 

Full payment upon maturity 30-June-18 

Long-term 
loan 

50,000,000 – 50,000,000 5.77% Full payment upon maturity 30-June-18 

Long-term 
loan 

180,000,000 – 180,000,000 4.50% Full payment upon maturity 28-Sep-18 

Long-term 
loan 

 490,000,000   5,000,000   485,000,000  6.00% Annual principal repayments of 1.00% 

starting end of the second year from 

initial drawdown date, and every year 

thereafter; remaining balance upon 

maturity 

26-Dec-20 

Long-term 
loan 

420,000,000  – 420,000,000  5.25% P=50.0 million shall be due on  

December 20, 2018; P=50.0 million shall 

be due on December 20, 2019; 

remaining balance upon maturity 

31-Dec-20 

Long-term 
loan 

3,700,000,000  200,000,000 3,500,000,000  4.50% to 

7.07% 

Annual principal payments starting 

2015 until 2018; remaining balance 

upon maturity 

26-Mar-21 

       

(Forward)  
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Title of issue 

and type of 

obligation 

Amount 

authorized by 

indenture 

Amount shown 

under caption 

"Current portion of 

balance sheet 

Amount shown 

under caption 

"Long-Term Debt" 

in related balance 

sheet Interest rates 

Amounts or number of periodic 

installments Maturity date 

Long-term 
loan 

P=495,000,000 P=5,000,000  P=490,000,000  6.00% Annual principal repayments of 1.00% 

starting end of the second year from 

initial drawdown date, and every year 

thereafter; remaining balance upon 

maturity 

17-Dec-21 

Long-term 
loan 

1,081,125,000  36,000,000  1,045,125,000  7.07% for the 

first five years 

and 7.89% for 

the succeeding 

years until 

maturity 

Quarterly principal repayments of 

0.75% from the 1st to 36th quarter; 

remaining balance upon maturity 

27-Jan-23 

Long-term 
loan 

1,427,300,000  – 1,427,300,000  5.50% for the 

first five years 

and 5.75% for 

the succeeding 

years until 

maturity 

2% payable on the 5th year, 4% payable 

on the 6th year, 6% payable on the 7th 

year, 8% payable on the 8th year, 10% 

payable on the 9th year, balance 

payable upon maturity 

30-Mar-26 

Receivable 
financing 

1,667,229,568  893,470,418  773,759,150  3.50% to 

4.88% 

Equal monthly installments until 

maturity 

Various 

Notes payable 2,098,160 1,149,064  949,096  3.83% to 

8.96%; subject 

to monthly 

repricing 

Equal monthly installments until 

maturity 

Various 
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES 

SCHEDULE F – INDEBTEDNESS TO RELATED PARTIES (LONG-TERM LOANS FROM 

RELATED PARTIES) 

As of December 31, 2016 

 

 

Name of related party 

Balance at beginning of 

period 

 

Balance at end of period 

Not Applicable 
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES 

SCHEDULE G – GUARANTEES OF SECURITIES OF OTHER ISSUERS 

As of December 31, 2016 

 

Name of issuing entity 

of securities 

guaranteed by the 

company for which 

this statement is filed 

 

Title of issue of 

each class of 

securities 

guaranteed 

 

 

Total amount 

guaranteed and 

outstanding 

 

 

Amount owned by 

person for which 

statement is filed 

 

 

 

Nature of 

guarantee 

Not Applicable 
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES 

SCHEDULE H – CAPITAL STOCK 

As of December 31, 2016 

 

Title of issue 

Number of shares 

authorized 

Number of shares issued and 

outstanding at shown under 

related balance sheet caption 

Number of shares reserved for 

options, warrants, conversion 

and other rights 

Number of shares 

held by related 

parties 

Directors, 

officers and 

employees Others 

Common 3,500,000,000  1,040,001,000  
 
– 

 
– 171,913,296  N/A  

Preferred 1,300,00,000   346,667,000  
 
– 

 
– 57,345,130   N/A  
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES 

SCHEDULE I – RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND 

DECLARATION  

For the year ended December 31, 2016 

 

 

 

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, beginning  P=1,015,754,219 
Adjustments:   

 Amortization of discount on loans  (14,692,766) 

 Deferred tax asset that reduced income tax expense in prior year  (9,729,679) 

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted to available for dividend 

distribution, beginning  991,331,774 

Net income during the year closed to Retained Earnings  307,975,600 

Deduct: Deferred tax asset that reduced income tax expense during the year  (1,572,064) 

Net income actually earned during the year  306,403,536 

Less: Cash dividend declaration during the year  (79,733,410) 

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, end  

available for dividend distribution  P=1,218,001,900 
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES 

SCHEDULE J – MAP OF THE RELATIONSHIPS OF THE COMPANIES WITHIN THE GROUP 

December 31, 2016 
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES 

SCHEDULE K - SCHEDULE OF ALL THE EFFECTIVE STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

UNDER THE PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (PFRS) 

Supplementary Information Required Under Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, As Amended (2011) 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016 

 

 

PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND 

INTERPRETATIONS 

Effective as of December 31, 2016 Adopted 

Not 

Adopted 

Not 

Applicable 

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements  

Conceptual Framework Phase A: Objectives and qualitative characteristics  
   

PFRSs Practice Statement Management Commentary    

Philippine Financial Reporting Standards    

PFRS 1 

(Revised)  

First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards    

Amendments to PFRS 1 and PAS 27: Cost of an Investment in a 

Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate 
   

Amendments to PFRS 1: Additional Exemptions for First-time 

Adopters 
   

Amendment to PFRS 1: Limited Exemption from Comparative 

PFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters   
   

Amendments to PFRS 1: Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of 

Fixed Date for First-time Adopters   
   

Amendments to PFRS 1: Government Loans    

Amendments to PFRS 1: Borrowing costs    

Amendments to PFRS 1: Meaning of ‘Effective PFRSs’    

PFRS 2  Share-based Payment     

Amendments to PFRS 2: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations    

Amendments to PFRS 2: Group Cash-settled Share-based 

Payment Transactions 

 
 

 

Amendments to PFRS 2: Definition of Vesting Condition    

PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement 

of Share-based Payment Transactions 

 
 

 

PFRS 3 

(Revised)  

Business Combinations     

Amendments to PFRS 3: Accounting for Contingent 

Consideration in a Business Combination 
   

Amendments to PFRS 3: Scope Exceptions for Joint 

Arrangements 
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PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND 

INTERPRETATIONS 

Effective as of December 31, 2016 Adopted 

Not 

Adopted 

Not 

Applicable 

PFRS 4  Insurance Contracts     

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial Guarantee 

Contracts 
   

 PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial 

Instruments, with PFRS 4 
Not early adopted 

PFRS 5  Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations    

Amendments to PFRS 5: Changes in Methods of Disposal    

PFRS 6  Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources     

PFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures     

Amendments to PFRS 7: Transition    

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of 

Financial Assets 
   

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of 

Financial Assets - Effective Date and Transition 
   

Amendments to PFRS 7: Improving Disclosures about Financial 

Instruments 
   

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Transfers of Financial 

Assets 
   

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial 

Assets and Financial Liabilities 
   

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts    

Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed 

Interim Financial Statements 
   

PFRS 8  Operating Segments     

Amendments to PFRS 8: Aggregation of Operating Segments 

and Reconciliation of the Total of the Reportable Segments’ 

Assets to the Entity’s Assets 

   

PFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement (2010 

version) 
Not early adopted 

Financial Instruments - Hedge Accounting and amendments to 

PFRS 9, PFRS 7 and PAS 39 (2013 version) 
Not early adopted 

Financial Instruments (2014 or final version) Not early adopted 

PFRS 10  Consolidated Financial Statements    

Amendments to PFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying the 

Consolidation Exception 

   

 Amendments to PFRS 10, Sale or Contribution of Assets 

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

Not early adopted 

PFRS 11 Joint Arrangements    



18 
 

PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND 

INTERPRETATIONS 

Effective as of December 31, 2016 Adopted 

Not 

Adopted 

Not 

Applicable 

Amendments to PFRS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of 

Interests in Joint Operations 
   

PFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities    

 Amendments to PFRS 12: Investment Entities: Applying the 

Consolidation Exception 
   

PFRS 12, Clarification of the Scope of the Standard Not early adopted 

PFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement    

Amendments to PFRS 13: Short-term receivable and payables    

Amendments to PFRS 13: Portfolio Exception    

PFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts    

PFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers Not early adopted 

PFRS 16 Leases Not early adopted 

Philippine Accounting Standards    

PAS 1 

(Revised)  

Presentation of Financial Statements     

Amendment to PAS 1: Capital Disclosures     

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable Financial 

Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 
   

Amendments to PAS 1: Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income 

   

Amendments to PAS 1: Clarification of the requirements for 
comparative information 

   

Presentation of Financial Statements – Disclosure Initiative    

PAS 2  Inventories     

PAS 7  Statement of Cash Flows     

PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, Disclosure Initiative Not early adopted 

PAS 8  Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 

Errors 
   

PAS 10  Events after the Reporting Period    

PAS 11  Construction Contracts     

PAS 12  Income Taxes     

Amendment to PAS 12: Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying 

Assets 
   

 PAS 12, Income Taxes, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 

Unrealized Losses 
Not early adopted 
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PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND 

INTERPRETATIONS 

Effective as of December 31, 2016 Adopted 

Not 

Adopted 

Not 

Applicable 

PAS 16  Property, Plant and Equipment     

 Amendment to PAS 16: Classification of servicing equipment    

Amendment to PAS 16: Revaluation Method - Proportionate 

Restatement of Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization 
   

Amendment to PAS 16: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 

Depreciation and Amortization 
   

Amendment to PAS 16: Bearer Plants    

PAS 17  Leases     

PAS 18  Revenue     

PAS 19 

(Amended)  

Employee Benefits    

Amendments to PAS 19: Defined Benefit Plans: Employee 

Contributions 
   

 Amendments to PAS 19: Regional Market Issue regarding 

Discount Rate 
   

PAS 20  Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 

Government Assistance 
   

PAS 21  The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates     

Amendment: Net Investment in a Foreign Operation     

PAS 23 

(Revised)  

Borrowing Costs  
   

PAS 24 

(Revised)  

Related Party Disclosures     

Amendments to PAS 24: Key Management Personnel    

PAS 26  Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans    

PAS 27 

(Amended) 

Amendments to PAS 27: Separate Financial Statements    

Amendments to PAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial 

Statements 
   

PAS 28 

(Amended) 

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures    

Amendments to PAS 28: Investment Entities: Applying the 

Consolidation Exception 
   

PAS 28, Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value Not early adopted 

Amendments to PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between 

an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
Not early adopted 

PAS 29  Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies     

PAS 31  Interests in Joint Ventures     
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PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND 

INTERPRETATIONS 

Effective as of December 31, 2016 Adopted 

Not 

Adopted 

Not 

Applicable 

PAS 32  Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation    

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable Financial 

Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 
   

Amendment to PAS 32: Classification of Rights Issues     

Amendments to PAS 32: Tax effect of Distribution to Holders of 

Equity Instruments 
   

Amendments to PAS 32: Offsetting Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities 
   

PAS 33  Earnings per Share     

PAS 34  Interim Financial Reporting     

Amendments to PAS 34: Interim Financial Reporting and 

Segment Information for Total Assets and Liabilities 
   

Amendments to PAS 34: – Disclosure of Information 

‘Elsewhere in the Interim Financial Report 
Not early adopted 

PAS 36  Impairment of Assets     

Amendments to PAS 36: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for 

Non-Financial Assets 
   

PAS 37  Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets    

PAS 38  Intangible Assets     

Amendments to PAS 38: Revaluation Method - Proportionate 

Restatement of Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization 
   

Amendment to PAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 

Depreciation and Amortization 
   

PAS 39  Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement     

Amendments to PAS 39: Transition and Initial Recognition of 

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
   

Amendments to PAS 39: Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of 

Forecast Intragroup Transactions 
   

Amendments to PAS 39: The Fair Value Option     

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial Guarantee 

Contracts 
   

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of 

Financial Assets 
   

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of 

Financial Assets - Effective Date and Transition 
   

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-9 and PAS 39: 

Embedded Derivatives 
   

Amendment to PAS 39: Eligible Hedged Items     
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PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND 

INTERPRETATIONS 

Effective as of December 31, 2016 Adopted 

Not 

Adopted 

Not 

Applicable 

Amendment to PAS 39: Novation of Derivatives and 

Continuation of Hedge Accounting 
   

PAS 40  Investment Property     

Amendment to PAS 40: Interrelationship between PFRS 3 and 

PAS 40 
   

PAS 40, Investment Property, Transfers of Investment Property Not early adopted 

PAS 41  Agriculture     

Amendment to PAS 41: Bearer Plants    

Philippine Interpretations    

IFRIC 1  Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar 

Liabilities 
   

IFRIC 2  Members' Share in Co-operative Entities and Similar 

Instruments 
   

IFRIC 4  Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease    

IFRIC 5  Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration 

and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds 
   

IFRIC 6  Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market - 

Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment 
   

IFRIC 7  Applying the Restatement Approach under PAS 29 Financial 

Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies  
   

IFRIC 8  Scope of PFRS 2     

IFRIC 9  Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives     

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-9 and PAS 39: 

Embedded Derivatives 
   

IFRIC 10  Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment     

IFRIC 11  PFRS 2- Group and Treasury Share Transactions     

IFRIC 12  Service Concession Arrangements     

IFRIC 13  Customer Loyalty Programmes     

IFRIC 14  The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 

Requirements and their Interaction 
   

Amendments to Philippine Interpretations IFRIC- 14, 

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 
   

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate Not early adopted 

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation     

IFRIC 17  Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners     

IFRIC 18  Transfers of Assets from Customers     
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PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND 

INTERPRETATIONS 

Effective as of December 31, 2016 Adopted 

Not 

Adopted 

Not 

Applicable 

IFRIC 19  Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments    

IFRIC 20  Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine    

IFRIC 21 Levies    

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration Not early adopted 

SIC-7  Introduction of the Euro     

SIC-10  Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to Operating 

Activities 
   

SIC-12  Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities     

Amendment to SIC - 12: Scope of SIC 12     

SIC-13  Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary Contributions by 

Venturers 
   

SIC-15  Operating Leases - Incentives     

SIC-21  Income Taxes - Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets    

SIC-25  Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or its 

Shareholders 
   

SIC-27  Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 

Form of a Lease 
   

SIC-29  Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures     

SIC-31  Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services    

SIC-32  Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Anchor Land Holdings, Inc.

Report on the Audit of the Parent Company Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. (the Parent
Company), which comprise the parent company statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016
and 2015, and the parent company statements of comprehensive income, parent company statements of
changes in equity and parent company statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the
parent company financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying parent company financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs).  Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Parent Company Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Parent
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of
Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the parent company
financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Parent Company
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the parent company financial
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of parent company financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Parent
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Parent Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Parent Company’s financial reporting
process.

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
1226 Makati City
Philippines

Tel: (632) 891 0307
Fax: (632) 819 0872
ey.com/ph

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,
   December 14, 2015, valid until December 31, 2018
SEC Accreditation No. 0012-FR-4 (Group A),
   November 10, 2015, valid until November 9, 2018

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Parent Company Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent company financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these parent company financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:

∂ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the parent company financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

∂ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Parent Company’s internal control.

∂ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

∂ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the parent company financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the
Parent Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

∂ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the parent company financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the parent company financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Report on the Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulations 15-2010

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the parent company financial
statements taken as a whole.  The supplementary information required under Revenue Regulations
15-2010 as presented in a separate schedule to the parent company financial statements is presented for
purposes of filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and is not a required part of the basic parent
company financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of the management of Anchor Land
Holdings, Inc.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the
basic parent company financial statements.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the basic parent company financial statements taken as a whole.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jessie D. Cabaluna.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Jessie D. Cabaluna
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 36317
SEC Accreditation No. 0069-AR-4 (Group A),
 May 1, 2016, valid until May 1, 2019
Tax Identification No. 102-082-365
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-10-2015,
 March 24, 2015, valid until March 23, 2018
PTR No. 5908676, January 3, 2017, Makati City

March 27, 2017

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC.
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31
2016 2015

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=51,123,170 P=29,095,115
Receivables (Notes 5 and 12) 413,896,893 99,013,812
Real estate for development and sale (Notes 6 and 12) 281,556,239 290,831,943
Receivable from related parties (Note 14) 1,816,656,321 2,244,204,406
Other current assets (Note 7) 203,035,818 200,861,507

2,766,268,441 2,864,006,783

Noncurrent Assets
Receivables - net of current portion (Note 5) 39,547,968 108,254,564
Investments in subsidiaries (Note 8) 744,782,229 744,782,229
Property and equipment (Notes 9 and 12) 12,293,305 19,374,690
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 18) 16,301,666 18,669,822
Other noncurrent assets (Note 10) 9,866,583 9,901,672

822,791,751 900,982,977

P=3,589,060,192 P=3,764,989,760

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Accounts and other payables (Note 11) P=37,322,676 P=42,704,207
Current portion of loans payable (Note 12) 226,774,658 580,832,922
Customers’ deposits (Note 13) 4,325,588 1,326,966
Payable to a related party (Note 14) – 26,536,835

268,422,922 651,400,930

Noncurrent Liabilities
Retention payable - net of current portion (Note 11) – 10,389,963
Loans payable - net of current portion (Note 12) 7,092,327 23,945,012
Pension liabilities (Note 17) 31,102,632 34,247,579

38,194,959 68,582,554
306,617,881 719,983,484

Equity (Note 19)
Capital stock

Common stock 1,040,001,000 1,040,001,000
Preferred stock 346,667,000 346,667,000

Additional paid-in capital 632,687,284 632,687,284
Other comprehensive income 19,090,618 9,896,773
Retained earnings 1,243,996,409 1,015,754,219

3,282,442,311 3,045,006,276

P=3,589,060,192 P=3,764,989,760

See accompanying Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements.



*SGVFS022531*

ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC.
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31
2016 2015

REVENUE
Real estate sales P=19,613,703 P=118,712,459
Dividend income (Notes 5 and 14) 310,200,000 –
Interest and other income (Notes 4, 5 and 15) 103,753,702 87,968,036

433,567,405 206,680,495

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Real estate (Notes 6 and 16) 22,271,663 84,027,656
Selling and administrative (Note 16) 100,695,122 77,774,157
Finance costs (Notes 12 and 17) 3,576,461 4,855,430

126,543,246 166,657,243

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 307,024,159 40,023,252

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM)
 INCOME TAX (Note 18) (951,441) 12,603,778

NET INCOME 307,975,600 27,419,474

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in
 subsequent periods:

Actuarial gain on pension liabilities (Note 17) 13,134,065 10,440,506
Income tax effect (Note 18) (3,940,220) (3,132,152)

9,193,845 7,308,354

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P=317,169,445 P=34,727,828

See accompanying Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements.
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC.
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Years Ended December 31
2016 2015

COMMON STOCK (Note 19) P=1,040,001,000 P=1,040,001,000

PREFERRED STOCK (Note 19) 346,667,000 346,667,000

ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL 632,687,284 632,687,284

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Balance at beginning of year 9,896,773 2,588,419
Other comprehensive income 9,193,845 7,308,354
Balance at end of year 19,090,618 9,896,773

RETAINED EARNINGS (Note 19)
Balance at beginning of year 1,015,754,219 1,088,868,175
Net income 307,975,600 27,419,474
Cash dividends (79,733,410) (100,533,430)
Balance at end of year 1,243,996,409 1,015,754,219

P=3,282,442,311 P=3,045,006,276

See accompanying Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements.
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC.
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31
2016 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax P=307,024,159 P=40,023,252
Adjustments for:

Dividend income (Notes 5 and 14) (310,200,000) –
Pension costs (Note 17) 9,989,118 11,081,095
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 9, 10 and 16) 9,552,560 11,177,869
Finance costs (Note 12) 1,833,259 3,356,558
Interest income (Note 15) (3,031,742) (3,604,131)

Operating income before changes in working capital 15,167,354 62,034,643
Decrease (increase) in:

Receivables 64,023,515 100,678,662
Real estate for development and sale 9,275,704 15,543,922
Other current assets (5,002,266) (6,810,583)
Utility and security deposits 50,302 (180,270)

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts and other payables 786,172 (8,446,007)
Customers’ deposits 2,998,622 (13,225,626)

Net cash provided by operations 87,299,403 149,594,741
Interest received 3,031,742 3,604,131
Interest paid (9,165,586) (3,356,558)
Income taxes paid (7,018,007) (1,190,612)
Net cash provided by operating activities 74,147,552 148,651,702

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Decrease (increase) in:

Receivable from related parties 427,548,085 (118,072,372)
Other noncurrent asset – 1,100,000

Acquisitions of property and equipment (Note 9) (2,142,852) (2,887,185)
Additions to software costs (Note 10) (343,536) –
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 425,061,697 (119,859,557)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from loan availments (Note 12) 600,000,000 741,304,478
Payments of:

Loans (Note 12) (970,910,949) (702,078,630)
Dividends (Note 19) (79,733,410) (100,533,430)

Increase (decrease) in payable to a related party (26,536,835) 26,536,835
Net cash used in financing activities (477,181,194) (34,770,747)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 22,028,055 (5,978,602)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 29,095,115 35,073,717

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR (Note 4) P=51,123,170 P=29,095,115

See accompanying Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements.
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ANCHOR LAND HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information

Anchor Land Holdings, Inc. (the Parent Company) was incorporated in the Philippines and
registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on July 29, 2004.  The
Parent Company is primarily organized to buy, own, acquire, lease, exchange or otherwise deal in
real estate and develop, improve, subdivide, operate or manage such real estate so acquired and to
erect or cause to be erected on any land owned, held, or occupied by the Parent Company, housing
projects, buildings or other structures, engage and develop condominium project on any land
and/or building held or occupied by the corporation and to lease, mortgage and sell the same.  The
Parent Company started operations on November 25, 2005 and eventually traded its shares to the
public in August 2007.  The registered office address of the Parent Company is at 11th Floor,
L.V. Locsin Building, 6752 Ayala Avenue corner Makati Avenue, Makati City.

The parent company financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors
(BOD) on March 27, 2017.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The parent company financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost basis.  The
parent company financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (P=), the Parent Company’s
functional currency.  All amounts are rounded to the nearest peso, except when otherwise
indicated.

Statement of Compliance
The parent company financial statements are prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRSs).  The Parent Company also prepares and issues consolidated
financial statements for the same period as a separate set of financial statements prepared in
compliance with PFRSs which are available at the Parent Company’s principal place of business.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the parent company financial statements are
consistent with those of the previous financial years except for the adoption of new PFRSs,
amended PFRSs and improvements to PFRSs which were adopted beginning January 1, 2016.

The nature and impact of each new standard and amendment are described below:

∂ Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure
Initiative (Amendments)
The amendments are intended to assist entities in applying judgment when meeting the
presentation and disclosure requirements in PFRSs.  They clarify the following:
- That entities shall not reduce the understandability of their financial statements by either

obscuring material information with immaterial information; or aggregating material items
that have different natures or functions

- That specific line items in the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of
financial position may be disaggregated

- That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial
statements
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- That the share of other comprehensive income (OCI) of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method must be presented in aggregate as a single line
item, and classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss.

These amendments do not have any material impact on the Parent Company.

∂ PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Investment Entities:
Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments)
These amendments clarify that the exemption in PFRS 10 from presenting consolidated
financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity that
measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value and that only a subsidiary of an investment entity
that is not an investment entity itself and that provides support services to the investment
entity parent is consolidated.  The amendments also allow an investor (that is not an
investment entity and has an investment entity associate or joint venture), when applying the
equity method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity associate
or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.  These amendments are not applicable to the
Parent Company since the Parent Company is not an investment entity nor does the Parent
Company have investment entity associates or joint venture.

∂ PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
(Amendments)
The amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements.  Entities
already applying PFRSs and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial
statements will have to apply that change retrospectively.  These amendments do not have any
impact on the parent company financial statements.

∂ PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
(Amendments)
The amendments to PFRS 11 require a joint operator that is accounting for the acquisition of
an interest in a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes business
(as defined by PFRS 3, Business Combinations), to apply the relevant PFRS 3 principles for
business combinations accounting.  The amendments also clarify that a previously held
interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the
same joint operation while joint control is retained.  In addition, a scope exclusion has been
added to PFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties sharing joint
control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the same ultimate
controlling party.

The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the
acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation.  These amendments do not
have any impact to the Parent Company as there has been no interest acquired in a joint
operation during the period.

∂ PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts
PFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rate-
regulation, to continue applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral
account balances upon its first-time adoption of PFRSs.  Entities that adopt PFRS 14 must
present the regulatory deferral accounts as separate line items in the statement of financial
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position and present movements in these account balances as separate line items in the
statement of comprehensive income.  The standard requires disclosures on the nature of, and
risks associated with, the entity’s rate-regulation and the effects of that rate-regulation on its
financial statements.  This standard does not apply since the Parent Company is not a first-
time adopter of PFRSs.

∂ PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41, Agriculture - Bearer Plants
(Amendments)
The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the
definition of bearer plants.  Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition
of bearer plants will no longer be within the scope of PAS 41.  Instead, PAS 16 will apply.
After initial recognition, bearer plants will be measured under PAS 16 at accumulated cost
(before maturity) and using either the cost model or revaluation model (after maturity).  The
amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain in the scope of
PAS 41 measured at fair value less costs to sell.  For government grants related to bearer
plants, PAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance,
will apply.  These amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Parent Company as
the Parent Company does not have any bearer plants.

∂ PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization (Amendments)
The amendments clarify the principle in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of
economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part)
rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset.  As a result, a
revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may
only be used in very limited circumstances to amortize intangible assets.  These amendments
do not have any impact to the Parent Company given that the Parent Company has not used a
revenue-based method to depreciate its non-current assets.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 cycle) are effective January 1, 2016 and did not
have material impact on the financial statements, unless otherwise stated.  They include:

∂ PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in Methods
of Disposal (Amendment)
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that changing from a disposal through
sale to a disposal through distribution to owners and vice-versa should not be considered to be
a new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan.  There is, therefore, no
interruption of the application of the requirements in PFRS 5.  The amendment also clarifies
that changing the disposal method does not change the date of classification.

∂ PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts (Amendment)
PFRS 7 requires an entity to provide disclosures for any continuing involvement in a
transferred asset that is derecognized in its entirety.  The amendment clarifies that a servicing
contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset.  An
entity must assess the nature of the fee and arrangement against the guidance for continuing
involvement in PFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required.  The
amendment is to be applied such that the assessment of which servicing contracts constitute
continuing involvement will need to be done retrospectively.  However, comparative
disclosures are not required to be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in
which the entity first applies the amendments.
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∂ PFRS 7 - Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial
Statements (Amendment)
This amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the disclosures on offsetting of
financial assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial
report unless they provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent
annual report.

∂ PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Regional Market Issue Regarding Discount Rate (Amendment)
This amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that market depth of high quality
corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which the obligation is denominated,
rather than the country where the obligation is located.  When there is no deep market for high
quality corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used.

∂ PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - Disclosure of Information ‘Elsewhere in the Interim
Financial Report’ (Amendment)
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the required interim disclosures
must either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference between
the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim
financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report).

Standards and Interpretation Issued but Not yet Effective
Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below.  Unless otherwise indicated, the
Parent Company does not expect the future adoption of these pronouncements to have a
significant impact on its financial statements.  The Parent Company intends to adopt the following
pronouncements when they become effective.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2017

∂ Amendments to PFRS 12, Clarification of the Scope of the Standard (Part of Annual
Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle)
The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in PFRS 12, other than those relating
to summarized financial information, apply to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint
venture or an associate (or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or an associate) that is
classified (or included in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale.

The Parent Company will include the required disclosures in its 2017 financial statements.

∂ Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, Disclosure Initiative
The amendments to PAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign
exchange gains or losses).  On initial application of the amendments, entities are not required
to provide comparative information for preceding periods.  Early application of the
amendments is permitted.

Application of amendments will result in additional disclosures in the 2017 financial
statements of the Parent Company.
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∂ Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized
Losses
The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources
of taxable profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible
temporary difference.  Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity
should determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit
may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount.

Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively.  However, on initial application
of the amendments, the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may
be recognized in opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, as
appropriate), without allocating the change between opening retained earnings and other
components of equity.  Entities applying this relief must disclose that fact.  Early application
of the amendments is permitted.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2018

∂ Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions
The amendments to PFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the
measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-
based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and
the accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment
transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity settled.

On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but
retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and if other criteria
are met.  Early application of the amendments is permitted.

∂ Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with
PFRS 4
The amendments address concerns arising from implementing PFRS 9, the new financial
instruments standard, before implementing the forthcoming insurance contracts standard.
They allow entities to choose between the overlay approach and the deferral approach to deal
with the transitional challenges.  The overlay approach gives all entities that issue insurance
contracts the option to recognize in OCI, rather than profit or loss, the volatility that could
arise when PFRS 9 is applied before the new insurance contracts standard is issued.  On the
other hand, the deferral approach gives entities whose activities are predominantly connected
with insurance an optional temporary exemption from applying PFRS 9 until the earlier of
application of the forthcoming insurance contracts standard or January 1, 2021.

The overlay approach and the deferral approach will only be available to an entity if it has not
previously applied PFRS 9.

∂ PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
PFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts
with customers.  Under PFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer.  The principles in PFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to
measuring and recognizing revenue.
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The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under PFRSs.  Either a full or modified retrospective application is
required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

The Parent Company is currently assessing the impact of PFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new
standard on the required effectivity date.

∂ PFRS 9, Financial Instruments
PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of PFRS 9.  The
standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and
hedge accounting.  PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, with early application permitted.  Retrospective application is required, but
providing comparative information is not compulsory.  For hedge accounting, the
requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions.

The adoption of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the
Parent Company’s financial assets and impairment methodology for financial assets, but will
have no impact on the classification and measurement of the Parent Company’s financial
liabilities.  The Parent Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard.

∂ Amendments to PAS 28, Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value (Part of
Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle)
The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organization, or other
qualifying entity, may elect, at initial recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to
measure its investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss
(FVPL).  They also clarify that if an entity that is not itself an investment entity has an interest
in an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity, the entity may, when applying the
equity method, elect to retain the fair value measurement applied by that investment entity
associate or joint venture to the investment entity associate’s or joint venture’s interests in
subsidiaries.  This election is made separately for each investment entity associate or joint
venture, at the later of the date on which (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is
initially recognized; (b) the associate or joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c)
the investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent.  The amendments
should be applied retrospectively, with earlier application permitted.

∂ Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Transfers of Investment Property
The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under
construction or development into, or out of investment property.  The amendments state that a
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment
property and there is evidence of the change in use.  A mere change in management’s
intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use.  The
amendments should be applied prospectively to changes in use that occur on or after the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments.
Retrospective application is only permitted if this is possible without the use of hindsight.

∂ Philippine Interpretation International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 22,
Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the
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transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognizes the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.  If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a date of the transaction for each payment
or receipt of advance consideration.  The interpretation may be applied on a fully retrospective
basis.  Entities may apply the interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in
its scope that are initially recognized on or after the beginning of the reporting period in which
the entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning of a prior reporting period presented
as comparative information in the financial statements of the reporting period in which the
entity first applies the interpretation.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2019

∂ PFRS 16, Leases
Under the new standard, lessees will no longer classify their leases as either operating or
finance leases in accordance with PAS 17, Leases.  Rather, lessees will apply the single-asset
model. Under this model, lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for most
leases in the statement of financial position, and subsequently, will depreciate the lease assets
and recognize interest on the lease liabilities in profit or loss.  Leases with a term of 12 months
or less or for which the underlying asset is of low value are exempted from these
requirements.

The accounting by lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries forward the
principles of lessor accounting under PAS 17.  Lessors, however, will be required to disclose
more information in their financial statements, particularly on the risk exposure to residual
value.

Entities may early adopt PFRS 16 but only if they have also adopted PFRS 15.  When
adopting PFRS 16, an entity is permitted to use either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach, with options to use certain transition reliefs.

The Parent Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting PFRS 16.

Deferred Effectivity

∂ Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture.  The
amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associate or
joint venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3.  Any gain or loss resulting from the
sale or contribution of assets that does not constitute a business, however, is recognized only
to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture.

On January 13, 2016, the Financial Reporting Standards Council postponed the original
effective date of January 1, 2016 of the said amendments until the International Accounting
Standards Board has completed its broader review of the research project on equity accounting
that may result in the simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of
accounting for associates and joint ventures.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The following accounting policies were applied in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements:

Property Acquisitions
Where property is acquired through the acquisition of corporate interests, management considers
the substance of the assets and activities of the acquired entity in determining whether the
acquisition represents an acquisition of a business.

Where such acquisitions are not judged to be an acquisition of a business, they are not treated as
business combinations.  Rather, the cost to acquire the corporate entity is allocated between the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the entity based on their relative fair values at the acquisition
date.  Otherwise, corporate acquisitions are accounted for as business combinations.

The acquisitions of the Company were accounted for as property acquisitions.

Current and Noncurrent Classification
The Parent Company presents assets and liabilities in the parent company statement of financial
position based on current or noncurrent classification.

An asset is classified as current when it is:
∂ expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;
∂ held primarily for the purpose of trading;
∂ expected to be realized within 12 months from the reporting date; or,
∂ cash and cash equivalents, unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability

for at least within 12 months from the reporting date.

A liability is classified as current when:
∂ it is expected to be settled within the normal operating cycle;
∂ it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
∂ it is due to be settled within 12 months from the reporting date; or,
∂ there is no unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months from

the reporting date.

The Parent Company classifies all other assets and liabilities as noncurrent.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent assets and liabilities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three
months or less and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial Instruments
Date of recognition
The Parent Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the parent company
statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.  Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on the settlement
date.
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Initial recognition of financial instruments
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value.  Except for
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, the initial measurement of financial instruments
includes transaction costs.

The Parent Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at
FVPL, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets and, loans and
receivables.  The Parent Company classifies its financial liabilities into financial liabilities at
FVPL and other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the
investments were acquired or liabilities were incurred and whether they are quoted in an active
market.  Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and,
where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date.

Financial instruments are classified as liability or equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement.  Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument or
a component that is a financial liability, are reported as expense or income.  Distributions to
holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged to equity, net of any related
income tax benefits.

The Parent Company financial assets are in the nature of loans and receivables while its financial
liabilities are in the nature of other financial liabilities.

‘Day 1’ difference
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value from other
observable current market transactions of the same instrument or based on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from an observable market, the Parent Company recognizes the
difference between the transaction price and fair value (‘day 1’ difference) in profit or loss unless
it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset and liability.  In cases where inputs to the
valuation technique are not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model
value is only recognized in profit or loss when the inputs become observable or when the
instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Parent Company determines the appropriate
method of recognizing the ‘day 1’ difference amount.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active market.  These are not entered into with the
intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not designated as AFS or financial assets at
FVPL.

The Parent Company’s loans and receivables pertain to the parent company statement of financial
position captions “Cash and cash equivalents”, “Receivables”, “Receivable from related parties”
and “Deposits”.

After initial measurement, the loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, less allowance for impairment losses.  Amortized
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are
an integral part of the EIR.  The amortization, if any, is included in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities pertain to issued financial instruments that are not classified or
designated as financial liabilities at FVPL and contain contractual obligations to deliver cash or
other financial assets to the holder or to settle the obligation other than through the exchange of a
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fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.  After
initial measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the EIR method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
the issue and fees that are an integral part of the EIR.

This accounting policy applies primarily to the Parent Company’s “Accounts and other payables”
(except “Income tax payable” and “Other taxes payable”), “Loans payable” and “Payable to a
related party”, and other liabilities that meet the above definition (other than liabilities covered by
other accounting standards).

Classification of Financial Instruments between Debt and Equity
A financial instrument is classified as debt, if it provides for a contractual obligation to:

∂ deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity;
∂ exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are

potentially unfavorable to the Parent Company; or,
∂ satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.

If the Parent Company does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another
financial asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial
liability.

The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are
accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount, after
deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the
liability component on the date of issue.

The Parent Company has no financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements.

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Parent Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of
impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable
data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Loans and receivables
For loans and receivables carried at amortized cost, the Parent Company first assesses whether
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).  The
present value of the estimated future cash flows are discounted at the financial asset’s original
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EIR.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account and the
amount of loss is charged to profit or loss.  Interest income continues to be recognized based on
the original EIR of the asset.  Receivables, together with the associated allowance accounts, are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been
realized.  If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because
of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment
loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, to
the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal
date.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis
of such credit risk characteristics as customer type, customer location, credit history and past due
status.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are
estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar
to those in the group.  Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data
to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss
experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist
currently.  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed
regularly by the Parent Company to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.

 Derecognition of Financial Instruments
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial
assets) is derecognized when:

(a) the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired;
(b) the Parent Company retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third-party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or,

(c) the Parent Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:
(i) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or (ii) has neither
transferred nor retained the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the
asset.

Where the Parent Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has
entered into a “pass-through” arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to
the extent of the Parent Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement
that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Parent Company
could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amount of the
financial liability or part of the financial liability extinguished and the consideration paid including
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed is recognized in profit or loss.
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Offsetting of Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the parent
company statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right
to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  The right of offset must be available at the end of the
reporting period, that is, it is not contingent on future event.  It must also be enforceable in the
normal course of business, in the event of default, and in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy;
and must be legally enforceable for both entity and all counterparties to the financial instruments.

Real Estate for Development and Sale
Real estate for development and sale is constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business,
rather than to be held for rental or capital appreciation.  It is held as inventory and is measured at
the lower of cost or net realizable value (NRV).  NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated costs to complete and estimated costs to sell.

Cost includes the purchase price of land and costs incurred for the development and improvement
of the properties such as amounts paid to contractors, capitalized borrowing costs, planning and
design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal services, property transfer taxes,
construction overheads and other related costs.

Amounts paid to contractors and suppliers in advance are not part of real estate for development
and sale but presented as “Advances to contractors and suppliers” under “Other current assets” in
the parent company statement of financial position.  Advances to contractors and suppliers will be
recouped upon every progress billing payment depending on the percentage of accomplishment.

Value-added Tax (VAT)
Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except where
the VAT incurred on the purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the VAT is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item, whichever is applicable.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from or payable to the taxation authority is included as part
of “Other current assets” or “Accounts and other payables” in the parent company statement of
financial position.

Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid expenses are carried at cost less the amortized portion.  These typically comprise
prepayments of insurance premiums, rents, creditable tax withheld and real property taxes.

Creditable withholding tax pertains to the amounts withheld from income derived from real estate
sales which can be applied against income tax payable.

Investments in Subsidiaries
The Parent Company’s investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less accumulated
provisions for impairment losses, if any.  A subsidiary is an entity in which the Parent Company
has control.  Control is achieved when the Parent Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee.  Specifically, the Parent Company controls an investee if and only if the
Parent Company has:

(a) Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);

(b) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and,
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(c) The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Parent Company has less than the majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Parent Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(a) The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
(b) Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and,
(c) The Parent Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Parent Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the elements of control.

The Parent Company recognizes income from the investment only to the extent that the Parent
Company receives distributions from accumulated profits of the investee arising after the date of
acquisition.  Distributions received in excess of such profits are regarded as recovery of
investment and are recognized as a reduction of the cost of the investment.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any
impairment in value.

The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
When significant parts of property and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the
Parent Company recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciation.  Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the
carrying amount of the equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied.  All
other repairs and maintenance are charged against current operations as incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment commences once the property and equipment are put into
operational use and is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives (EUL) of
the property and equipment as follows:

Years
Office equipment 2 - 5
Furniture and fixtures 2 - 5
Transportation equipment 3 - 5

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease or the
EUL of the asset of 2 years, whichever is shorter.
The useful lives and, depreciation and amortization methods are reviewed periodically to ensure
that the period and methods of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment.

When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related
accumulated depreciation and amortization, and accumulated provision for impairment losses, if
any, are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited to or charged against
current operations.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use and no further
depreciation is charged against current operations.
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Software Costs
Costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software controlled by the Parent
Company and will generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognized as
intangible assets to be measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment, if any.  Otherwise, such costs are recognized as expense as incurred.

Software costs, recognized as assets, are amortized using the straight-line method over their EUL
of five years.  Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of software costs is
assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount.

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The Parent Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that its
nonfinancial assets (i.e., investments in subsidiaries, property and equipment, and software costs)
may be impaired.  If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is
required, the Parent Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

Investments in subsidiaries
The Parent Company determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence
that the investments in subsidiaries are impaired.  If this is the case, the Parent Company
calculates the amount of impairment as being the difference between the recoverable amount of
the investments in subsidiaries and the carrying costs and recognizes the amount in profit or loss.

Property and equipment and software costs
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets.  Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in profit or loss in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount
since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, had no impairment loss
been recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss.  After
such reversal, the depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining
useful life.

Jointly Controlled Operation
A jointly controlled operation involves the use of assets and other resources of the Parent
Company and other ventures rather than the establishment of a corporation, partnership and other
entity.  The Parent Company accounts for the assets it controls and the liabilities it incurs, the
expenses and costs it incurs and the share of income that it earns from the sale of goods or services
by the joint venture.
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Customers’ Deposits
Customers’ deposits represent mainly reservation fees and advance payments from real estate
buyers.  These deposits will be recognized as revenue in profit or loss as the related obligations are
fulfilled to the real estate buyers.

Equity
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued.  When the Parent Company issues
more than one class of share, a separate account is maintained for each class of share and the
number of shares issued.  When the shares are sold at premium, the difference between the
proceeds and the par value is credited to “Additional paid-in capital”.  When the shares are issued
for a consideration other than cash, the proceeds are measured by the fair value of the
consideration received.  In case the shares are issued to extinguish or settle the liability of the
Parent Company, the shares are measured either at the fair value of the shares issued or fair value
of the liability settled, whichever is more reliably determinable.

An entity typically incurs various costs in issuing or acquiring its own equity instruments.  Those
costs might include registration and other regulatory fees, amounts paid to legal, accounting and
other professional advisers, printing costs and stamp duties.  The transaction costs of an equity
transaction are accounted for as deductions from equity (net of related income tax benefit) to the
extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise
would have been avoided.  The costs of an equity transaction that is abandoned are recognized as
an expense.

Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of net income or loss, net of any dividend
declaration.

Other Comprehensive Income
OCI are items of income and expense that are not recognized in profit or loss for the year in
accordance with PFRSs.  The Parent Company’s OCI pertains to remeasurement gains and losses
arising from a defined benefit plan which cannot be recycled to profit or loss.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Parent Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.

Real estate sales
For real estate sales, the Parent Company assesses whether it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Parent Company when the sales prices are collectible.  Collectibility of
the sales price is demonstrated by the buyer’s commitment to pay, which in turn is supported by
substantial initial and continuing investments that give the buyer a sufficient stake in the property
that the risk of loss through default motivates the buyer to honor its obligation to the seller.
Collectibility is also assessed by considering factors such as the credit standing of the buyer, age
and location of the property.

Revenue from sales of completed real estate projects is accounted for using the full accrual
method.  Revenue from sales of uncompleted real estate project is accounted for using percentage-
of-completion (POC) method.  In accordance with Philippine Interpretations Committee Q&A
No. 2006-01, the POC method is used to recognize income from sales of projects where the Parent
Company has material obligations under the sales contract to complete the project after the
property is sold, the equitable interest has been transferred to the buyer, construction is beyond
preliminary stage (i.e., engineering, design work, construction contracts execution, site clearance
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and preparation, excavation and the building foundation are finished), and the costs incurred or to
be incurred can be measured reliably.  Under this method, revenue is recognized as the related
obligations are fulfilled, measured principally on the basis of the actual costs incurred to date over
the estimated total costs of the project.  Any excess of collections over the recognized receivables
are included in the “Customers’ deposits” account in the liabilities section of the parent company
statement of financial position.

If any of the criteria under the full accrual or POC method is not met, the deposit method is
applied until all the conditions for recording a sale are met.  Pending recognition of sale, cash
received from buyers are presented under the “Customers’ deposits” account in the liabilities
section of the parent company statement of financial position.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized when the Parent Company’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest and other income
Interest is recognized as it accrues (using the EIR method, i.e., based on the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset).  Other income includes management fee income and
income from forfeited reservations and collections as well as penalties and other surcharges billed
against defaulted installment contracts receivable.

Income from forfeited reservation and collections is recognized when the deposits from potential
buyers are deemed nonrefundable, subject to provision of Republic Act (RA) No. 6552, Realty
Installment Buyer Protection Act, upon prescription of the period for the payment of required
amortizations from defaulting buyers.

Costs and Expenses
Costs and expenses are recognized in the parent company statement of comprehensive income
when decrease in future economic benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a
liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.

Costs and expenses are recognized in the parent company statement of comprehensive income:

∂ On the basis of a direct association between the costs incurred and the earning of specific
items of income;

∂ On the basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are
expected to arise over several accounting periods and the association can only be broadly or
indirectly determined; or

∂ Immediately when expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when, and to the
extent that, future economic benefits do not qualify or cease to qualify, for recognition in the
statement of financial position as an asset.

Cost of condominium units
Cost of condominium units is recognized consistent with the revenue recognition method applied.
Cost of condominium units sold before completion of the development is determined on the basis
of the acquisition costs of the land plus its full development costs, which include estimated costs
for future development works, as determined by the Parent Company’s in-house technical
staff.The cost of inventory recognized in profit or loss on disposal is determined with reference to
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the specific costs incurred on the property allocated to saleable area based on relative size and
takes into account the POC for revenue recognition purposes.

Selling and administrative expenses
Selling expenses are costs incurred to sell real estate inventories, which includes advertising and
promotions, among others.  Administrative expenses constitute costs of administering the
business.  Except for commission, selling and administrative expenses are expensed as incurred.

Commissions paid to sales or marketing agents on the sale of pre-completed real estate units are
deferred when recovery is reasonably expected and are charged to expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognized as earned.  Accordingly, when the POC method is used,
commissions are likewise charged to expense in the period the related revenue is recognized.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs incurred during the construction period on borrowings used to finance property
development are capitalized as part of development costs (included in “Real estate for
development and sale” account in the parent company statement of financial position).
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.  Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare
the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred.  Capitalization
of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are complete.

Capitalized borrowing cost is based on applicable weighted average borrowing rate for those
coming from general borrowings and the actual borrowing costs eligible for capitalization for
funds borrowed specifically.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Pension Liabilities
The Parent Company has an unfunded, noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering
all of its qualified employees.  The Parent Company’s pension liability is the aggregate of the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date.

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method.

Pension costs comprise the following:
∂ Service cost
∂ Interest on the pension liability
∂ Remeasurements of pension liability

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-
routine settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss.  Past service costs are recognized
when plan amendment or curtailment occurs.  These amounts are calculated annually by
independent qualified actuaries.
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Interest on the pension liability is the change during the period in the pension liability that arises
from the passage of time which is determined by applying the discount rate based on government
bonds to the pension liability Interest on the pension liability is recognized in the parent company
statement of comprehensive income as “Finance cost”.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in OCI in the
period in which they arise.  Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods.

Employee Leave Entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized as a liability when they are accrued to the
employees. The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly within twelve
months after the end of the reporting period is recognized for services rendered by employees up
to the end of the reporting period.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of
the arrangement at inception date, whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on use
of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is
not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Parent Company as lessee
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of the ownership of the asset
are classified as operating leases.  Lease payments are recognized as expense based on the terms
of the contract.

Income Taxes
Current taxes
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used
to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted as at the reporting date.

Deferred taxes
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences, with
certain exceptions, at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and its
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset
revaluations.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences,
carryforward benefits of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax
(MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) and unused net operating loss carryover
(NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences and carryforward of unused tax credits from MCIT and
unused NOLCO can be utilized.  Deferred tax, however is not recognized on temporary
differences that arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor
taxable income.

Deferred tax liabilities are not provided on nontaxable temporary differences associated with
investments in domestic subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable income will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed
at each financial reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted as of reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rate at the date of the
transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are restated using
the closing exchange rates prevailing at reporting dates.  Exchange gains or losses arising from
foreign exchange transactions are credited to or charged against current operations.  Non-monetary
items measured at historical value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the historical value was determined.

Fair Value Measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either:

∂ In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
∂ In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

∂ Level 1 - quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
∂ Level 2 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
∂ Level 3 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Parent Company determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by
re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at each reporting date.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Parent Company has determined classes of assets and
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level
of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
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The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Parent Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Parent Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Parent Company has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the parent company financial statements.  These are
disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is
remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized in the parent company financial statements but
disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Events After the Reporting Date
Post year-end events up to the date of the auditor’s report that provides additional information
about the Parent Company’s position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the
parent company financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the parent company financial statements when material.

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Use of Estimates

The preparation of the parent company financial statements in compliance with PFRSs requires
management to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the parent
company financial statements.  The judgments and estimates used in the parent company financial
statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as of the
date of the parent company financial statement.  Future events may occur which will cause the
judgments and assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change
in judgments and estimates are reflected in the parent company financial statements as they
become reasonably determinable.

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
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Judgments
In the process of applying the Parent Company’s accounting policies, management has made
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the parent company financial statements:

Distinction between business combination and property acquisition
The Parent Company acquires subsidiaries that own real estate.  At the time of acquisition, the
Parent Company considers whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of a business.  The
Parent Company accounts for an acquisition as a business combination where an integrated set of
activities is acquired in addition to the property.

When the acquisition of subsidiaries does not represent a business, it is accounted for as an
acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities.  The cost of the acquisition is allocated to the assets
and liabilities acquired based upon their relative fair values, and no goodwill is recognized.

Revenue recognition
Selecting an appropriate revenue recognition method for a particular real estate sale transaction
requires certain judgments based on, among others:
∂ Buyer’s commitment on the sale which may be ascertained through the significance of the

buyer’s initial investment; and
∂ Stage of completion of the project.

Distinction between real estate for development and sale and property and equipment
The Parent Company determines whether a property will be classified as real estate for
development and sale or property and equipment.  Real estate for development and sale consist of
condominium units for sale, which are properties that are held for sale in the ordinary course of
business.  Principally, these are properties that the Parent Company develops and intends to sell
before or upon completion of construction.  The Parent Company determines a property as
property and equipment if such is intended for use in operations.

Investment in subsidiaries
The Parent Company determined that it has control over its subsidiary (see Note 8) by considering,
among others, its power over the investee, exposure or rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee, and the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its
returns.

The following were also considered:
∂ The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
∂ Rights arising from other contractual agreements
∂ The Parent Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights

Transfers of financial assets with continuing involvement
The Parent Company enters into various agreements with a local bank for the sale of its
installment contracts receivable in the form of sale without recourse transactions.   In the
substance of the agreements, the Parent Company has continuing involvement over the receivables
sold.  Accordingly, the receivables were not derecognized and the related cash considerations were
recognized as loans payable.  Contract receivables sold under these agreements amounted to
P=21.92 million and P=39.61 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively
(see Notes 5 and 12).
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Operating lease commitments - Parent Company as lessee
The Parent Company has entered into a contract of lease with a third party for the office space it
occupies.  The Parent Company has determined that all significant risks and benefits of ownership
on these properties will be retained by the lessor and accounts for their lease as an operating lease.
In determining significant risks and benefits of ownership, the Parent Company considered,
among others, the significance of the lease term as compared with the EUL of the related asset.
Accordingly, the Parent Company’s leases are accounted for as operating leases.

Rent expense amounted to P=9.66 million in 2016 and P=1.95 million in 2015 (see Notes 16 and 21).

Management’s Use of Estimates
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Revenue and cost recognition
The Parent Company’s revenue from and cost of real estate sales are recognized based on the POC
method. POC is determined based on the physical proportion of work.  The cost of real estate sales
is calculated based on the estimated project development costs applied with the respective
project’s POC.  The rate of completion is validated by the responsible department to determine
whether it approximates the actual completion rate.  Changes in estimate may affect the reported
amounts of revenue, cost of condominium units, receivables and inventories.

Real estate sales amounted to P=19.61 million in 2016 and P=118.71 million in 2015 while cost of
condominium units amounted to P=22.27 million in 2016 and P=84.03 million in 2015.

Estimating allowance for impairment losses on receivables
The Parent Company maintains an allowance for impairment losses based on the result of the
individual and collective assessment under PAS 39.  Under the individual assessment, the Parent
Company is required to obtain the present value of estimated cash flows using the receivables’
original EIR.  Impairment loss is determined as the difference between the receivables’ carrying
balance and the computed present value.  Factors considered in the individual assessment are
payment history, past due status and term.  The collective assessment would require the Parent
Company to group its receivables based on the credit risk characteristics (i.e., customer type,
credit history and past-due status) of the customers.  Impairment loss is then determined based on
historical loss experience of the receivables grouped per credit risk profile.  Historical loss
experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current
conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to
remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.  The
methodology and assumptions used for the individual and collective assessments are based on
management’s judgment and estimate.  Therefore, the amount and timing of recorded expense for
any period would differ depending on the judgments and estimates made for the year.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Parent Company has not provided any allowance for
impairment losses on the receivables.  Receivables, including those from related parties, amounted
to P=2,270.10 million and P=2,451.47 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively
(see Notes 5 and 14).
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Estimating NRV of real estate for inventories
The Parent Company reviews the NRV of real estate inventories, which are recorded under “Real
estate for development and sale” in the parent company statement of financial position, and
compares it with the cost, since assets should not be carried in excess of amounts expected to be
realized from sale.  Real estate for development and sale are written down below cost when the
estimated NRV is found to be lower than the cost.

NRV for completed real estate inventories is assessed with reference to market conditions and
prices existing at the reporting date and is determined by the Parent Company in light of recent
market transactions and having taken suitable external advice.  NRV in respect of inventory under
construction is assessed with reference to market prices at the reporting date for similar completed
property, less estimated costs to complete construction and less an estimate of the time value of
money to the date of completion.

The estimates take into consideration fluctuations of price or cost directly relating to events
occurring after the reporting date to the extent that such events confirm conditions existing at the
reporting date.  Real estate for development and sale are carried at cost with carrying values
amounting to P=281.56 million and P=290.83 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively (see Note 6).

Impairment of nonfinancial assets
The Parent Company assesses impairment on its nonfinancial assets (i.e. investments in
subsidiaries, property and equipment, and software costs) and considers the following important
indicators:

∂ Significant changes in asset usage;
∂ Significant decline in assets’ market value;
∂ Obsolescence or physical damage of an asset;
∂ Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating

results; and,
∂ Significant negative industry or economic trends.

If such indications are present and where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

The fair value less costs of disposal is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s
length transaction while value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected
to arise from the nonfinancial assets.  Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or,
if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In determining the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be generated from the
continued use of the assets, the Parent Company is required to make estimates and assumptions
that may affect the carrying amount of the assets.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, carrying values are as follows:

2016 2015
Investments in subsidiaries (Note 8) P=744,782,229 P=744,782,229
Property and equipment (Note 9) 12,293,305 19,374,690
Software costs (Note 10) 1,759,437 1,744,224
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No impairment was recognized for the Parent Company’s nonfinancial assets in 2016 and 2015.

Estimating useful life of property and equipment, and software costs
The Parent Company estimates the useful lives of its property and equipment, and software costs
based on the period over which these assets are expected to be available for use.

The EUL of property and equipment, and software costs are reviewed at least annually and are
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear and technical
or commercial obsolescence on the use of these assets.  It is possible that future results of
operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in these
factors.  A reduction in the EUL of property and equipment, and software costs would increase
depreciation and amortization expense and decrease noncurrent assets.
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, carrying values are as follows:

2016 2015
Property and equipment (Note 9) P=12,293,305 P=19,374,690
Software costs (Note 10) 1,759,437 1,744,224

Recognition of deferred tax assets
The Parent Company reviews the carrying amounts of deferred taxes at each reporting date and
reduces deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.  Significant
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable income together with future planning strategies.
The Parent Company assessed its projected performance in assessing the sufficiency of future
taxable income.

The Parent Company has no unrecognized deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015
(see Note 18).

Estimating pension cost and obligation
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and the present value of the pension obligation are
determined using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation involves making various
assumptions which include the determination of the discount rates, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases.  Due to the complexity of the valuation, the
underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, defined benefit obligations are highly sensitive
to changes in these assumptions.  All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of
government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, with
extrapolated maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the defined benefit obligation.

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific country and is
modified accordingly with estimates of mortality improvements.  Future salary increases and
pension increases are based on expected future inflation rates for the specific country.  Further
details about the assumptions used are provided in Note 17.
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While the Parent Company believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate,
significant differences between actual experiences and assumptions may materially affect the cost
of employee benefits and related obligations.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the present value of benefit obligation amounted to
P=31.10 million and P=34.25 million, respectively.  Net pension cost amounted to P=9.99 million in
2016 and P=11.08 million in 2015 (see Note 17).

Fair values of financial instruments
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the parent company
statements of financial position or disclosed in the notes cannot be derived from active markets,
they are determined using internal valuation techniques based on generally accepted market
valuation models.  The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible,
but where this is not feasible, estimates are used in establishing fair values.  These estimates may
include considerations of liquidity, volatility and correlation.  Changes in assumptions about these
factors could affect the reported fair value of the financial instruments (see Note 20).

Contingencies
The Parent Company is currently involved in various legal proceedings.  The estimate of the
probable costs for the resolution of these claims has been developed in consultation with outside
counsel handling the defense in these matters and is based upon an analysis of potential results.
The Parent Company currently does not believe that these proceedings will have a material effect
on the Parent Company’s statements of financial position.  It is possible, however, that future
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the
effectiveness of the strategies relating to these proceedings (see Note 22).

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2016 2015
Cash on hand P=30,000 P=30,000
Cash in banks 46,010,350 24,011,009
Cash equivalents 5,082,820 5,054,106

P=51,123,170 P=29,095,115

Cash in banks earns interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates.  Cash equivalents investments
have varying maturity periods of up to three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Parent Company and earn interest at the prevailing short-term investment
rates.  Investment rate for Peso denominated securities in 2016 and 2015 is 0.75%.  The carrying
value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value as of reporting date.

Interest income earned from cash in banks and cash equivalents amounted to P=0.18 million in
2016 and P=0.09 million in 2015 (see Note 15).
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5. Receivables

2016 2015
Installment contracts receivable - net of

unamortized discount P=114,027,530 P=176,094,314
Dividends receivable (Note 14) 310,200,000 –
Receivables from customers for taxes and other

charges 17,020,355 18,036,900
Due from condominium association 7,328,668 8,578,668
Advances to employees 2,182,021 1,894,333
Others 2,686,287 2,664,161

453,444,861 207,268,376
Less noncurrent portion of installment

contracts receivable 39,547,968 108,254,564
P=413,896,893 P=99,013,812

Installment contracts receivable pertains to receivables from the sale of real estate properties
which are collectible in equal monthly principal installments over a period ranging from four to
seven years depending on the agreement.  Installment contracts receivable are generally
noninterest-bearing.  The corresponding titles to the condominium units sold under this
arrangement are transferred to the buyer upon full payment of the contract price.

Dividends receivable pertains to the cash dividend declared by the Parent Company’s subsidiaries
Posh Properties Development Corporation (PPDC) and Momentum Properties Management
Corporation (MPMC) (see Note 14).

Receivables from customers for taxes and other charges pertain to receivables for taxes and other
charges incurred by the buyer for the purchase of condominium units which are initially paid by
the Parent Company on behalf of the unit owners.  These are noninterest-bearing and are expected
to be collected within one year.

Due from condominium association pertain to janitorial, security and maintenance expenses
initially paid by the Parent Company on behalf of the condominium association.  These are
noninterest-bearing and are expected to be collected within one year.

Advances to employees represent advances for operational purposes which are noninterest-bearing
and are expected to be collected or liquidated within one year.

Others include advances to agents for the daily operations of the Parent Company and utility
services.  These advances are noninterest-bearing and are normally settled within one year.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, no impairment losses resulted from performing individual
and collective impairment tests (see Note 20).

Unamortized discount on installment contracts receivable
In 2016 and 2015, noninterest-bearing installment contracts receivable with a nominal amount of
P=32.39 million and P=60.88 million, respectively, were initially recorded at fair value amounting to
P=32.39 million and P=57.57 million, respectively.  The fair value of the receivables was obtained by
discounting future cash flows using the applicable rates of similar types of instruments ranging
from 1.68% to 5.45% in 2015.
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Movements in the unamortized discount on installment contracts receivable follow:

2016 2015
Balance at January 1 P=9,010,560 P=9,212,473
Additions – 3,312,624
Accretion for the year (Note 15) (2,855,639) (3,514,537)
Balance at December 31 P=6,154,921 P=9,010,560

Receivable financing
The Parent Company entered into various agreements with a local bank whereby the Parent
Company sold its installment contracts receivable.  The Parent Company still retains the sold
receivables in the receivables account and records the proceeds from these sales as loans payable
(see Note 12).  The carrying value of installment contracts receivable sold and the related loans
payable accounts amounted to P=21.92 million and P=39.61 million as of December 31, 2016 and
2015, respectively.  These receivables are used as collateral to secure the corresponding loans
payable obtained.

6. Real Estate for Development and Sale

2016 2015
Balance at beginning of year P=290,831,943 P=306,375,865
Additions during the year 12,995,959 68,483,734
Disposals (recognized as cost of real estate sales) (22,271,663) (84,027,656)
Balance at end of year P=281,556,239 P=290,831,943

Sold real estate inventories recognized as “Real estate” under “Costs and expenses” in the parent
company statements of comprehensive income amounted to P=22.27 million in 2016 and
P=84.03 million in 2015.  Such cost of sales represents land and development costs of
condominium units that were realized as sales in the respective periods.

The Parent Company recorded no provision for impairment and no reversal was recognized in
2016 and 2015.

The Parent Company has no restrictions on the realizability of its inventories.

Portion of the Parent Company’s real estate for development and sale was used as collateral to
secure the Parent Company’s bank loans (see Note 12).

7. Other Current Assets

2016 2015
Deposits on real estate properties P=92,561,580 P=92,561,580
Advances to contractors and suppliers 73,100,684 71,480,255
Prepaid expenses 34,588,645 33,798,183
Deposits 2,784,909 2,784,909
Input VAT – 236,580

P=203,035,818 P=200,861,507
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Deposits on real estate properties represent the Parent Company’s advance payments to real estate
property owners for the future acquisition of real estate properties.

Advances to contractors and suppliers represent advances and downpayments that are recouped
every progress billing payment depending on the percentage of accomplishment.

Prepaid expenses consist mainly of creditable withholding taxes and advance payments of rent,
insurance premiums and real property taxes.  Creditable withholding taxes will be applied against
income tax due.  Prepaid rent, insurance and real property taxes are amortized the following year.

Deposits consist principally of rental and guarantee deposits which will be recovered within
12 months from the reporting date.

Input VAT represents taxes imposed on the Parent Company for the purchase of goods from its
suppliers and availment of services from its contractors as required by Philippine taxation laws
and regulations.  This will be used against future output VAT liabilities or will be claimed as tax
credits.  Management has estimated that all input VAT is recoverable at its full amount within a
year.

8. Investments in Subsidiaries

The Parent Company’s subsidiaries and its related direct and/or indirect percentage ownership
over these subsidiaries follow:

Percentage Ownership
AmountDirect Indirect

PPDC 100.00% – P=320,250,000
Realty & Development Corporation of San
 Buenaventura – 100.00% –
Pasay Metro Center, Inc. – 100.00% –
Basiclink Equity Investment Corp. (BEIC)* – 60.00% –

Anchor Properties Corporation (APC) 100.00% – 166,317,554
Admiral Realty Company, Inc. – 100.00% –

Frontier Harbor Property Development, Inc. – 100.00% –
Gotamco Realty Investment Corporation (GRIC) 0.48% 99.52% 255,676,872

Irenealmeda Realty, Inc. – 100.00% –
Nusantara Holdings, Inc. – 100.00% –

Globeway Property Ventures, Inc. 70.00% – 2,187,503
MPMC 100.00% – 250,000

Eisenglas Aluminum and Glass, Inc. (EAGI) – 60.00% –
Anchor Land Global Corporation (ALGC) 100.00% – 100,300

1080 Soler Corp. – 100.00% –
BEIC* – 40.00% –

P=744,782,229
*BEIC is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent Company through PPDC and ALGC which own percentage ownership

of 60% and 40%, respectively, over BEIC.

All of the Parent Company’s subsidiaries were incorporated in the Philippines.

The Parent Company and its subsidiaries (collectively called “the Group”) have principal business
interest in the development and sale of high-end residential condominium units.  The Group is also
engaged in the development and leasing of commercial, warehouses and office spaces.  MPMC
provides property management services to the Group’s completed projects, commercial centers
and buyers while EAGI is engaged in the fabrication and installation of aluminum and glass doors
and windows.
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In 2011, APC invested for a capital stock subscription of 99.52% in GRIC in relation to GRIC’s
increase in authorized capital stock.  On February 9, 2012, the Philippine SEC approved the
application for the increase in authorized capital stock of GRIC which resulted to the change in the
percentage of ownership of the Parent Company.  Hence, GRIC became a subsidiary of APC in
2012.

9. Property and Equipment

2016
Leasehold

Improvements
Office

Equipment
Furniture

and Fixtures
Transportation

Equipment Total
Cost
At January 1 P=29,102,693 P=8,942,142 P=8,801,020 P=40,202,258 P=87,048,113
Additions 293,869 1,371,770 378,106 99,107 2,142,852
At December 31 29,396,562 10,313,912 9,179,126 40,301,365 89,190,965
Accumulated Depreciation

and Amortization
At January 1 20,340,218 8,418,437 6,532,424 32,382,344 67,673,423
Depreciation and amortization

(Note 16) 2,922,068 835,105 741,438 4,725,626 9,224,237
At December 31 23,262,286 9,253,542 7,273,862 37,107,970 76,897,660
Net Book Value P=6,134,276 P=1,060,370 P=1,905,264 P=3,193,395 P=12,293,305

2015
Leasehold

Improvements
Office

Equipment
Furniture

and Fixtures
Transportation

Equipment Total
Cost
At January 1 P=28,554,505 P=8,475,694 P=8,443,471 P=38,687,258 P=84,160,928
Additions 548,188 466,448 357,549 1,515,000 2,887,185
At December 31 29,102,693 8,942,142 8,801,020 40,202,258 87,048,113
Accumulated Depreciation

and Amortization
At January 1 17,114,676 7,080,367 5,797,276 27,050,985 57,043,304
Depreciation and amortization

(Note 16) 3,225,542 1,338,070 735,148 5,331,359 10,630,119
At December 31 20,340,218 8,418,437 6,532,424 32,382,344 67,673,423
Net Book Value P=8,762,475 P=523,705 P=2,268,596 P=7,819,914 P=19,374,690

The Parent Company’s transportation equipment with a carrying value of P=1.33 million and
P=6.49 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, were constituted as collateral
under chattel mortgage to secure the Parent Company’s vehicle financing arrangement with
various financial institutions (see Note 12).

The cost of fully depreciated property and equipment which are still in use by the Parent Company
amounted to P=61.17 million and P=47.77 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

10. Other Noncurrent Assets

2016 2015
Utility and security deposits P=8,077,146 P=8,127,448
Software costs 1,759,437 1,744,224
Construction bond deposits 30,000 30,000

P=9,866,583 P=9,901,672
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Utility and security deposits pertain to the initial set-up of services rendered by public utility
companies and other various long-term deposits necessary for the construction and development
of real estate projects.

 The rollforward analysis of software costs follow:

2016 2015
Cost
At January 1 P=6,112,523 P=6,112,523
Additions 343,536 –
At December 31 6,456,059 6,112,523
Accumulated Amortization
At January 1 4,368,299 3,820,549
Amortization (Note 16) 328,323 547,750
At December 31 4,696,622 4,368,299
Net Book Value P=1,759,437 P=1,744,224

 Construction bond deposits pertain to the bond for the Parent Company’s project developments.

11. Accounts and Other Payables

2016 2015
Retention payable P=22,168,280 P=23,088,807
Accrued expenses 6,651,578 13,682,955
Other taxes payable 4,544,312 3,789,867
Payable to contractors 2,377,943 2,247,259
Income tax payable – 9,225,339
Others 1,580,563 1,059,943

37,322,676 53,094,170
Less noncurrent portion of retention payable – 10,389,963

P=37,322,676 P=42,704,207

Retention payable pertains to the portion of contractors’ progress billings which are withheld and
will be released after the satisfactory completion of the contractor’s project.  The retention payable
serves as a security from the contractor should there be defects in the project.  These are
noninterest-bearing and are normally settled upon completion of the relevant contract
arrangements.

Accrued expenses pertain to incurred but unpaid commission, interest on loans payable,
association dues and utilities which are normally settled within one year.

Other taxes payable consist of taxes withheld from employees and contractors, which are payable
within one year.

Payable to contractors are attributable to the construction costs incurred but not yet paid as of
reporting date.  These are noninterest-bearing and are normally settled within 30 to 120 days.

Income tax payable will be settled within one year.

Other payables consist of non-trade liabilities of the Parent Company which are settled within one
year.
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12. Loans Payable

2016 2015
Short-term bank loans P=210,000,000 P=260,000,000
Long-term loans:

Receivable financing 21,919,547 39,607,678
Notes payable 1,947,438 5,170,256
Bank loans – 300,000,000

233,866,985 604,777,934
Less current portion 226,774,658 580,832,922

P=7,092,327 P=23,945,012

Short-term Bank Loans
Short-term bank loans represent various unsecured promissory notes from local banks with annual
interest rates ranging from 3.25% to 4.00% in 2016 and 3.25% to 3.75% in 2015, and are payable
within three months to one year from date of issuance.

Long-term Loans
Receivable financing
The loans payable on receivable financing as discussed in Note 5 arises from installment contracts
receivable sold by the Parent Company to a local bank with a total carrying amount of
P=21.92 million and P=39.61 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  These loans
bear fixed interest rate of 3.50% in 2016 and 2015, payable on equal monthly installments for a
period of 1 to 4 years depending on the terms of the installment contracts receivable.

Notes payable
Notes payable represents the vehicle financing agreement availed by the Parent Company for its
employees.  Interest rates on these note are 4.70% to 5.76% in 2016 and 3.83% to 5.76% in 2015.
The Parent Company’s transportation equipment with a carrying value of P=1.33 million and
P=6.49 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, are held as collateral to secure the
Parent Company’s notes payable (see Note 9).

Long-term bank loans
In February 2011, the Parent Company secured a five-year loan facility from a local bank
amounting to P=500.00 million.  The facility is available in multiple drawdowns with interest rates
of 8.07% per annum for the P=150.00 million and 7.30% per annum for the P=350.00 million.
Annual principal repayments were 10% of the drawdown amount with the remaining balance paid
on maturity.  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the outstanding balance of loans under this
facility amounted to nil and P=300.00 million, respectively.  These loans were settled in May 2016.
These loans were secured with land and building owned by the Group located in San Juan City,
recorded under real estate for development and sale.  Aggregate carrying value of these properties
amounted to P=526.69 million as of December 31, 2015.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs arising from loans payable recognized in profit or loss amounted to P=1.83 million
in 2016 and P=3.36 million in 2015.
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13. Customers’ Deposits

Collections from buyers are initially recognized as customers’ deposits until all the relevant
conditions for a sale to be recognized are met. These deposits will be applied to the related
receivables once the related revenue is recognized.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the outstanding balance of this account amounted to
P=4.33 million and P=1.33 million, respectively.

14. Related Party Transactions

The Parent Company, in its regular conduct of business, has entered into transactions with related
parties principally consisting of advances and reimbursement of expenses, development,
management, marketing, leasing and administrative service agreements.

Enterprises and individuals that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, control
or are controlled by or under common control with the Group, including holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, are related parties of the Group.  Associates and individuals
owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group that gives them
significant influence over the enterprise, key management personnel, including directors and
officers of the Parent Company and close members of the family of these individuals, and
companies associated with these individuals, also constitute related parties.

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship and not merely to the legal form.

The significant related party transactions and account balances are as follows:

2016
Amount/
Volume

Outstanding
Balance Terms and Conditions

Subsidiaries
Advances to (P=453,548,085) P=1,790,656,321 Unsecured: on demand; noninterest-bearing
Advances to 26,000,000 26,000,000 Unsecured: 1 year; interest-bearing at 7.5% per annum
Advances from (26,536,835) – Unsecured: on demand; noninterest-bearing
Dividend income 310,200,000 310,200,000 Unsecured: within 1 year; noninterest-bearing
Management fee income 87,491,301 – Unsecured: within 1 year; noninterest-bearing

2015
Amount/
Volume

Outstanding
Balance Terms and Conditions

Subsidiaries
Advances to P=125,769,226 P=2,244,204,406 Unsecured: on demand; noninterest-bearing
Advances from 26,536,835 26,536,835 Unsecured: on demand; noninterest-bearing
Management fee income 80,202,500 – Unsecured: within 1 year; noninterest-bearing

On December 5, 2016, MPMC and PPDC declared cash dividends to the Parent Company which
amounted to P=10.20 million and P=300.00 million, respectively (see Note 5).

The Parent Company has entered into management contracts for the marketing, management and
administration of its subsidiaries.  Management fee income recorded under “Interest and other
income” in the parent company statements of comprehensive income amounted to P=87.49 million
in 2016 and P=80.20 million in 2015 (see Note 15).
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Joint venture agreements between the Parent Company and PPDC
On June 7, 2012, the Parent Company entered into another Joint Venture Agreement (JVA) with
PPDC for the construction, development, marketing and selling of a mixed-use condominium and
townhouse project located at San Juan City.

Under the JVA, the Parent Company shall contribute the land to be developed while PPDC shall
shoulder all the expenses and costs necessary and/or incidental for the construction and
development of the project and the marketing and technical expertise in the development,
management and sale of the condominium units and townhouses.  The parties also agreed that the
Parent Company shall be entitled to the net proceeds of the sale of all townhouses while the net
proceeds of the sale of all the condominium units shall be the proceeds of PPDC.

The Parent Company has a Project Development Agreement (PDA) with PPDC to develop its
6,281 square meter property located at Parañaque City, into a, mixed-use condominium project to
be named Solemare Parksuites.  The PDA was signed in June 2008 and was later amended in
March 2009.

Under the PDA, the Parent Company shall contribute the land to be developed while PPDC shall
shoulder the expenses and costs in the preparation of the plans and designs.  The construction and
marketing costs shall be shouldered by both parties vis-à-vis the sales proceeds entered unto their
respective books.  The parties also agreed that both the Parent Company and PPDC shall be
entitled to the net proceeds of the sale of the condominium units, such that all sales of units sold at
a price of more the P=3.00 million shall be entered as proceeds of the former while the sales of
units sold at a price of P=3.00 million and below shall be entered as proceeds of the latter.

Both the JVA and PDA shall be managed and operated by an Executive Committee, which shall
be composed of one chairman, and two representatives each from the Parent Company and PPDC,
wherein the chairman shall be mutually chosen by the parties in accordance with the selection
process that they will agree upon.

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
Transactions entered by the Parent Company with related parties pertain to cash advances to
subsidiaries for operational purposes.  Outstanding balances at year-end are unsecured, generally
noninterest-bearing and settlement occurs in cash.  These are entered into by the Parent Company
with related parties at arm’s length and have terms similar to the transactions entered into with
third parties.

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Parent Company has not recorded any
impairment on receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties.  This assessment is
undertaken each financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the
market in which the related party operates.

Key management compensation
The key management personnel of the Parent Company include all directors, executives and senior
management.  The details of compensation and benefits of key management personnel follow:

2016 2015
Short-term employee benefits P=49,302,993 P=51,471,415
Post employment benefits 2,944,781 3,443,262

P=52,247,774 P=54,914,677
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15. Interest and Other Income

2016 2015
Interest income from:

Accretion of unamortized discount on
 installment contracts receivable (Note 5) P=2,855,639 P=3,514,537
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 176,103 89,594

3,031,742 3,604,131
Other income 100,721,960 84,363,905

P=103,753,702 P=87,968,036

Other income includes management fee income and income from forfeited reservations and
collections as well as penalties and other surcharges billed against defaulted installment contracts
receivable, among others.  Income from forfeited reservations and collections includes both
reservation fees that have prescribed from the allowable period of completing the requirements for
such reservations and the forfeited collections from defaulted contracts receivables that have been
assessed by the Parent Company’s management as no longer refundable.

16. Costs and Expenses

Cost of real estate
Cost includes acquisition cost of land, construction costs and capitalized borrowing costs.  Cost of
real estate sales amounted to P=22.27 million in 2016 and P=84.03 million in 2015.

Selling and administrative expenses

2016 2015
Salaries, wages and employee benefits
 (Notes 14 and 17) P=28,064,108 P=32,707,125
Utilities 9,819,790 1,384,442
Rental (Note 21) 9,659,523 1,948,197
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 9 and 10) 9,552,560 11,177,869
Membership dues 7,386,373 4,040,525
Taxes and licenses 7,165,449 7,513,644
Donations and contributions 6,590,222 849,456
Sales and marketing 6,464,420 11,685,471
Professional fees 5,843,557 3,617,507
Communication 2,945,310 209,280
Office supplies 1,983,970 63,604
Representation and entertainment 1,174,549 2,148,260
Transportation and travel 714,537 67,225
Others 3,330,754 361,552

P=100,695,122 P=77,774,157

Others mainly pertain to expenses incurred for the daily operations of the Parent Company.
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17. Pension Plan

The Parent Company has an unfunded, noncontributory defined benefit plan covering all of its
qualified employees.  The benefits are based on the projected retirement benefit of 22.5 days pay
per year of service in accordance with RA No. 7641, Retirement Pay Law.  An independent
actuary conducts an actuarial valuation of the retirement benefit obligation using the projected unit
credit method.

The components of pension costs (included in “Salaries, wages and employees benefits” under
“Selling and administrative expenses” and in “Finance costs”) follow:

2016 2015
Current service cost P=8,245,916 P=9,582,223
Interest cost on benefit obligation 1,743,202 1,498,872

P=9,989,118 P=11,081,095

 Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation follow:

2016 2015
Balance at January 1 P=34,247,579 P=33,606,990
Net benefit cost in profit or loss

Current service cost 8,245,916 9,582,223
Interest cost 1,743,202 1,498,872

9,989,118 11,081,095
Remeasurements in OCI

Actuarial changes arising from changes
  in financial assumptions (4,794,618) (4,547,199)

Actuarial changes arising from experience
 adjustments (8,339,447) (5,893,307)

(13,134,065) (10,440,506)
Balance at December 31 P=31,102,632 P=34,247,579

The principal assumptions used to determine pension benefits of the Parent Company for the years
ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 follow:

2016 2015
Discount rate 5.86% 5.09%
Salary increase rate 10.00% 10.00%

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as December 31, 2016 and 2015,
assuming all other assumptions are held constant:

Increase
(decrease) 2016 2015

Discount rates +150 basis points (P=7,302,323) (P=8,519,437)
-150 basis points 10,181,109 12,018,129

Future salary increases +150 basis points 9,032,965 10,595,897
-150 basis points (6,822,051) (7,935,113)
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There were no changes from the previous period in the methods and assumptions used in
preparing sensitivity analysis.

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date is 18.7 years in 2016
and 20.0 years in 2015.

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015:

2016 2015
Less than 1 year P=361,238 P=259,057
More than 1 year to 2 years – 253,039
More than 2 years to 4 years 453,123 471,561
More than 4 years 3,841,074 4,528,912

18. Income Taxes

2016 2015
Current:

RCIT P=591,415 P=10,271,426
Final 29,208 11,194

620,623 10,282,620
Deferred (1,572,064) 2,321,158

(P=951,441) P=12,603,778

The Parent Company’s MCIT incurred in 2013 which amounted to P=2.70 million was claimed as
tax credit against the Parent Company’s income tax payable in 2016.

Net deferred tax assets of the Parent Company consist of the following:

2016 2015
Deferred tax assets on:

Pension liabilities recognized in profit or loss P=17,553,305 P=14,556,569
Difference between tax and book basis of

  accounting for real estate transactions 4,580,262 1,621,709
Unamortized discount on installment

  contracts receivable 1,846,476 2,703,168
Actual commissions paid in excess of

  commissions expense per books 544,139 1,374,838
MCIT – 2,695,834

24,524,182 22,952,118
Deferred tax liability on pension liabilities

recognized in OCI 8,222,516 4,282,296
P=16,301,666 P=18,669,822

The Parent Company has no unrecognized deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.
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The reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate follows:

2016 2015
Statutory income tax rate 30.00% 30.00%
Tax effects of:

Nondeductible expenses 0.01 1.53
Interest income subjected to final tax (0.01) (0.04)
Dividend income (30.31) –

Effective income tax rate (0.31%) 31.49%

19. Equity

Capital Stock
The details of the Parent Company’s capital stock which consists of common and preferred shares
follow:

Common shares
Details of the Parent Company’s common shares as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 follow:

Authorized shares 3,500,000,000
Par value per share P=1.00
Issued and outstanding shares 1,040,001,000

On August 8, 2007, the Parent Company launched its Initial Public Offering where a total of
86,667,000 common shares were offered at an offering price of P=8.93 per share.  The registration
statement was approved on July 30, 2007.

On November 8, 2013, the Philippine SEC approved the increase in the Parent Company’s capital
stock by increasing common stock from P=2.30 billion divided into 2.30 billion shares with par
value of P=1.00 each to P=3.50 billion divided into 3.50 billion shares with par value of P=1.00 each.

The Parent Company has 96 existing shareholders as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Preferred shares
The Parent Company’s preferred shares are voting, nonparticipating, nonredeemable and are
entitled to 8% cumulative dividends.  Details of the Parent Company’s preferred shares as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015 follow:

Authorized shares 1,300,00,000
Par value per share P=1.00
Issued and outstanding shares 346,667,000

Cash Dividends
On March 27, 2017, the Parent Company’s BOD declared cash dividends as follows:

1. For preferred shares - 8% dividends per issued and outstanding preferred share; and
2. For common shares - P=0.06 per issued and outstanding common share.

The record date is May 22, 2017 and dividends shall be payable on June 15, 2017.
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On April 5, 2016, the Parent Company’s BOD declared cash dividends as follows:

1. For preferred shares - 8% dividends per issued and outstanding preferred share held by
shareholders of record as at May 30, 2016; and

2. For common shares - P=0.05 per issued and outstanding common share held by shareholders of
record as at May 30, 2016.

The record date is May 30, 2016 and dividends amounting to P=79.73 million were paid on
June 15, 2016.

On March 26, 2015, the Parent Company’s BOD declared cash dividends as follows:

1. For preferred shares - 8% dividends per issued and outstanding preferred share; and
2. For common shares - P=0.07 per issued and outstanding common share.

The record date is May 15, 2015 and dividends amounting to P=100.53 million were paid on
June 10, 2015.

Retained Earnings
The retained earnings available for dividend distribution amounted to P=1,218.00 million and
P=991.33 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Under the Tax Code, publicly-held Corporations are allowed to accumulate retained earnings in
excess of capital stock and are exempt from improperly accumulated earnings tax.

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Parent Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a
strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize
shareholder value.

The Parent Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes
in economic conditions.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Parent Company may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The following table shows the components of what the Parent Company considers its capital:

2016 2015
Capital stock:

Common stock P=1,040,001,000 P=1,040,001,000
Preferred stock 346,667,000 346,667,000

Additional paid-in capital 632,687,284 632,687,284
Retained earnings 1,243,996,409 1,015,754,219

P=3,263,351,693 P=3,035,109,503
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The Parent Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total
capital plus net debt.  The Parent Company includes within net debt, loans payable, accounts and
other payables, customers’ deposits and payable to a related party less cash and cash equivalents.
Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company (excluding OCI).

2016 2015
Loans payable P=233,866,985 P=604,777,934
Accounts and other payables 37,322,676 53,094,170
Customers’ deposits 4,325,588 1,326,966
Payable to a related party – 26,536,835

275,515,249 685,735,905
Less cash and cash equivalents 51,123,170 29,095,115
Net debt 224,392,079 656,640,790
Capital (excluding OCI) 3,263,151,693 3,035,109,503
Total capital and net debt P=3,487,543,772 P=3,691,750,293
Gearing ratio 6.43% 17.79%

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015.

20. Financial Instruments

Fair Value Information
The carrying amounts of the Parent Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities
approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturities, except for the following financial
asset and financial liability as of December 31, 2016 and 2015:

2016 2015
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Financial Asset
Loans and receivables - installment
 contracts receivable P=114,027,530 P=134,041,831 P=176,094,314 P=171,794,262
Financial Liability
Other financial liabilities - loans payable P=233,866,985 P=233,621,268 P=604,777,934 P=604,041,551

The methods and assumptions used by the Parent Company in estimating the fair values of the
financial instruments are as follows:

Financial asset
The fair value of installment contracts receivable is based on the discounted value of future cash
flows using the prevailing interest rates for similar types of receivables as of the reporting date
using the remaining terms of maturity.  The discount rates used ranged from 1.90% to 4.58% in
2016 and from 2.40% to 4.58% in 2015.

Financial liability
The fair value of variable rate loans payable that reprice every three months approximates their
carrying value due to recent and regular repricing based current market rates.  The fair values of
fixed rate loans are estimated using the discounted cash flow methodology using the Parent
Company’s current incremental borrowing rates for similar borrowings with maturities consistent
with those remaining for the liability being valued.  The discount rates used are 1.88% to 2.45% in
2016 and 2.40% to 2.79% in 2015.
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Fair Value Hierarchy
The Parent Company has no financial instruments carried at fair value as of December 31, 2016
and 2015.

The following table shows the Parent Company’s asset and liability for which fair value are
disclosed based on Level 3 valuation technique:

2016 2015
Asset for which fair value is disclosed
 Installment contracts receivable P=134,041,831 P=171,794,262
Liability for which fair value is disclosed
 Loans payable P=233,621,268 P=604,041,551

There were no assets or liabilities whose fair values were disclosed using Level 1 and Level 2
valuation techniques.

There was no change in the valuation techniques used by the Parent Company in determining the
fair market value of the financial assets and liabilities.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers
into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Parent Company’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents,
receivables, receivable from related parties, deposits, accounts and other payables, loans payable
and payable to a related party, which arise directly from operations.  The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to finance the Parent Company’s operations.

The significant risks arising from the Parent Company’s financial instruments are liquidity risk,
credit risk and interest rate risk.  The exposures to these risks and how they arise, as well as the
Parent Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing the risks and the methods used
to measure the risks did not change from prior years.

The main objectives of the Parent Company’s financial risk management are as follows:

∂ to identify and monitor such risks on an ongoing basis;
∂ to minimize and mitigate such risks; and,
∂ to provide a degree of certainty about costs.

The BOD reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet
commitments associated with financial instruments.  Liquidity risk may result from either: the
inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair values; the counterparty failing on repayment
of a contractual obligation; or the inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated.
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The Parent Company’s objective is to maintain balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through the use of bank loans.  The Parent Company monitors its cash flow position,
debt maturity profile and overall liquidity position in assessing its exposure to liquidity risk.  The
Parent Company maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed sufficient to finance
operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.  Capital expenditures, selling
and administrative expenses and working capital requirements are sufficiently funded through
cash collections, bank loans and payable to related parties.  Accordingly, its loan maturity profile
is regularly reviewed to ensure availability of funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities with financial institutions.  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the undrawn credit
facilities of the Group, which is also available for use by the Parent Company, amounted to
P=14.04 billion and P=12.14 billion, respectively.

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Parent Company’s financial liabilities
based on contractual undiscounted payments and the financial assets to manage liquidity as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015:

2016
On Demand Within 1 year More than 1 year Total

Financial Assets
Loans and receivables
 Cash and cash equivalents P=46,040,350 P=5,082,820 P=– P=51,123,170

Receivables
 Dividends receivable – 310,200,000 – 310,200,000
 Installment contracts receivable – 54,115,693 88,397,110 142,512,803

Receivables from customers for
taxes and other charges – 17,020,355 – 17,020,355

 Due from condominium
association – 7,328,668 – 7,328,668

 Others – 2,686,287 – 2,686,287
 Receivable from related parties 1,816,656,321 – – 1,816,656,321
 Deposits – 2,784,909 8,107,146 10,892,055
Total Financial Assets P=1,862,696,671 P=399,218,732 P=96,504,256 P=2,358,419,659
Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities
 Accounts and other payables
  Retention payable P=– P=22,168,280 P=– P=22,168,280
  Accrued expenses – 6,651,578 – 6,651,578
  Payable to contractors – 2,377,943 – 2,377,943
  Others – 851,850 – 851,850
 Loans payable – 226,919,103 7,337,373 234,256,476
Total Financial Liabilities P=– P=258,968,754 P=7,337,373 P=266,306,127
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2015
On Demand Within 1 year More than 1 year Total

Financial Assets
Loans and receivables
 Cash and cash equivalents P=24,041,009 P=5,054,106 P=– P=29,095,115

Receivables
 Installment contracts receivable – 74,277,695 157,179,259 231,456,954

Receivables from customers for
taxes and other charges – 18,036,900 – 18,036,900

 Due from condominium
association – 8,578,668 – 8,578,668

 Others – 2,664,161 – 2,664,161
 Receivable from related parties 2,244,204,406 – – 2,244,204,406
 Deposits – 2,784,909 8,157,448 10,942,357
Total Financial Assets P=2,268,245,415 P=111,396,439 P=165,336,707 P=2,544,978,561
Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities
 Accounts and other payables
  Retention payable P=– P=12,698,844 P=10,389,963 P=23,088,807
  Accrued expenses – 13,682,955 – 13,682,955
  Payable to contractors – 2,247,259 – 2,247,259
  Others – 406,097 – 406,097
 Payable to a related party – 26,536,835 – 26,536,835
 Loans payable – 589,179,781 24,690,885 613,870,666
Total Financial Liabilities P=– P=644,751,771 P=35,080,848 P=679,832,619

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss.  The Parent Company trades only with recognized,
creditworthy third parties.  The Parent Company’s receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis
resulting to insignificant exposure to bad debts.  Real estate buyers are subject to standard credit
check procedures, which are calibrated based on payment schemes offered.  The Parent
Company’s respective credit management units conduct a comprehensive credit investigation and
evaluation of each buyer to establish paying capacity and creditworthiness.

Receivable balances are being monitored on a regular basis to ensure timely execution of
necessary intervention efforts.  In addition, the credit risk for real estate receivables is mitigated as
the Parent Company has the right to cancel the sales contract without need for any court action and
take possession of the subject condominium units in case of refusal by the buyer to pay the due
installment contracts receivable on time.  This risk is further mitigated because the corresponding
title to the condominium units sold under this arrangement is transferred to the buyers only upon
full payment of the contract price.

The Parent Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk without considering the effects of
collaterals and other credit enhancements follows:

2016 2015
Cash in banks and cash equivalents P=51,093,170 P=29,065,115
Receivables
 Dividends receivable 310,200,000 –

Installment contracts receivable 114,027,530 176,094,314
Receivables from customers for taxes and other charges 17,020,355 18,036,900
Due from condominium association 7,328,668 8,578,668
Others 2,686,287 2,664,161

Receivable from related parties 1,816,656,321 2,244,204,406
Deposits 10,892,055 10,942,357
Total P=2,329,904,386 P=2,489,585,921
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The subjected condominium units sold are held as collateral for all installment contracts
receivable.  The maximum exposure to credit risk before considering credit exposure from the
Parent Company’s installment contracts receivable amounted to P=114.03 million and
P=176.09 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The fair value of the related
collaterals amounted to P=2,039.08 million and P=2,060.72 million as of December 31, 2016 and
2015, respectively.  The financial effect of the collateral amounted to P=114.03 million and
P=176.09 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, resulting to zero net exposure
amounts as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. The basis for the fair value of the collaterals is the
current selling price of the condominium units.

Given the Parent Company’s diverse base of counterparties, it is not exposed to large
concentrations of credit risk.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the credit quality per class of financial assets is as follows:

2016
Neither Past Due nor Impaired Substandard Past Due But

Grade A Grade B Grade Not Impaired Total
Cash in banks and cash equivalents P=51,093,170 P=– P=– P=– P=51,093,170
Receivables
 Dividends receivable 310,200,000 – – – 310,200,000
 Installment contracts receivable 113,771,991 – – 255,539 114,027,530

Receivables from customers for
 taxes and other charges 17,020,355 – – – 17,020,355

 Due from condominium
  association 7,328,668 – – – 7,328,668
 Others 2,686,287 – – – 2,686,287
Receivable from related parties 1,816,656,321 – – – 1,816,656,321
Deposits 10,892,055 – – – 10,892,055
Total P=2,329,648,847 P=– P=– P=255,539 P=2,329,904,386

2015
Neither Past Due nor Impaired Substandard Past Due But

Grade A Grade B Grade Not Impaired Total
Cash in banks and cash equivalents P=29,065,115 P=– P=– P=– P=29,065,115
Receivables
 Installment contracts receivable 175,734,778 – – 359,536 176,094,314

Receivables from customers
 for taxes and other charges 18,036,900 – – – 18,036,900

 Due from condominium
  association 8,578,668 – – – 8,578,668
 Others 2,664,161 – – – 2,664,161
Receivable from related parties 2,244,204,406 – – – 2,244,204,406
Deposits 10,942,357 – – – 10,942,357
Total P=2,489,226,385 P=– P=– P=359,536 P=2,489,585,921

The credit quality of the financial assets was determined as follows:

Cash in banks and cash equivalents are considered Grade A based on the nature of the
counterparty and the Parent Company’s internal rating system.  These financial assets are
classified as Grade A due to the counterparties’ low probability of insolvency.

Grade A installment contract receivables are considered to be of high value where the
counterparties have a very remote likelihood of default and have consistently exhibited good
paying habits.
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Dividends receivable, receivables from customers for taxes and other charges, due from
condominium association, other receivables, receivable from related parties and deposits are
Grade A.  The credit quality rating of Grade A pertains to receivables with no defaults in payment.

Grade B accounts are active accounts with minimal to regular instances of payment default, due to
collection issues.  These accounts are typically not impaired as the counterparties generally
respond to the Parent Company’s collection efforts and update their payments accordingly.

Substandard grade accounts are accounts which have probability of impairment based on historical
trend.  These accounts show propensity to default in payment despite regular follow-up actions
and extended payment terms.  In the Parent Company’s assessment, there are no financial assets
that will fall under this category as the Parent Company transacts with recognized third parties.

The Parent Company determines financial assets as impaired when the probability of
recoverability is remote and in consideration of the lapse in the period which the asset is expected
to be recovered.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the aging analysis of the Parent Company’s past due but not
impaired installment contracts receivable follows:

<30 days 30-60 days 61-90 days >90 days Total
2016 P=189,975 P=65,564 P=– P=– P=255,539
2015 129,768 229,768 – – 359,536

Interest rate risk
The Parent Company’s interest rate exposure management policy centers on reducing the Parent
Company’s overall interest expense and exposure to changes in interest rates.  Changes in market
interest rates relate primarily to the Parent Company’s interest-bearing debt obligations with
floating interest rate as it can cause a change in the amount of interest payments.

The Parent Company’s policy is to manage its interest cost by entering into a mix of fixed short-
term and long-term borrowings depending on the projected funding requirements of the Parent
Company.  The Parent Company has no significant exposure to cash flows and fair value interest
rate risks.

21. Operating Lease Commitments

The Parent Company has entered into cancellable lease agreements for the rental of its offices for
a period of two to five years.  The lease is renewable upon mutual consent of the contracting
parties.  Rental expense charged to operations amounted to P=9.66 million in 2016 and
P=1.95 million in 2015 (see Note 16).

22. Contingencies

The Parent Company has been involved in an arbitral dispute instituted by SKI Construction
Group, Inc. (“Claimant”) with the Construction Industry Arbitration Commission (CIAC) for its
allegedly unpaid monetary claims as the general contractor of a condominium building (“the
Project”) owned by the Parent Company. The total claims amounted to P=73.95 million.
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The Parent Company has responded to the claims and also made counterclaims amounting to
P=73.27 million for liquidated damages, costs of rectification works, costs to complete the Project
and other damages incident to the Parent Company’s take over and completion of the Project after
Claimant incurred prolonged and unreasonable delay, and eventually failed to complete the Project
within the agreed timetable despite numerous extensions to complete the Project.

In its decision dated December 14, 2009, the Arbitral Tribunal awarded the Claimant the
aggregate amount of P=28.37 million and the Parent Company the aggregate amount of
P=40.44 million.  Both the Claimant and the Parent Company filed their respective appeals with the
Court of Appeals (CA) on February 12, 2010.  Both appeals were subsequently consolidated.

In the CA’s ruling dated August 2, 2013, the Court affirmed the Arbitral Tribunal’s ruling dated
December 14, 2009 and dismissed both appeals.

In a resolution dated November 18, 2013, the CA also denied the Claimant’s and the Parent
Company’s respective Motions for Reconsideration.  The Parent Company ceased to appeal from
the CA’s decision and resolution denying the Motion for Reconsideration.

In January 2014, the Claimant filed its petition for review on certiorari to the Supreme Court to
question the CA’s ruling in favor of the Parent Company.  In a resolution dated February 10, 2014,
the Supreme Court resolved to deny the Claimant’s petition, finding no reversible error in the
challenged decision and resolution.

On May 20, 2014, the Supreme Court’s resolution dated February 10, 2014 became final and
executory and was entered into the Book of Judgments.

By virtue of the finality of the Supreme Court decision, the Parent Company filed a Motion for
Execution of the Arbitral Tribunal’s Decision on December 11, 2014 and a Writ of Execution was
issued by the Arbitral Tribunal in relation therewith on February 12, 2015. The Sheriff of the
Arbitral Tribunal is in the process of implementing the Writ of Execution.

No provisions were made for the years 2016 and 2015.
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